
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, DECEMBER 20, 2021 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
The City is providing in-person and electronic options for this meeting.  The City encourages in-person attendees 
to follow the latest CDC guidelines to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission. 

The meeting will be accessible via video conference and the public may access/participate in the meeting in the 
following ways: 
 
a) By dialing the phone number +13126266799 or +19292056099 or +12532158782 or +13017158592 or 
+13462487799 or +16699006833 and when prompted, enter the meeting ID (access code) 962 7287 1738. 
b) iPhone one-tap: +13126266799,,96272871738#  or +19292056099,,96272871738# 
c) Join via smartphone or computer using this link: https://zoom.us/j/96272871738.   
d) View the live stream on Channel 15 YouTube using this link: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCzeig5nIS-
dIEYisqah1uQ  (view only).  
e) Watch on Cedar Falls Cable Channel 15 (view only). 
 
To request to speak when allowed on the agenda, participants must click “Raise Hand” if connected by 
smartphone or computer, or press *9 if connected by telephone. All participants will be muted by the presiding 
officer when not actually speaking. 

Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of December 6, 2021. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on a proposed ordinance establishing new boundaries for wards and precincts as a 
result of the 2020 Census. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published December 14, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 8, Elections, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
establishing new boundaries for wards and precincts within the City of Cedar Falls, to become 
effective January 15, 2022, upon its first consideration, 

OR 

1



Page 2 of 3 

Suspend the rules requiring ordinances to be considered at three separate meetings (requires at 
least six aye votes), and pass the ordinance upon its third & final consideration. 

3. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Letter of Agreement with the Black Hawk 
County Supervisors relative to establishing a Joint Precinct consisting of a portion of Cedar Falls 
Ward 2 Precinct 3 and a portion of Cedar Falls Township Precinct. 

Old Business 

4. Pass Ordinance #3000, granting a partial property tax exemption to The Vault, LLC for construction 
of a storage/office facility at 6100 Production Drive, upon its third & final consideration. 

5. Pass Ordinance #3001, amending Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances, relative to 
sanitary sewer rates, upon its third & final consideration. 

6. Pass Ordinance #3002, amending Chapter 2, Administration of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
reestablishing the Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District (SSMID), 
upon its second consideration. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

7. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of December 6, 2021 relative to the Grow 
Cedar Valley Update. 

8. Receive and file the Abstract of Votes for the November 2, 2021 Municipal Election and the 
November 30, 2021 Municipal Runoff Election. 

9. Approve the following applications for liquor licenses: 
a) Huhot Mongolian Grill, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
b) Rancho Chico, 618 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class C Liquor - renewal. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

10. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Subdivision Distributor Settlement Participation 
Form, a Subdivision Janssen Settlement Participation Form, and an Iowa Opioid Allocation 
Memorandum of Understanding, all relative to a national opioid settlement.  

11. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Contract Amendment #1 to the Office Supply & 
Copy Paper Product Agreement with Laser Tech., USA, Inc. d/b/a Office Express/Office Products. 

12. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of fourteen (14) Leases relative to properties 
vacated by the 2008 flood buyout program. 

13. Resolution approving a College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay Zoning District site plan for façade 
and signage improvements at 2019 College Street. 

14. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of an application to the U.S. Department of 
Commerce, Economic Development Administration American Rescue Plan Act Travel, Tourism and 
Outdoor Recreation Funding Opportunity relative to the Cedar River Recreational River Area and 
Riverbank Improvements Project, designating the Mayor as the official representative of the City, and 
authorizing the Mayor to sign said application and certain assurances in conjunction with the same.  

15. Resolution approving commitment of local funding, in conjunction with a U.S. Department of 
Commerce, Economic Development Administration (EDA) Disaster Recovery Grant relative to 
Instream and Upland Improvements of Phase 1 of the Cedar River Recreational River Area and 
Riverbank Improvements Project. 

2



Page 3 of 3 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with the Iowa 
Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration of a U.S. Department of 
Commerce, Economic Development Administration (EDA) Disaster Recovery Grant relative to the 
Cedar River Recreational River Area and Riverbank Improvements Project. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of a grant application to Iowa Homeland Security & 
Emergency Management (HSEMD), under the U.S. Department of Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA), Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC) Scoping Project relative 
to a Stormwater Master Plan, designating the Mayor as the official representative of the City, and 
authorizing the Mayor to sign said application and certain assurances in conjunction with the same. 

18. Resolution approving commitment of local funding, in conjunction with a U.S. Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC) Scoping 
Project relative to a Stormwater Master Plan. 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with the Iowa 
Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration of an Iowa Homeland 
Security & Emergency Management (HSEMD), U.S. Department of Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA), Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC) Scoping 
Project grant relative to a Stormwater Master Plan. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Extension of a Yard Waste Management 
Service Agreement with T&W Grinding relative to management of the City’s compost facility. 

21. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of ASTECH Corp. for the 
2020 Seal Coat Project, and approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from the Street 
Construction Fund to the Street Repair Fund.  

22. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Blacktop Service 
Company for the 2021 Seal Coat Project, and approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from 
the Street Construction Fund to the Street Repair Fund.  

23. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the 
Greenhill Road and South Main Street Intersection Improvement Project. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Owner Purchase Agreement, and approving 
and accepting a Temporary Construction Easement, in conjunction with the Greenhill Road & South 
Main Street Intersection Improvements Project. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for design services relative to various intersection improvements. 

26. Resolution setting January 3, 2022 as the date of public hearing on the proposed FY2022-FY2027 
Capital Improvements Program (CIP). 

27. Resolution setting January 18, 2022 as the date of public hearing on a proposal to undertake a 
public improvement project for the Main Street Reconstruction Project, and to authorize acquisition of 
private property for said project. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

28. Allow Bills and Claims for December 20, 2021. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Staff Updates 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, DECEMBER 6, 2021 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Darrah, Sires (via video conference), Dunn. Absent: None.  
 

53577 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of November 15, 2021 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously.  

   
53578-   The Mayor then asked if there were any agenda revisions. City Clerk Danielsen 

noted that items #11 and #22 on the Resolution Calendar were being removed 
from the agenda. 

 
53579 - Mayor Green read the following proclamations: 
 

Proclamation recognizing December 7, 2021 as Pearl Harbor Remembrance 
Day. 
 
Proclamation recognizing December 10, 2021 as International Human Rights 
Day. Human Rights Commission Chair Susan Langan commented and provided 
an update on the Commission. 
 

53580-     Michael Martinez, 1124 Main Street, expressed concerns with the roundabout 
planned for the 12th and Main Street intersection and requested that his home be 
preserved. 

53581 - Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of November 19, 
2021, this was the time and place for a public hearing to consider taking action 
on a petition relative to the reestablishment of the Downtown Cedar Falls Self-
Supported Municipal Improvement District (SSMID). It was then moved by 
Darrah and seconded by Harding that the proof of publication of notice of hearing 
be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously.  

53582 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
proposed proposal. Upon being advised that there was one written 
communication on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Economic 
Development Coordinator Graham provided a brief summary of the proposal. 
There being no one else present wishing to speak about the proposal, the Mayor 
declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
53583 -     It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that Ordinance #3002, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
reestablishing the Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement 
District (SSMID), be passed upon its first consideration.  Following due 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
53584 -    It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that Ordinance #3000, granting 

a partial property tax exemption to The Vault, LLC for construction of a 
storage/office facility at 6100 Production Drive, be passed upon its second 
consideration.  Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
53585 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3001, 

amending Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances, relative to sanitary 
sewer rates, be passed upon its second consideration.  Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
53586 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Approve the following recommendation of the Mayor relative to the appointment 
of members to Boards and Commissions: 
a) Russell Curtis, Health Trust Fund Board of Trustees, term expiring 
12/31/2026. 

Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of November 15, 2021 
relative to the following items: 
a) Main Street Reconstruction and Right of Way. 
b) FY2021 Audit Report. 

Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of October 2021. 

Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Cedar Falls Woman's Club, 304 Clay Street, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
b) Moonshine Mob Bar, 419 Main Street, Class C liquor – renewal. 
c) Sharky's Fun House, 2223 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
d) The Brown Bottle, 1111 Center Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
e) Cedar Falls Family Restaurant, 2627 Center Street, Class B beer - new. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

53587 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the following resolutions be 
introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #22,608, supporting Community Main Street, Inc., and approving and 

authorizing execution of a Main Street Iowa Program Continuation Agreement 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

with Community Main Street, Inc. and the Iowa Economic Development Authority 
for the purpose of continuing the Main Street Program in Cedar Falls. 

 Resolution #22,609, approving and adopting amendments to the Housing Choice 
Voucher Program Administrative Plan relative to the Section-8 Housing Program. 

 Resolution #22,610, approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special 
Promissory Note for property located at 610 West 28th Street relative to the 
Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program. 

 Resolution #22,611, approving a Shopping Center (S-1) Zoning District site plan 
for patio improvements at 6607 University Avenue. 

 Resolution #22,612, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in Greenhill Village Estates.  

 Resolution #22,613, approving and authorizing execution of three Owner 
Purchase Agreements, and approving and accepting three Temporary 
Construction Easements, in conjunction with the Greenhill Road & South Main 
Street Intersection Improvements Project. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #22,608 through #22,613 duly 
passed and adopted. 

53588 -    It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #22,614, 
approving and adopting a revised job classification for the position of Public 
Safety Supervisor - Captain in the Public Safety Services Department, be 
adopted. Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Sires, Harding 
and deBuhr, and responses by City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put the question 
on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Darrah, Dunn. Nay: Harding, Sires. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,614 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53589 -    It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,615, 

approving and adopting a revised job classification for the position of Public 
Safety Supervisor - Lieutenant in the Public Safety Services Department, be 
adopted. Following comments by Councilmembers Sires and Harding, the Mayor 
put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Darrah, Dunn. Nay: Harding, 
Sires. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,615 duly passed 
and adopted. 

 
53590 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,616, 

approving and accepting the contract and bond of Peters Construction 
Corporation for the City Hall Remodel Project, be adopted. Following a comment 
by Councilmember Sires, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call 
of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Dunn. Nay: Sires. Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #22,616 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53591 -    It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,617, 

approving the preliminary plat of Creekside Luxury Condos, be adopted. 
Following questions and comments by Councilmember deBuhr, Mayor Green, 
John Lane, 3909 Legacy Lane, and Bob Manning, 2908 West 3rd Street, and 
responses by Planning & Community Services Manager Howard, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,617 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
53592 -    It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #22,618, 

approving the final plat of Creekside Luxury Condos, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #22,618 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53593 -    It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,619, 

approving a Planned Residence (R-P) Zoning District site plan for construction of 
a multi-unit residential development in the vicinity of Cedar Heights Drive and 
Valley High Drive, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, 
Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#22,619 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53594 -    It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,620, 

receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Petersen 
Contractors, Inc., in the amount of $3,329,289.25, for the Greenhill Road and 
South Main Street Intersection Improvement Project, be adopted. Following 
questions by Councilmember deBuhr, and responses by City Engineer Wicke, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, 
Dunn. Nay: Sires. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,620 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
53595 -    It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,621, setting 

December 20, 2021 as the date of public hearing on a proposed ordinance 
establishing new boundaries for wards and precincts, be adopted. Following 
questions and comments by Councilmembers deBuhr, Kruse and Mayor Green, 
and responses by City Attorney Rogers, Finance & Business Operations Director 
Rodenbeck and City Administrator Gaines, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Dunn. Nay: deBuhr, Sires. Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,621 duly passed and adopted. 

 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

53596 -    It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,622, 
setting December 20, 2021 as the date of public hearing on a proposal to 
undertake a public improvement project for the Main Street Reconstruction 
Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said project, be 
adopted. Following comments by Councilmember deBuhr, it was moved by 
Kruse and seconded by Harding to amend the motion to change the date of the 
public hearing to January 3, 2022. Following comments by Councilmembers 
Miller and deBuhr, the motion carried 4-3, with Miller, Darrah and Dunn voting 
Nay. Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Harding, deBuhr, 
and Kruse, and responses by City Administrator Gaines, the Mayor put the 
question on the original motion as amended and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #22,622 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53597 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the bills and claims of 

December 6, 2021 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City 
Treasurer be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the 
proper funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, 
Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
53598 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr to direct staff to provide three 

options for new Ward and Precinct maps for City Council to choose from at the 
December 20, 2021 public hearing. Following questions and comments by 
Councilmembers Harding, deBuhr and Kruse, and responses by City 
Administrator Gaines, the motion carried 6-1, with Darrah voting Nay. 

 
53599 -   It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller to adjourn to Executive Session 

to discuss Collective Bargaining per Iowa Code Section 20.17(3) as negotiating 
sessions, strategy meetings of public employers, mediation, and the deliberative 
process of arbitrators; and Property Acquisition per Iowa Code § 21.5(1)(j) to 
discuss the purchase or sale of particular real estate only where disclosure could 
be reasonably expected to increase the price the governmental body would have 
to pay for that property or reduce the price the governmental body would receive 
for that property. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted.  Aye:  Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn.  Nay: None.  
Motion carried. 

 
     The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 8:11 P.M. 
 
  Councilmember Sires is now absent. 
 
     Mayor Green reconvened the Council meeting at 8:51 P.M.  
 
53600 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,623, 

approving a tentative agreement with Teamsters Union Local No. 238, Parks & 
Public Works, and authorizing execution of a Contract, be adopted. Following 
due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor 
then declared Resolution #22,623 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53601 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,624, 

approving a tentative agreement with Teamsters Union Local No. 238, Public 
Safety, and authorizing execution of a Contract, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor 
then declared Resolution #22,624 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53602 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the meeting be adjourned at 

8:54 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
    ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
  

9

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Cory Hines, GIS Analyst 

 DATE: December 13, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Proposed ordinance establishing new wards and precincts 
 
As a result of the 2020 Federal Decennial Census the boundaries of our current wards 
and precincts must be modified in order to obtain a more balanced representation within 
each ward.  In November of 2021 Governor Reynolds approved the updated state 
legislative districts.  Once adopted municipalities were able to begin their process of 
updating ward and precinct boundaries.  Municipalities have until January 3, 2021 to 
submit their updates to the Iowa Secretary of State. 
 
As a result of the 2020 Census the population for the City of Cedar Falls grew from 
39,260 to 40,713 which is a 3.7% increase.  This increase resulted in unbalanced 
population in each ward ranging from a high of 10,084 to a low of 6,942.  This range far 
exceeds the allowable maximum variation of 10% between any 2 wards based on the 
ideal size of 8,144 people.  In addition the increase resulted in multiple precincts 
exceeding the limit of 3,500 people. 
 
Each of the 3 attached maps has adjusted the population numbers to represent a more 
balanced representation.  This has been done within the laws set by the Iowa Code.  
Option A has the most balanced representation at 6.9% difference, Option B has a 9% 
difference and Option C has a 9.4% difference. 
 
These numbers combined with other factors set out in the Iowa Code is why staff is 
recommending Option A. In addition, staff is also recommending that Council suspend 
the rules and pass all three readings on December 20th to avoid missing the submission 
deadline with the State of January 3rd. 
 
Staff will be presenting the map options along with the criteria used to develop each 
during the public hearing at the December 20th City Council Meeting. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to contact me. 
xc: Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
xc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
xc: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

10

Item 2.



Greenhill Rd

Ridgeway Ave Ridgeway Ave

Hudson Rd

1st St

1st St

University Ave

Lincoln St

Wa
ver

ly R
d

W Airline Hwy

Center St

Ce
nte

r S
t

Hudson Rd

1st St

Lincoln St

University Ave

Greenhill Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

Lone Tree Rd

De
ere

 Rd

18th St

Dunkerton Rd

S U
nio

n R
d

18th St

Viking Rd

Rainbow Dr

Co
lleg

e S
t

12th St

University Ave

27th St

Lev
ers

ee 
Rd

N U
nio

n R
d

Ma
in 

St

Waterloo Rd

Cedar Heights Dr

S M
ain

 St

12th St

Viking Rd

Ma
in 

St

Cedar Heights Dr

Viking Rd

Viking Rd

Cedar Heights Dr

Orchard Dr

4T75

4D17

4D18

4D19

Bluegrass C t

Blu e
g ra

ss
Cir

Wild Rye Way

"!58

"!27

"!27

"!27

"!27

"!58

"!58

"!57

"!57

"!58

"!27

"!27

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Grand Blvd

5th St

Blu
ff S

t

Ch
ris

kin
 Rd Brookside Dr

Prairie View Rd

Ch
an

ce
llo

r D
r

Ann
Ave

Flynn Dr

Laverne Ln

Pa
nth

er 
LnSpringbrook Dr

Ka
ra 

Dr

Athens
Ct

E 14th
Ct

17th
St

Hacienda
Ct

Opal Ln

Bla
ckh

aw
k

Vlg

Carol Ct

RiverRidge Ln

Cherr
ywood

Pl

AliceAve

Horty St

Knoke
Pl

Leg
acy

 Ln

Gra
nd

vie
w

Ct

Lo
ng

vie
w

Ct

Ka
nsa

s S
t

Me
lro

se
Ct

Em
era

ld Rd

He
dg

ew
oo

d
Cir

Illin
ois

 St

Eth
an

 Ct

Cro
ss

Cre
ek 

Dr

High
St

Grant St

Union Dr

Wh
ite

Wa
y

S Forest
Rd

Jade
Rd

Floral Ct

Ind
ian

a S
t

Woodlawn
Ave

Superior
Way

Orchard
Pl

25th
St

Andover
Ct

Eagle Ridge Rd

Ba
rba

ra
Dr

Sa
ma

nth
a

Cir

Beach St

6th St

Bro
ns

on
 Ct

Es
tat

e
Dr

26th St

Meadow
Park Dr

Ch
ap

ma
n

Ct

Stanwood Dr

Ida St

Ho
we St

Co
tta

ge
Ln

Ga
llo

wa
y

Av
e

Tilton
Dr

Onawa
Dr

Hil
l C

t

Briarwood
Hills Dr

Ke
lly Ct

Ge
ne

vie
ve

Gram
Ct

Gre
ele

y S
t

A S
t

B S
t

Linda Dr

Idaho Rd

Wa
lm

art
Dr

Sunray
Dr

DruryLn

Hig
hg

ate
 Ln

Market
St

Goldenrod Way

Faithway Dr

Woodland
Dr

Lau
rie

Av
e

Rosemary Dr

Del Matro
Rd

Walters Pond Pl

Mustang Rd

Irv
ing

 St

Fer
n

Av
e

Horizon
Dr

Concord Cir

Cedar St

Blackhawk
Ln

Sta
nle

y S
t

Elm Dr

19th St

Arizona
Rd

Utah
Rd

Wi
nte

rbe
rry

Dr

Ke
nn

ed
y

Av
e

Seerley Blvd

Sh
irle

y S
t

Kline
 Dr

Ore
llan

a
Ave

Wi
llia

ms
on

 Av
e

Hig
hv

iew Ct

Douglas
St

Edgewood St

Elm
wo

od
Av

e

Min
ne

so
ta 

St

Bre
ntw

oo
d D

r

Meadow
View Cir

Ho
lid

ay 
Rd

Theimer
St

Evergreen
Ln Sta

rlit
e

Blv
d

Jes
sic

a L
n

Ch
ad

wic
k R

d

Shawnee
Rd

Sands
Ave

Patterson
Ln

Mathew DrHarriet Ln

Co
ne

flo
we

r
Pk

wy

Jill Dr
Mark Dr
Jodi Dr

Jen
nif

er 
Ln

Green Ave

Shelden Ave

Alden Ave

Bir
ds

all 
Dr

Tim
oth

y S
t

Redeker Dr

Sh
elle

y L
n

Meadow
Ln

Loma St

Sc
og

gin St

30th St

Sa
ble

 Ln

Tif
fan

y L
n

Greenhill
Cir

Westgate
Ave

Me
ad

ow
lar

k L
n

WestwoodDr

Linden
Ave

Chateau
Ct

Glo
ria

 St

Ka
spe

nd
 Pl

S Park Rd

Cooley St

Ma
gn

olia
 Dr

12th St

LeC
lair

 St

29th St

Feather

Ridge Dr

Fieldstone
Blvd

Glen
Oaks Dr

Joy St

Rocklyn St
Westview

St
Rosewood

Dr
Cadam Ct

Maple St

Parkway
Ave

Wo
od

rid
ge

Dr

Sta
te 

St

Be
lle 

Av
e

Bertchwood

Colorado

Lantz Ave

Ranchero Rd

Jay Ln

Qu
esa

da 
Ct

Granite Ridge Rd

As
hla

nd
 Av

e

Hunter Dr

Mis
sou

ri S
t

Po
ss

um
 Rd

Ca
rria

ge
 Ln

Tomahawk
Ln

Minnehaha
Ln

Co
rdu

roy
 Dr

Parsley Dr

Timber Cove Dr

Prairie St

McKinley St

An
dre

a D
r

Frontier Rd

Gib
son

 St

Cottonwood Ln

Ba
ker

 Dr
Fo

rre
st 

Rd

Pic
tur

esq
ue

Dr

Ce
ltic

 Ct

Dako
ta S

t

Bre
nto

n D
r

Winters Dr

Whitetail Dr

Fjo
rd 

Dr

Ca
lifo

rni
a S

t

Lindale Rd

Newland Dr

Ste
wa

rt L
n

Hiawatha Rd

Sw
eet

Ba
sil 

Ln

Cottage Row Ln

Ro
os

eve
lt S

t

Lo
ng

vie
w D

r

Drynan
Dr

Iris Dr

OsterPkwy

Winding R idge Rd

Lau
rin

da
Dr

Co
lleg

e S
t

Thresher Ct

Wa
rw

ick
 Dr

Ba
rrin

gto
n

Dr

Ad
am

s S
t

Austin Way

Windsor Dr

Jac
lyn

 St

Covey Ct

Ed
die

 St

Quail Hollow Ln

Hic
ko

ry 
Ln

Ca
rey

 Dr
Gla

cie
r D

r

Bonita Blvd

Falcon Ln

Western Ave

Da
ina

 Dr

De
ena

 Dr

Vin
e S

t

An
gie

 Dr

Pa
rkg

ate
 Rd

Ba
rne

tt D
r

Da
ma

scu
s D

r

No
rse

 Dr

Beaver Rd

Cobblestone Ct

Ca
mb

rid
ge

 Av
e

Ste
rlin

g L
n

Fandre Dr

Stratford Ct

Cre
stv

iew
 Dr

Bir
ch

 St

Ryan Dr

Oxford Ln
Coventry Ln
Yorkshire Dr

Joanne St

Ch
err

yw
oo

d D
r

Ga
s L

igh
t D

r

Pe
arl

 St

Ru
sse

ll D
r

Northview
Ln

Div
isio

n S
t

Po
cah

on
tas

 Rd

Maverick Ave

Fra
nc

is S
t

Edw
ard

s A
ve

Pleasant Dr

31st St

Hazelwood Ln

Butternut Ln

Hilton Dr

Continental Dr

Prair ie Rd

Re
dw

oo
d L

n

Hil
lcr

est
 Dr

Elm St

Dr

Orc
ha

rd 
Hil

l D
r

Camden St

Concord St
Saratoga St

Montclair St

Poplar Ln

Scranton St

Columbia St

Meado w L n

Country

Viking Plaza Dr

Co
lum

bin
e D

r

Lloyd Ln

Midway Dr

Timberledge Dr

Acorn Ln

Ma
riu

s D
r

Ap
ple

wo
od

 Ln

De
lta 

Dr

He
art

lan
d H

ills
 Dr

Paddington Dr

28th St

Viking Pl

Au
tum

n L
n

Newman Ave

Co
lum

bia Dr

Fir
esi

de
 Dr

Clair St

Tre
nto

n A
ve

Danish Dr

Hig
hla

nd

Cardinal Dr

Shocker Rd

Oak
lan

d A
ve

9th St
10th St

Richard Rd

He
art

hs
ide

 Dr

Beech Ave

16th St

Ce
dar

 Cr
est

 Dr

S Ridge Dr

Ala
me

da
 St

Huntington Rd

Oh
io 

St

Ell
en

Alvarado Ave

Pa
rris

h S
t

Fo
ur 

Se
aso

ns
 Dr

Berry Hill Rd

Longview St

Mil
len

ium
 Dr

Ca
raw

ay 
Ln

We
dg

ew
oo

d D
r

Cordoba Ave

5th St

Blu
eb

ell 
Rd

Pro
du

cti
on

 Dr

PE
 Ce

nte
r D

r

Quail Ridge Rd

Sunnyside Dr

Mc
Cla

in D
r

Val
ley

 Pa
rk 

Dr

Lake St

Madison St

Spruce

Technology Pkwy

Pa
nth

er 
Pk

wy

Westminster Dr

Ridgeway

Ln

Technolo gy P kwy

Mo
rris

on
 Ln

Winter
Ridge Ln

Sp
rin

g
Val

ley
 Ln

Continental
Acc

Sapphire Rd

Me
mo

ria
l

Av
e

Oak
St

Poplar Hollow Ln

Cedar
Hill
Rd

Linden
St

Timberledge
Pl

Willow Ave

Thomas
St

Co
ron

ado
Ct

Jo
rda

n S
t

RiverBluff Dr

Flying
Cloud Ln

Willow
Bend Rd

Lu
ke 

St

Su
ma

c A
ve

Pin
e S

t

Higby Dr

Laurel
Cir

Co
lle

ge
 StHarvest Ln

Boxwood Dr

Wellington Dr
Fai

rvi
ew

 Dr

Ad
dis

on
 Dr

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Ac
e P

l

Four Winds Dr

As
pen

 Dr

Valley High Dr

Balboa Ave

Primrose

Pri
nc

eto
n A

ve

Pheasant Dr

Vir
gil

 St

Vera Way

Wisconsin St

Ne
ola

 St

Venture Way

Waterbury Dr

Bergstrom Blvd

11th St

Me
rne

r A
ve

Ea
st 

St

DrDr

Dr

Fle
ur 

Dr

Ce
ntr

al A
ve

Five Seasons Blvd

Gr
ov

e S
t

Commerce Dr

Wi
llo

w L
n

En
ter

pri
se 

Dr

Div
isio

n S
t

Performance Dr

Savannah Park Rd

De
wit

t R
d

Big
 W

oo
ds

 Rd

Elmridge Dr

Campus St

Athens Dr

Ironwood Dr

S Court D
r

Hyacinth Dr

Pendleton Dr

Sunset Blvd

Nordic Ridge Dr

Capital Way

Quail Run Ln

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Calumett Dr

Holmes Dr

Parker St

Lak
evi

ew
  D

r

Pin Oak Dr

Brandilynn Blvd

Loren Dr

Cy
pre

ss 
Av

e

Da
llas

 Dr

Heritage Rd

Apollo St

Abraham Dr

Kn
oll

 Ri
dg

e D
r

Ea
stp

ark
 Rd

Dr

7th St

Greenhill Dr

Starview Dr

Wynnewood
Dr

19th St

Bo
uld

er 
Dr

Skyview Dr

Lake  Ridge Dr

Vic
tor

y D
r

23rd St

Tuc
so

n D
r

20th St

22nd St

21st St

Independence St
Cla

rk 
     

     
     

    D
r

Carlton Dr

17th St

E Main St

Melrose Dr

Gre
yh

ou
nd

 Dr

15th St
14th St
13th St

Green Creek Rd

Park Dr

Ra
il W

ay

Oa
k

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

Crescent Dr

S M
ain

 St

No
rdi

c D
r

Briarwood Dr

Oli
ve

 St

Erik Rd

Lone Tree Rd

8th St

Fitkin Rd

2nd St

Iow
a S

t

3rd St

Lilac Ln

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Cottage Row Rd

S U
nio

n R
d

Cla
y S

t

Ro
wn

d S
t

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

4th St

Wyth Rd

Ca
tal

pa
 Ln

Sp
ruc

e L
n

Bo
x E

lde
r L

n

Ha
ck

be
rry

 Ln

Fo
x

Vie
w D

r

Parkway Ave | Ct

PrairieCt

Le
xin

gto
n B

lvd

Purple
Clover Dr

Woodland Ave
Glenwood Ave

Ga
rne

t Rd

N Ridge Cir

Zircon Ln

Normandy
Dr

W Sunshine Ln

Sonoma Dr

Sc
hre

ibe
r

St

Richmond St

Lex
ing

ton
 Dr

St

Ro
os

eve
lt S

t

6th St

5th St
4th St Ca

the
rin

e S
t

St

Pa
rk 

Dr

Minnetonka

8th St

Ell
en

 St

20th St

Brookside Dr

22nd St

Melrose Dr

Sta
te 

St

Gro
ve 

St

Au
tum

n L
n

Edgew
ood Dr

Bicentennial
Dr

Valley High Dr

Cardinal

Ct

Midway Dr

Ro
wn

d S
t

Valley High Dr

Carlton Dr

Greenhill DrHills Dr

Nordic Dr

Katoski Dr

Ranchero Rd

De
wit

t R
d

Cy
pre

ss 
     

    
   A

ve Lake St

Western Ave

Ford Rd

Cre
sce

nt D
r

18th
St

Grand Blvd

Bri
arw

oo
d D

r

Algonquin Dr
Erik Rd

Cle
arv

iew
 Dr

Maplewood Dr

Greenwood Ave

Madison St

Irving St

Acorn Ln

Ca
mp

us 
St

Ca
mp

us 
St

Pa
nth

er
Ln

E Main StBig
 W

oo
ds 

Rd

Lo
ga

n
St

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

3rd St

Rd
Pra

irie
 Do

ck

Technology Pkwy

Scenic Dr

Amber
Valley Rd

Arbor
Way Blvd

Autumn
Woods Dr

Oli
ve

 St

Scenic
Dr

Ne
bra

ska
 St

Par
k

Blvd

Pe
arl

 St

Cla
y S

t

St

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Blu
ff S

t

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Ca
me

o S
t

OakAve

P eridotRd

Winter Ridge Rd

Jam
es

Dr

Loga nSt

Dr

Ma
ryh

ill
Dr

Alexis Blv d

Ridge

Jua
nita

Ave

Lill
iput Ln

Westbrook Rd

Quesada Ave

Monterey Dr
IngersollRd

Valdez Dr

SOakAve

Reese Rd

Blythe Blvd

Ironwood Dr

Lark Ln

Mauker

Dr

Woodc restDr

N C
ott

ag
e R

ow
 Rd

River RidgeRd

Sa
int

s
Dr

As
bu

ry 
Ln

Aspen Ct

Fountains Way

Da
llas Dr

Garden Ave

Ver
alt

a D
r

Cle
arv

iew

Hil
lsid

e

Lake shoreD r

23rd St

Ho
rseshoeDr

Hawthorne Dr

Ro
yal

Dr

Thunder Ridge Blvd

University Dr

Th
ym

eR
d

Cottage Grv

FastL n

Jakob Cir

Go
lde

n
Ln

Fer
nw

oo
d D

r

Maple St Park Pl
Chestnut St

Pine St

Seawa rdDr

L innwo o d Dr

Sunnysid e C ir

Shooting Star Way

Prairie Pkwy

Prairie View Rd

Starb
eck

 Cir

Je nnings Dr

Stowaway
St

Willow Oak Dr

Post Oak Dr

Tw
in 

Oa
ks 

Ln

Sa
g e

R d

Wild F lo wer Ln

Pri
de

mo
re 

DrHomeway Dr

¡¢20

¡¢218

¡¢218

¡¢20

¡¢218

Cedar River

Cedar RiverAlice Wyth Lake

Fisher Lake

Big Wood Lake

Snag Creek

South
Prairie
Lake

North
Prair ie
Lake

Dry
 Ru

n C
ree

k

Dry
 Ru

n C
ree

k (S
)

Dry Run Creek (SW)

Dry Run Creek (Univ)

Dry Run Creek (W)

Shirey Lake

Lake Manatt

Mullens Pond

Beaver Creek

Black H
awk C

ree
k

Prescotts Creek

Green Creek

1st Slough

2nd Slough
3rd Slough

á190

á189

á188

á187

á185

á184

á183

á182

á181

á224 á225
á226

á227

á223

á222

á40 á41

á42 á43

Rd

Nordi cDr

Ashworth Dr

Dona ld D r

Re
d O

ak 
Ln

Ashworth Dr

Andy Ave

Leigh LnEden Way

Lak
esh

ore
 Dr

Arbor Ridge  Rd
Maple Grove Dr

Bark w o od Dr

Arb
ors

 Dr

G reen Cre ek Rd

WhisperingPinesCir

Dr

Ca
llu

m C

t

Ver
alt

a

Tec
hn

olo
gy

Pl

Cyber Ln

Pizarr oC t

Ky l i e Ct

Kael Trl

L ore
nD

r

Norse Dr

Ash wort h Dr

Am el i a Dr

Al gon quin Dr

Wi
ld Rose C t

Cadillac Dr
Terrace Dr

Crossway Dr

GreenhillRd

Oregon Rd

Con
va i

r L
n

Devlin
Cir

Latham Pl Richland Dr

Lovejoy Dr

Melendy L nStu
rg i

s D
r

SL
aw

nR
d

B icentennial Dr

McC
l ain

Dr

Pleasant Dr

Terrace Dr
Sun

ny
Ln

Sha
d y

Ln

Park Cir

Ch
e rr

yL
n

E R idg
ew

oo
d D

r

W
Ri d

ge w
ood

Dr

Res

erv e Dr

TimberDr

Utility
Pkwy

Summit

Dr

Feather RunTrl

B luf f St

Ro
cky

Rd

Blair Ridge Rd

Wi ld Horse Dr

Sa
nda

hlwood Cir

A utumn Ridge Rd

Bi r d
sa l

l P
ark

Dr

G e ra ldin e R d

Pa
r k

D r

Lemongrass Dr

Savory
Ln

Cohen Ct

K ea g l es Xing

Pete rsPkwy

Tierney
Trl

B ig WoodsCree k

Castle Hi ll Creek

Riders Rd

Arb
or s

D r

Mandala y Dr

Library Dr

Warp Dr

Deadm an's
Island

Precinct 1Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2
Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct
2

Precinct
3

Ward 1

Ward 2

Ward 3 Ward 4 Ward
5

ICity of Cedar Falls, Iowa

© City of Ce dar Falls, Iowa. The  City of Cedar Falls doe s  not guarante e the accuracy of the inform ation contained on m aps acce s s ible  on this site .  This inform ation is provided for de m onstration pu rpos e s  only.  All warrantie s, e xpre s s and im plie d, are he re by disclaim e d. 12/13/2021
K:\Proje cts\Council\WardPct\Propos edWardPctOptA.m xd

Proposed Wards & Precincts Opt. A
Effective January 15, 2022

Ward Boundary
Precinct Boundary
Iowa House Boundary

Ward 1: 8,334 Ward 2: 7,797 Ward 3: 8,229 Ward 4: 8,370 Ward 5: 7,988
• Precinct 1:1,845 • Precinct 1:2,583 • Precinct 1:3,207 • Precinct 1:3,289 • Precinct 1:2,643
• Precinct 2:3,207 • Precinct 2:2,925 • Precinct 2:3,115 • Precinct 2:3,241 • Precinct 2:2,815
• Precinct 3:3,282 • Precinct 3:2,289 • Precinct 3:1,907 • Precinct 3:1,840 • Precinct 3:2,530

Proposed Ward & Precinct Boundaries - Option A

Total Population 40,718* (includes territory annexed after 1/1/2020) |  Ideal Ward Size: 8,143

11

Item 2.



 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 8-1, WARDS AND 

PRECINCTS, OF CHAPTER 8, ELECTIONS, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, IN ITS 

ENTIRETY, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 8-

1, WARDS AND PRECINCTS, DIVIDING THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA INTO WARDS AND PRECINCTS AND DESCRIBING 

THE BOUNDARIES OF SAID WARDS AND PRECINCTS 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

Section 8-1, Wards and Precincts of Chapter 8, Elections, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following new 

Section 8-1, Wards and Precincts is enacted in lieu hereof: 

Sec. 8-1. - Wards and precincts. 

(a) Division within city limits; boundaries defined. All the territory embraced with the city 

limits of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, shall be and the same is hereby divided into 

five wards, each having three precincts, said wards to be called First, Second, Third, 

Fourth and Fifth Wards respectively, and the boundaries of said wards and precincts 

shall be the same and are hereby established and defined as set out in this article. 

 

(b) The First Ward: The First Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the northeast corner of the city limits or the centerline of Leversee 

Road; thence southerly along said city limits line or the centerline of Leversee 

Road to the centerline of Lincoln Street; thence southerly and westerly along 

said city limits line and along the southerly extension of Leversee Road to the 

centerline of the main channel of the Cedar River;  thence northwesterly along 

the centerline of the main channel of the Cedar River to the centerline of 

Highway 58; thence southwesterly along the centerline of Highway 58 to the 

centerline of Waterloo Road; thence northwesterly along the centerline of 

Waterloo Road to the centerline of Main Street; thence continuing westerly 

along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the centerline of Hudson 

Road;  thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline 

of West Fourth Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Fourth 

Street to the centerline of Barnett Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of 

Barnett Drive to the centerline of Crescent Drive; thence easterly along the 

centerline of Crescent Drive to the centerline of North Magnolia Drive; thence 
12

Item 2.



northerly along the centerline of North Magnolia Drive to the centerline of West 

First Street or Highway 57; thence westerly along the centerline of West First 

Street to the west city limits line; thence northerly and easterly along said city 

limits line to the centerline of Fitkin Road or the north line of the city limits; 

thence easterly along said city limits line to the point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the First Ward. Precinct 1 of the First Ward shall consist of all of 

area described as follows: Beginning at the northeast corner of the city limits or 

the centerline of Leversee Road; thence southerly along said city limits line or 

the centerline of Leversee Road to the centerline of Lincoln Street; thence 

southerly and westerly along said city limits line and along the southerly 

extension of Leversee Road to the centerline of the main channel of the Cedar 

River;  thence northwesterly along the centerline of the main channel of the 

Cedar River routing westerly of Deadman's Island to the northwest city limits 

line; thence easterly  and northerly along said city limits line to the centerline of 

Fitkin Road or the north line of the city limits; thence easterly along said city 

limits line to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the First Ward. Precinct 2 of the First Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West First Street and 

Center Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West First Street to the 

centerline of Walnut Street; thence southerly along the centerline of Walnut 

Street to the centerline of West Fourth Street; thence westerly along the 

centerline of West Fourth Street to the centerline of Barnett Drive; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Barnett Drive to the centerline of Crescent 

Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Crescent Drive to the centerline of 

North Magnolia Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of North Magnolia 

Drive to the centerline of West First Street or Highway 57; thence westerly 

along the centerline of West First Street to the west city limits line; thence 

northerly and easterly along said city limits line to the centerline of the main 

channel of the Cedar River; thence southeasterly along the main channel of the 

Cedar River routing westerly of Deadman’s Island to the centerline of the 

Center Street bridge; thence southerly along the centerline of Center Street to 

the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the First Ward. Precinct 3 of the First Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Highway 58 and the 

centerline of the main channel of the Cedar River; thence northwesterly along 

the main channel of the Cedar River to the centerline of the Center Street 

bridge; thence southerly along the centerline of Center Street to the centerline 

of West First Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West First Street to 

the centerline of Walnut Street; thence southerly along the centerline of Walnut 

Street to the centerline of West Fourth Street; thence westerly along the 

centerline of West Fourth Street to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street; thence easterly along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the 

centerline of Main Street; thence continuing southeasterly along the centerline 

of Waterloo Road to the centerline of Highway 58; thence northeasterly along 

the centerline of Highway 58 to the point of beginning. 

(c) The Second Ward. The Second Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city 

limits described as follows: 

13

Item 2.



(1) Beginning at the intersection of East Greenhill Road the east city limits line; 

thence southerly and westerly along said city limits line to the centerline of East 

Ridgeway Avenue; thence westerly along the centerline of East Ridgeway 

Avenue to the southeast city limits line; thence southerly, westerly and northerly 

along said city limits line to the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue; thence 

easterly along the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue to the southwest city 

limits line; thence northerly and westerly along said city limits line to the 

centerline of South Union Road or the west city limits line; thence northerly 

along the centerline of South Union Road to the centerline of West Viking 

Road; thence easterly along West Viking Road to the centerline of Hudson 

Road; thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of 

West Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the centerline of West Greenhill 

Road to the centerline of South Main Street; thence northerly along the 

centerline of South Main Street to the centerline of Orchard Drive; thence 

easterly along the centerline of Orchard Drive to the centerline of Rownd Street; 

thence southerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the centerline of East 

Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the centerline of East Greenhill Road to 

the point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Second Ward. Precinct 1 of the Second Ward shall consist of 

all the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Orchard Drive 

and Rownd Street; thence westerly along the centerline of Orchard Drive to the 

centerline of South Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South 

Main Street to the centerline of Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the 

centerline of East Greenhill Road to the centerline of Rownd Street; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Second Ward. Precinct 2 of the Second Ward shall consist of 

all the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of East Greenhill 

Road the east city limits line; thence southerly and westerly along said city 

limits line to the centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue; thence westerly along the 

centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue to the southeast city limits line; thence 

southerly and westerly along said city limits line to the centerline of Highway 58; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Highway 58 to the centerline of West 

Greenhill Road, thence easterly along West Greenhill Road and East Greenhill 

Road to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Second Ward. Precinct 3 of the Second Ward shall consist of 

all the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West 

Greenhill Road and Highway 58; thence southerly along the centerline of 

Highway 58 to the south city limits line; thence westerly and northerly along 

said city limits line to the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue; thence easterly 

along the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue to the southeast city limits line; 

thence northerly and westerly along said city limits line to the centerline of 

South Union Road or the west city limits line; thence northerly along the 

centerline of South Union Road to the centerline of West Viking Road; thence 

easterly along West Viking Road to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West 

Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the centerline of West Greenhill Road to 

the point of beginning. 

(d) The Third Ward. The Third Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows:  

14

Item 2.



(1) Beginning at the intersection of Hudson Road and West Fourth Street; thence 

westerly along the centerline of West Fourth Street to the centerline of Barnett 

Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of Barnett Drive to the centerline of 

Crescent Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Crescent Drive to the 

centerline of North Magnolia Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of 

North Magnolia Drive to the centerline of West First Street or Highway 57; 

thence westerly along the centerline of West First Street to the west city limits 

line; thence  southerly, westerly and easterly along said city limits line to the 

centerline of West Viking Road; thence easterly along the centerline of West 

Viking Road to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Hudson Road to the point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Third Ward. Precinct 1 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Hudson Road and 

West Twelfth Street; thence northerly along the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street to the centerline of West Fourth Street; thence westerly along the 

centerline of West Fourth Street to the centerline of Barnett Drive; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Barnett Drive to the centerline of Crescent 

Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Crescent Drive to the centerline of 

North Magnolia Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of North Magnolia 

Drive to the centerline of West First Street or Highway 57; thence westerly 

along the centerline of West First Street to the west city limits; thence  southerly  

along said city limits line to the centerline West Twelfth Street; thence easterly 

along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Third Ward. Precinct 2 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Hudson Road and 

West Twelfth Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street to the west city limits line; thence southerly, westerly and easterly along 

said city limits line the centerline of University Avenue; thence northeasterly 

along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of Hudson Road; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Third Ward. Precinct 3 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Hudson Road and 

University Avenue; thence southwesterly along the centerline of University 

Avenue to the southwest city limits; thence easterly and southerly along said 

city limits line to the centerline of West Viking Road; thence easterly along the 

centerline of West Viking Road to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the point of beginning. 

(e) The Fourth Ward. The Fourth Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city 

limits described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the intersection of Main Street and West Twelfth Street; thence 

southerly along Main Street to the centerline of Seerley Boulevard; thence 

easterly along the centerline of East Seerley Boulevard to the centerline of 

Grove Street; thence southerly along the centerline of Grove Street to the 

centerline of University Avenue; thence easterly along the centerline of 

University Avenue to the centerline of Boulder Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Boulder Drive to the centerline of Idaho Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of Idaho Road to the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Tucson Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; 

thence westerly along the centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas 

15

Item 2.



Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of 

Oregon Road; thence westerly along the centerline of Oregon Road to the 

centerline of South Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South 

Main Street to the centerline of Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the 

centerline of West Greenhill Road to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street; thence easterly along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the point 

of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 1 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Main Street and 

West Twelfth Street; thence southerly along Main Street to the centerline of 

Seerley Boulevard;  thence westerly along the centerline of West Seerley 

Boulevard to the centerline of College St; thence northerly along the centerline 

of College Street to the centerline of West Twentieth Street; thence westerly 

along the centerline of West Twentieth Street to the centerline of Merner 

Avenue; thence northerly along the centerline of Merner Avenue to the 

centerline of West Nineteenth Street; thence westerly along the centerline of 

West Nineteenth Street to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence northerly 

along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West Twelfth Street; 

thence easterly along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the point of 

beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 2 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of College Street 

and West Seerley Boulevard; thence northerly along the centerline of College 

Street to the centerline of West Twentieth Street; thence westerly along the 

centerline of West Twentieth Street to the centerline of Merner Avenue; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Merner Avenue to the centerline of West 

Nineteenth Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Nineteenth 

Street to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence southerly along the centerline 

of Hudson Road to the centerline of University Avenue; thence northeasterly 

along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of College Street; 

thence northerly along College Street to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 3 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Main Street and 

Seerley Boulevard; thence easterly along the centerline of East Seerley 

Boulevard to the centerline of Grove Street; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Grove Street to the centerline of University Avenue; thence 

easterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of Boulder 

Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Boulder Drive to the centerline of 

Idaho Road; thence westerly along the centerline of Idaho Road to the 

centerline of Tucson Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Tucson 

Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; thence westerly along the centerline of 

Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of Oregon Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of Oregon Road to the centerline of South Main Street; 

thence southerly along the centerline of South Main Street to the centerline of 

Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the centerline of West Greenhill Road to 

the centerline of Hudson Road; thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson 

Road to the centerline of University Avenue; thence northeasterly along the 

16

Item 2.



centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of College Street; thence 

northerly along the centerline of College Street to the centerline of West 

Seerley Boulevard; thence easterly along the centerline of West Seerley 

Boulevard to the point of beginning. 

(f) The Fifth Ward. The Fifth Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the intersection of Highway 58 and the intersection of the main 

channel of the Cedar River; thence easterly along the main channel of the 

Cedar River to the east city limits; thence southerly and easterly along said city 

limits line to the centerline of East Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the 

centerline of East Greenhill Road to the centerline of Rownd Street; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the centerline of Orchard 

Drive; thence westerly along the centerline of Orchard Drive to the centerline of 

South Main Street; thence northerly along the centerline of South Main Street to 

the centerline of Oregon Road; thence easterly along the centerline of Oregon 

Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of 

Dallas Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; thence easterly along the 

centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence northerly 

along the centerline of Tucson Drive to the centerline of Idaho Road; thence 

easterly along the centerline of Idaho Road to the centerline of Boulder Drive; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Boulder Drive to the centerline of 

University Avenue, thence westerly along the centerline of University Avenue to 

the centerline of Grove Street; thence northerly along the centerline of Grove 

Street to the centerline of East Seerley Boulevard; thence westerly along the 

centerline of East Seerley Boulevard to the centerline of Main Street; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Main Street to the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street; thence easterly along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the 

centerline of Main Street; thence continuing southeasterly along the centerline 

of Waterloo Road; thence southeasterly along the centerline of Waterloo Road 

to the centerline of Highway 58; thence northeasterly along the centerline of 

Highway 58 to the point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 1 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Rownd Street and 

University Avenue; thence southerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the 

centerline of Orchard Drive; thence westerly along the centerline of Orchard 

Drive to the centerline of South Main Street; thence northerly along the 

centerline of South Main Street to the centerline of Oregon Road; thence 

easterly along the centerline of Oregon Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of Utah 

Road; thence easterly along the centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of 

Tucson Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of Tucson Drive to the 

centerline of Idaho Road; thence easterly along the centerline of Idaho Road to 

the centerline of Boulder Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of Boulder 

Drive to the centerline of University Avenue, thence westerly along the 

centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of Grove Street; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Grove Street to the centerline of East Seerley 

Boulevard; thence westerly along the centerline of East Seerley Boulevard to 

the centerline of Main Street; thence northerly along the centerline of Main 

Street to the centerline of West Twelfth Street; thence easterly along the 

17

Item 2.



centerline of West Twelfth Street to the centerline of Main Street; thence 

continuing southeasterly along the centerline of Waterloo Road to the centerline 

of University Avenue; thence continuing southeasterly along the centerline of 

University Avenue to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 2 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Highway 58 and the 

centerline of the main channel of the Cedar River; thence easterly along the 

main channel of the Cedar River to the east city limits; thence southerly and 

easterly along said city limits line to the centerline of Rainbow Drive; thence 

northwesterly along the centerline of Rainbow Drive to the centerline of Neola 

Street; thence southerly along the centerline of Neola Street to the centerline of 

Pleasant Drive; thence westerly along the centerline of Pleasant Drive to the 

centerline of Rownd Street, thence southerly along the centerline of Rownd 

Street to the centerline of University Avenue; thence northwesterly along the 

centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of Waterloo Road; thence 

continuing northwesterly along the intersection of Waterloo Road to the 

centerline of Highway 58; thence northeasterly along the centerline of Highway 

58 to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 3 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Rownd Street and 

University Avenue; thence northerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the 

centerline of Pleasant Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Pleasant 

Drive to the centerline of Neola Street; thence northerly along the centerline of 

Neola Street to the centerline of Rainbow Drive; thence southeasterly along the 

centerline of Rainbow Drive to the east city limits line; thence southerly along 

said city limits line to the centerline of East Greenhill Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of East Greenhill Road to the centerline of Rownd Street; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the point of beginning. 

 

INTRODUCED:    December 20, 2021    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:         

 

 

             
      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
     __ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

18

Item 2.



Greenhill Rd

Ridgeway Ave Ridgeway Ave

Hudson Rd

1st St

1st St

University Ave

Lincoln St

Wa
ver

ly R
d

W Airline Hwy

Center St

Ce
nte

r S
t

Hudson Rd

1st St

Lincoln St

University Ave

Greenhill Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

Lone Tree Rd

De
ere

 Rd

18th St

Dunkerton Rd

S U
nio

n R
d

18th St

Viking Rd

Rainbow Dr

Co
lleg

e S
t

12th St

University Ave

27th St

Lev
ers

ee 
Rd

N U
nio

n R
d

Ma
in 

St

Waterloo Rd

Cedar Heights Dr

S M
ain

 St

12th St

Viking Rd

Ma
in 

St

Cedar Heights Dr

Viking Rd

Viking Rd

Cedar Heights Dr

Orchard Dr

4T75

4D17

4D18

4D19

Bluegrass C t

Blu e
g ra

ss
Cir

Wild Rye Way

"!58

"!27

"!27

"!27

"!27

"!58

"!58

"!57

"!57

"!58

"!27

"!27

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Grand Blvd

5th St

Blu
ff S

t

Ch
ris

kin
 Rd Brookside Dr

Prairie View Rd

Ch
an

ce
llo

r D
r

Ann
Ave

Flynn Dr

Laverne Ln

Pa
nth

er 
LnSpringbrook Dr

Ka
ra 

Dr

Athens
Ct

E 14th
Ct

17th
St

Hacienda
Ct

Opal Ln

Bla
ckh

aw
k

Vlg

Carol Ct

RiverRidge Ln

Cherr
ywood

Pl

AliceAve

Horty St

Knoke
Pl

Leg
acy

 Ln

Gra
nd

vie
w

Ct

Lo
ng

vie
w

Ct

Ka
nsa

s S
t

Me
lro

se
Ct

Em
era

ld Rd

He
dg

ew
oo

d
Cir

Illin
ois

 St

Eth
an

 Ct

Cro
ss

Cre
ek 

Dr

High
St

Grant St

Union Dr

Wh
ite

Wa
y

S Forest
Rd

Jade
Rd

Floral Ct

Ind
ian

a S
t

Woodlawn
Ave

Superior
Way

Orchard
Pl

25th
St

Andover
Ct

Eagle Ridge Rd

Ba
rba

ra
Dr

Sa
ma

nth
a

Cir

Beach St

6th St

Bro
ns

on
 Ct

Es
tat

e
Dr

26th St

Meadow
Park Dr

Ch
ap

ma
n

Ct

Stanwood Dr

Ida St

Ho
we St

Co
tta

ge
Ln

Ga
llo

wa
y

Av
e

Tilton
Dr

Onawa
Dr

Hil
l C

t

Briarwood
Hills Dr

Ke
lly Ct

Ge
ne

vie
ve

Gram
Ct

Gre
ele

y S
t

A S
t

B S
t

Linda Dr

Idaho Rd

Wa
lm

art
Dr

Sunray
Dr

DruryLn

Hig
hg

ate
 Ln

Market
St

Goldenrod Way

Faithway Dr

Woodland
Dr

Lau
rie

Av
e

Rosemary Dr

Del Matro
Rd

Walters Pond Pl

Mustang Rd

Irv
ing

 St

Fer
n

Av
e

Horizon
Dr

Concord Cir

Cedar St

Blackhawk
Ln

Sta
nle

y S
t

Elm Dr

19th St

Arizona
Rd

Utah
Rd

Wi
nte

rbe
rry

Dr

Ke
nn

ed
y

Av
e

Seerley Blvd

Sh
irle

y S
t

Kline
 Dr

Ore
llan

a
Ave

Wi
llia

ms
on

 Av
e

Hig
hv

iew Ct

Douglas
St

Edgewood St

Elm
wo

od
Av

e

Min
ne

so
ta 

St

Bre
ntw

oo
d D

r

Meadow
View Cir

Ho
lid

ay 
Rd

Theimer
St

Evergreen
Ln Sta

rlit
e

Blv
d

Jes
sic

a L
n

Ch
ad

wic
k R

d

Shawnee
Rd

Sands
Ave

Patterson
Ln

Mathew DrHarriet Ln

Co
ne

flo
we

r
Pk

wy

Jill Dr
Mark Dr
Jodi Dr

Jen
nif

er 
Ln

Green Ave

Shelden Ave

Alden Ave

Bir
ds

all 
Dr

Tim
oth

y S
t

Redeker Dr

Sh
elle

y L
n

Meadow
Ln

Loma St

Sc
og

gin St

30th St

Sa
ble

 Ln

Tif
fan

y L
n

Greenhill
Cir

Westgate
Ave

Me
ad

ow
lar

k L
n

WestwoodDr

Linden
Ave

Chateau
Ct

Glo
ria

 St

Ka
spe

nd
 Pl

S Park Rd

Cooley St

Ma
gn

olia
 Dr

12th St

LeC
lair

 St

29th St

Feather

Ridge Dr

Fieldstone
Blvd

Glen
Oaks Dr

Joy St

Rocklyn St
Westview

St
Rosewood

Dr
Cadam Ct

Maple St

Parkway
Ave

Wo
od

rid
ge

Dr

Sta
te 

St

Be
lle 

Av
e

Bertchwood

Colorado

Lantz Ave

Ranchero Rd

Jay Ln

Qu
esa

da 
Ct

Granite Ridge Rd

As
hla

nd
 Av

e

Hunter Dr

Mis
sou

ri S
t

Po
ss

um
 Rd

Ca
rria

ge
 Ln

Tomahawk
Ln

Minnehaha
Ln

Co
rdu

roy
 Dr

Parsley Dr

Timber Cove Dr

Prairie St

McKinley St

An
dre

a D
r

Frontier Rd

Gib
son

 St

Cottonwood Ln

Ba
ker

 Dr
Fo

rre
st 

Rd

Pic
tur

esq
ue

Dr

Ce
ltic

 Ct

Dako
ta S

t

Bre
nto

n D
r

Winters Dr

Whitetail Dr

Fjo
rd 

Dr

Ca
lifo

rni
a S

t

Lindale Rd

Newland Dr

Ste
wa

rt L
n

Hiawatha Rd

Sw
eet

Ba
sil 

Ln

Cottage Row Ln

Ro
os

eve
lt S

t

Lo
ng

vie
w D

r

Drynan
Dr

Iris Dr

OsterPkwy

Winding R idge Rd

Lau
rin

da
Dr

Co
lleg

e S
t

Thresher Ct

Wa
rw

ick
 Dr

Ba
rrin

gto
n

Dr

Ad
am

s S
t

Austin Way

Windsor Dr

Jac
lyn

 St

Covey Ct

Ed
die

 St

Quail Hollow Ln

Hic
ko

ry 
Ln

Ca
rey

 Dr
Gla

cie
r D

r

Bonita Blvd

Falcon Ln

Western Ave

Da
ina

 Dr

De
ena

 Dr

Vin
e S

t

An
gie

 Dr

Pa
rkg

ate
 Rd

Ba
rne

tt D
r

Da
ma

scu
s D

r

No
rse

 Dr

Beaver Rd

Cobblestone Ct

Ca
mb

rid
ge

 Av
e

Ste
rlin

g L
n

Fandre Dr

Stratford Ct

Cre
stv

iew
 Dr

Bir
ch

 St

Ryan Dr

Oxford Ln
Coventry Ln
Yorkshire Dr

Joanne St

Ch
err

yw
oo

d D
r

Ga
s L

igh
t D

r

Pe
arl

 St

Ru
sse

ll D
r

Northview
Ln

Div
isio

n S
t

Po
cah

on
tas

 Rd

Maverick Ave

Fra
nc

is S
t

Edw
ard

s A
ve

Pleasant Dr

31st St

Hazelwood Ln

Butternut Ln

Hilton Dr

Continental Dr

Prair ie Rd

Re
dw

oo
d L

n

Hil
lcr

est
 Dr

Elm St

Dr

Orc
ha

rd 
Hil

l D
r

Camden St

Concord St
Saratoga St

Montclair St

Poplar Ln

Scranton St

Columbia St

Meado w L n

Country

Viking Plaza Dr

Co
lum

bin
e D

r

Lloyd Ln

Midway Dr

Timberledge Dr

Acorn Ln

Ma
riu

s D
r

Ap
ple

wo
od

 Ln

De
lta 

Dr

He
art

lan
d H

ills
 Dr

Paddington Dr

28th St

Viking Pl

Au
tum

n L
n

Newman Ave

Co
lum

bia Dr

Fir
esi

de
 Dr

Clair St

Tre
nto

n A
ve

Danish Dr

Hig
hla

nd

Cardinal Dr

Shocker Rd

Oak
lan

d A
ve

9th St
10th St

Richard Rd

He
art

hs
ide

 Dr

Beech Ave

16th St

Ce
dar

 Cr
est

 Dr

S Ridge Dr

Ala
me

da
 St

Huntington Rd

Oh
io 

St

Ell
en

Alvarado Ave

Pa
rris

h S
t

Fo
ur 

Se
aso

ns
 Dr

Berry Hill Rd

Longview St

Mil
len

ium
 Dr

Ca
raw

ay 
Ln

We
dg

ew
oo

d D
r

Cordoba Ave

5th St

Blu
eb

ell 
Rd

Pro
du

cti
on

 Dr

PE
 Ce

nte
r D

r

Quail Ridge Rd

Sunnyside Dr

Mc
Cla

in D
r

Val
ley

 Pa
rk 

Dr

Lake St

Madison St

Spruce

Technology Pkwy

Pa
nth

er 
Pk

wy

Westminster Dr

Ridgeway

Ln

Technolo gy P kwy

Mo
rris

on
 Ln

Winter
Ridge Ln

Sp
rin

g
Val

ley
 Ln

Continental
Acc

Sapphire Rd

Me
mo

ria
l

Av
e

Oak
St

Poplar Hollow Ln

Cedar
Hill
Rd

Linden
St

Timberledge
Pl

Willow Ave

Thomas
St

Co
ron

ado
Ct

Jo
rda

n S
t

RiverBluff Dr

Flying
Cloud Ln

Willow
Bend Rd

Lu
ke 

St

Su
ma

c A
ve

Pin
e S

t

Higby Dr

Laurel
Cir

Co
lle

ge
 StHarvest Ln

Boxwood Dr

Wellington Dr
Fai

rvi
ew

 Dr

Ad
dis

on
 Dr

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Ac
e P

l

Four Winds Dr

As
pen

 Dr

Valley High Dr

Balboa Ave

Primrose

Pri
nc

eto
n A

ve

Pheasant Dr

Vir
gil

 St

Vera Way

Wisconsin St

Ne
ola

 St

Venture Way

Waterbury Dr

Bergstrom Blvd

11th St

Me
rne

r A
ve

Ea
st 

St

DrDr

Dr

Fle
ur 

Dr

Ce
ntr

al A
ve

Five Seasons Blvd

Gr
ov

e S
t

Commerce Dr

Wi
llo

w L
n

En
ter

pri
se 

Dr

Div
isio

n S
t

Performance Dr

Savannah Park Rd

De
wit

t R
d

Big
 W

oo
ds

 Rd

Elmridge Dr

Campus St

Athens Dr

Ironwood Dr

S Court D
r

Hyacinth Dr

Pendleton Dr

Sunset Blvd

Nordic Ridge Dr

Capital Way

Quail Run Ln

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Calumett Dr

Holmes Dr

Parker St

Lak
evi

ew
  D

r

Pin Oak Dr

Brandilynn Blvd

Loren Dr

Cy
pre

ss 
Av

e

Da
llas

 Dr

Heritage Rd

Apollo St

Abraham Dr

Kn
oll

 Ri
dg

e D
r

Ea
stp

ark
 Rd

Dr

7th St

Greenhill Dr

Starview Dr

Wynnewood
Dr

19th St

Bo
uld

er 
Dr

Skyview Dr

Lake  Ridge Dr

Vic
tor

y D
r

23rd St

Tuc
so

n D
r

20th St

22nd St

21st St

Independence St
Cla

rk 
     

     
     

    D
r

Carlton Dr

17th St

E Main St

Melrose Dr

Gre
yh

ou
nd

 Dr

15th St
14th St
13th St

Green Creek Rd

Park Dr

Ra
il W

ay

Oa
k

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

Crescent Dr

S M
ain

 St

No
rdi

c D
r

Briarwood Dr

Oli
ve

 St

Erik Rd

Lone Tree Rd

8th St

Fitkin Rd

2nd St

Iow
a S

t

3rd St

Lilac Ln

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Cottage Row Rd

S U
nio

n R
d

Cla
y S

t

Ro
wn

d S
t

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

4th St

Wyth Rd

Ca
tal

pa
 Ln

Sp
ruc

e L
n

Bo
x E

lde
r L

n

Ha
ck

be
rry

 Ln

Fo
x

Vie
w D

r

Parkway Ave | Ct

PrairieCt

Le
xin

gto
n B

lvd

Purple
Clover Dr

Woodland Ave
Glenwood Ave

Ga
rne

t Rd

N Ridge Cir

Zircon Ln

Normandy
Dr

W Sunshine Ln

Sonoma Dr

Sc
hre

ibe
r

St

Richmond St

Lex
ing

ton
 Dr

St

Ro
os

eve
lt S

t

6th St

5th St
4th St Ca

the
rin

e S
t

St

Pa
rk 

Dr

Minnetonka

8th St

Ell
en

 St

20th St

Brookside Dr

22nd St

Melrose Dr

Sta
te 

St

Gro
ve 

St

Au
tum

n L
n

Edgew
ood Dr

Bicentennial
Dr

Valley High Dr

Cardinal

Ct

Midway Dr

Ro
wn

d S
t

Valley High Dr

Carlton Dr

Greenhill DrHills Dr

Nordic Dr

Katoski Dr

Ranchero Rd

De
wit

t R
d

Cy
pre

ss 
     

    
   A

ve Lake St

Western Ave

Ford Rd

Cre
sce

nt D
r

18th
St

Grand Blvd

Bri
arw

oo
d D

r

Algonquin Dr
Erik Rd

Cle
arv

iew
 Dr

Maplewood Dr

Greenwood Ave

Madison St

Irving St

Acorn Ln

Ca
mp

us 
St

Ca
mp

us 
St

Pa
nth

er
Ln

E Main StBig
 W

oo
ds 

Rd

Lo
ga

n
St

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

3rd St

Rd
Pra

irie
 Do

ck

Technology Pkwy

Scenic Dr

Amber
Valley Rd

Arbor
Way Blvd

Autumn
Woods Dr

Oli
ve

 St

Scenic
Dr

Ne
bra

ska
 St

Par
k

Blvd

Pe
arl

 St

Cla
y S

t

St

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Blu
ff S

t

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Ca
me

o S
t

OakAve

P eridotRd

Winter Ridge Rd

Jam
es

Dr

Loga nSt

Dr

Ma
ryh

ill
Dr

Alexis Blv d

Ridge

Jua
nita

Ave

Lill
iput Ln

Westbrook Rd

Quesada Ave

Monterey Dr
IngersollRd

Valdez Dr

SOakAve

Reese Rd

Blythe Blvd

Ironwood Dr

Lark Ln

Mauker

Dr

Woodc restDr

N C
ott

ag
e R

ow
 Rd

River RidgeRd

Sa
int

s
Dr

As
bu

ry 
Ln

Aspen Ct

Fountains Way

Da
llas Dr

Garden Ave

Ver
alt

a D
r

Cle
arv

iew

Hil
lsid

e

Lake shoreD r

23rd St

Ho
rseshoeDr

Hawthorne Dr

Ro
yal

Dr

Thunder Ridge Blvd

University Dr

Th
ym

eR
d

Cottage Grv

FastL n

Jakob Cir

Go
lde

n
Ln

Fer
nw

oo
d D

r

Maple St Park Pl
Chestnut St

Pine St

Seawa rdDr

L innwo o d Dr

Sunnysid e C ir

Shooting Star Way

Prairie Pkwy

Prairie View Rd

Starb
eck

 Cir

Je nnings Dr

Stowaway
St

Willow Oak Dr

Post Oak Dr

Tw
in 

Oa
ks 

Ln

Sa
g e

R d

Wild F lo wer Ln

Pri
de

mo
re 

DrHomeway Dr

¡¢20

¡¢218

¡¢218

¡¢20

¡¢218

Cedar River

Cedar RiverAlice Wyth Lake

Fisher Lake

Big Wood Lake

Snag Creek

South
Prairie
Lake

North
Prair ie
Lake

Dry
 Ru

n C
ree

k

Dry
 Ru

n C
ree

k (S
)

Dry Run Creek (SW)

Dry Run Creek (Univ)

Dry Run Creek (W)

Shirey Lake

Lake Manatt

Mullens Pond

Beaver Creek

Black H
awk C

ree
k

Prescotts Creek

Green Creek

1st Slough

2nd Slough
3rd Slough

á190

á189

á188

á187

á185

á184

á183

á182

á181

á224 á225
á226

á227

á223

á222

á40 á41

á42 á43

Rd

Nordi cDr

Ashworth Dr

Dona ld D r

Re
d O

ak 
Ln

Ashworth Dr

Andy Ave

Leigh LnEden Way

Lak
esh

ore
 Dr

Arbor Ridge  Rd
Maple Grove Dr

Bark w o od Dr

Arb
ors

 Dr

G reen Cre ek Rd

WhisperingPinesCir

Dr

Ca
llu

m C

t

Ver
alt

a

Tec
hn

olo
gy

Pl

Cyber Ln

Pizarr oC t

Ky l i e Ct

Kael Trl

L ore
nD

r

Norse Dr

Ash wort h Dr

Am el i a Dr

Al gon quin Dr

Wi
ld Rose C t

Cadillac Dr
Terrace Dr

Crossway Dr

GreenhillRd

Oregon Rd

Con
va i

r L
n

Devlin
Cir

Latham Pl Richland Dr

Lovejoy Dr

Melendy L nStu
rg i

s D
r

SL
aw

nR
d

B icentennial Dr

McC
l ain

Dr

Pleasant Dr

Terrace Dr
Sun

ny
Ln

Sha
d y

Ln

Park Cir

Ch
e rr

yL
n

E R idg
ew

oo
d D

r

W
Ri d

ge w
ood

Dr

Res

erv e Dr

TimberDr

Utility
Pkwy

Summit

Dr

Feather RunTrl

B luf f St

Ro
cky

Rd

Blair Ridge Rd

Wi ld Horse Dr

Sa
nda

hlwood Cir

A utumn Ridge Rd

Bi r d
sa l

l P
ark

Dr

G e ra ldin e R d

Pa
r k

D r

Lemongrass Dr

Savory
Ln

Cohen Ct

K ea g l es Xing

Pete rsPkwy

Tierney
Trl

B ig WoodsCree k

Castle Hi ll Creek

Riders Rd

Arb
or s

D r

Mandala y Dr

Library Dr

Warp Dr

Dead man's
Island Precinct 1

Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2
Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Ward 1

Ward 2

Ward 3

Ward 4

Ward 5

ICity of Cedar Falls, Iowa

© City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. The City of Ced ar Falls does not guarantee the accu racy of the information contained  on maps accessible on this site.  This information is provid ed  for d emonstration pu rposes only.  All warranties, express and implied, are hereby d isclaimed. 12/14/2021
K:\Projects\Council\Ward Pct\ProposedWard PctOptB.mxd

Proposed Wards & Precincts Opt. B
Effective January 15, 2022

Ward Boundary
Precinct Boundary
Iowa House Boundary

Ward  1: 8,449 Ward  2: 7,752 Ward  3: 8,326 Ward  4: 8,151 Ward  5: 8,040
• Precinct 1:1,831 • Precinct 1:1,941 • Precinct 1:2,924 • Precinct 1:2,300 • Precinct 1:3,426
• Precinct 2:3,188 • Precinct 2:3,300 • Precinct 2:1,917 • Precinct 2:2,562 • Precinct 2:3,405
• Precinct 3:3,430 • Precinct 3:2,511 • Precinct 3:3,485 • Precinct 3:3,289 • Precinct 3:1,209

Proposed Ward & Precinct Boundaries - Option B

Total Population 40,718* (includes territory annexed after 1/1/2020) |  Ideal Ward Size: 8,143

19

Item 2.



 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 8-1, WARDS AND 

PRECINCTS, OF CHAPTER 8, ELECTIONS, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, IN ITS 

ENTIRETY, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 8-

1, WARDS AND PRECINCTS, DIVIDING THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA INTO WARDS AND PRECINCTS AND DESCRIBING 

THE BOUNDARIES OF SAID WARDS AND PRECINCTS 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

Section 8-1, Wards and Precincts of Chapter 8, Elections, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following new 

Section 8-1, Wards and Precincts is enacted in lieu hereof: 

Sec. 8-1. - Wards and precincts. 

(a) Division within city limits; boundaries defined. All the territory embraced with the city 

limits of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, shall be and the same is hereby divided into 

five wards, each having three precincts, said wards to be called First, Second, Third, 

Fourth and Fifth Wards respectively, and the boundaries of said wards and precincts 

shall be the same and are hereby established and defined as set out in this article. 

 

(b) The First Ward: The First Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the northeast corner of the city limits or the centerline of Leversee 

Road; thence southerly along said city limits line or the centerline of Leversee 

Road to the centerline of Lincoln Street; thence southerly and westerly along 

said city limits line and along the southerly extension of Leversee Road to the 

centerline of Highway 57; thence westerly along the centerline of Highway 57 or 

East First Street to the centerline of Iowa Street; thence southerly along Iowa 

Street to the centerline of West Seventh Street; thence westerly along West 

Seventh Street to the centerline of College Street; thence southerly along the 

centerline of College Street to the centerline of West Eighth Street; thence 

westerly along the centerline of West Eighth Street to the centerline of Birdsall 

Drive; thence southwesterly along the centerline of Birdsall Drive to the 

centerline of Barnett Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Barnett 

Drive to the centerline of West Twelfth Street; thence westerly along the 

centerline of West Twelfth Street to the intersection the west city limits line; 

thence northerly and easterly along said city limits line to the centerline of Fitkin 
20

Item 2.



Road or the north line of the city limits; thence easterly along said city limits line 

to the point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the First Ward. Precinct 1 of the First Ward shall consist of all of 

area described as follows: Beginning at the northeast corner of the city limits or 

the centerline of Leversee Road; thence southerly along said city limits line or 

the centerline of Leversee Road to the centerline of Lincoln Street; thence 

southerly and westerly along said city limits line and along the southerly 

extension of Leversee Road to the centerline of Highway 57; thence westerly 

along the centerline of Highway 57 or East First Street to the centerline of the 

main channel of the Cedar River; thence northwesterly along the main channel 

of the Cedar River routing westerly of Deadman's Island to the northwest city 

limits; thence easterly and northerly along said city limits line to the centerline 

of Fitkin Road or the north line of the city limits; thence easterly along said city 

limits line to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the First Ward. Precinct 2 of the First Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Highway 57 or East 

First Street and the main channel of the Cedar River; thence northwesterly 

along the main channel of the Cedar River routing westerly of Deadman's 

Island to the northwest city limits; thence westerly and southerly along said city 

limits line to the centerline of West First Street or Highway 57; thence easterly 

along the centerline West First Street to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West Eighth 

Street; thence easterly along the centerline of West Eighth Street to the 

centerline of College Street; thence northerly along the centerline of College 

Street to the centerline of West Seventh Street; thence easterly along the 

centerline of West Seventh Street to the centerline of Iowa Street; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Seventh Street to the centerline of West First 

Street and continuing along East First Street to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the First Ward. Precinct 3 of the First Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West Eighth Street 

and Hudson Road; thence westerly along the centerline of West Eighth Street 

to the centerline of Birdsall Drive; thence southwesterly along the centerline of 

Birdsall Drive to the centerline of Barnett Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Barnett Drive to the centerline of West Twelfth Street; thence 

westerly along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the west city limits line; 

thence northerly along said city limits line to the centerline of West First Street 

and Highway 57; thence easterly along the centerline West First Street to the 

centerline of Hudson Road; thence southerly along the centerline of Hudson 

Road to the point of beginning. 

(c) The Second Ward. The Second Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city 

limits described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the intersection of East Seerley Blvd and Grove Street; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Grove Street to the centerline of University 

Avenue; thence easterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the 

centerline of Boulder Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Boulder 

Drive to the centerline of Idaho Road; thence westerly along the centerline of 

Idaho Road to the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Tucson Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; thence 

21

Item 2.



southerly along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of Oregon Road; 

thence westerly along the centerline of Oregon Road to the centerline of South 

Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South Main Street to the 

centerline of Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the centerline of East 

Greenhill Road to the centerline of Prairie Parkway; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Prairie Parkway to the centerline of East Viking Road; thence 

westerly along the centerline of East Viking Road to the intersection of the 

boundary between Cedar Falls and Waterloo School Districts; thence southerly 

along said boundary to the centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue; thence 

westerly along the centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue to the southeast city 

limits line; thence southerly, westerly and northerly along said city limits line to 

the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue; thence easterly along the centerline 

of West Ridgeway Avenue to the intersection southwest city limits line; thence 

northerly and westerly along said city limits line to the centerline of South Union 

Road or the west city limits line; thence northerly along the centerline of South 

Union Road to the centerline of West Viking Road; thence easterly along West 

Viking Road to the southwest city limits line; thence northerly and westerly 

along said city limits to the centerline of University Avenue; thence 

northeasterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of 

College Street; thence northerly along the centerline of College Street to the 

centerline of West Seerley Boulevard; thence easterly along the centerline of 

West Seerley Boulevard and continuing along East Seerley Boulevard to the 

point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Second Ward. Precinct 1 of the Second Ward shall consist of 

all the area described as follows: Beginning at the centerline of East Viking 

Road and the boundary between the Cedar Falls and Waterloo School Districts; 

thence southerly along said boundary to the centerline of East Ridgeway 

Avenue; thence westerly along the centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue to the 

southeast city limits line; thence southerly, westerly and northerly along said 

city limits line to the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue; thence easterly 

along the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue to the intersection southwest 

city limits line; thence northerly and westerly along said city limits line to the 

centerline of South Union Road or the west city limits line; thence northerly 

along the centerline of South Union Road to the centerline of West Viking 

Road; thence easterly along West Viking Road to the southwest city limits line; 

thence northerly and westerly along said city limits to the centerline of 

University Avenue; thence northeasterly along the centerline of University 

Avenue to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence southerly along the centerline 

of Hudson Road to the intersection of West Viking Road; thence easterly along 

the centerline of West Viking Road and continuing along East Viking Road to 

the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Second Ward. Precinct 2 of the Second Ward shall consist of 

all the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of East Seerley 

Boulevard and Highway 58; thence southerly along the centerline of Highway 

58 to the centerline of Viking Road; thence westerly along the centerline of 

West Viking Road to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of University Avenue; thence 

northeasterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of 

College Street; thence northerly along the centerline of College Street to the 

22

Item 2.



centerline of West Seerley Boulevard; thence easterly along the centerline of 

West Seerley Boulevard and continuing along East Seerley Boulevard to the 

point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Second Ward. Precinct 3 of the Second Ward shall consist of 

all the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of East Seerley 

Blvd and Grove Street; thence southerly along the centerline of Grove Street to 

the centerline of University Avenue; thence easterly along the centerline of 

University Avenue to the centerline of Boulder Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Boulder Drive to the centerline of Idaho Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of Idaho Road to the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Tucson Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; 

thence westerly along the centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas 

Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of 

Oregon Road; thence westerly along the centerline of Oregon Road to the 

centerline of South Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South 

Main Street to the centerline of Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the 

centerline of East Greenhill Road to the centerline of Prairie Parkway; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Prairie Parkway to the centerline of East Viking 

Road; thence westerly along the centerline of East Viking Road to the 

centerline of Highway 58; thence northerly along the centerline of Highway 58 

to the centerline of East Seerley Boulevard; thence easterly along the 

centerline of East Seerley Boulevard to the point of beginning. 

(d) The Third Ward. The Third Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows:  

(1) Beginning at the intersection of West Eighth Street and College Street; thence 

westerly along the centerline of West Eighth Street to the centerline of Birdsall 

Drive; thence southwesterly along the centerline of Birdsall Drive to the 

centerline of Barnett Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Barnett 

Drive to the centerline of West Twelfth Street; thence westerly along the 

centerline of West Twelfth Street to the west city limits line; thence southerly 

and easterly along said city limits line the centerline of University Avenue; 

thence northeasterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline 

of College Street; thence northerly along the centerline of College Street to the 

point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Third Ward. Precinct 1 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West Eighth Street 

and College Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Eighth Street 

to the centerline of Birdsall Drive; thence southwesterly along the centerline of 

Birdsall Drive to the centerline of Barnett Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Barnett Drive to the centerline of West Twelfth Street; thence 

westerly along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the centerline of 

Lexington Boulevard; thence southerly along the centerline of Lexington 

Boulevard and continuing along the southerly extension of Lexington Boulevard 

to the centerline of West Twenty-Seventh Street; thence easterly along the 

centerline of West Twenty-Seventh Street to the centerline of Hudson Road; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West 

Nineteenth Street; thence easterly along the centerline of West Nineteenth 

Street to the centerline of College Street; thence northerly along the centerline 

of College Street to the point of beginning. 

23

Item 2.



(3) Precinct 2 of the Third Ward. Precinct 2 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West Twelfth Street 

and Lexington Boulevard; thence westerly along the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street to the west city limits line; thence southerly and easterly along said city 

limits line the centerline of University Avenue; thence northeasterly along the 

centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West 

Twenty-Seventh Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Twenty-

Seventh Street to the southerly extension of Lexington Boulevard; thence 

northerly along the southerly extension of Lexington Boulevard and continuing 

along the centerline of Lexington Boulevard to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Third Ward. Precinct 3 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West Nineteenth 

Street and College Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West 

Nineteenth Street to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of University Avenue; thence 

northeasterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of 

College Street; thence northerly along the centerline of College Street to the 

point of beginning. 

(e) The Fourth Ward. The Fourth Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city 

limits described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the intersection of Highway 57 and the eastern city limits; thence 

westerly along the centerline of Highway 57 or East First Street to the 

centerline of Iowa Street; thence southerly along Iowa Street to the centerline of 

West Seventh Street; thence westerly along West Seventh Street to the 

centerline of College Street; thence southerly along the centerline of College 

Street to the centerline of West Seerley Boulevard; thence easterly along the 

centerline of West Seerley Boulevard and continuing along East Seerley 

Boulevard to the centerline of Grove Street; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Grove Street to the centerline of University Avenue; thence 

easterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of Waterloo 

Road; thence northwesterly along the centerline of Waterloo Road to the 

centerline of Pin Oak Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Pin Oak 

Drive to the centerline of Rownd Street; thence southerly along the centerline of 

Rownd Street to the centerline of Sunset Boulevard; thence easterly along the 

centerline of Sunset Boulevard to the centerline of Neola Street; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Neola Street to the centerline of Pleasant 

Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Pleasant Drive to the eastern city 

limits line; thence northerly and westerly along said city limits line to the 

centerline the main channel of the Cedar River; thence westerly and along the 

main channel of the Cedar River to the east city limits line; thence northeasterly 

along said city limits line to the centerline of Highway 57 and the point of 

beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 1 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Highway 57 and 

the eastern city limits line; thence westerly along the centerline of Highway 57 

or East First Street to the centerline of Iowa Street; thence southerly along Iowa 

Street to the centerline of West Seventh Street; thence westerly along West 

Seventh Street to the centerline of College Street; thence southerly along the 

24

Item 2.



centerline of College Street to the centerline of West Twelfth Street; thence 

easterly along the centerline of West Twelfth Street to the centerline of Main 

Street; thence southerly along the centerline of Main Street to the centerline of 

Eighteenth Street; thence easterly along East Eighteenth Street to the 

centerline of Highway 58; thence northeasterly along the centerline of Highway 

58 to the centerline of the main channel of the Cedar River; thence 

southeasterly along the main channel to the east city limits line; thence 

northeasterly along said city limits line to the centerline of Highway 57 and the 

point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 2 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West Twelfth 

Street and College Street; thence easterly along the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street to the centerline of Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of 

Main Street to the centerline of Eighteenth Street; thence easterly along East 

Eighteenth Street to the centerline of Valley Park Drive; thence southerly along 

the centerline of Valley Park Drive to the centerline of University Avenue; 

thence westerly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of 

Grove Street; thence northerly along the centerline of Grove Street to the 

centerline of East Seerley Boulevard; thence westerly along the centerline of 

East Seerley Boulevard and continuing along West Seerley Boulevard to the 

centerline of College Street; thence northerly along the centerline of College 

Street to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 3 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Valley Park Drive 

and University Avenue; thence easterly along the centerline of University 

Avenue to the centerline of Waterloo Road; thence northwesterly along the 

centerline of Waterloo Road to the centerline of Pin Oak Drive; thence easterly 

along the centerline of Pin Oak Drive to the centerline of Rownd Street; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the centerline of Sunset 

Boulevard; thence easterly along the centerline of Sunset Boulevard to the 

centerline of Neola Street; thence southerly along the centerline of Neola Street 

to the centerline of Pleasant Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of 

Pleasant Drive to the eastern city limits line; thence northerly and westerly 

along said city limits line to the centerline the main channel of the Cedar River; 

thence westerly along the main channel of the Cedar River to the east city limits 

line; thence northwesterly along the centerline of the main channel to the 

centerline of Highway 58; thence southwesterly along the centerline of Highway 

58 to the centerline of East Eighteenth Street; thence easterly along East 

Eighteenth Street to the centerline of Valley Park Drive; thence southerly along 

the centerline of Valley Park Drive to the point of beginning. 

(f) The Fifth Ward. The Fifth Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the intersection of Boulder Drive and University Avenue;  thence 

southerly along the centerline of Boulder Drive to the centerline of Idaho Road; 

thence westerly along the centerline of Idaho Road to the centerline of Tucson 

Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Tucson Drive to the centerline of 

Utah Road; thence westerly along the centerline of Utah Road to the centerline 

of Dallas Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the 

centerline of Oregon Road; thence westerly along the centerline of Oregon 

25

Item 2.



Road to the centerline of South Main Street; thence southerly along the 

centerline of South Main Street to the centerline of Greenhill Road; thence 

easterly along the centerline of East Greenhill Road to the centerline of Prairie 

Parkway; thence southerly along the centerline of Prairie Parkway to the 

centerline of East Viking Road; thence westerly along the centerline of East 

Viking Road to the intersection of the boundary between the Cedar Falls and 

Waterloo School Districts; thence southerly along said boundary to the 

southeast city limits line; thence easterly and northerly along said city limits line 

to the centerline of Pleasant Drive; thence westerly along the centerline of 

Pleasant Drive to the centerline of Neola Street; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Neola Street to the centerline of Sunset Boulevard; thence 

westerly along the centerline of Sunset Boulevard to the centerline of Rownd 

Street; thence northerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the centerline 

of Pin Oak Drive; thence westerly along the centerline of Pin Oak Drive to the 

centerline of Waterloo Road; thence southeasterly along the centerline of 

University Avenue; thence westerly along University Avenue to the point of 

beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 1 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Boulder Drive and 

University Avenue;  thence southerly along the centerline of Boulder Drive to 

the centerline of Idaho Road; thence westerly along the centerline of Idaho 

Road to the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of 

Tucson Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; thence westerly along the 

centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; thence southerly 

along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of Oregon Road; thence 

westerly along the centerline of Oregon Road to the centerline of South Main 

Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South Main Street to the 

centerline of Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the centerline of East 

Greenhill Road to the centerline of Briarwood Hills Drive; thence northerly along 

the centerline of Briarwood Hills Drive to the centerline of Briarwood Drive; 

thence westerly along the centerline of Briarwood Drive to the centerline of 

Maryhill Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of Maryhill Drive to the 

centerline of Carlton Drive; thence northwesterly along the centerline of Carlton 

Drive to the centerline of Orchard Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of 

Orchard Drive to the centerline of McClain Drive; thence northerly along the 

centerline of McClain Drive to the centerline of University Avenue; thence 

westerly along the centerline of University Avenue to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 2 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Briarwood Hills Drive 

and East Greenhill Road; thence northerly along the centerline of Briarwood 

Hills Drive to the centerline of Briarwood Drive; thence westerly along the 

centerline of Briarwood Drive to the centerline of Maryhill Drive; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Maryhill Drive to the centerline of Carlton 

Drive; thence northwesterly along the centerline of Carlton Drive to the 

centerline of Orchard Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Orchard 

Drive to the centerline of McClain Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of 

McClain Drive to the centerline of University Avenue; thence westerly along the 

centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of Waterloo Road; thence 

northwesterly along the centerline of Waterloo Road to the centerline of Pin 

26

Item 2.



Oak Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Pin Oak Drive to the 

centerline of Rownd Street; thence southerly along the centerline of Rownd 

Street to the centerline of Sunset Boulevard; thence easterly along the 

centerline of Sunset Boulevard to the centerline of Neola Street; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Neola Street to the centerline of Pleasant 

Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of Pleasant Drive to the eastern city 

limits line; thence southerly along said city limits line to the centerline of East 

Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the centerline of East Greenhill Road to 

the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 3 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Prairie Parkway and 

East Greenhill Road; thence southerly along the centerline of Prairie Parkway 

to the centerline of East Viking Road; thence westerly along the centerline of 

East Viking Road to a boundary between the Cedar Falls and Waterloo School 

Districts; thence southerly along said boundary to the southeast city limits line; 

thence easterly and  northerly along said city limits line to the centerline of East 

Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the centerline of East Greenhill Road to 

the point of beginning. 

 

INTRODUCED:    December 20, 2021    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:         

 

 

             
      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
     __ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

27

Item 2.



Greenhill Rd

Ridgeway Ave Ridgeway Ave

Hudson Rd

1st St

1st St

University Ave

Lincoln St

Wa
ver

ly R
d

W Airline Hwy

Center St

Ce
nte

r S
t

Hudson Rd

1st St

Lincoln St

University Ave

Greenhill Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

Lone Tree Rd

De
ere

 Rd

18th St

Dunkerton Rd

S U
nio

n R
d

18th St

Viking Rd

Rainbow Dr

Co
lleg

e S
t

12th St

University Ave

27th St

Lev
ers

ee 
Rd

N U
nio

n R
d

Ma
in 

St

Waterloo Rd

Cedar Heights Dr

S M
ain

 St

12th St

Viking Rd

Ma
in 

St

Cedar Heights Dr

Viking Rd

Viking Rd

Cedar Heights Dr

Orchard Dr

4T75

4D17

4D18

4D19

Bluegrass C t

Blu e
g ra

ss
Cir

Wild Rye Way

"!58

"!27

"!27

"!27

"!27

"!58

"!58

"!57

"!57

"!58

"!27

"!27

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Grand Blvd

5th St

Blu
ff S

t

Ch
ris

kin
 Rd Brookside Dr

Prairie View Rd

Ch
an

ce
llo

r D
r

Ann
Ave

Flynn Dr

Laverne Ln

Pa
nth

er 
LnSpringbrook Dr

Ka
ra 

Dr

Athens
Ct

E 14th
Ct

17th
St

Hacienda
Ct

Opal Ln

Bla
ckh

aw
k

Vlg

Carol Ct

RiverRidge Ln

Cherr
ywood

Pl

AliceAve

Horty St

Knoke
Pl

Leg
acy

 Ln

Gra
nd

vie
w

Ct

Lo
ng

vie
w

Ct

Ka
nsa

s S
t

Me
lro

se
Ct

Em
era

ld Rd

He
dg

ew
oo

d
Cir

Illin
ois

 St

Eth
an

 Ct

Cro
ss

Cre
ek 

Dr

High
St

Grant St

Union Dr

Wh
ite

Wa
y

S Forest
Rd

Jade
Rd

Floral Ct

Ind
ian

a S
t

Woodlawn
Ave

Superior
Way

Orchard
Pl

25th
St

Andover
Ct

Eagle Ridge Rd

Ba
rba

ra
Dr

Sa
ma

nth
a

Cir

Beach St

6th St

Bro
ns

on
 Ct

Es
tat

e
Dr

26th St

Meadow
Park Dr

Ch
ap

ma
n

Ct

Stanwood Dr

Ida St

Ho
we St

Co
tta

ge
Ln

Ga
llo

wa
y

Av
e

Tilton
Dr

Onawa
Dr

Hil
l C

t

Briarwood
Hills Dr

Ke
lly Ct

Ge
ne

vie
ve

Gram
Ct

Gre
ele

y S
t

A S
t

B S
t

Linda Dr

Idaho Rd

Wa
lm

art
Dr

Sunray
Dr

DruryLn

Hig
hg

ate
 Ln

Market
St

Goldenrod Way

Faithway Dr

Woodland
Dr

Lau
rie

Av
e

Rosemary Dr

Del Matro
Rd

Walters Pond Pl

Mustang Rd

Irv
ing

 St

Fer
n

Av
e

Horizon
Dr

Concord Cir

Cedar St

Blackhawk
Ln

Sta
nle

y S
t

Elm Dr

19th St

Arizona
Rd

Utah
Rd

Wi
nte

rbe
rry

Dr

Ke
nn

ed
y

Av
e

Seerley Blvd

Sh
irle

y S
t

Kline
 Dr

Ore
llan

a
Ave

Wi
llia

ms
on

 Av
e

Hig
hv

iew Ct

Douglas
St

Edgewood St

Elm
wo

od
Av

e

Min
ne

so
ta 

St

Bre
ntw

oo
d D

r

Meadow
View Cir

Ho
lid

ay 
Rd

Theimer
St

Evergreen
Ln Sta

rlit
e

Blv
d

Jes
sic

a L
n

Ch
ad

wic
k R

d

Shawnee
Rd

Sands
Ave

Patterson
Ln

Mathew DrHarriet Ln

Co
ne

flo
we

r
Pk

wy

Jill Dr
Mark Dr
Jodi Dr

Jen
nif

er 
Ln

Green Ave

Shelden Ave

Alden Ave

Bir
ds

all 
Dr

Tim
oth

y S
t

Redeker Dr

Sh
elle

y L
n

Meadow
Ln

Loma St

Sc
og

gin St

30th St

Sa
ble

 Ln

Tif
fan

y L
n

Greenhill
Cir

Westgate
Ave

Me
ad

ow
lar

k L
n

WestwoodDr

Linden
Ave

Chateau
Ct

Glo
ria

 St

Ka
spe

nd
 Pl

S Park Rd

Cooley St

Ma
gn

olia
 Dr

12th St

LeC
lair

 St

29th St

Feather

Ridge Dr

Fieldstone
Blvd

Glen
Oaks Dr

Joy St

Rocklyn St
Westview

St
Rosewood

Dr
Cadam Ct

Maple St

Parkway
Ave

Wo
od

rid
ge

Dr

Sta
te 

St

Be
lle 

Av
e

Bertchwood

Colorado

Lantz Ave

Ranchero Rd

Jay Ln

Qu
esa

da 
Ct

Granite Ridge Rd

As
hla

nd
 Av

e

Hunter Dr

Mis
sou

ri S
t

Po
ss

um
 Rd

Ca
rria

ge
 Ln

Tomahawk
Ln

Minnehaha
Ln

Co
rdu

roy
 Dr

Parsley Dr

Timber Cove Dr

Prairie St

McKinley St

An
dre

a D
r

Frontier Rd

Gib
son

 St

Cottonwood Ln

Ba
ker

 Dr
Fo

rre
st 

Rd

Pic
tur

esq
ue

Dr

Ce
ltic

 Ct

Dako
ta S

t

Bre
nto

n D
r

Winters Dr

Whitetail Dr

Fjo
rd 

Dr

Ca
lifo

rni
a S

t

Lindale Rd

Newland Dr

Ste
wa

rt L
n

Hiawatha Rd

Sw
eet

Ba
sil 

Ln

Cottage Row Ln

Ro
os

eve
lt S

t

Lo
ng

vie
w D

r

Drynan
Dr

Iris Dr

OsterPkwy

Winding R idge Rd

Lau
rin

da
Dr

Co
lleg

e S
t

Thresher Ct

Wa
rw

ick
 Dr

Ba
rrin

gto
n

Dr

Ad
am

s S
t

Austin Way

Windsor Dr

Jac
lyn

 St

Covey Ct

Ed
die

 St

Quail Hollow Ln

Hic
ko

ry 
Ln

Ca
rey

 Dr
Gla

cie
r D

r

Bonita Blvd

Falcon Ln

Western Ave

Da
ina

 Dr

De
ena

 Dr

Vin
e S

t

An
gie

 Dr

Pa
rkg

ate
 Rd

Ba
rne

tt D
r

Da
ma

scu
s D

r

No
rse

 Dr

Beaver Rd

Cobblestone Ct

Ca
mb

rid
ge

 Av
e

Ste
rlin

g L
n

Fandre Dr

Stratford Ct

Cre
stv

iew
 Dr

Bir
ch

 St

Ryan Dr

Oxford Ln
Coventry Ln
Yorkshire Dr

Joanne St

Ch
err

yw
oo

d D
r

Ga
s L

igh
t D

r

Pe
arl

 St

Ru
sse

ll D
r

Northview
Ln

Div
isio

n S
t

Po
cah

on
tas

 Rd

Maverick Ave

Fra
nc

is S
t

Edw
ard

s A
ve

Pleasant Dr

31st St

Hazelwood Ln

Butternut Ln

Hilton Dr

Continental Dr

Prair ie Rd

Re
dw

oo
d L

n

Hil
lcr

est
 Dr

Elm St

Dr

Orc
ha

rd 
Hil

l D
r

Camden St

Concord St
Saratoga St

Montclair St

Poplar Ln

Scranton St

Columbia St

Meado w L n

Country

Viking Plaza Dr

Co
lum

bin
e D

r

Lloyd Ln

Midway Dr

Timberledge Dr

Acorn Ln

Ma
riu

s D
r

Ap
ple

wo
od

 Ln

De
lta 

Dr

He
art

lan
d H

ills
 Dr

Paddington Dr

28th St

Viking Pl

Au
tum

n L
n

Newman Ave

Co
lum

bia Dr

Fir
esi

de
 Dr

Clair St

Tre
nto

n A
ve

Danish Dr

Hig
hla

nd

Cardinal Dr

Shocker Rd

Oak
lan

d A
ve

9th St
10th St

Richard Rd

He
art

hs
ide

 Dr

Beech Ave

16th St

Ce
dar

 Cr
est

 Dr

S Ridge Dr

Ala
me

da
 St

Huntington Rd

Oh
io 

St

Ell
en

Alvarado Ave

Pa
rris

h S
t

Fo
ur 

Se
aso

ns
 Dr

Berry Hill Rd

Longview St

Mil
len

ium
 Dr

Ca
raw

ay 
Ln

We
dg

ew
oo

d D
r

Cordoba Ave

5th St

Blu
eb

ell 
Rd

Pro
du

cti
on

 Dr

PE
 Ce

nte
r D

r

Quail Ridge Rd

Sunnyside Dr

Mc
Cla

in D
r

Val
ley

 Pa
rk 

Dr

Lake St

Madison St

Spruce

Technology Pkwy

Pa
nth

er 
Pk

wy

Westminster Dr

Ridgeway

Ln

Technolo gy P kwy

Mo
rris

on
 Ln

Winter
Ridge Ln

Sp
rin

g
Val

ley
 Ln

Continental
Acc

Sapphire Rd

Me
mo

ria
l

Av
e

Oak
St

Poplar Hollow Ln

Cedar
Hill
Rd

Linden
St

Timberledge
Pl

Willow Ave

Thomas
St

Co
ron

ado
Ct

Jo
rda

n S
t

RiverBluff Dr

Flying
Cloud Ln

Willow
Bend Rd

Lu
ke 

St

Su
ma

c A
ve

Pin
e S

t

Higby Dr

Laurel
Cir

Co
lle

ge
 StHarvest Ln

Boxwood Dr

Wellington Dr
Fai

rvi
ew

 Dr

Ad
dis

on
 Dr

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Ac
e P

l

Four Winds Dr

As
pen

 Dr

Valley High Dr

Balboa Ave

Primrose

Pri
nc

eto
n A

ve

Pheasant Dr

Vir
gil

 St

Vera Way

Wisconsin St

Ne
ola

 St

Venture Way

Waterbury Dr

Bergstrom Blvd

11th St

Me
rne

r A
ve

Ea
st 

St

DrDr

Dr

Fle
ur 

Dr

Ce
ntr

al A
ve

Five Seasons Blvd

Gr
ov

e S
t

Commerce Dr

Wi
llo

w L
n

En
ter

pri
se 

Dr

Div
isio

n S
t

Performance Dr

Savannah Park Rd

De
wit

t R
d

Big
 W

oo
ds

 Rd

Elmridge Dr

Campus St

Athens Dr

Ironwood Dr

S Court D
r

Hyacinth Dr

Pendleton Dr

Sunset Blvd

Nordic Ridge Dr

Capital Way

Quail Run Ln

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Calumett Dr

Holmes Dr

Parker St

Lak
evi

ew
  D

r

Pin Oak Dr

Brandilynn Blvd

Loren Dr

Cy
pre

ss 
Av

e

Da
llas

 Dr

Heritage Rd

Apollo St

Abraham Dr

Kn
oll

 Ri
dg

e D
r

Ea
stp

ark
 Rd

Dr

7th St

Greenhill Dr

Starview Dr

Wynnewood
Dr

19th St

Bo
uld

er 
Dr

Skyview Dr

Lake  Ridge Dr

Vic
tor

y D
r

23rd St

Tuc
so

n D
r

20th St

22nd St

21st St

Independence St
Cla

rk 
     

     
     

    D
r

Carlton Dr

17th St

E Main St

Melrose Dr

Gre
yh

ou
nd

 Dr

15th St
14th St
13th St

Green Creek Rd

Park Dr

Ra
il W

ay

Oa
k

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

Crescent Dr

S M
ain

 St

No
rdi

c D
r

Briarwood Dr

Oli
ve

 St

Erik Rd

Lone Tree Rd

8th St

Fitkin Rd

2nd St

Iow
a S

t

3rd St

Lilac Ln

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Cottage Row Rd

S U
nio

n R
d

Cla
y S

t

Ro
wn

d S
t

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

4th St

Wyth Rd

Ca
tal

pa
 Ln

Sp
ruc

e L
n

Bo
x E

lde
r L

n

Ha
ck

be
rry

 Ln

Fo
x

Vie
w D

r

Parkway Ave | Ct

PrairieCt

Le
xin

gto
n B

lvd

Purple
Clover Dr

Woodland Ave
Glenwood Ave

Ga
rne

t Rd

N Ridge Cir

Zircon Ln

Normandy
Dr

W Sunshine Ln

Sonoma Dr

Sc
hre

ibe
r

St

Richmond St

Lex
ing

ton
 Dr

St

Ro
os

eve
lt S

t

6th St

5th St
4th St Ca

the
rin

e S
t

St

Pa
rk 

Dr

Minnetonka

8th St

Ell
en

 St

20th St

Brookside Dr

22nd St

Melrose Dr

Sta
te 

St

Gro
ve 

St

Au
tum

n L
n

Edgew
ood Dr

Bicentennial
Dr

Valley High Dr

Cardinal

Ct

Midway Dr

Ro
wn

d S
t

Valley High Dr

Carlton Dr

Greenhill DrHills Dr

Nordic Dr

Katoski Dr

Ranchero Rd

De
wit

t R
d

Cy
pre

ss 
     

    
   A

ve Lake St

Western Ave

Ford Rd

Cre
sce

nt D
r

18th
St

Grand Blvd

Bri
arw

oo
d D

r

Algonquin Dr
Erik Rd

Cle
arv

iew
 Dr

Maplewood Dr

Greenwood Ave

Madison St

Irving St

Acorn Ln

Ca
mp

us 
St

Ca
mp

us 
St

Pa
nth

er
Ln

E Main StBig
 W

oo
ds 

Rd

Lo
ga

n
St

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

3rd St

Rd
Pra

irie
 Do

ck

Technology Pkwy

Scenic Dr

Amber
Valley Rd

Arbor
Way Blvd

Autumn
Woods Dr

Oli
ve

 St

Scenic
Dr

Ne
bra

ska
 St

Par
k

Blvd

Pe
arl

 St

Cla
y S

t

St

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Blu
ff S

t

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Ca
me

o S
t

OakAve

P eridotRd

Winter Ridge Rd

Jam
es

Dr

Loga nSt

Dr

Ma
ryh

ill
Dr

Alexis Blv d

Ridge

Jua
nita

Ave

Lill
iput Ln

Westbrook Rd

Quesada Ave

Monterey Dr
IngersollRd

Valdez Dr

SOakAve

Reese Rd

Blythe Blvd

Ironwood Dr

Lark Ln

Mauker

Dr

Woodc restDr

N C
ott

ag
e R

ow
 Rd

River RidgeRd

Sa
int

s
Dr

As
bu

ry 
Ln

Aspen Ct

Fountains Way

Da
llas Dr

Garden Ave

Ver
alt

a D
r

Cle
arv

iew

Hil
lsid

e

Lake shoreD r

23rd St

Ho
rseshoeDr

Hawthorne Dr

Ro
yal

Dr

Thunder Ridge Blvd

University Dr

Th
ym

eR
d

Cottage Grv

FastL n

Jakob Cir

Go
lde

n
Ln

Fer
nw

oo
d D

r

Maple St Park Pl
Chestnut St

Pine St

Seawa rdDr

L innwo o d Dr

Sunnysid e C ir

Shooting Star Way

Prairie Pkwy

Prairie View Rd

Starb
eck

 Cir

Je nnings Dr

Stowaway
St

Willow Oak Dr

Post Oak Dr

Tw
in 

Oa
ks 

Ln

Sa
g e

R d

Wild F lo wer Ln

Pri
de

mo
re 

DrHomeway Dr

¡¢20

¡¢218

¡¢218

¡¢20

¡¢218

Cedar River

Cedar RiverAlice Wyth Lake

Fisher Lake

Big Wood Lake

Snag Creek

South
Prairie
Lake

North
Prair ie
Lake

Dry
 Ru

n C
ree

k

Dry
 Ru

n C
ree

k (S
)

Dry Run Creek (SW)

Dry Run Creek (Univ)

Dry Run Creek (W)

Shirey Lake

Lake Manatt

Mullens Pond

Beaver Creek

Black H
awk C

ree
k

Prescotts Creek

Green Creek

1st Slough

2nd Slough
3rd Slough

á190

á189

á188

á187

á185

á184

á183

á182

á181

á224 á225
á226

á227

á223

á222

á40 á41

á42 á43

Rd

Nordi cDr

Ashworth Dr

Dona ld D r

Re
d O

ak 
Ln

Ashworth Dr

Andy Ave

Leigh LnEden Way

Lak
esh

ore
 Dr

Arbor Ridge  Rd
Maple Grove Dr

Bark w o od Dr

Arb
ors

 Dr

G reen Cre ek Rd

WhisperingPinesCir

Dr

Ca
llu

m C

t

Ver
alt

a

Tec
hn

olo
gy

Pl

Cyber Ln

Pizarr oC t

Ky l i e Ct

Kael Trl

L ore
nD

r

Norse Dr

Ash wort h Dr

Am el i a Dr

Al gon quin Dr

Wi
ld Rose C t

Cadillac Dr
Terrace Dr

Crossway Dr

GreenhillRd

Oregon Rd

Con
va i

r L
n

Devlin
Cir

Latham Pl Richland Dr

Lovejoy Dr

Melendy L nStu
rg i

s D
r

SL
aw

nR
d

B icentennial Dr

McC
l ain

Dr

Pleasant Dr

Terrace Dr
Sun

ny
Ln

Sha
d y

Ln

Park Cir

Ch
e rr

yL
n

E R idg
ew

oo
d D

r

W
Ri d

ge w
ood

Dr

Res

erv e Dr

TimberDr

Utility
Pkwy

Summit

Dr

Feather RunTrl

B luf f St

Ro
cky

Rd

Blair Ridge Rd

Wi ld Horse Dr

Sa
nda

hlwood Cir

A utumn Ridge Rd

Bi r d
sa l

l P
ark

Dr

G e ra ldin e R d

Pa
r k

D r

Lemongrass Dr

Savory
Ln

Cohen Ct

K ea g l es Xing

Pete rsPkwy

Tierney
Trl

B ig WoodsCree k

Castle Hi ll Creek

Riders Rd

Arb
or s

D r

Mandala y Dr

Library Dr

Warp Dr

Deadm an's
Island

Ward 1

Ward 2

Ward 3 Ward 4

Ward 5

Precinct 1

Precinct 2 Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1
Precinct 2

Precinct 3

Precinct 1

Precinct 2

Precinct 3

ICity of Cedar Falls, Iowa

© City of Ce dar Falls, Iowa. The  City of Cedar Falls doe s  not guarante e the accuracy of the inform ation contained on m aps acce s s ible  on this site .  This inform ation is provided for de m onstration pu rpos e s  only.  All warrantie s, e xpre s s and im plie d, are he re by disclaim e d. 12/13/2021
K:\Proje cts\Council\WardPct\Propos edWardPctOptC.m xd

Proposed Wards & Precincts Opt. C
Effective January 15, 2022

Ward Boundary
Precinct Boundary
Iowa House Boundary

Ward 1: 7,858 Ward 2: 7,917 Ward 3: 8,483 Ward 4: 7,863 Ward 5: 8,597
• Precinct 1:1,845 • Precinct 1:1,881 • Precinct 1:2,859 • Precinct 1:3,175 • Precinct 1:3,089
• Precinct 2:3,128 • Precinct 2:3,311 • Precinct 2:2,509 • Precinct 2:2,347 • Precinct 2:2,583
• Precinct 3:2,885 • Precinct 3:2,725 • Precinct 3:3,115 • Precinct 3:2,341 • Precinct 3:2,925

Proposed Ward & Precinct Boundaries - Option C

Total Population 40,718* (includes territory annexed after 1/1/2020) |  Ideal Ward Size: 8,143

28

Item 2.



 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 8-1, WARDS AND 

PRECINCTS, OF CHAPTER 8, ELECTIONS, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, IN ITS 

ENTIRETY, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 8-

1, WARDS AND PRECINCTS, DIVIDING THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA INTO WARDS AND PRECINCTS AND DESCRIBING 

THE BOUNDARIES OF SAID WARDS AND PRECINCTS 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

Section 8-1, Wards and Precincts of Chapter 8, Elections, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following new 

Section 8-1, Wards and Precincts is enacted in lieu hereof: 

Sec. 8-1. - Wards and precincts. 

(a) Division within city limits; boundaries defined. All the territory embraced with the city 

limits of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, shall be and the same is hereby divided into 

five wards, each having three precincts, said wards to be called First, Second, Third, 

Fourth and Fifth Wards respectively, and the boundaries of said wards and precincts 

shall be the same and are hereby established and defined as set out in this article. 

 

(b) The First Ward: The First Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the northeast corner of the city limits or the centerline of Leversee 

Road; thence southerly along said city limits line or the centerline of Leversee 

Road to the centerline of Lincoln Street; thence southerly and westerly along 

said city limits line and along the southerly extension of Leversee Road to the 

centerline of the main channel of the Cedar River;  thence northwesterly along 

the centerline of the main channel of the Cedar River to the centerline of 

Highway 58; thence southwesterly along the centerline of Highway 58 to the 

centerline of East Eighteenth Street; thence westerly along East Eighteenth 

Street and continuing along West Eighteenth Street to the centerline of Hudson 

Road; thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of 

West First Street; thence northerly along the extension of Hudson Road to the 

centerline of Theimer Street; thence easterly along the centerline of Theimer 

Street to the centerline of Ellen Street; thence northerly along the centerline of 

Ellen Street to the centerline of South Park Road; thence westerly along the 

centerline of South Park Road to the centerline of Baker Drive; thence northerly 
29

Item 2.



along the centerline of Baker Drive to the centerline of South Forest Road; 

thence westerly along the centerline of South Forest Road to the centerline of 

Westwood Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of Westwood Drive to 

the centerline of River Bluff Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of River 

Bluff Drive to the centerline of Ravine Drive; thence northeasterly along the 

extension of Ravine Drive to the centerline of the Cedar River; thence 

northwesterly along the main channel of the Cedar River routing westerly of 

Deadman's Island to the northwest city limits line; thence easterly  and 

northerly along said city limits line to the centerline of Fitkin Road or the north 

line of the city limits; thence easterly along said city limits line to the point of 

beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the First Ward. Precinct 1 of the First Ward shall consist of all of 

area described as follows: Beginning at the northeast corner of the city limits or 

the centerline of Leversee Road; thence southerly along said city limits line or 

the centerline of Leversee Road to the centerline of Lincoln Street; thence 

southerly and westerly along said city limits line and along the southerly 

extension of Leversee Road to the centerline of the main channel of the Cedar 

River;  thence northwesterly along the centerline of the main channel of the 

Cedar River routing westerly of Deadman's Island to the northwest city limits 

line; thence easterly  and northerly along said city limits line to the centerline of 

Fitkin Road or the north line of the city limits; thence easterly along said city 

limits line to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the First Ward. Precinct 2 of the First Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West First Street and 

Center Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West First Street to the 

centerline of Walnut Street, thence southerly along the centerline of Walnut 

Street to the centerline of West Eighteenth Street; thence westerly along East 

Eighteenth Street and continuing along West Eighteenth Street to the centerline 

of Hudson Road; thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the 

centerline of West First Street; thence northerly along the extension of Hudson 

Road to the centerline of Theimer Street; thence easterly along the centerline of 

Theimer Street to the centerline of Ellen Street; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Ellen Street to the centerline of South Park Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of South Park Road to the centerline of Baker Drive; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Baker Drive to the centerline of South 

Forest Road; thence westerly along the centerline of South Forest Road to the 

centerline of Westwood Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of 

Westwood Drive to the centerline of River Bluff Drive; thence easterly along the 

centerline of River Bluff Drive to the centerline of Ravine Drive; thence 

northeasterly along the extension of Ravine Drive to the centerline of the Cedar 

River; thence southeasterly along the main channel of the Cedar River to the 

centerline of the Center Street bridge; thence southerly along the centerline of 

Center Street to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the First Ward. Precinct 3 of the First Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Highway 58 and the 

centerline of the main channel of the Cedar River; thence northwesterly along 

the main channel of the Cedar River to the centerline of the Center Street 

bridge; thence southerly along the centerline of Center Street to the centerline 

of West First Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West First Street to 

30

Item 2.



the centerline of Walnut Street, thence southerly along the centerline of Walnut 

Street to the centerline of West Eighteenth Street; thence easterly along West 

Eighteenth Street and continuing along East Eighteenth Street to the centerline 

of Highway 58; thence northeasterly along the centerline of Highway 58 to the 

point of beginning. 

(c) The Second Ward. The Second Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city 

limits described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the intersection of East Seerley Blvd and Grove Street; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Grove Street to the centerline of University 

Avenue; thence easterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the 

centerline of Boulder Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Boulder 

Drive to the centerline of Idaho Road; thence westerly along the centerline of 

Idaho Road to the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Tucson Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of Oregon Road; 

thence westerly along the centerline of Oregon Road to the centerline of South 

Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South Main Street to the 

centerline of Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the centerline of West 

Greenhill Road to the centerline of Highway 58; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Highway 58 to the south city limits line; thence westerly and 

northerly along said city limits line to the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue; 

thence easterly along the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue to the 

southwest city limits line; thence northerly and westerly along said city limits 

line to the centerline of South Union Road or the west city limits line; thence 

northerly along the centerline of South Union Road to the centerline of West 

Viking Road; thence easterly along West Viking Road to the southwest city 

limits line; thence northerly and westerly along said city limits to the centerline 

of University Avenue; thence northeasterly along the centerline of University 

Avenue to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence northerly along the centerline 

of Hudson Road to the centerline of West Twenty-Third Street; thence easterly 

along the centerline of West Twenty-Third Street to the centerline of College 

Street; thence southerly along the centerline of College Street to the centerline 

of West Seerley Boulevard; thence easterly along the centerline of West 

Seerley Boulevard and continuing along East Seerley Boulevard to the point of 

beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Second Ward. Precinct 1 of the Second Ward shall consist of 

all the area described as follows: Beginning at the centerline of Hudson Road 

and University Avenue; thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road 

to the centerline of West Twenty-Third Street; thence easterly along the 

centerline of West Twenty-Third Street to the centerline of College Street; 

thence southerly along the centerline of College Street to the centerline of 

University Avenue; thence southwesterly along the centerline of University 

Avenue to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Second Ward shall consist of all the area described as follows: 

Beginning at the intersection of West Seerley Boulevard and College Street; ; 

thence easterly along the centerline of West Seerley Boulevard and continuing 

along East Seerley Boulevard to the centerline of Grove Street; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Grove Street to the centerline of University 

31

Item 2.



Avenue; thence easterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the 

centerline of Boulder Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Boulder 

Drive to the centerline of Idaho Road; thence westerly along the centerline of 

Idaho Road to the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Tucson Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; thence 

southerly along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of Oregon Road; 

thence westerly along the centerline of Oregon Road to the centerline of South 

Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South Main Street to the 

centerline of Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the centerline of West 

Greenhill Road to the centerline of Highway 58; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Highway 58 to the centerline of Viking Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of West Viking Road to the centerline of Hudson Road; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of 

Ashworth Drive; thence northeasterly along the centerline of Ashworth Drive to 

the centerline of Algonquin Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of 

Algonquin Drive to the centerline of West Greenhill Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of West Greenhill Road to the centerline of Hudson Road; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of 

University Avenue; thence northeasterly along the centerline of University 

Avenue to the centerline of College Street; thence northerly along the centerline 

of College Street to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Second Ward. Precinct 3 of the Second Ward shall consist of 

all the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West Viking 

Road and Highway 58; thence southerly along the centerline of Highway 58 to 

the south city limits line; thence westerly and northerly along said city limits line 

to the centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue; thence easterly along the 

centerline of West Ridgeway Avenue to the southwest city limits line; thence 

northerly and westerly along said city limits line to the centerline of South Union 

Road or the west city limits line; thence northerly along the centerline of South 

Union Road to the centerline of West Viking Road; thence easterly along West 

Viking Road to the southwest city limits line; thence northerly and westerly 

along said city limits line to the centerline of University Avenue; thence 

northeasterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of 

Hudson Road; thence southerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the 

centerline of West Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the centerline of West 

Greenhill Road to the centerline of Algonquin Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Algonquin Drive to the centerline of Ashworth Drive; thence 

southwesterly along the centerline of Algonquin Drive to the centerline of 

Hudson Road; thence southerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the 

centerline of West Viking Road; thence easterly along the centerline of West 

Viking Road to the point of beginning. 

(d) The Third Ward. The Third Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows:  

(1) Beginning at the intersection of Hudson Road and University Avenue; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West First 

Street; thence northerly along the extension of Hudson Road to the centerline 

of Theimer Street; thence easterly along the centerline of Theimer Street to the 

centerline of Ellen Street; thence northerly along the centerline of Ellen Street 

32

Item 2.



to the centerline of South Park Road; thence westerly along the centerline of 

South Park Road to the centerline of Baker Drive; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Baker Drive to the centerline of South Forest Road; thence 

westerly along the centerline of South Forest Road to the centerline of 

Westwood Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of Westwood Drive to 

the centerline of River Bluff Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of River 

Bluff Drive to the centerline of Ravine Drive; thence northeasterly along the 

extension of Ravine Drive to the centerline of the Cedar River; thence 

northwesterly along the main channel of the Cedar River routing westerly of 

Deadman's Island to the northwest city limits line; thence westerly, southerly 

and easterly along said city limits line to the centerline of University Avenue; 

thence northeasterly along the centerline of University Avenue to the point of 

beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Third Ward. Precinct 1 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Hudson Road and 

West Eighth Street; thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the 

centerline of West First Street; thence northerly along the extension of Hudson 

Road to the centerline of Theimer Street; thence easterly along the centerline of 

Theimer Street to the centerline of Ellen Street; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Ellen Street to the centerline of South Park Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of South Park Road to the centerline of Baker Drive; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Baker Drive to the centerline of South 

Forest Road; thence westerly along the centerline of South Forest Road to the 

centerline of Westwood Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of 

Westwood Drive to the centerline of River Bluff Drive; thence easterly along the 

centerline of River Bluff Drive to the centerline of Ravine Drive; thence 

northeasterly along the extension of Ravine Drive to the centerline of the Cedar 

River; thence northwesterly along the main channel of the Cedar River routing 

westerly of Deadman's Island to the northwest city limits line; thence westerly 

and southerly along said city limits line to the centerline of West First Street or 

Highway 57; thence easterly along the centerline of West First Street to the 

centerline of North Magnolia Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of 

North Magnolia Drive to the centerline of Crescent Drive; thence westerly along 

the centerline of Crescent Drive to the centerline of Damascus Drive; thence 

southerly of Damascus Drive to the centerline of West Fourth Street; thence 

easterly along the centerline of West Fourth Street to the centerline of Barnett 

Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Barnett Drive to the centerline of 

Birdsall Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of Birdsall Drive to the 

centerline of West Eighth Street; thence easterly of West Eighth Street to the 

point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Third Ward. Precinct 2 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Hudson Road and 

West Eighth Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Eighth Street 

to the centerline of Birdsall Drive; thence southwesterly along the centerline of 

Birdsall Drive to the centerline of Barnett Drive; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Barnett Drive to the centerline of West Fourth Street; thence 

westerly along the centerline of West Fourth Street to the centerline of 

Damascus Drive; thence northerly along the centerline of Damascus Drive to 

the centerline of Crescent Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of 

33

Item 2.



Crescent Drive to the centerline of North Magnolia Drive; thence northerly along 

the centerline of North Magnolia Drive to the centerline of West First Street or 

Highway 57; thence westerly along the centerline of West First Street to the 

west city limits line; thence southerly along said city limits line to the centerline 

of West Twelfth Street; thence easterly along the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence northerly along the centerline 

of Hudson Road to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Third Ward. Precinct 3 of the Third Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Hudson Road and 

West Twelfth Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Twelfth 

Street to west city limits line; thence southerly and easterly along said city limits 

line to the centerline of University Avenue; thence northeasterly along the 

centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of Hudson Road; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the point of beginning. 

(e) The Fourth Ward. The Fourth Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city 

limits described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the intersection of Highway 58 and the main channel of the Cedar 

River; thence easterly along the main channel of the Cedar River the east city 

limits line; thence southerly and easterly along said city limits line to the 

centerline of University Avenue; thence westerly along the centerline of 

University Avenue to the centerline of Grove Street; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Grove Street to the centerline of East Seerley Boulevard; thence 

westerly along the centerline of East Seerley Boulevard and continuing along 

West Seerley Boulevard to the centerline of College Street; thence northerly 

along the centerline of College Street to the centerline of West Twenty-Third 

Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Twenty-Third Street to the 

centerline of Hudson Road; thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson 

Road to the centerline of West Eighteenth Street; thence easterly along the 

centerline of West Eighteenth Street and continuing along East Eighteenth 

Street to the centerline of Highway 58; thence northeasterly along the 

centerline of Highway 58 to the point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 1 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of East Seerley 

Boulevard and Highway 58; thence westerly along the centerline of East 

Seerley Boulevard and continuing along West Seerley Boulevard to the 

centerline of College Street; thence northerly along the centerline of College 

Street to the centerline of West Twenty-Third Street; thence westerly along the 

centerline of West Twenty-Third Street to the centerline of Hudson Road; 

thence northerly along the centerline of Hudson Road to the centerline of West 

Eighteenth Street; thence easterly along the centerline of West Eighteenth 

Street and continuing along East Eighteenth Street to the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 2 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Highway 58 and 

the main channel of the Cedar River; thence easterly along the main channel of 

the Cedar River to the east city limits line; thence southerly and easterly along 

said city limits line to the centerline of Rainbow Drive; thence westerly along the 

centerline of Rainbow Drive to the centerline of Virgil Street; thence southerly 

along the centerline of Virgil Street to the centerline of Hawthorne Drive; thence 

westerly along the centerline of Hawthorne Drive to the centerline of Waterloo 

34

Item 2.



Road; thence southeasterly along the centerline of Waterloo Road to the 

centerline of University Avenue; thence westerly along the centerline of 

University Avenue to the centerline of Grove Street; thence northerly along the 

centerline of Grove Street to the centerline of East Seerley Boulevard; thence 

westerly along the centerline of East Seerley Boulevard to the centerline of 

Highway 58; thence northeasterly along the centerline of Highway 58 to the 

point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Fourth Ward. Precinct 3 of the Fourth Ward shall consist of all 

the area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Rainbow Drive 

and the east city limits line; thence westerly along the centerline of Rainbow 

Drive to the centerline of Virgil Street; thence southerly along the centerline of 

Virgil Street to the centerline of Hawthorne Drive; thence westerly along the 

centerline of Hawthorne Drive to the centerline of Waterloo Road; thence 

southeasterly along the centerline of Waterloo Road to the centerline of 

University Avenue; thence easterly along the centerline of University Avenue to 

the east city limits line; thence northerly along said city limits line to the 

centerline of Rainbow Drive and the point of beginning. 

(f) The Fifth Ward. The Fifth Ward shall embrace all the territory within the city limits 

described as follows: 

(1) Beginning at the intersection of University Avenue and the east city limits line; 

thence westerly along the centerline of University Avenue to the centerline of 

Boulder Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Boulder Drive to the 

centerline of Idaho Road; thence westerly along the centerline of Idaho Road to 

the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence southerly along the centerline of Tucson 

Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; thence westerly along the centerline of 

Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; thence southerly along the 

centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of Oregon Road; thence westerly 

along the centerline of Oregon Road to the centerline of South Main Street; 

thence southerly along the centerline of South Main Street to the centerline of 

Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the centerline of West Greenhill Road to 

the centerline of Highway 58; thence southerly along the centerline of Highway 

58 to the south city limits line; thence easterly and northerly along said city 

limits line to the centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue; thence easterly along the 

centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue to the southeast city limits line; thence 

northerly and easterly along said city limits line to the centerline of University 

Avenue and the point of beginning. 

(2) Precinct 1 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 1 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of University Avenue 

and the east city limits line; thence westerly along the centerline of University 

Avenue to the centerline of Boulder Drive; thence southerly along the centerline 

of Boulder Drive to the centerline of Idaho Road; thence westerly along the 

centerline of Idaho Road to the centerline of Tucson Drive; thence southerly 

along the centerline of Tucson Drive to the centerline of Utah Road; thence 

westerly along the centerline of Utah Road to the centerline of Dallas Drive; 

thence southerly along the centerline of Dallas Drive to the centerline of Oregon 

Road; thence westerly along the centerline of Oregon Road to the centerline of 

South Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South Main Street 

to the centerline of Orchard Drive; thence easterly along the centerline of 

Orchard Drive to the centerline of Rownd Street; thence southerly along the 

35

Item 2.



centerline of Rownd Street to the centerline of East Greenhill Road; thence 

easterly along the centerline of East Greenhill Road to the east city limits line; 

thence northerly along said city limits line to the centerline of University Avenue 

and the point of beginning. 

(3) Precinct 2 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 2 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of Orchard Drive and 

Rownd Street; thence westerly along the centerline of Orchard Drive to the 

centerline of South Main Street; thence southerly along the centerline of South 

Main Street to the centerline of Greenhill Road; thence easterly along the 

centerline of East Greenhill Road to the centerline of Rownd Street; thence 

northerly along the centerline of Rownd Street to the point of beginning. 

(4) Precinct 3 of the Fifth Ward. Precinct 3 of the Fifth Ward shall consist of all the 

area described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of West Greenhill Road 

and South Main Street; thence westerly along the centerline of West Greenhill 

Road to the centerline of Highway 58; thence southerly along the centerline of 

Highway 58 to the south city limits line; thence easterly and northerly along said 

city limits line to the centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue; thence easterly along 

the centerline of East Ridgeway Avenue to the southeast city limits line; thence 

northerly and easterly along said city limits line to the centerline of East 

Greenhill Road; thence westerly along the centerline of East Greenhill Road to 

the point of beginning. 

 

INTRODUCED:    December 20, 2021    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:         

 

 

             
      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
     __ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

36

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Cory Hines, GIS Analyst 

 DATE: December 13, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Joint City & County Precinct 
 
 
As a result of an annexation occurring after January 1, 2020 combined with stipulations 
in the Iowa Code the City of Cedar Falls and Black Hawk County must create a joint 
precinct.  The City is not allowed to create a precinct that splits a census block.  The 
territory already annexed remains in the corporate limits of Cedar Falls and the territory 
in the unincorporated area remains in Cedar Falls Township.  Per the 2020 census this 
agreement impacts less than 10 people.  This joint precinct will involve City Precinct 
Ward 2 Precinct 3 and County Precinct Cedar Falls Township.  This agreement must be 
submitted to the state along with our new ward and precinct boundaries to the Iowa 
Secretary of State before the January 3, 2021 deadline. 
 
The agreement and a map marked Exhibit A are included for your reference. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
xc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
xc: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

37

Item 3.



Census Block
190130026061033

Census Block
190130026061034

Venture Way

W Ridgeway Ave

Technology Pkwy

W Viking Rd

De
vel

op
me

nt 
Dr

Capital Way

S U
nio

n R
d

Precinct 3 Ward 2

Exhibit A

Date: 12/14/2021

I

Current City Limits
2020 Annexation
2020 Census Blocks
Precinct Boundary38

Item 3.



Letter of Agreement 

City of Cedar Falls and the Black Hawk County Board of Supervisors 

Establishing a Joint Precinct of Selected Cedar Falls Precincts with Selected Township Precincts 

 

Section 49.6 of the Iowa Code grants cities and counties the power to combine township and city 

precincts as long as the combined precinct does not have a population in excess of three thousand five 

hundred (3,500), as shown by the most recent federal decennial census, and the combined precinct is 

wholly within a legislative district (except when this would force the creation of a precinct with fewer than 

fifty (50) registered voters). Precincts are required to follow census block boundaries and must be 

composed of contiguous territory. 

Joining Cedar Falls Township precinct with a contiguous Cedar Falls precinct allows township voters to 

vote at a nearby location. Township voters will vote on separate township ballots and are not eligible to 

vote in City of Cedar Falls municipal elections.  

Therefore the City of Cedar Falls and Black Hawk County agree as follows: 

1. That a portion of Cedar Falls Township Precinct shall be joined with Cedar Falls Ward 2 Precinct 

3 to allow Township voters in each of the census blocks listed below to vote on a separate ballot 

and are not eligible to vote in City of Cedar Falls municipal elections. 

 

2. Furthermore, the City of Cedar Falls has annexed portions of Cedar Falls Township since 

January 1, 2020, and therefore it is agreed that the census block identified as GEOID 

190130026061033 included in the annexation recorded in the County Recorder’s office as file 

number 2020-00016587 is comprised of incorporated territory.  The incorporated territory within 

the City of Cedar Falls contains 5 people.  GEOID 190130026061033 will be part of Cedar Falls 

Ward 2 Precinct 3. 

 

3. It is further agreed that the census block identified as GEOID 190130026061034 included in the 

annexation recorded in the County Recorder’s office as file number 2020-00016587 is comprised 

of incorporated and unincorporated territory. The unincorporated section of Cedar Falls Township 

contains 2 persons and the incorporated territory of City of Cedar Falls contains 0 persons. 

GEOID 190130026061034 will be part of precinct Cedar Falls Ward 2 Precinct 3 (includes Cedar 

Falls Township). 

The City Council of Cedar Falls and the Black Hawk County Board of Supervisors agree to create the 

joint township and city precincts as described above. 

 

 

______________________________   ____________________________ 
Mayor, City of Cedar Falls     Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 

___________________      ________________ 
Date        Date 

39

Item 3.



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: November 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: The Vault, LLC - Partial Property Tax Exemption 
  6100 Production Drive in Cedar Falls Industrial Park 
 
 
On December 16, 2019, City Council approved a Development Agreement with The 
Vault, LLC for a new 27,500 square foot storage and office facility located within the 
Cedar Falls Industrial Park.  Work on the $1,250,000 new building at 6100 Production 
Drive began last year and has recently been completed. 
 
As part of the executed Development Agreement approved by City Council in December 
of 2019, the City of Cedar Falls committed to the following actions: 
 

1. Transfer of Lot 1 of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase I to The Vault, LLC 
(Completed).   

 

2. Adoption of an Ordinance granting a partial exemption from taxation of industrial 
property as may be provided by Sections 21-48 through 21-57 of the Cedar Falls 
Code of Ordinances, and by Chapter 427B, Code of Iowa, with respect to the 
Development Property. 
 

Item #1 noted above was completed in December 2019.  The remaining item to be 
completed by the City of Cedar Falls as part of the Development Agreement is formal 
adoption of a Partial Property Tax Exemption Ordinance. Since construction of the new 
building has been completed, it is now necessary to move forward with Ordinance 
adoption. 
 
The applicable 5-Year Partial Property Tax Exemption schedule is estimated as follows 
based upon the $1,250,000 valuation of The Vault, LLC building, 10% 
commercial/industrial valuation rollback, and the FY22 tax rate of $33.01/$1,000 
valuation ($37,132 annually): 
 
 

40

Item 4.



 
 
  Exemption % Exempt $ Amount Paid $ Amount 
 
Year 1  75%   $27,849  $9,283 
Year 2  60%   $22,279  $14,853 
Year 3  45%   $16,709  $20,422 
Year 4  30%   $11,139  $25,992 
Year 5  15%   $5,570  $31,562 
     $83,546  $102,112 
 
Staff recommends that in accordance with our executed Development Agreement, City 
Council approve and adopt the following ordinance through the normal three reading 
process: 
 

1. Ordinance establishing a partial property tax exemption on the actual value 
added to real estate by new construction consisting of a 27,500 square foot 
storage and office facility constructed on property owned by The Vault, LLC, 
located at 6100 Production Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa.  

 

If you have any questions pertaining to this memorandum or project, please feel free to 
contact me. 
 
xc:  Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
       Rob Schuerman, The Vault, LLC 
 

 
 
 

41

Item 4.



Poplar
Hollow Ln

Capital Way

ArborsDrTimber Cove Dr

Tec
hn

olo
gy

Pl

W Viking Rd

Production Dr

Venture Way

I

Hawkeye Corrugated Box

Ashley Furniture
Distribution Center

Project Location

The Vault, LLC
27,500 sq. ft.
Storage/Office Facility

Bossard

Target
Distribution

Center

42

Item 4.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3000 
 
AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A PARTIAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION OF THE 

ACTUAL VALUE ADDED TO REAL ESTATE BY NEW CONSTRUCTION 
CONSISTING OF A 27,500 SQUARE FOOT INDUSTRIAL USE STORAGE/OFFICE 

FACILITY CONSTRUCTED ON PROPERTY OWNED BY THE VAULT, LLC, 
LOCATED AT 6100 PRODUCTION DRIVE, CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  

 
  
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has by ordinance 
provided a partial exemption from property taxation of the actual value added to real 
estate by certain new construction, as authorized in Section 427B.1, Code of Iowa, with 
said exemption being provided for in Division 2, Partial Exemptions for Industrial 
Property, of Article II, Tax Exemptions, of Chapter 21, Taxation, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa; and 
 
 WHEREAS, The Vault, LLC, will complete and own an approximate 27,500 
square foot industrial use storage/office facility by December 31, 2021, constructed on 
property owned by The Vault, LLC, located at 6100 Production Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
and has requested a partial property tax exemption as provided in the Iowa Code and 
the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a public hearing on the proposal for said 
exemption on the 15th day of November, 2021, and more than thirty (30) days have 
elapsed since the date of public hearing, as required by Section 427B.1, Code of Iowa; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council deems it appropriate pursuant to state law and city 
ordinance to grant said exemption. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1. The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by this Ordinance 
hereby grants a partial exemption from property taxation of the actual value added to 
real estate by new construction of an approximate 27,500 square foot industrial use 

43

Item 4.



storage/office facility to be constructed by The Vault, LLC, on property owned by The 
Vault, LLC, located at 6100 Production Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa, legally described as: 
 

Lot 1, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase I, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 
County, Iowa. (Contains 2.70 acres more or less), 
 
by December 31, 2021, to the extent and upon the terms and conditions provided for in 
Sections 427B.1 through 427B.7 of the Code of Iowa, and Sections 21-48 through 21-
57 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. Responsibility for the 
proper and timely filing of an application for exemption with the Black Hawk County 
Assessor is that of the property owner. The amount of actual value added which is 
eligible to be exempt from taxation shall be as follows: 
 

1. For the first assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 
assessed, 75% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

2. For the second assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are 
fully assessed, 60% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

3. For the third assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 
assessed, 45% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

4. For the fourth assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 
assessed, 30% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

5. For the fifth assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 
assessed, 15% exemption of the actual value added. 

 
 
INTRODUCED: November 15, 2021 

1ST CONSIDERATION: November 15, 2021 

2ND CONSIDERATION: December 6, 2021 

3RD CONSIDERATION:  

ADOPTED:  

 
 

 
                                                                                     ___________________________ 
                                                                                     Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

 
 

44

Item 4.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 
    I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: December 7, 2021 

 SUBJECT:  Sewer Rate Increases 

 
On September 20th a presentation was made at the Committee of the Whole Meeting 
that outlined the use of ARPA funding, the nutrient reduction treatment facility upgrades, 
and the proposed sewer rate increase study.  Staff outlined the proposed increase of 
7% each year for the next 5 years and the impacts of those increases on the average 
home.  The Council voted unanimously to direct staff to draft an ordinance to establish 
the sewer rate increases as presented. The attached ordinance implements the 
proposed rate increases.  
 
If you have any questions regarding the ordinance, please feel free to contact me.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

45

Item 5.



 
 

 

 

Page 1 of 5 

ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, SEWERS AND 
SEWAGE DISPOSAL, OF CHAPTER 24, UTILITIES OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW DIVISION 1, 
GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, SEWERS AND SEWAGE DISPOSAL, PROVIDING FOR AN 
INCREASE IN SEWER RENTAL FEE RATES, AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS CHANGES. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

Sec. 1. Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Sewers and Sewage Disposal, of Chapter 24, Utilities, of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Division 
1, Generally, of Article II, Sewers and Sewage Disposal, providing for an increase in sewer rental fee 
rates, and other miscellaneous changes, is enacted in lieu therefore, as follows: 

 

ARTICLE II. SEWERS AND SEWAGE DISPOSAL 

DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 

Sec. 24-37. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed 
to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Contributor means any person responsible for the production of domestic, commercial or industrial 
waste which is directly or indirectly discharged into the city's sanitary sewer system.  

Sewage disposal plant means any and all units of the municipal disposal plant owned and operated 
by the city, including any and all intercepting and outlet sewers delivering or discharging sewage to or 
from the plant.  

Sewer rental means any and all rates, charges, fees or rentals levied against and payable by 
contributors.  

Water reclamation manager means the person delegated with the responsibility of the management 
and operation of the sewage disposal plant subject to such rules and regulations as the council may from 
time to time by resolution prescribe.  

(Ord. No. 2924, § 27-26, 6-4-2018) 

Sec. 24-38. Water reclamation division. 

The water reclamation division of the department of public works is hereby created. The water 
reclamation division shall be under the control of the water reclamation manager, who shall be appointed 
by and be directly responsible to the director of public works.  

(Ord. No. 2924, § 27-27, 6-4-2018; Ord. No. 2943, § 6, 6-3-2019) 

Sec. 24-39. Supervision of sewage disposal plant. 

The water reclamation manager shall have complete charge of the operation of the sewage disposal 
plant. The water reclamation manager shall employ and have direct charge of all employees of the 
sewage disposal plant.  

46

Item 5.



 

 

 

 
Page 2 of 5 

(Ord. No. 2924, § 27-28, 6-4-2018) 

Sec. 24-40. Sewage rental fund. 

All moneys received by the controller/city treasurer from any source on account of the sewage 
disposal plant shall be kept in a separate and distinct fund, to be known as the "Sewer Rental Fund," and 
shall be paid out by the controller/city treasurerhim.  

(Ord. No. 2924, § 27-29, 6-4-2018) 

Sec. 24-41. General rental fees. 

(a) Monthly rental fee: determination. 

(1) Subject to the exceptions hereinafter provided, each metered dwelling which uses city water, 
shall pay to the city a monthly sewer rental fee, the same to be determined by the amount of 
city water used, as follows: For up to and including the first 200 cubic feet of water used, 
hereinafter referred to as the "base rate," the monthly sewer rental fee shall be as shown in the 
column of the chart set forth below, entitled, "Base Rate," commencing on the date set forth in 
the corresponding row of the column entitled, "Date of Rate Change."  

(2) For water uses over 200 cubic feet, hereinafter referred to as the "incremental rate," the 
monthly sewer rental fee shall be as shown in the column of the chart set forth below, entitled, 
"Incremental Rate," commencing on the date set forth in the corresponding row of the column 
entitled, "Date of Rate Change."  

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS  
SEWER RENTAL FEE SCHEDULE  
 

Date of  
Rate  

Change  

Base Rate  Incremental  
Rate  

July 1, 2018  $18.52 per 200 cubic feet of water used $3.32 per 100 cubic feet of water used 
July 1, 2019  $19.45 per 200 cubic feet of water used $3.49 per 100 cubic feet of water used 
July 1, 2020  $20.42 per 200 cubic feet of water used $3.66 per 100 cubic feet of water used 
July 1, 2021  $21.44 per 200 cubic feet of water used $3.84 per 100 cubic feet of water used 
July 1, 2022 $22.94 per 200 cubic feet of water used $4.11 per 100 cubic feet of water used
July 1, 2023 $24.55 per 200 cubic feet of water used $4.40 per 100 cubic feet of water used
July 1, 2024 $26.26 per 200 cubic feet of water used $4.70 per 100 cubic feet of water used
July 1, 2025 $28.10 per 200 cubic feet of water used $5.03 per 100 cubic feet of water used
July 1, 2026 $30.07 per 200 cubic feet of water used $5.39 per 100 cubic feet of water used

 

(b) Maximum fees for residential use. Residential sewer rental fees during the months of May through 
November shall not exceed the average amount charged for usage during the previous January 
through March period.  

(c) Reduction for low-income households. Each payer of the monthly sewer rental fee who meets the 
low-income requirement, as set by the U.S. Government, contained in the Section 8 Housing 
Assistance Program of the city, may apply annually to the director of public works for, and be 
granted, a $43.00 per month reduction in the monthly sewer rental fee for the first 200 cubic feet of 
water used.  

47

Item 5.



 

 

 

   

 
Page 3 of 5 

(d) Users without city water service. Each user of city sanitary sewer which does not have water 
provided and metered by the city utilities shall be charged a monthly sewer rental fee which is two 
times the base rate which is provided for in subsection (a) of this section. That user may, however, 
through certified metering of well water for residential use or provision of receipts from a recognized 
adjoining public water jurisdiction, provide to the director of community development documentation 
of actual water usage. If water usage can be verified, that user will be charged the monthly sewer 
rental fee as provided in subsections (a) and (b) of this section.  

(e) Mobile home parks. Mobile home parks utilizing a central water metering system shall be charged 
the same monthly sewer rental fees for each dwelling unit connected to the public sewage disposal 
system as are provided for in subsection (a) of this section.  

(f) Determination of multiple dwelling rental fees. Multiple dwellings using a single water meter shall 
pay at the same rates listed in subsection (a) of this section, with the usage for each individual 
dwelling unit determined by dividing the amount of water metered by the number of dwelling units, 
regardless of occupancy of said units. For example, a structure with twelve (12) individual dwelling 
units on one meter would be billed twelve (12) base rates that would include up to 24 CCF of 
water (allocating 2 CCF per dwelling unit). Any usage over 24 CCF of water would be divided by 
the number of dwelling units (12, in this case) and billed at the same incremental rates listed in 
subsection (a) of this section. 

 

(g) Determination of commercial, industrial rental fees. Commercial and industrial sewer rental fees 
shall be based on actual water usage, metered or unmetered, including water added to the sewage 
disposal system by the commercial or industrial users, at the same rates described in subsection (a) 
of this section. However, the director of community development may establish reduced sewer rental 
fees, to be reviewed on an annual basis, for commercial and industrial users which have unique 
discharges requiring very little actual treatment, such as the discharge of cooling water or boiler 
blowdown.  

(h) Residential monthly fee for certain commercial, industrial users. Commercial and industrial users 
that use higher volumes of water in the months May through November each year exclusively for 
purposes such as watering lawns, and can demonstrate to the director of public works that said 
water does not enter the sanitary sewer system may have their sewer bills adjusted such that sewer 
user fees billed for usage May through November each year will not exceed the average bills for 
usage in the months December through April each year.  

(i) Industrial surcharge. An industrial user, as defined in article II, division 2 of this chapter, shall be 
surcharged at the rate of $0.10 for each pound of both biochemical oxygen demand and total 
suspended solids, as defined in article II, division 2 of this chapter, for all discharges to the sanitary 
sewer system which exceed a concentration of 300 milligrams per liter.  

(j) Inclusion of state sales tax. State sales tax is computed and included in the rates included in this 
section.  

(k) Billing adjustments. Billing adjustments may be made for any residential, commercial or industrial 
users that can demonstrate to the director of public works that water used does not enter the 
sanitary sewer system.  

(l) Payment. All fees required to be paid by this section shall be paid at the same time the payment for 
city water service is made or on the first day of the month for those users of sewer service who do 
not use city water service. All required payments are to be made at the office of the municipal 
utilities.  

(m) Sanitary sewer surcharge for discharge of stormwater to city sanitary sewer system. The owner of 
any property in the city who fails to comply with the provisions of section 7-201 or 7-202, relating to 
discharge of stormwater or groundwater into the city sanitary sewer system, shall be assessed a 

48

Item 5.



 

 

 

   

 
Page 4 of 5 

surcharge fee, to be added to the property owner's city sewer bill, in the amount of $100.00 per 
month, as provided in section 7-203.  

(Ord. No. 2924, § 27-30, 6-4-2018; Ord. No. 2943, § 6, 6-3-2019) 

Sec. 24-42. Failure to pay rental fees; authority to terminate service. 

(a) Where a consumer is a contributor of city water, or is a user of city sanitary sewer service who does 
not use city water service, the sewer rentals, rates or charges shall be subject to the following rules 
of delinquency and suspension of service:  

(1) Whenever any of the rules and regulations of this article are violated, the sewer service shall 
be cut off and shall not be turned on again except by order of the council and water 
reclamation manager and upon payment of the expense of shutting it off and turning it on, and 
on such other terms as the council may determine upon and a satisfactory understanding with 
the account holder that no further complaint shall arise. Such sewer service shall not be 
discontinued unless prior written notice is sent to the account holder by ordinary mail, informing 
the account holder of the nature of the delinquency and affording the account holder the 
opportunity for a hearing prior to discontinuance of service. If the account holder is a tenant, 
and if the owner or landlord of the property has made a written request for notice, the notice 
shall also be given to the owner or landlord.  

(2) In case of violation of this article, the council shall have the right to declare any payment made 
for the sewer service by the person committing such violation to be forfeited, and the service 
shall thereupon be forfeited.  

(b) Liens.  

(1) In addition to the rules of delinquency and suspension of service mentioned in subsection (a) 
of this section, the city shall have a lien upon the property served by such sanitary utility for all 
delinquent rate or rental payments  

(2) A lien shall not be placed upon a mobile home, modular home, or manufactured home served 
by any of the services described in this article if the mobile home, modular home, or 
manufactured home is owned by a tenant of and is located in a mobile home park or 
manufactured home community and the mobile home park or manufactured home community 
owner or manager is the account holder, unless the lease agreement specifies that the tenant 
is responsible for payment of a portion of the rates or charges billed to the account holder.  

(3) Notwithstanding subsection (b)(2) of this section, except for mobile home parks or 
manufactured home communities where the mobile home park or manufactured home 
community owner or manager is responsible for paying the rates or charges for services 
described in this article, a lien shall not be filed against the land if the premises receiving any of 
the services described in this article are located on leased land. If the premises are located on 
leased land, a lien may be filed against the premises only. For the purposes of this article, the 
term "premises" includes a mobile home, modular home, or manufactured home as defined in 
Iowa Code § 435.1.  

(4) Prior to written notice of intent to certify, a lien shall be given to the account holder of the 
delinquent account at least 30 days prior to certification. If the account holder is a tenant, and if 
the owner or landlord of the property has made a written request for notice, the notice shall 
also be given to the owner or landlord. The notice shall be sent to the appropriate persons by 
ordinary mail not less than 30 days prior to the certification of the lien to the county treasurer. 
After compliance with the foregoing provisions, the city clerk shall certify for taxation purposes 
and the establishing of the property lien to the county treasurer all delinquent rent, rate or 
rental payments, together with an administrative expense of $5.00. The lien shall not be 
certified to the county treasurer for a delinquent charge of less than $5.00. For the purpose of 
the certification and for no other purpose whatsoever, rent, rate or rental payments shall be 

49

Item 5.



 

 

 

      

 
Page 5 of 5 

designated as delinquent when the payments are shown and appear on the books carrying 
rent, rate or rental payments to have been unpaid for a period of six months following their due 
date.  

(c) Where the contributor is an operator of a private water supply, failure to pay rentals shall be subject 
to similar rules as to delinquency and suspension of service, property lien, certification of 
delinquency and definition of delinquency as set out in this section.  

(Ord. No. 2924, § 27-31, 6-4-2018) 

Secs. 24-43—24-72. Reserved. 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________ 

PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION: __________________________ 

PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION: _________________________ 

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION: _________________________ 

ADOPTED: __________________________________________ 

 

 

         _________________________ 

         Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 
 

 

50

Item 5.



ORDINANCE NO. 3001 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, SEWERS 
AND SEWAGE DISPOSAL, OF CHAPTER 24, UTILITIES OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA AND ENACTING IN LIEU 
THEREOF A NEW DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, SEWERS AND 
SEWAGE DISPOSAL, PROVIDING FOR AN INCREASE IN SEWER RENTAL FEE 
RATES, AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS CHANGES. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

Section 1. Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Sewers and Sewage Disposal, of Chapter 24, 
Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 
entirety, and a new Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Sewers and Sewage Disposal, providing 
for an increase in sewer rental fee rates, and other miscellaneous changes, is enacted in lieu 
therefore, as follows: 

 

ARTICLE II. SEWERS AND SEWAGE DISPOSAL 

DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 

Sec. 24-37. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Contributor means any person responsible for the production of domestic, commercial or 
industrial waste which is directly or indirectly discharged into the city's sanitary sewer system.  

Sewage disposal plant means any and all units of the municipal disposal plant owned and 
operated by the city, including any and all intercepting and outlet sewers delivering or 
discharging sewage to or from the plant.  

Sewer rental means any and all rates, charges, fees or rentals levied against and payable 
by contributors.  

Water reclamation manager means the person delegated with the responsibility of the 
management and operation of the sewage disposal plant subject to such rules and regulations 
as the council may from time to time by resolution prescribe.  

Sec. 24-38. Water reclamation division. 

The water reclamation division of the department of public works is hereby created. The 
water reclamation division shall be under the control of the water reclamation manager, who 
shall be appointed by and be directly responsible to the director of public works.  

Sec. 24-39. Supervision of sewage disposal plant. 

The water reclamation manager shall have complete charge of the operation of the sewage 
disposal plant. The water reclamation manager shall employ and have direct charge of all 
employees of the sewage disposal plant.  

51

Item 5.



 

 

Sec. 24-40. Sewage rental fund. 

All moneys received by the controller/city treasurer from any source on account of the 
sewage disposal plant shall be kept in a separate and distinct fund, to be known as the "Sewer 
Rental Fund," and shall be paid out by the controller/city treasurer.  

Sec. 24-41. General rental fees. 

(a) Monthly rental fee: determination. 

(1) Subject to the exceptions hereinafter provided, each metered dwelling which uses city 
water, shall pay to the city a monthly sewer rental fee, the same to be determined by 
the amount of city water used, as follows: For up to and including the first 200 cubic 
feet of water used, hereinafter referred to as the "base rate," the monthly sewer rental 
fee shall be as shown in the column of the chart set forth below, entitled, "Base Rate," 
commencing on the date set forth in the corresponding row of the column entitled, 
"Date of Rate Change."  

(2) For water uses over 200 cubic feet, hereinafter referred to as the "incremental rate," 
the monthly sewer rental fee shall be as shown in the column of the chart set forth 
below, entitled, "Incremental Rate," commencing on the date set forth in the 
corresponding row of the column entitled, "Date of Rate Change."  

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS  
SEWER RENTAL FEE SCHEDULE  
 

Date of  
Rate  

Change  

Base Rate  Incremental  
Rate  

July 1, 2021  $21.44 per 200 cubic feet of water used  $3.84 per 100 cubic feet of water used  

July 1, 2022 $22.94 per 200 cubic feet of water used $4.11 per 100 cubic feet of water used 

July 1, 2023 $24.55 per 200 cubic feet of water used $4.40 per 100 cubic feet of water used 

July 1, 2024 $26.26 per 200 cubic feet of water used $4.70 per 100 cubic feet of water used 

July 1, 2025 $28.10 per 200 cubic feet of water used $5.03 per 100 cubic feet of water used 

July 1, 2026 $30.07 per 200 cubic feet of water used $5.39 per 100 cubic feet of water used 

 

(b) Maximum fees for residential use. Residential sewer rental fees during the months of May 
through November shall not exceed the average amount charged for usage during the 
previous January through March period.  

(c) Reduction for low-income households. Each payer of the monthly sewer rental fee who 
meets the low-income requirement, as set by the U.S. Government, contained in the 
Section 8 Housing Assistance Program of the city, may apply annually to the director of 
public works for, and be granted, a $4.00 per month reduction in the monthly sewer rental 
fee for the first 200 cubic feet of water used.  

(d) Users without city water service. Each user of city sanitary sewer which does not have 
water provided and metered by the city utilities shall be charged a monthly sewer rental fee 
which is two times the base rate which is provided for in subsection (a) of this section. That 
user may, however, through certified metering of well water for residential use or provision 
of receipts from a recognized adjoining public water jurisdiction, provide to the director of 
community development documentation of actual water usage. If water usage can be 

52

Item 5.



 

 

verified, that user will be charged the monthly sewer rental fee as provided in subsections 
(a) and (b) of this section.  

(e) Mobile home parks. Mobile home parks utilizing a central water metering system shall be 
charged the same monthly sewer rental fees for each dwelling unit connected to the public 
sewage disposal system as are provided for in subsection (a) of this section.  

(f) Determination of multiple dwelling rental fees. Multiple dwellings using a single water meter 
shall pay at the same rates listed in subsection (a) of this section, with the usage for each 
individual dwelling unit determined by dividing the amount of water metered by the number 
of dwelling units, regardless of occupancy of said units. For example, a structure with 
twelve (12) individual dwelling units on one meter would be billed twelve (12) base rates 
that would include up to 24 CCF of water (allocating 2 CCF per dwelling unit). Any usage 
over 24 CCF of water would be divided by the number of dwelling units (12, in this case) 
and billed at the same incremental rates listed in subsection (a) of this section. 

(g) Determination of commercial, industrial rental fees. Commercial and industrial sewer rental 
fees shall be based on actual water usage, metered or unmetered, including water added 
to the sewage disposal system by the commercial or industrial users, at the same rates 
described in subsection (a) of this section. However, the director of community 
development may establish reduced sewer rental fees, to be reviewed on an annual basis, 
for commercial and industrial users which have unique discharges requiring very little 
actual treatment, such as the discharge of cooling water or boiler blowdown.  

(h) Residential monthly fee for certain commercial, industrial users. Commercial and industrial 
users that use higher volumes of water in the months May through November each year 
exclusively for purposes such as watering lawns, and can demonstrate to the director of 
public works that said water does not enter the sanitary sewer system may have their 
sewer bills adjusted such that sewer user fees billed for usage May through November 
each year will not exceed the average bills for usage in the months December through April 
each year.  

(i) Industrial surcharge. An industrial user, as defined in article II, division 2 of this chapter, 
shall be surcharged at the rate of $0.10 for each pound of both biochemical oxygen 
demand and total suspended solids, as defined in article II, division 2 of this chapter, for all 
discharges to the sanitary sewer system which exceed a concentration of 300 milligrams 
per liter.  

(j) Inclusion of state sales tax. State sales tax is computed and included in the rates included 
in this section.  

(k) Billing adjustments. Billing adjustments may be made for any residential, commercial or 
industrial users that can demonstrate to the director of public works that water used does 
not enter the sanitary sewer system.  

(l) Payment. All fees required to be paid by this section shall be paid at the same time the 
payment for city water service is made or on the first day of the month for those users of 
sewer service who do not use city water service. All required payments are to be made at 
the office of the municipal utilities.  

(m) Sanitary sewer surcharge for discharge of stormwater to city sanitary sewer system. The 
owner of any property in the city who fails to comply with the provisions of section 7-201 or 
7-202, relating to discharge of stormwater or groundwater into the city sanitary sewer 
system, shall be assessed a surcharge fee, to be added to the property owner's city sewer 
bill, in the amount of $100.00 per month, as provided in section 7-203.  

53

Item 5.



 

 

Sec. 24-42. Failure to pay rental fees; authority to terminate service. 

(a) Where a consumer is a contributor of city water, or is a user of city sanitary sewer service 
who does not use city water service, the sewer rentals, rates or charges shall be subject to 
the following rules of delinquency and suspension of service:  

(1) Whenever any of the rules and regulations of this article are violated, the sewer 
service shall be cut off and shall not be turned on again except by order of the council 
and water reclamation manager and upon payment of the expense of shutting it off 
and turning it on, and on such other terms as the council may determine upon and a 
satisfactory understanding with the account holder that no further complaint shall 
arise. Such sewer service shall not be discontinued unless prior written notice is sent 
to the account holder by ordinary mail, informing the account holder of the nature of 
the delinquency and affording the account holder the opportunity for a hearing prior to 
discontinuance of service. If the account holder is a tenant, and if the owner or 
landlord of the property has made a written request for notice, the notice shall also be 
given to the owner or landlord.  

(2) In case of violation of this article, the council shall have the right to declare any 
payment made for the sewer service by the person committing such violation to be 
forfeited, and the service shall thereupon be forfeited.  

(b) Liens.  

(1) In addition to the rules of delinquency and suspension of service mentioned in 
subsection (a) of this section, the city shall have a lien upon the property served by 
such sanitary utility for all delinquent rate or rental payments  

(2) A lien shall not be placed upon a mobile home, modular home, or manufactured home 
served by any of the services described in this article if the mobile home, modular 
home, or manufactured home is owned by a tenant of and is located in a mobile home 
park or manufactured home community and the mobile home park or manufactured 
home community owner or manager is the account holder, unless the lease 
agreement specifies that the tenant is responsible for payment of a portion of the rates 
or charges billed to the account holder.  

(3) Notwithstanding subsection (b)(2) of this section, except for mobile home parks or 
manufactured home communities where the mobile home park or manufactured home 
community owner or manager is responsible for paying the rates or charges for 
services described in this article, a lien shall not be filed against the land if the 
premises receiving any of the services described in this article are located on leased 
land. If the premises are located on leased land, a lien may be filed against the 
premises only. For the purposes of this article, the term "premises" includes a mobile 
home, modular home, or manufactured home as defined in Iowa Code § 435.1.  

(4) Prior to written notice of intent to certify, a lien shall be given to the account holder of 
the delinquent account at least 30 days prior to certification. If the account holder is a 
tenant, and if the owner or landlord of the property has made a written request for 
notice, the notice shall also be given to the owner or landlord. The notice shall be sent 
to the appropriate persons by ordinary mail not less than 30 days prior to the 
certification of the lien to the county treasurer. After compliance with the foregoing 
provisions, the city clerk shall certify for taxation purposes and the establishing of the 
property lien to the county treasurer all delinquent rent, rate or rental payments, 
together with an administrative expense of $5.00. The lien shall not be certified to the 
county treasurer for a delinquent charge of less than $5.00. For the purpose of the 

54

Item 5.



 

 

certification and for no other purpose whatsoever, rent, rate or rental payments shall 
be designated as delinquent when the payments are shown and appear on the books 
carrying rent, rate or rental payments to have been unpaid for a period of six months 
following their due date.  

(c) Where the contributor is an operator of a private water supply, failure to pay rentals shall 
be subject to similar rules as to delinquency and suspension of service, property lien, 
certification of delinquency and definition of delinquency as set out in this section.  

Secs. 24-43—24-72. Reserved. 

 

INTRODUCED:     November 15, 2021   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   November 15, 2021   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   December 6, 2021   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 
                                                                                             ___________________________ 
                                                                                              Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

 

 

55

Item 5.



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone:  319-273-8600 
Fax:  319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: November 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Renewal of the Downtown Self-Supported Municipal Improvement 
  District (SSMID) 
____________________________________________________________________ 

REQUEST:  Renewal of the Downtown Self-Supported Municipal Improvement 
District (SSMID) for a new 5-Year Term (July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2027) 

 

PETITIONER:  Community Main Street (Lead Agency) 
 

LOCATION:    Downtown Cedar Falls 
______________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluative Report for the Cedar Falls City Council on the Merit and Feasibility of 
Renewing the Downtown Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District 

 
PROPOSAL 
 
In accordance with Iowa Code Chapter 386, Community Main Street has submitted a 
petition to the City of Cedar Falls for the renewal of the Downtown Self-Supported 
Municipal Improvement District (SSMID). The purpose for the creation of the Downtown 
SSMID is to provide funding to pay the ongoing administrative and support costs for the 
services and functioning of Community Main Street, which develops and encourages 
retail businesses by way of promotion and support for existing businesses, area 
improvements, and for healthy growth and development consistent with the long term 
goals for the Downtown business district.  
 
Attached is the memo and petition submitted by Community Main Street. The 
requirement for approval of a SSMID is support by petition from a minimum of 25% of 
the unique property owners representing 25% of the total valuation of the District. 
Community Main Street submitted signatures from 47% of the total number of unique 
property owners, which represent 61% of the total valuation within the area covered by 
the SSMID, so their petition meets the threshold for renewal of the SSMID. 
 
The self-imposed tax upon property within the SSMID area will be set at $3.89 per 
$1,000 of net taxable valuation for fiscal year 2023, with a maximum allowable levy rate 

56

Item 6.



of $5.83. All tax revenue collected from properties subject to the additional tax will be 
deposited into the Downtown Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District Fund for 
the operational purposes of Community Main Street as stated above. It should be noted 
that residential property within the District is not subject to the additional tax.   
 
BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 
 
This memorandum serves as the Evaluative Report for City Council the Merit and 
Feasibility of the Downtown Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District. The 
following attachments are supporting documentation used in the development of this 
Evaluative Report:  
 

 A letter from Community Main Street requesting renewal of the SSMID with a 
summary of the necessary signatures of support received to meet the State 
requirements for renewal of the SSMID;  

 

 A spreadsheet that includes all commercial property owners that are located 
within the boundaries of the SSMID and subject to the additional tax.  Those 
deedholders highlighted in the spreadsheet are those who have signed the 
petition of support. The spreadsheet indicates both the percentage of unique 
property owners who have signed the petition and the percentage of valuation 
those properties represent within the SSMID; 

  

 Copies of the signed petitions; 
 

 Map illustrating the location and boundaries of the SSMID.  
 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed this request at their October 27, 2021 
meeting, and approved and endorsed the Evaluative Report on the Merit and Feasibility 
of the Renewal of the Downtown Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District, and 
recommends that the City Council proceeds to set a public hearing for consideration of 
the same. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMMISSION ACTIONS 
 
10/27/21 Meeting - Chair Leeper introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided 

background information. She discussed the minimum requirements for the 
five-year renewal and stated that staff recommends approval, and for the 
Commission to make a recommendation to City Council. 

 
 Mr. Schrad made a motion to approve staff recommendations. Ms. Lynch 

seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes 
(Holst, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 
 

57

Item 6.



310 East 4th Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Phone: 319-277-0213
www.communitymainstreet.org

October 1, 2021

Ms. Jacque Danielsen
City Clerk
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Re: Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District 

Dear Ms. Danielsen: 

Enclosed, please find information pertaining to the creation of the Self-
Supported Municipal Improvement District (SSMID) in the downtown area. 
The downtown SSMID was originally established in 1987 and its purpose is to 
provide funding for the continuation of the Community Main Street, Inc. (CMS). 
The proposed district is to be established for the period commencing July 1, 
2022, and ending June 30, 2027. The provisions for enabling the enactment 
of the SSMID are addressed in the Code of Iowa, Chapter 386. Specifics are 
outlined as follows.

The CMS Board of Directors has collected property owners’ signatures on the 
SSMID petition. Renewal requires supporting documents and signed petitions 
representing at least 25% of the taxable valuation and 25% of the downtown 
property owners. Included in this packet are signed petition forms representing 
61% of the taxable valuation and 47% of the downtown property owners, 
exceeding the minimum requirements for renewal.

CMS would propose that these petitions and other documentation be 
submitted to the Planning and Zoning Commission for consideration 
and recommendation at their October 27, 2021, meeting. Based on the 
recommendation from the Planning and Zoning, the request would then 
follow the standard procedure of conducting a Public Hearing and adopting an 
Ordinance to establish said district. An updated copy of the 2016 ordinance is 
included with this letter. 

The provisions of the Ordinance do comply with the necessary guidelines or 
establishing a district as addressed in Chapter 386 of the Code, herein referred 
to as the Act.

2021-2022
Board of Directors:

Lexie Heath - President 
Darin Beck
Natalie Brown
Ann Eastman
Crystal Ford
Brent Johnson
Audrey Kittrell
Jenny Leeper
Helen Pearce
Clark Rickard
Mark Showalter
Brad Strouse

Ex-officio
Wynette Froehner
Stephanie Houk-Sheetz

58

Item 6.



386.3 Establishment

1a. Be comprised of contiguous property wholly within the boundaries of the  
 City. The area designed is contiguous and is defined on the attached  
 map and legally described to include said property.
 b. Be given a descriptive name. The name of the district shall be “Downtown  
 Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District.”
c. Be comprised of property related in some manner. The property described is 
physically located in the downtown district and participates in the Community 
Main Street, Inc. program to enable downtown revitalization. Zoning is 
currently C-1, C-2 and C-3, appropriate for said District.

2a. The signatures of at least 25% of all owners of property within the proposed 
district. These signatures must together represent ownership of property with 
an assessed value of 25% or more of the assessed value of all of the property in 
the proposed district. 

Sections 2b, c, d, e, and f of 386.3 are included in the ordinance that is included 
with this letter.

Please feel free to contact me at 319-277-0213 if you have any questions. Thank 
you.

Kind regards, 

Kim Bear
Executive Director    
Community Main Street

59

Item 6.



Deed Holder Property Address Taxable Value
305 MAIN STREET LLC 305 MAIN ST 229,992
323 PROPERTIES LLC 517 WASHINGTON ST 340,398
ADW LLC 102 MAIN ST 175,001
ARABELLA LLC 102 CLAY ST 1,615,653
ARABELLA LLC 200 W 1ST ST 1,975,566
ARABELLA LLC 102,636
AVAN PROPERTIES LLC 108 MAIN ST 147,821
B J S HOLDINGS LLC 311 MAIN ST 294,741
BLACK HAWK HOTEL MOTOR LODGE LLC 122 WASHINGTON ST 340,911
BLACKHAWK HOTEL LLC 53,541
BT HOLDINGS LLC 122 MAIN ST 310,968
CEDAR FALLS COMMUNITY CR UNION 123 W 4TH ST 1,048,806
COMMUNITY NATIONAL BANK 312 W 1ST ST 658,890
D SQUARED II LLC 109 E 4TH ST 108,387
D SQUARED II LLC 402 MAIN ST 459,387
D SQUARED II LLC 406 MAIN ST 227,423
DOLLYS RENTALS LLC 604 CLAY ST 1,325,826
EQUITY REAL ESTATES INVESTMENTS 111 MAIN ST 227,157
FARMERS STATE BANK 515 MAIN ST 2,537,982
FARRIS, DAVID 116 MAIN ST 201,978
FARRIS, DAVID 118 MAIN ST 228,426
FARRIS, DAVID A 209 STATE ST 294,975
FENCL,DANIEL D TRUST 422 MAIN ST 456,111
FENCL,DANIEL D TRUST 163,152
FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF 602 MAIN ST 1,842,795
FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF 112,518
FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF 90,414
FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF 45,486
FRANKLIN STREET PROPERTY L C 415 CLAY ST 715,113
FRANKLIN STREET PROPERTY L C 41,463
FRANKLIN STREET PROPERTY L C 31,752
FRANKLIN STREET PROPERTY L C 6,057
GREAT WESTERN BANK 205 W 2ND ST 904,590
HI YIELD LLC 123 W 7TH ST 509,481
HI YIELD LLC 50,742
HI YIELD LLC 31,851
IEHL, CALVIN R 874,917
JJ LAND L C 110 E 3RD ST 199,089
JJ LAND L C 222 MAIN ST 265,113
JJ LAND L C 224 MAIN ST 212,742
K GROUP L C 226 MAIN ST 232,902
KEL MAR LC 600 STATE ST 380,781
KEL MAR LC 521 CLAY ST 104,160
KNUTSON, AARON M 622 MAIN ST 294,705
LINDERBAUM REAL ESTATE LLC 115 E 2ND ST 295,749
MAIN STREET HOTELS LC 115 MAIN ST 1,027,413
MAIN STREET HOTELS LC 119 MAIN ST 305,757

60

Item 6.



MARSH, JEFFREY J 412 MAIN ST 167,148
NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 315 MAIN ST 622,883
NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 317 MAIN ST 257,345
NELSON FUNERAL HOME INC 613 MAIN ST 417,632
OVERMAN NORTH PARTNERS LC 323 W 2ND ST 132,966
PANTHER BUILDERS LLC 616 CLAY ST 498,942
PARK PLACE PROPERTIES 324 W 3RD ST 131,697
PC REAL ESTATE LLC 310 MAIN ST 230,760
PC REAL ESTATE LLC 312 MAIN ST 298,134
PC REAL ESTATE LLC 316 MAIN ST 495,864
PRESTIGE WW LLC 205 MAIN ST 443,547
RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC 616 WASHINGTON ST 49,684
RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC 48,456
RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES II LC 123 E 3RD ST 62,982
RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES II LC 302 MAIN ST 184,338
RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES LC 149,454
SC AND B PROPERTIES LLC 318 MAIN ST 284,691
SHIMEK, ANDREW 109 MAIN ST 119,511
SHIMEK, ANDREW D 104 MAIN ST 230,735
SHIMEK, ROBERTA M 107 MAIN ST 239,083
SIMPLE AS 128 LLC 128 MAIN ST 320,225
SRE HOLDINGS LLC 57,033
SRE HOLDINGS LLC 201 WASHINGTON ST 587,376
SRE HOLDINGS LLC 403 WASHINGTON ST 195,651
STATE STREET MIXED USE II LC 100 E 2ND ST 5,915,120
STATE STREET MIXED USE LC 200 STATE ST 5,558,276
STATE STREET RESIDENCES LC 417,915
STONE AND TERRACE LLC 108 E 4TH ST 250,110
STONE AND TERRACE LLC 87,471
VIKING PUMP INC 222 E 7TH ST 220,230
VIKING PUMP INC 406 STATE ST 1,094,040
VIKING PUMP INC 48,303
VIKING PUMP INC 540

61

Item 6.



62

Item 6.



63

Item 6.



64

Item 6.



65

Item 6.



66

Item 6.



67

Item 6.



68

Item 6.



69

Item 6.



70

Item 6.



71

Item 6.



72

Item 6.



73

Item 6.



74

Item 6.



75

Item 6.



76

Item 6.



77

Item 6.



78

Item 6.



79

Item 6.



Parcel Number Primary Owner Situs Assessed Value Name Attention Address City State Zip
891412188004 305 MAIN STREET LLC 305  MAIN ST    113,576 305 MAIN STREET LLC 827 WESTWOOD DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188004 305 MAIN STREET LLC 305  MAIN ST    170,364 305 MAIN STREET LLC 827 WESTWOOD DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188006 309 MAIN LLC 309  MAIN ST    106,820 309 MAIN LLC 309 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188006 309 MAIN LLC 309  MAIN ST    198,380 309 MAIN LLC 309 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412333005 323 PROPERTIES LLC 517  WASHINGTON ST    378,220 323 PROPERTIES LLC 1628 W 6TH ST STORM LAKE IA 50588
891412251003 ADW LLC 102  MAIN ST    65,341 ADW LLC 3620 ROWND ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251003 ADW LLC 102  MAIN ST    145,439 ADW LLC 3620 ROWND ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188003 AKER, BARBARA DAVIS 303  MAIN ST    203,729 AKER, BARBARA DAVIS 2350 EWING ST LOS ANGELES CA 90039
891412188003 AKER, BARBARA DAVIS 303  MAIN ST    259,291 AKER, BARBARA DAVIS 2350 EWING ST LOS ANGELES CA 90039
891412406010 ALLTELL 504  BLUFF ST    118,580 DUFF AND PHELPS LLC PO BOX 2549 ADDISON TX 75001
891412179001 ARABELLA LLC 102  CLAY ST    2,393,560 ARABELLA LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412179011 ARABELLA LLC 200 W 1ST ST    893,802 ARABELLA LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412179011 ARABELLA LLC 200 W 1ST ST    1,735,028 ARABELLA LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412179014 ARABELLA LLC 114,040 ARABELLA LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252020 AREA ELECTRIC INC 204  MAIN ST    19,088 AREA ELECTRIC INC 510 STATE ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252020 AREA ELECTRIC INC 204  MAIN ST    253,602 AREA ELECTRIC INC 510 STATE ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412405003 AREA ELECTRIC INC 510  STATE ST    335,470 AREA ELECTRIC INC 510 STATE ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251006 AVAN PROPERTIES LLC 108  MAIN ST    70,976 AVAN PROPERTIES LLC 1746 DAKOTA DR WATERLOO IA 50701
891412251006 AVAN PROPERTIES LLC 108  MAIN ST    111,014 AVAN PROPERTIES LLC 1746 DAKOTA DR WATERLOO IA 50701
891412188007 B J S HOLDINGS LLC 311  MAIN ST    327,490 PETERSEN, BRUCE 311 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329001 BATH PROPERTIES LLC 404  WASHINGTON ST    569,540 BATH PROPERTIES LLC 1015 ORCHARD DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412178005 BENDABLE EQUITIES LLC 77,620 BENDABLE EQUITIES LLC 1816 VALLEY HIGH DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412180013 BLACK HAWK HOTEL LLC 59,490 TINDALL HOTEL INC 3700 RIVER OAKS DR DES MOINES IA 50612
891412180012 BLACK HAWK HOTEL MOTOR LODGE LLC 122  WASHINGTON ST    378,790 TINDALL HOTEL INC 3700 RIVER OAKS DR DES MOINES IA 50612
891412252013 BLACK HAWK LODGE NO 65 AF AND AM 216  MAIN ST    386,930 BLACK HAWK LODGE NO 65 AF AND AM PO BOX 493 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252015 BLACK HAWK LODGE NO 65 AF AND AM 214  MAIN ST    294,380 BLACK HAWK LODGE NO 65 AF AND AM PO BOX 493 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184003 BRB REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS LLC 201  MAIN ST    91,342 BRB REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS LLC PO BOX 622 201 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184003 BRB REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS LLC 201  MAIN ST    162,388 BRB REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS LLC PO BOX 622 201 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412126040 BROOMSTICK LODGING LLC 101 W 1ST ST    5,511,220 BROOMSTICK LODGING LLC 2706 JAMES ST CORALVILLE IA 52241
891412328006 BRYAN, RANDOLPH 419  WASHINGTON ST    44,493 BRYAN, RANDOLPH 3121 JEPSEN RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412328006 BRYAN, RANDOLPH 419  WASHINGTON ST    120,297 BRYAN, RANDOLPH 3121 JEPSEN RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251013 BT HOLDINGS LLC 122  MAIN ST    157,842 BT HOLDINGS LLC 217 WASHINGTON ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251013 BT HOLDINGS LLC 122  MAIN ST    227,138 BT HOLDINGS LLC 217 WASHINGTON ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412328004 BUILT BY BRADY LLC 409  WASHINGTON ST    459,820 BUILT BY BRADY LLC 1026 CARRIAGE LN CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338010 CASEYS MARKETING COMPANY 21,190 CASEYS MARKETING COMPANY PO Box 54288 LEXINGTON KY 40555
891412338011 CASEYS MARKETING COMPANY 601  MAIN ST    613,070 CASEYS MARKETING COMPANY PO Box 54288 LEXINGTON KY 40555
891412188013 CEDAR FALLS COMMUNITY CR UNION 123 W 4TH ST    1,165,340 CEDAR FALLS COMMUNITY CR UNION PO Box 1009 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184013 CEDAR FALLS TRUST & SAVINGS BANK 19,490 US BANK CORPORATE REAL ESTATE C/O RYAN PTS DEPT. 908 PO Box 460169 HOUSTON TX 77056
891412184014 CEDAR FALLS TRUST & SAVINGS BANK 117 W 3RD ST    106,560 US BANK CORPORATE REAL ESTATE C/O RYAN PTS DEPT. 908 PO Box 460169 HOUSTON TX 77056
891412184015 CEDAR FALLS TRUST & SAVINGS BANK 222  WASHINGTON ST    1,149,500 US BANK CORPORATE REAL ESTATE C/O RYAN PTS DEPT. 908 PO Box 460169 HOUSTON TX 77056
891412327004 CHEROKEE PROPERTIES LLC 17,820 CHEROKEE PROPERTIES LLC PO BOX 1106 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412327005 CHEROKEE PROPERTIES LLC 411  CLAY ST    195,390 CHEROKEE PROPERTIES LLC PO BOX 1106 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412183005 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 217  WASHINGTON ST    562,980 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 220 CLAY ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254015 CJS VENTURES LLC 315  STATE ST    11,189 CJS VENTURES LLC 4220 W MT VERNON RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254015 CJS VENTURES LLC 315  STATE ST    548,241 CJS VENTURES LLC 4220 W MT VERNON RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412178006 COMMUNITY NATIONAL BANK 312 W 1ST ST    732,100 COMMUNITY NATIONAL BANK PO Box 1288 WATERLOO IA 50704
891412401001 D SQUARED II LLC 402  MAIN ST    510,430 D SQUARED II LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412401002 D SQUARED II LLC 109 E 4TH ST    120,430 D SQUARED II LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412401011 D SQUARED II LLC 406  MAIN ST    84,915 D SQUARED II LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412401011 D SQUARED II LLC 406  MAIN ST    189,005 D SQUARED II LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412337015 DOLLYS RENTALS LLC 604  CLAY ST    1,473,140 DOLLYS RENTALS LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412408014 ELEMENT PROPERT, IES LLC 616  STATE ST    98,711 ELEMENT PROPERT, IES LLC C/O BETH BURRELL 32257 BEAVER VALLEY ST NEW HARTFORD IA 50660
891412408014 ELEMENT PROPERT, IES LLC 616  STATE ST    91,119 ELEMENT PROPERT, IES LLC C/O BETH BURRELL 32257 BEAVER VALLEY ST NEW HARTFORD IA 50660
891412180005 EQUITY REAL ESTATES INVESTMENTS 111  MAIN ST  APT A 112,176 EQUITY REAL ESTATES INVESTMENTS PO Box 805 WATERLOO IA 50704
891412180005 EQUITY REAL ESTATES INVESTMENTS 111  MAIN ST  APT A 168,264 EQUITY REAL ESTATES INVESTMENTS PO Box 805 WATERLOO IA 50704
891412334009 FARMERS STATE BANK 515  MAIN ST    2,819,980 FARMERS STATE BANK 131 TOWER PARK DR APT 100 WATERLOO IA 50701
891412251010 FARRIS, DAVID 116  MAIN ST    224,420 FARRIS, DAVID 215 COLORADO RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251011 FARRIS, DAVID 118  MAIN ST    91,288 FARRIS, DAVID 215 COLORADO RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251011 FARRIS, DAVID 118  MAIN ST    185,342 FARRIS, DAVID 215 COLORADO RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252022 FARRIS, DAVID A 209  STATE ST    327,750 FARRIS, DAVID A 215 COLORADO RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412401018 FENCL,DANIEL D TRUST 422  MAIN ST    506,790 FENCL,DANIEL D TRUST 422 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613

 FOR REESTABLISHMENT OF CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN SELF-SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (SSMID) 2022 

80

Item 6.



891412401019 FENCL,DANIEL D TRUST 181,280 FENCL,DANIEL D TRUST 422 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412407001 FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF 602  MAIN ST    2,047,550 FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF PO Box 189 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412407004 FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF 125,020 FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF PO Box 189 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412407005 FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF 50,540 FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF PO Box 189 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412407006 FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF 100,460 FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF PO Box 189 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412178001 FN AND R RENTAL LLC 320 W 1ST ST    296,880 F N & R RENTAL LLC C/O DANIEL L RUBENDALL 765 PROSPECT BLVD WATERLOO IA 50701
891412251007 FORE INVESTORS LLC 110  MAIN ST    106,481 FORE INVESTORS LLC 201 WASHINGTON ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251007 FORE INVESTORS LLC 110  MAIN ST    153,229 FORE INVESTORS LLC 201 WASHINGTON ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329009 FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN MAIN L C 415  MAIN ST    190,410 FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN MAIN L C 411 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329016 FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN MAIN L C 411  MAIN ST    281,000 FOUR HUNDRED ELEVEN MAIN L C 411 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412327006 FRANKLIN STREET PROPERTY L C 415  CLAY ST    794,570 REDFERN, DONALD B PO Box 627 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412327007 FRANKLIN STREET PROPERTY L C 46,070 REDFERN, DONALD B PO Box 627 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412327011 FRANKLIN STREET PROPERTY L C 35,280 REDFERN, DONALD B PO Box 627 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412327013 FRANKLIN STREET PROPERTY L C 6,730 REDFERN, DONALD B PO Box 627 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329002 FREESE FRAME LLC 116 W 4TH ST    160,500 FREESE FRAME LLC 1613 GREEN CREEK RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412179012 GREAT WESTERN BANK 205 W 2ND ST    1,005,100 GREAT WESTERN BANK 225 S MAIN AVE SIOUX FALLS SD 57104
891412408003 H & H ENTERPRISES LLC 602  STATE ST    255,480 H & H ENTERPRISES LLC 602 STATE ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412406003 HARTING,KENNETH & DEBRA TRUST 516  BLUFF ST    6,144 HARTING,KENNETH & DEBRA TRUST 900 ROYAL DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412406003 HARTING,KENNETH & DEBRA TRUST 516  BLUFF ST    116,746 HARTING,KENNETH & DEBRA TRUST 900 ROYAL DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412406006 HARTING,KENNETH & DEBRA TRUST 34,920 HARTING,KENNETH & DEBRA TRUST 900 ROYAL DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338001 HI YIELD LLC 35,390 HI YIELD LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338006 HI YIELD LLC 56,380 HI YIELD LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338007 HI YIELD LLC 123 W 7TH ST    566,090 HI YIELD LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412180010 HUMBLE PROPERTIES LLC 125  MAIN ST    106,494 HUMBLE PROPERTIES LLC 125 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412180010 HUMBLE PROPERTIES LLC 125  MAIN ST    197,776 HUMBLE PROPERTIES LLC 125 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251012 IBL DDT LLC 120  MAIN ST    118,537 IBL DDT LLC PO Box 673 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251012 IBL DDT LLC 120  MAIN ST    201,833 IBL DDT LLC PO Box 673 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412333006 IEHL, CALVIN R 211 W 6TH ST 972,130 IEHL, CALVIN R 4219 EASTPARK RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252002 JACOBS, JOHN L 109 E 2ND ST    20,459 JACOBS, JOHN L 109 E 2ND ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252002 JACOBS, JOHN L 109 E 2ND ST    33,381 JACOBS, JOHN L 109 E 2ND ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252009 JJ LAND L C 112 E 3RD ST    221,210 JJ LAND L C 7728 N UNION RD JANESVILLE IA 50647
891412252011 JJ LAND L C 224  MAIN ST    236,380 JJ LAND L C 7728 N UNION RD JANESVILLE IA 50647
891412252012 JJ LAND L C 222  MAIN ST    294,570 JJ LAND L C 7728 N UNION RD JANESVILLE IA 50647
891412252010 K GROUP L C 226  MAIN ST    258,780 K GROUP L C 2204 VALLEY PARK DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412332007 KEL MAR LC 521  CLAY ST    154,310 KEL MAR LC 619 E 19TH ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412408019 KEL MAR LC 600  STATE ST    423,090 KEL MAR LC 619 E 19TH ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412407003 KNUTSON, AARON M 622  MAIN ST    327,450 KNUTSON, AARON M 622 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254007 KOEPPEL, ALLEN D 116 E 4TH ST    105,080 KOEPPEL, ALLEN D 2501 TIMBER DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188002 LAUBER, MERLYN D 301  MAIN ST    278,090 LAUBER, MERLYN D 1815 WINTER RIDGE RD CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412187002 LINCOLN SAVINGS BANK 301  WASHINGTON ST    685,000 LINCOLN SAVINGS BANK PO Box E REINBECK IA 50669
891412252003 LINDERBAUM REAL ESTATE LLC 115 E 2ND ST    328,610 LINDERBAUM REAL ESTATE LLC 2725 GLEN OAKS DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412180001 M AND D REAL ESTATE 2 L L C 122 W 1ST ST    439,530 M AND D REAL ESTATE 2 L L C 3058 HUNTINGTON DR DUBUQUE IA 52001
891412180007 MAIN STREET HOTELS LC 115  MAIN ST    1,141,570 MAIN STREET HOTELS LC 200 STATE ST APT 202-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412180008 MAIN STREET HOTELS LC 119  MAIN ST    339,730 MAIN STREET HOTELS LC 200 STATE ST APT 202-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184006 MAK INC 207  MAIN ST    214,730 MAK INC 20995 487TH LN MC GREGOR MN 55760
891412401010 MARSH, JEFFREY J 412  MAIN ST    185,720 MARSH, JEFFREY J 116 SUMMIT DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412187005 MERSHON RENTALS LLC 320  CLAY ST    161,980 MERSHON RENTALS LLC 3012 ROWND ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412333003 MJ THOMPSON RENTALS LLC 503  WASHINGTON ST    162,670 MJ THOMPSON RENTALS LLC 503 WASHINGTON ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184008 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 213  MAIN ST    311,550 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184009 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 215  MAIN ST    375,540 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184010 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 217  MAIN ST    407,320 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184011 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 219  MAIN ST    188,681 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184011 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 219  MAIN ST    307,849 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184012 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 223  MAIN ST    153,303 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184012 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 223  MAIN ST    250,127 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251005 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 106  MAIN ST    85,305 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251005 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 106  MAIN ST    151,655 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251008 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 112  MAIN ST    85,113 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251008 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 112  MAIN ST    158,067 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251009 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 114  MAIN ST    110,530 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251009 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 114  MAIN ST    205,270 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252019 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 206  MAIN ST    305,770 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252023 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 210  MAIN ST    996,670 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613

81

Item 6.



891412401003 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 115 E 4TH ST    773,490 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412401005 MMC PROPERTIES LLC 109,900 MMC PROPERTIES LLC PO Box 188 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188008 NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 315  MAIN ST    200,391 NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 315 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188008 NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 315  MAIN ST    541,799 NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 315 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188009 NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 317  MAIN ST    102,844 NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 315 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188009 NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 317  MAIN ST    208,806 NAB INVESTMENTS LLC 315 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412405002 NATVIG, CHRISTINA M 506  STATE ST    68,580 NATVIG, CHRISTINA M 5043 NORDIC RIDGE DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338005 NELSON FUNERAL HOME INC 613  MAIN ST    77,339 RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC PO Box 542 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338005 NELSON FUNERAL HOME INC 613  MAIN ST    406,031 RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC PO Box 542 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252021 NLN INVESTMENTS LLC 203  STATE ST    387,000 NLN INVESTMENTS LLC 3903 PHEASANT DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412178004 OVERMAN NORTH PARTNERS LC 323 W 2ND ST    147,740 OVERMAN NORTH PARTNERS LC 200 STATE ST APT 202-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412337014 PANTHER BUILDERS LLC 616  CLAY ST    554,380 PANTHER BUILDERS LLC PO Box 128 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412186001 PARK PLACE PROPERTIES 324 W 3RD ST    146,330 PARK PLACE PROPERTIES 324 W 3RD ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254010 PC REAL ESTATE LLC 314  MAIN ST    550,960 PC REAL ESTATE LLC 1501 TECHNOLOGY PW APT 300 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254011 PC REAL ESTATE LLC 312  MAIN ST    331,260 PC REAL ESTATE LLC 1501 TECHNOLOGY PW APT 300 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254012 PC REAL ESTATE LLC 310  MAIN ST    256,400 PC REAL ESTATE LLC 1501 TECHNOLOGY PW APT 300 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329003 PJ 42 LLC 114 W 4TH ST    70,098 PJ 42 LLC 103 E STATE ST APT 300 MASON CITY IA 50401
891412329003 PJ 42 LLC 114 W 4TH ST    163,562 PJ 42 LLC 103 E STATE ST APT 300 MASON CITY IA 50401
891412184016 PRESTIGE WW LLC 205  MAIN ST    492,830 PRESTIGE WW LLC 1304 WASHINGTON ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412334006 RASMUSSON CHEVROLET CO INC 30,550 RASMUSSON CHEVROLET CO INC 9716 UNIVERSITY AVE CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412334007 RASMUSSON CHEVROLET CO INC 36,310 RASMUSSON CHEVROLET CO INC 9716 UNIVERSITY AVE CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412334010 RASMUSSON CHEVROLET CO INC 508  WASHINGTON ST    522,920 RASMUSSON CHEVROLET CO INC 9716 UNIVERSITY AVE CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338008 RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC 616  WASHINGTON ST    25,219 RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC PO Box 542 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338008 RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC 616  WASHINGTON ST    36,291 RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC PO Box 542 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412338009 RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC 53,840 RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC PO Box 542 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412401015 RICKARD, CLARK J 415  STATE ST    457,860 RICKARD, CLARK J 903 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412401016 RICKARD, CLARK J 25,730 RICKARD, CLARK J 903 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412179013 RICKARD, KURT D 110  CLAY ST    185,410 RICKARD, KURT D 223 W 2ND ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254001 RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES II LC 302  MAIN ST    204,820 RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES II LC 200 STATE ST APT 202-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254002 RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES II LC 123 E 3RD ST    69,980 RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES II LC 200 STATE ST APT 202-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412253046 RIVER PLACE PROPERTIES LC 166,060 STATE STREET MIXED USE LC 200 STATE ST APT 202-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254009 SC AND B PROPERTIES LLC 318  MAIN ST    110,026 SC AND B PROPERTIES LLC 318 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254009 SC AND B PROPERTIES LLC 318  MAIN ST    233,804 SC AND B PROPERTIES LLC 318 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188010 SCHILLING, TIMOTHY 319  MAIN ST    217,040 SCHILLING, TIMOTHY 319 1/2 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188011 SCHILLING, TIMOTHY 321  MAIN ST    251,080 SCHILLING, TIMOTHY 319 1/2 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188012 SCHILLING, TIMOTHY 323  MAIN ST    311,090 SCHILLING, TIMOTHY 319 1/2 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412180004 SHIMEK, ANDREW 109  MAIN ST    132,790 SHIMEK, ANDREW 827 COMMERCIAL ST WATERLOO IA 50702
891412251004 SHIMEK, ANDREW D 104  MAIN ST    120,309 SHIMEK, ANDREW D 827 COMMERCIAL ST WATERLOO IA 50702
891412251004 SHIMEK, ANDREW D 104  MAIN ST    166,141 SHIMEK, ANDREW D 827 COMMERCIAL ST WATERLOO IA 50702
891412180003 SHIMEK, ROBERTA M 107  MAIN ST    101,892 SHIMEK, ROBERTA M 1504 HAMMOND AVE WATERLOO IA 50702
891412180003 SHIMEK, ROBERTA M 107  MAIN ST    189,228 SHIMEK, ROBERTA M 1504 HAMMOND AVE WATERLOO IA 50702
891412251014 SIMPLE AS 128 LLC 128  MAIN ST    98,940 SIMPLE AS 128 LLC 205 E 18TH ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412251014 SIMPLE AS 128 LLC 128  MAIN ST    281,600 SIMPLE AS 128 LLC 205 E 18TH ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329004 SKYVIEW LC 401  MAIN ST    1,425,000 SKYVIEW LC 808 DEARBORN AVE WATERLOO IA 50703
891412183003 SPINVESTMENTS LLC 201  WASHINGTON ST    652,640 SPINVESTMENTS LLC 201 WASHINGTON ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184001 SPINVESTMENTS LLC 63,370 SPINVESTMENTS LLC 201 WASHINGTON ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412328003 SRE HOLDINGS LLC 403  WASHINGTON ST    217,390 SRE HOLDINGS LLC 2110 FLYNN DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412253099 STATE STREET MIXED USE II LC 100 E 2ND ST    3,416,139 STATE STREET MIXED USE II LC 200 STATE ST 200-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412253099 STATE STREET MIXED USE II LC 100 E 2ND ST    4,010,251 STATE STREET MIXED USE II LC 200 STATE ST 200-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412253047 STATE STREET MIXED USE LC 200  STATE ST    3,053,235 STATE STREET MIXED USE LC 200 STATE ST 200-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412253047 STATE STREET MIXED USE LC 200  STATE ST    3,885,935 STATE STREET MIXED USE LC 200 STATE ST 200-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412253092 STATE STREET RESIDENCES LC 464,350 STATE STREET RESIDENCES LC 200 STATE ST APT 202-Z CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254013 STONE AND TERRACE LLC 97,190 STONE AND TERRACE LLC 2110 FLYNN DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412254014 STONE AND TERRACE LLC 108 E 4TH ST    277,900 STONE AND TERRACE LLC 2110 FLYNN DR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412184007 STRICKLER PROPERTIES LC 209  MAIN ST    389,230 STRICKLER PROPERTIES LC ATTN: DAVID STRICKLER 209 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329005 T AND T RENTALS L C 407  MAIN ST    488,640 T AND T RENTAL L C 409 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329006 T AND T RENTALS L C 409  MAIN ST    382,140 T AND T RENTALS L C 409 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329012 T AND T RENTALS L C 421  MAIN ST    590,640 T AND T RENTALS L C 409 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412329017 T AND T RENTALS L C 419  MAIN ST    1,145,600 T AND T RENTALS L C 409 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252001 THODES INC 202  MAIN ST    26,239 THODES INC 202 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412252001 THODES INC 202  MAIN ST    212,301 THODES INC 202 MAIN ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412188005 TTDAVIS HOLDINGS LLC 307  MAIN ST    305,320 TTDAVIS HOLDINGS LLC 5421 HEDGEWOOD CIR CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412327002 TURCOTTE INSURANCE & INVESTMENTS 12,880 TURCOTTE INSURANCE & INVESTMENTS 302 W 4TH ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613

82

Item 6.



891412327003 TURCOTTE INSURANCE & INVESTMENTS 302 W 4TH ST    133,300 TURCOTTE INSURANCE & INVESTMENTS 302 W 4TH ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412406011 U S CELLULAR OPER CO OF WATERLOO 92,780 DUFF AND PHELPS PO BOX 2549 ADDISON TX 75001
891412187004 VAR MIL INC 323  WASHINGTON ST    272,290 VAR MIL INC 216 W 11TH ST WATERLOO IA 50702
891412180009 VERA JAMES LLC 123  MAIN ST    138,115 VERA JAMES LLC 1819 PINEHURST LN WATERLOO IA 50701
891412180009 VERA JAMES LLC 123  MAIN ST    225,345 VERA JAMES LLC 1819 PINEHURST LN WATERLOO IA 50701
891412253015 VIKING PUMP INC 53,670 VIKING PUMP INC 406 STATE ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412402006 VIKING PUMP INC 406  STATE ST    1,215,600 VIKING PUMP INC 406 STATE ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412408017 VIKING PUMP INC 600 VIKING PUMP INC 406 STATE ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412408020 VIKING PUMP INC 222 E 7TH ST    244,700 VIKING PUMP INC 406 STATE ST CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412406004 WILLHITE,BECKY J TRUST 620 WILLHITE,BECKY J TRUST 2022 W 18TH ST APT 2 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613
891412406009 WILLHITE,BECKY J TRUST 508  BLUFF ST    113,370 WILLHITE,BECKY J TRUST 2022 W 18TH ST APT 2 CEDAR FALLS IA 50613

99 TOTAL PROPERTY OWNERS 80,281,290 TOTAL ASSESSED VALUE
47 SIGNATURES 49,173,570

47.47% REPRESENTS 61.25%
OF TOTAL NUMBER OF OWNERS OF TOTAL ASSESSED VALUE

83

Item 6.



Cedar

River

Snag
Creek

Sna
g

Cre
ek

Lincoln
Elementary

School

Overman
Park

Washington
Park

Tourist Park

Sturgis Park
Gateway Park

E M
ain

 St

Grant St

Tre
mo

nt 
St

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Cla
y S

t

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

Sta
te 

St

Blu
ff S

t

Grove St

W 6th St

E 9th St

Riverside Dr

E 7th St

E 3rd St

B S
t

Lo
ga

n S
t

A S
t

Gr
ee

ley
 St

W 4th St

E 5th St

E 10th St

W 8th St

W 9th St

W 2nd St

W 7th St

W 3rd St

W 10th St

E 6th St

E 8th St

W 5th St

E 4th St

E 2nd St

Lincoln St

Main St

Center St

Fra
nk

lin
 S

t

W 1st St

W 6th St

E 1st St C-2

R-2

R-4

R-3

C-1

C-3

R-4R-3
R-2

M-1

C-2C-2

R-3

M-2

A-1

®¬57

Downtown Self Supporting Municipal Improvement District
(SSMID)

Downtown SSMID Boundary
84

Item 6.



85

Item 6.



 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by:  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   (319) 273-8600 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 3002 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING DIVISION 2, DOWNTOWN CEDAR FALLS SELF-

SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, OF ARTICLE X, 

MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, 

OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND 

ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW DIVISON 2, DOWNTOWN CEDAR 

FALLS SELF-SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT WITHIN 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; 

 

 Section 1.  Division 2, Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District, 

of Article X, Municipal Improvement Districts, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances 

of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following new Division 2, 

Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District, is enacted in lieu thereof: 

 

 DIVISION 2. DOWNTOWN CEDAR FALLS SELF-SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL 

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

 

 Section 2-1053.  Created; purpose. 

 

 There is hereby created in the city a self-supported municipal improvement district as defined in 

Chapter 386 of the 2021 Code of Iowa (referred to in this Article as "the Act"), the name of which district 

shall be the "Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District" (sometimes 

referred to in this article as the "district"), the purposes of which district are the undertaking of actions 

and the design and construction of any and all improvements authorized by the Act, and the performance 

of administration, redevelopment and revitalization of the district, as authorized by the Act. 

 

 Section 2-1054.  Boundaries. 

 

 The district shall include all property within the following described boundaries: 

 

That part of Section 12, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of the Fifth P.M. in the City of 

Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County Iowa described as beginning on the centerline of Franklin Street 

at its intersection with the southerly bank of the Cedar River; thence southerly along said 

centerline of Franklin Street to the centerline of 6th Street; thence easterly along said centerline of 

6th Street to the centerline of Clay Street; thence southerly along said centerline of Clay Street to 

the centerline of 7th Street; thence easterly along said centerline of 7th Street to the former 

86

Item 6.



 2 

westerly right of way line of the former Chicago and North Western Transportation Company; 

thence northerly along said former westerly right of way line to the centerline of 4th Street; 

thence easterly along said centerline of 4th Street to the westerly bank of the Cedar River; thence 

northerly and westerly along the westerly and southerly bank of the Cedar River to the point of 

beginning. 

 

 Section 2-1055.  Benefit determined. 

 

 It is found and determined that the owners of all of the property within the district have a present 

and potential benefit from the condition, development and maintenance of the district and that all of the 

property within the district is related by virtue of its location within the district. 

 

 Section 2-1056.  Operation fund created; purpose. 

 

 Pursuant to the provisions of Iowa Code 386.8, there is established and created a self-supported 

improvement district operation fund, which shall be known as the "Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported 

Municipal Improvement District Operation Fund" (and which is referred to in this Article as the 

"operation fund"), for which operation fund the city may certify taxes (the "operation tax") each year 

commencing with the levy of taxes for collection in the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2022, and continuing 

through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2027, for the purpose of paying such expenses of the district as are 

authorized by the Act, including, but not limited to, the administrative expenses of the district and part or 

all of the maintenance expenses of improvements or self-liquidating improvements, as defined by the Act, 

for a period of five years. 

 

 Section 2-1057.  Operation Tax. 

 

 The operation tax levied in any one year, as provided in section 2-1056, shall be at a rate not to 

exceed five dollars and eighty-three cents ($5.83) per one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) of taxable value of 

the property within the district. 

 

 Section 2-1058.  Copies on file. 

 

 The City Clerk shall cause a copy of the ordinance codified in this article to be filed in the Office 

of the Black Hawk County Recorder and in the Office of the Black Hawk County Treasurer. 

 

 

INTRODUCED:    December 6, 2021    

PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:  December 6, 2021    

PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

87

Item 6.



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

December 6, 2021 
 

The Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 6:30 p.m. on December 6, 2021, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert Green and Councilmembers Frank 
Darrah, Sudan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and Dave Sires.  
Staff members from all City Departments and members of the community attended in person 
and teleconferenced in.   

Mayor Green called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, Grow 
Cedar Valley Update and introduced Cary Darrah, CEO of Grow Cedar Valley. 

Ms. Darrah gave opening remarks and introduced Lisa Skubal, Vice President/Economic 
Development of Grow Cedar Valley. 

Ms. Skubal stated they have had 10 new project leads since May and prepared 5 prospect 
proposals.  Ms. Skubal explained the importance of having available 50,000 sq. ft. plus 
industrial space for potential companies to come to our community; companies are challenged 
in building new due to a delay in materials and construction costs.  Companies are trying to stay 
ahead of the demand for products and need the industrial space immediately.  Ms. Skubal 
explained the IEDA’s grant program for SMM (small/medium size manufacturers); IEDA 
continues to review applications.  Grow Cedar Valley has plans to establish a lead generation 
campaign in the Netherlands to identify interest in companies who would like to establish U.S. 
facilities.  Ms. Skubal gave an update on the Grow Cedar Valley wage and benefits survey for 
the region; over 100 businesses participated in the region including many from Cedar Falls; the 
survey was published and distributed in June in the Cedar Valley.  Ms. Skubal introduced Danny 
Laudick, Senior Program Director/Economic Development. 

Mr. Laudick explained the workforce has declined; Grow Cedar Valley would like to focus on 
attraction and retention, working with K-12 and colleges, and utilize people in the community.  
Grow Cedar Valley will be serving as the key point of contact for employers and service 
organizations.  Mr. Laudick will be rebuilding relationships with Iowa Workforce and other non-
profit organizations, the State, and local schools.  Mr. Laudick updated Councilmembers on the 
BBA (Black Business and Entrepreneurial Accelerated Program); they received $600,000 in 
funding.  Mr. Laudick introduced Becky Guinn, Grow Cedar Valley Board Chair. 

Ms. Guinn thanked the Councilmembers for supporting Grow Cedar Valley.  

Mayor Green opened the meeting for Council discussion.   

Councilmember Dunn stated the continued support for Grow Cedar Valley is essential.   

Mayor Green stated Goal Setting will include changing Grow Cedar Valley from a competitive 
grant to a contract that’s sustainable and predictable. 

There being no further business, Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 6:54 p.m.  

Minutes by Kim Kerr, Administrative Supervisor 

88

Item 7.



89

Item 8.



90

Item 8.



91

Item 8.



92

Item 8.



93

Item 8.



94

Item 8.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Craig Berte, Police Chief 

Date:  December 13, 2021 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Huhot Mongolian Grill, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 

b) Rancho Chico, 618 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class C Liquor - renewal. 
 

 

95

Item 9.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: December 13, 2021 

   SUBJECT:   National Opioid Settlement 
 
 

The State of Iowa and 66 Iowa Counties (along with most states and many local governments) 

brought lawsuits against pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors of prescription opioids 

over their role in creating the opioid epidemic.  Now, four of those companies have proposed a 

nationwide settlement of those cases.  The companies involved are the three largest 

pharmaceutical distributors (McKesson, Cardinal Health and AmerisourceBergen) and one 

manufacturer, Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its parent company, Johnson & Johnson. 

 

In the settlement, the defendants are agreeing to pay billions of dollars to abate the opioid 

epidemic.  Approximately $22.7 billion is earmarked for use by participating states and 

subdivisions.  The State of Iowa has within the past week reached an agreement with the 

counties that also joined the lawsuit on how settlement proceeds will be distributed within the 

State of Iowa.  Fifty percent of Iowa’s share of the settlement will go to the state and the other 

fifty percent will go to all counties on a proportionate basis.  As I understand it, Black Hawk 

County’s share will be 3.342% of the overall counties’ share.  Black Hawk County has the option 

to suballocate part of its share to cities within the County. 

 

The reason that Cedar Falls has been asked to participate is that cities in Iowa with a population 

exceeding 10,000 are part of the group that will determine participation rates for the nationwide 

settlement.  

 

The important part for Council to consider is that participation is necessary to settle the litigation 

and also ensure that Cedar Falls may, in cooperation with Black Hawk County, receive 

settlement proceeds for opioid abatement programs and activities. 

 

Now, there are restrictions on use of settlement proceeds.  See Exhibit 1 attached.  Generally the 

funds must be spent on opioid abatement only.  And there are reporting and auditing requirements.  

See Section C of the Iowa Opioid Allocation Memorandum of Understanding attached.  But local 

governments may combine efforts in order to minimize administrative burden and achieve greater 

impacts. 

 

There are details to be worked out yet.  But participation is low risk for Cedar Falls.  Nothing in the 

96

Item 10.



2 

 

agreements require Cedar Falls to accept settlement proceeds.  Participation will maximize the State 

of Iowa’s share of the nationwide settlement, regardless if Cedar Falls actually accepts any of the 

settlement proceeds as discussed above.  City staff will further analyze costs versus benefits before 

making a recommendation on actually accepting settlement proceeds either alone or conjunction 

with Black Hawk County and/or other cities. 

 

Attached you will find a Participation Agreement Distributors; a Participation Agreement Janssen; 

and a Local Allocation Memorandum of Understanding (with Exhibits) for your review and approval. 

 

I recommend approval.  Feel free to contact me with any questions at this time.     

97

Item 10.



Subdivision Distributor Settlement Participation Form 

Governmental Entity:  City of Cedar Falls State: Iowa 

Authorized Official:  Mayor Robert M. Green  

Address 1:  220 Clay Street  

Address 2:  

City, State, Zip:  Cedar Falls, Iowa  50613  

Phone:  (319)273-8600  

Email:  Jacque.Danielsen@cedarfalls.com  

 

 The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and 

in consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement 

Agreement dated July 21, 2021 (“Distributor Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned 

authorized official, hereby elects to participate in the Distributor Settlement, release all Released 

Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows.   

 

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Distributor Settlement, 

understands that all terms in this Participation Form have the meanings defined therein, 

and agrees that by signing this Participation Form, the Governmental Entity elects to 

participate in the Distributor Settlement and become a Participating Subdivision as 

provided therein. 

  

2. The Governmental Entity’s election to participate is specifically conditioned on the Iowa 

Opioid Allocation Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) becoming effective by that 

MOU being executed both by the State, Litigating Local Governments comprising 95% 

of the total Litigating Local Government population and Local Governments comprising 

80% of the total population of eligible Primary Subdivisions as defined and described in 

in the Settlement Agreements with a population over 30,000.  Should the Iowa Allocation 

Memorandum of Understanding fail to become effective, this Election and Release shall 

be deemed void and no claims shall be released 

 

3. The Governmental Entity shall, within 14 days of the Reference Date and prior to the 

filing of the Consent Judgment, secure the dismissal with prejudice of any Released 

Claims that is has filed. 

 

4. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the Distributor Settlement pertaining to 

Subdivisions as defined therein.  

 

5. By agreeing to the terms of the Distributor Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the 

Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable, 

monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date.  

 

6. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Distributor 

Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.   

 

98

Item 10.



7. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental 

Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to the court’s role 

as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Distributor 

Settlement.  The Governmental Entity likewise agrees to arbitrate before the National 

Arbitration Panel as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent otherwise 

provided in, the Distributor Settlement.   

 

8. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Distributor Settlement as provided 

therein. 

 

9. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for 

all purposes in the Distributor Settlement, including, but not limited to, all provisions of 

Part XI, and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, commissions, 

districts, instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their official 

capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or 

other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity identified in 

the definition of Releasor, provides for a release to the fullest extent of its authority.  As a 

Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally, and irrevocably 

covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought, filed, or 

claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released Claims against any 

Released Entity in any forum whatsoever.  The releases provided for in the Distributor 

Settlement are intended by the Parties to be broad and shall be interpreted so as to give 

the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any liability relating in any way to 

Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power of the Governmental Entity to 

release claims.  The Distributor Settlement shall be a complete bar to any Released 

Claim. 

 

10. The Governmental Entity hereby takes on all rights and obligations of a Participating 

Subdivision as set forth in the Distributor Settlement. 

  

11. In connection with the releases provided for in the Distributor Settlement, each 

Governmental Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all 

provisions, rights, and benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the 

United States or other jurisdiction, or principle of common law, which is similar, 

comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads: 

 

General Release; extent.  A general release does not extend to claims that 

the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or 

her favor at the time of executing the release, and that if known by him or 

her would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or 

released party. 

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it 

knows, believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each 

Governmental Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, 

releases and discharges, upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may 

99

Item 10.



exist as of such date but which Releasors do not know or suspect to exist, whether 

through ignorance, oversight, error, negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and 

which, if known, would materially affect the Governmental Entities’ decision to 

participate in the Distributor Settlement. 

 

12. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Distributor Settlement, 

to which Governmental Entity hereby agrees.  To the extent this Participation Form is 

interpreted differently from the Distributor Settlement in any respect, the Distributor 

Settlement controls. 

 

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Participation Form on behalf of the 

Governmental Entity. 

 

     Signature: _____________________________ 

 

     Name:  ___Robert M. Green____________ 

 

     Title:  ___Mayor ____________________ 

 

     Date:  _____________________________ 

 

 

 

Attest:  ______________________________ 

            Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 

            City Clerk 

 

100

Item 10.



1 

revised July 30, 2021 

 

Subdivision Janssen Settlement Participation Form 
 

Governmental Entity:  City of Cedar Falls State: Iowa 

Authorized Official:  Mayor Robert M. Green  

Address 1:  220 Clay Street  

Address 2:  

City, State, Zip:  Cedar Falls, IA  50613  

Phone:  (319)273-8600  

Email:  Jacque.Danielsen@cedarfalls.com  

 

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in 

consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement 

Agreement dated July 21, 2021 (“Janssen Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned 

authorized official, hereby elects to participate in the Janssen Settlement, release all Released 

Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows. 

 

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Janssen Settlement, 

understands that all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein, 

and agrees that by this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the 

Janssen Settlement and become a Participating Subdivision as provided therein. 

 
2. The Governmental Entity’s election to participate is specifically conditioned on the Iowa 

Opioid Allocation Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) becoming effective by that 

MOU being executed both by the State, Litigating Local Governments comprising 95% of 

the total Litigating Local Government population and Local Governments comprising 80% 

of the total population of eligible Primary Subdivisions as defined and described in in the 

Settlement Agreements with a population over 30,000.  Should the Iowa Allocation 

Memorandum of Understanding fail to become effective, this Election and Release shall 

be deemed void and no claims shall be released.  

 

3. The Governmental Entity shall, within 14 days of the Reference Date and prior to the 

filing of the Consent Judgment, dismiss with prejudice any Released Claims that it has 

filed. 

 
4. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the Janssen Settlement pertaining to 

Subdivisions as defined therein. 

 

5. By agreeing to the terms of the Janssen Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the 

Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable, 

monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date. 

 
6. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Janssen 

Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein. 

 
7. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental 

Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role 

as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Janssen 

Settlement. 

101

Item 10.



2 

revised July 30, 2021 

 

 
8. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Janssen Settlement as provided 

therein. 

 

9. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for 

all purposes in the Janssen Settlement, including but not limited to all provisions of 

Section IV (Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, 

commissions, districts, instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in 

their official capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, 

person, or other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity 

identified in the definition of Releasor, provides for a release to the fullest extent of its 

authority. As a Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally, 

and irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be 

brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released 

Claims against any Released Entity in any forum whatsoever. The releases provided for 

in the Janssen Settlement are intended by the Parties to be broad and shall be interpreted 

so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any liability relating 

in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power of the 

Governmental Entity to release claims. The Janssen Settlement shall be a complete bar to 

any Released Claim. 

 
10. In connection with the releases provided for in the Janssen Settlement, each 

Governmental Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all 

provisions, rights, and benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the 

United States or other jurisdiction, or principle of common law, which is similar, 

comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads: 

 
General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that 

the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or 

her favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her, 

would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or 

released party. 
 

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it 

knows, believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each 

Governmental Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, 

releases and discharges, upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may 

exist as of such date but which Releasors do not know or suspect to exist, whether 

through ignorance, oversight, error, negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and 

which, if known, would materially affect the Governmental Entities’ decision to 

participate in the Janssen Settlement. 

 

11. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Janssen Settlement, to 

which Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this Election and Release is 

interpreted differently from the Janssen Settlement in any respect, the Janssen Settlement 

controls. 

 

 

102

Item 10.



3 

revised July 30, 2021 

 

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Election and Release on behalf of 

the Governmental Entity. 

 

Signature:    
 

Name:     Robert M. Green  
 

Title:     Mayor  
 

Date:    

 

 

Attest:  _______________________________ 

             Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 

             City Clerk 

103

Item 10.



Page | 1 
 

IOWA OPIOID ALLOCATION  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

A. Definitions 

 

As used in this Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU” or “Agreement”): 

 

1. “Local Government” shall mean all Iowa Counties (regardless of population) and cities, 

villages, and towns located within the geographic boundaries of the State of Iowa with a 

population exceeding 10,000.1 

 

2. “Opioid Funds” shall mean monetary amounts obtained through a Settlement as defined in 

this MOU, including amounts obtained under Sections IV and V of the Distributor Master 

Settlement Agreement and Sections V and VI of the J&J Master Settlement Agreement.  

Separate amounts allocated to the State as restitution pursuant to Sections IX of the 

Distributor Master Settlement Agreement and Sections X of the J&J Master Settlement 

Agreement and amounts for reimbursement of attorneys’ fees and costs as set forth in 

Sections X of the Distributor Master Settlement Agreement and Section XI of the J&J 

Master Settlement Agreement and from similar state specific or private attorneys’ fees 

funds created by other Settlements are not “Opioid Funds.”  For avoidance of doubt, 

payments to the Iowa Backstop Fund will be paid out of Opioid Funds as more specifically 

set forth in Section D of this MOU.  

 

3. “Opioid Related Expenditure” shall mean an expenditure consistent with the categories 

enumerated in Exhibit E to the Distributor Master Settlement Agreement and the J&J 

Master Settlement Agreement found at https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/ and attached 

hereto as Exhibit 1. 

 

4. “Parties” shall mean the State of Iowa and Participating Local Governments. 

 

5. “Pharmaceutical Supply Chain Participant” shall mean any entity that engages in or has 

engaged in the manufacture, marketing, promotion, distribution or dispensing of an 

opioid analgesic, including but not limited to those persons or entities identified as 

Defendants in the matter captioned In re: Opioid Litigation, MDL 2804 pending in the 

United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio. 

 

6. “Participating Local Government” is any Local Government that agrees to be bound by a 

Settlement by Participation Agreement necessary to effectuate that Settlement or other 

similar document. 

 

7. “Settlement” shall mean the negotiated resolution of legal or equitable claims regarding 

opioids against a Pharmaceutical Supply Chain Participant when that resolution has been 

 
1 The population figures contained in this MOU shall be derived from the published U.S. Census Bureau’s 
population estimates for July 1, 2019, released May 2020 as set for in the Distributor Master Settlement 
Agreement and the J&J Master Settlement Agreement. 
 

104

Item 10.

https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/


Page | 2 
 

jointly entered into by the Parties. For avoidance of doubt, a Settlement shall not include 

(i) any negotiated resolution of legal or equitable claims between the State and a Supply 

Chain Participant that is unrelated to the claims at issue in the matter captioned In re: 

Opioid Litigation, MDL 2804 pending in the United States District Court for the Northern 

District of Ohio or (ii) any negotiated resolution of legal or equitable claims between the 

State and a Supply Chain Participant that requires the Parties to allocate settlement 

proceeds in a specific manner or using specified allocation percentages inconsistent with 

this MOU 

 

8. “Master Settlement Agreement” shall mean the agreements documenting a Settlement.  For 

the purposes of this MOU the Distributor Master Settlement Agreement and the J&J Master 

Settlement Agreement found at https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/ are Master 

Settlement Agreements under the meaning of this MOU.  

 

9. “State” shall mean the State of Iowa. 

 

B. Allocation of the Opioid Settlement Proceeds 
 

1. Opioid Funds shall be allocated as follows: (i) 50% to the Iowa Abatement Fund (“Iowa 

Abatement Share”) and (ii) 50% to Participating Local Governments, less fees and 

costs allocated to the Iowa Backstop Fund as set forth in Section D (“LG Abatement 

Share”). 

 

2. The Participating Local Governments may elect to use a Settlement Administrator 

(“Settlement Administrator”) to receive and distribute Opioid Funds allocated to the 

LG Abatement Share pursuant to this MOU.  

 

3. Opioid Funds shall not be considered funds of the Iowa Abatement Fund or any Local 

Government unless and until such time as an allocation is made to the Iowa Abatement 

Fund or any Participating Local Government pursuant to this Section.   

 
4. The LG Abatement Share shall be distributed in direct payments to the Counties that 

are Participating Local Governments according to the National Negotiation Class 

Formula, in the amounts set forth on Exhibit 2 (“Direct Distribution Amount”).  

 

5. A County may elect to forego its Direct Distribution Amount by notifying the 

Settlement Administrator in writing of its decision.  If a County makes an election to 

forego its Direct Distribution Amount, that amount reverts to the LG Abatement Share 

unless the County specifically designates that its share should revert to the Iowa 

Abatement Share.   

 
6. Except as provided herein, nothing shall prohibit a County from sub-allocating any 

portion of its Direct Distribution Amount to the Iowa Abatement Fund or to a City that 

is a Participating Local Government within its jurisdiction provided, however, that the 

Iowa Abatement Fund or City must expend any such sub-allocation only on an Opioid 

Related Expenditure.   

105

Item 10.

https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/


Page | 3 
 

 

7. If a County sub-allocates Opioid Funds to a City within its jurisdiction, such 

suballocation shall be made according to an agreement between the County and the 

City requiring the use of the suballocated funds for an Opioid Related Expenditure and 

further providing that a use of funds inconsistent with an Opioid Related Expenditure 

shall make the funds subject to recoupment and otherwise disqualify the City from a 

future sub-allocation. 

 

8. Except as provided herein, 100% of the Iowa Abatement Share and the LG 

Abatement Share, regardless of allocation, shall be utilized only for Opioid Related 

Expenditures incurred after the Effective Date of this MOU.  The list of approved 

Opioid Related Expenditures are set forth in Exhibit 1 to this MOU .  The Parties 

agree that at least 75% of the Iowa Abatement Share and the LG Abatement Share 

shall be utilized for only the “Core Strategies” listed in Schedule A of Exhibit 1 to 

this MOU.  

 

9. The Parties may use up to 2.5% of the Iowa Abatement Share and the LG Abatement 

Share for administrative costs for Opioid Related Expenditures.  

 

C. Compliance Reporting and Accountability  

 

1. Every Participating Local Government that receives a Direct Distribution Amount shall 

create a separate fund on its financial books and records that is designated for the receipt 

and expenditure of the entity’s Direct Distribution Amount, called the “LG Abatement 

Fund.”  Funds in an LG Abatement Fund shall not be commingled with any other money 

or funds of the Participating Local Government.  A Participating Local Government may 

invest LG Abatement Fund funds consistent with the investment of other funds of a 

Participating Local Government.   

 

2. Funds in a LG Abatement Fund may be expended by a Participating Local Government 

only for Opioid Related Expenditures. For avoidance of doubt, funds in a LG Abatement 

Fund may not be expended for costs, disbursements or payments made or incurred prior to 

the Settlement. 

 

3. Each LG Abatement Fund shall be subject to audit in a manner consistent with Code of 

Iowa §§331.402(2)(i) and 11.6. Any such audit shall be a financial and performance audit 

to ensure that the LG Abatement Fund disbursements are consistent with the terms of this 

MOU.  If any such audit reveals an expenditure inconsistent with the terms of this MOU, 

the Participating Local Government shall immediately redirect the funds associated with 

the inconsistent expenditure to an Opioid Related Expenditure. 

 

4. Reporting  

 

a. Each Participating Local Government that receives a Direct Distribution Amount 

must prepare and file a public annual report describing the expenditure of its 

Direct Distribution Amount. The report shall include, though is not limited to, a 

106

Item 10.



Page | 4 
 

narrative description of the funded programs; the dollar amount provided; and 

progress and/or outcomes of funded programs.  Participating Local Governments 

may work together to prepare and file joint reports if they so choose.  

 

b. A Participating Local Government taking a suballocation of some amount of its 

Direct Distribution Amount pursuant to Section B(7) is responsible for including 

the expenditure of those funds and outcomes from those expenditures in the 

annual report required by Section C(4)(a), above. 

 

c. The State may utilize the reports in order to report to the public on the use and 

effectiveness of the Opioid Funds in addressing the opioid crisis in Iowa.  

 

5. Two or more Participating Local Governments may combine their respective Direct 

Distribution Amounts. 

 

6. Nothing shall prohibit Participating Local Governments from acting alone or together 

pursuant to Paragraph 5 or from entering into an agreement(s) relating to the securitization 

of Opioid Funds (and any allocation thereof) that are scheduled under a Settlement to be 

paid at a future date. 

 

7. Pursuant to Section B of this MOU the Iowa Abatement Fund and all Participating Local 

Governments shall use 100% of the Iowa Abatement Share and the LG Abatement Share 

for Opioid Related Expenditures. 

 

D. Payment of Counsel and Opioid Litigation Expenses 

 

1. Sixty-six of the Participating Local Governments (“Litigating Local Governments”) 

have contracted with outside counsel (“Counsel”) for representation in litigation 

against certain Pharmaceutical Supply Chain Participants and Counsel has been 

representing some of those entities since 2018. The Litigating Local Governments are 

set forth on Exhibit 2.  In consideration for Counsel’s representation, each of the 

Litigating Local Governments entered into a contract with its Counsel for a 25% 

contingency fee applied to each Litigating Local Government’s recovery. 

 

2. The Distributor Master Settlement Agreement and the J&J Master Settlement 

Agreement provide for the payment of attorneys’ fees and legal expenses owed by 

States and Participating Local Governments to outside counsel retained for litigation 

against the Defendants in those agreements. To effectuate this, the Court in the MDL 

Litigation has established a fund to compensate attorneys for services rendered and 

expenses incurred that have benefitted plaintiffs generally in the litigation (the 

“National Attorney Fee Fund”).  

 

3. Counsel for the Litigating Local Governments intends to make application to the 

National Attorney Fee Fund.  Because there is still uncertainty regarding what Counsel 

will recover as compensation for the large volume of work done and the large out of 

pocket expense of the Litigation, and whereas the Litigating Local Governments desire 

107

Item 10.



Page | 5 
 

to fairly compensate Counsel for the work done on behalf of Litigating Local 

Governments, the Parties agree that the Participating Local Governments will create an 

Iowa attorneys’ fees and costs fund (the “Iowa Backstop Fund”) to compensate Counsel 

only in the event Counsel does not recover from  the National Attorney Fee Fund an 

amount equal to 15 % of the LG Abatement Share attributable to the Litigating Local 

Governments, less any amounts a Litigating Local Government suballocates to one or 

more Cities within its jurisdiction (“Net Direct Distribution Amount”).  For the 

avoidance of doubt, collectively, Counsel are limited to being paid, at most, and 

assuming adequate funds are available under the National Attorney Fee Fund and the 

Iowa Backstop Fund, attorneys’ fees totaling fifteen percent (15%) of the total Net 

Direct Distribution Amount for all Litigating Local Governments.  

 

4. Counsel must first seek recovery at the National Attorney Fee Fund before applying to 

the Iowa Backstop Fund and may not recover from the Iowa Backstop Fund any 

amounts recovered at the National Attorney Fee Fund.   

 

5. Counsel can seek payment from the Iowa Backstop Fund only for the difference 

between what they have collected from the National Attorney Fee Fund and the amount 

to which they are entitled under Paragraph D(3), above.  

 

6. If Counsel receives fees/costs for common benefit work from the National Attorney 

Fee Fund, when determining “amounts recovered” for purposes of this Section D, those 

fees/costs received from the National Attorney Fee Fund for common benefit work will 

be allocated proportionately across all of their local governmental clients based on the 

Negotiation Class Model to allocate the appropriate portion to Iowa Litigating Local 

Governments.   

 

7. The Iowa Backstop Fund shall be funded as follows: from the Opioid Funds Allocated 

to Participating Local Governments pursuant to this MOU, the Settlement 

Administrator shall deposit in the Iowa Backstop Fund an amount equal to 15% of the 

total Net Direct Distribution Amount for all Litigating Local Governments and 

distribute the remainder of the funds allocated to Participating Local Governments as 

set forth in Section B above.  No funds from the Iowa Abatement Share shall be used 

to pay attorneys’ fees and no funds from the Iowa Abatement Share shall be paid to the 

Iowa Backstop Fund. 

 

8. Any funds remaining in the Iowa Backstop Fund in excess of the amounts needed to 

cover the deficiency in attorneys’ fees as provided in this Section shall revert back to 

the LG Abatement Share and shall be allocated to the Participating Local Governments 

as provided in Section B. 

 

9. The Settlement Administrator shall be responsible for receiving requests for and 

allocating payments to Counsel from the Iowa Backstop Fund.  Counsel seeking 

payment from the Iowa Backstop Fund shall provide all documents and information 

required and/or sought by the Settlement Administrator.   

 

108

Item 10.



Page | 6 
 

10. The Settlement Administrator is authorized to provide information regarding requests 

for and payment from the Iowa Backstop Fund to the Attorney General, upon request.  

 

11. The Iowa Backstop Fund will not be funded by proceeds from any resolution in the 

matter of In re Purdue Pharma L.P., et. al., Docket No. 19-23649 in the Bankruptcy 

Court for the Southern District of New York.  

 

E. Minimum Participation 

 

1. This Agreement shall become effective at the time when Litigating Local Governments 

comprising 95% of the total Litigating Local Government population and Local 

Governments comprising 80% of the total population of eligible Primary Subdivisions as 

defined and described in in the Settlement Agreements with a population over 30,000 

people sign  this MOU (“MOU Effective Date”).   

 

2. For avoidance of doubt, a list of the Litigating Local Governments and eligible Primary 

Subdivisions with a population over 30,000 people whose participation is required to 

achieve the MOU Effective Dates as set forth above is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.  

 

F. Other Terms 

 

1. The Parties agree to make such amendments as necessary to implement the intent of 

this agreement. After this Agreement becomes effective, amendments may only be 

made to this Agreement if approved in writing by the Attorney General and at least 

51% of the Participating Local Governments. 

 

2. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Iowa 

using Iowa law. Any action related to the provisions of this Agreement, except as 

otherwise provided in the Master Settlement Agreements or Future Resolutions, must 

be adjudicated by the Iowa state courts of Polk County in the State of Iowa. 

 

3. This Agreement does not supersede or alter the terms of the Master Settlement 

Agreements except to the extent those terms allow for a State-Subdivision Agreement 

to do so. 

 

4. If any part of this Agreement is declared invalid or becomes inoperative for any reason, 

such invalidity or failure shall not affect the validity and enforceability of any other 

provision. 

 

5. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 

original and all of which together shall be considered one and the same agreement. A 

signature transmitted by facsimile or electronic image shall be deemed an original 

signature for purposes of executing this Agreement. 

 

109

Item 10.



Page | 7 
 

6. Each person signing this Agreement represents that he or she is fully authorized to enter 

into the terms and conditions of, and to execute, this Agreement on behalf of the named 

governmental entity, and that all necessary. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereby execute this MOU as of the date set forth below. 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE STATE OF IOWA: 

 

 

__________________________________ Date: ____________________ 

Attorney General Thomas J. Miller 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

 

 

___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 

Adair County 

Printed: ____________________________ 

 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Adams County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Allamakee County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Altoona City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Ames City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Ankeny City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 

110

Item 10.



Page | 8 
 

 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Appanoose County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Audubon County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Benton County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Bettendorf City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Black Hawk County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Boone City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Boone County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Bremer County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Buchanan County 

Printed: ____________________________ 

111

Item 10.



Page | 9 
 

 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Buena Vista County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Burlington City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Butler County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Calhoun County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Carroll County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Cass County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Cedar County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Cedar Falls City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 

112

Item 10.



Page | 10 
 

___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Cedar Rapids City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Cerro Gordo County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Cherokee County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Chickasaw County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Clay County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Clayton County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Clinton City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Clinton County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Clive City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 

113

Item 10.



Page | 11 
 

 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Coralville City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Council Bluffs City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Crawford County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Dallas County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Davenport City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Delaware County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Des Moines City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Des Moines County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Dickinson County 

Printed: ____________________________ 

114

Item 10.



Page | 12 
 

 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Dubuque City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Dubuque County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Emmet County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Fairfield City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Fayette County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Floyd County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Fort Dodge City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Fort Madison City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 

115

Item 10.



Page | 13 
 

___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Franklin County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Fremont County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Grimes City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Grundy County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Guthrie County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Hamilton County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Hancock County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Hardin County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Harrison County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 

116

Item 10.



Page | 14 
 

 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Henry County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Howard County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Humboldt County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Ida County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Indianola City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Iowa City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Iowa County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Jackson County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Jasper County 

Printed: ____________________________ 

117

Item 10.



Page | 15 
 

 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Jefferson County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Johnson County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Johnston City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Jones County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Keokuk City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Keokuk County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Kossuth County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Le Mars City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 

118

Item 10.



Page | 16 
 

___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Lee County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Linn County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Louisa County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Lyon County 
Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Madison County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Mahaska County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Marion City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Marion County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Marshall County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 

119

Item 10.



Page | 17 
 

 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Marshalltown City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Mason City City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Mills County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Mitchell County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Monroe County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Montgomery County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Muscatine City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Muscatine County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Newton City 

Printed: ____________________________ 

120

Item 10.



Page | 18 
 

 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
North Liberty City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Norwalk City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
O Brien County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Osceola County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Oskaloosa City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Ottumwa City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Page County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Pella City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 

121

Item 10.



Page | 19 
 

___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Pleasant Hill City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Plymouth County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Pocahontas County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Polk County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Pottawattamie County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Poweshiek County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Sac County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Scott County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Shelby County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 

122

Item 10.



Page | 20 
 

 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Sioux City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Sioux County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Spencer City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Storm Lake City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Story County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Tama County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Taylor County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Union County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Urbandale City 

Printed: ____________________________ 

123

Item 10.



Page | 21 
 

 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Wapello County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Warren County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Washington County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Waterloo City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Waukee City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Waverly City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Webster County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
West Des Moines City 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 

124

Item 10.



Page | 22 
 

___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Winnebago County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Winneshiek County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Woodbury County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Worth County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________ Date: ______________________ 
Wright County 

Printed: ____________________________ 
 
 

 

125

Item 10.



Exhibit 1 

126

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-1 

EXHIBIT E 

 

List of Opioid Remediation Uses 

 

Schedule A 

Core Strategies 

States and Qualifying Block Grantees shall choose from among the abatement strategies listed in 

Schedule B.  However, priority shall be given to the following core abatement strategies (“Core 

Strategies”).14  

A. NALOXONE OR OTHER FDA-APPROVED DRUG TO 

REVERSE OPIOID OVERDOSES  

1. Expand training for first responders, schools, community 

support groups and families; and  

2. Increase distribution to individuals who are uninsured or 

whose insurance does not cover the needed service. 

B. MEDICATION-ASSISTED TREATMENT (“MAT”) 

DISTRIBUTION AND OTHER OPIOID-RELATED 

TREATMENT  

1. Increase distribution of MAT to individuals who are 

uninsured or whose insurance does not cover the needed 

service;  

2. Provide education to school-based and youth-focused 

programs that discourage or prevent misuse;  

3. Provide MAT education and awareness training to 

healthcare providers, EMTs, law enforcement, and other 

first responders; and  

4. Provide treatment and recovery support services such as 

residential and inpatient treatment, intensive outpatient 

treatment, outpatient therapy or counseling, and recovery 

housing that allow or integrate medication and with other 

support services. 

                                                 
14 As used in this Schedule A, words like “expand,” “fund,” “provide” or the like shall not indicate a preference for 

new or existing programs. 

127

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-2 

C. PREGNANT & POSTPARTUM WOMEN  

1. Expand Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to 

Treatment (“SBIRT”) services to non-Medicaid eligible or 

uninsured pregnant women;  

2. Expand comprehensive evidence-based treatment and 

recovery services, including MAT, for women with co-

occurring Opioid Use Disorder (“OUD”) and other 

Substance Use Disorder (“SUD”)/Mental Health disorders 

for uninsured individuals for up to 12 months postpartum; 

and  

3. Provide comprehensive wrap-around services to individuals 

with OUD, including housing, transportation, job 

placement/training, and childcare. 

D. EXPANDING TREATMENT FOR NEONATAL 

ABSTINENCE SYNDROME (“NAS”) 

1. Expand comprehensive evidence-based and recovery 

support for NAS babies;  

2. Expand services for better continuum of care with infant-

need dyad; and  

3. Expand long-term treatment and services for medical 

monitoring of NAS babies and their families. 

E. EXPANSION OF WARM HAND-OFF PROGRAMS AND 

RECOVERY SERVICES  

1. Expand services such as navigators and on-call teams to 

begin MAT in hospital emergency departments;  

2. Expand warm hand-off services to transition to recovery 

services;  

3. Broaden scope of recovery services to include co-occurring 

SUD or mental health conditions;  

4. Provide comprehensive wrap-around services to individuals 

in recovery, including housing, transportation, job 

placement/training, and childcare; and  

5. Hire additional social workers or other behavioral health 

workers to facilitate expansions above. 

128

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-3 

F. TREATMENT FOR INCARCERATED POPULATION  

1. Provide evidence-based treatment and recovery support, 

including MAT for persons with OUD and co-occurring 

SUD/MH disorders within and transitioning out of the 

criminal justice system; and  

2. Increase funding for jails to provide treatment to inmates 

with OUD. 

G. PREVENTION PROGRAMS  

1. Funding for media campaigns to prevent opioid use (similar 

to the FDA’s “Real Cost” campaign to prevent youth from 

misusing tobacco);  

2. Funding for evidence-based prevention programs in 

schools;  

3. Funding for medical provider education and outreach 

regarding best prescribing practices for opioids consistent 

with the 2016 CDC guidelines, including providers at 

hospitals (academic detailing);  

4. Funding for community drug disposal programs; and 

5. Funding and training for first responders to participate in 

pre-arrest diversion programs, post-overdose response 

teams, or similar strategies that connect at-risk individuals 

to behavioral health services and supports. 

H. EXPANDING SYRINGE SERVICE PROGRAMS 

1. Provide comprehensive syringe services programs with 

more wrap-around services, including linkage to OUD 

treatment, access to sterile syringes and linkage to care and 

treatment of infectious diseases. 

I. EVIDENCE-BASED DATA COLLECTION AND 

RESEARCH ANALYZING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE 

ABATEMENT STRATEGIES WITHIN THE STATE 

  

129

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-4 

Schedule B 

Approved Uses 

Support treatment of Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) and any co-occurring Substance Use Disorder 

or Mental Health (SUD/MH) conditions through evidence-based or evidence-informed programs 

or strategies that may include, but are not limited to, the following:  

PART ONE:  TREATMENT 

 

A. TREAT OPIOID USE DISORDER (OUD) 

Support treatment of Opioid Use Disorder (“OUD”) and any co-occurring Substance Use 

Disorder or Mental Health (“SUD/MH”) conditions through evidence-based or evidence-

informed programs or strategies that may include, but are not limited to, those that:15  

1. Expand availability of treatment for OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH 

conditions, including all forms of Medication-Assisted Treatment (“MAT”) 

approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 

2. Support and reimburse evidence-based services that adhere to the American 

Society of Addiction Medicine (“ASAM”) continuum of care for OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

3. Expand telehealth to increase access to treatment for OUD and any co-occurring 

SUD/MH conditions, including MAT, as well as counseling, psychiatric support, 

and other treatment and recovery support services. 

4. Improve oversight of Opioid Treatment Programs (“OTPs”) to assure evidence-

based or evidence-informed practices such as adequate methadone dosing and low 

threshold approaches to treatment. 

5. Support mobile intervention, treatment, and recovery services, offered by 

qualified professionals and service providers, such as peer recovery coaches, for 

persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions and for persons 

who have experienced an opioid overdose. 

6. Provide treatment of trauma for individuals with OUD (e.g., violence, sexual 

assault, human trafficking, or adverse childhood experiences) and family 

members (e.g., surviving family members after an overdose or overdose fatality), 

and training of health care personnel to identify and address such trauma. 

7. Support evidence-based withdrawal management services for people with OUD 

and any co-occurring mental health conditions. 

                                                 
15 As used in this Schedule B, words like “expand,” “fund,” “provide” or the like shall not indicate a preference for 

new or existing programs. 

130

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-5 

8. Provide training on MAT for health care providers, first responders, students, or 

other supporting professionals, such as peer recovery coaches or recovery 

outreach specialists, including telementoring to assist community-based providers 

in rural or underserved areas. 

9. Support workforce development for addiction professionals who work with 

persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

10. Offer fellowships for addiction medicine specialists for direct patient care, 

instructors, and clinical research for treatments. 

11. Offer scholarships and supports for behavioral health practitioners or workers 

involved in addressing OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH or mental health 

conditions, including, but not limited to, training, scholarships, fellowships, loan 

repayment programs, or other incentives for providers to work in rural or 

underserved areas. 

12. Provide funding and training for clinicians to obtain a waiver under the federal 

Drug Addiction Treatment Act of 2000 (“DATA 2000”) to prescribe MAT for 

OUD, and provide technical assistance and professional support to clinicians who 

have obtained a DATA 2000 waiver. 

13. Disseminate of web-based training curricula, such as the American Academy of 

Addiction Psychiatry’s Provider Clinical Support Service–Opioids web-based 

training curriculum and motivational interviewing. 

14. Develop and disseminate new curricula, such as the American Academy of 

Addiction Psychiatry’s Provider Clinical Support Service for Medication–

Assisted Treatment. 

B. SUPPORT PEOPLE IN TREATMENT AND RECOVERY 

Support people in recovery from OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions 

through evidence-based or evidence-informed programs or strategies that may include, 

but are not limited to, the programs or strategies that:  

1. Provide comprehensive wrap-around services to individuals with OUD and any 

co-occurring SUD/MH conditions, including housing, transportation, education, 

job placement, job training, or childcare. 

2. Provide the full continuum of care of treatment and recovery services for OUD 

and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions, including supportive housing, peer 

support services and counseling, community navigators, case management, and 

connections to community-based services. 

3. Provide counseling, peer-support, recovery case management and residential 

treatment with access to medications for those who need it to persons with OUD 

and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

131

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-6 

4. Provide access to housing for people with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH 

conditions, including supportive housing, recovery housing, housing assistance 

programs, training for housing providers, or recovery housing programs that allow 

or integrate FDA-approved mediation with other support services. 

5. Provide community support services, including social and legal services, to assist 

in deinstitutionalizing persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH 

conditions. 

6. Support or expand peer-recovery centers, which may include support groups, 

social events, computer access, or other services for persons with OUD and any 

co-occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

7. Provide or support transportation to treatment or recovery programs or services 

for persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

8. Provide employment training or educational services for persons in treatment for 

or recovery from OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

9. Identify successful recovery programs such as physician, pilot, and college 

recovery programs, and provide support and technical assistance to increase the 

number and capacity of high-quality programs to help those in recovery. 

10. Engage non-profits, faith-based communities, and community coalitions to 

support people in treatment and recovery and to support family members in their 

efforts to support the person with OUD in the family. 

11. Provide training and development of procedures for government staff to 

appropriately interact and provide social and other services to individuals with or 

in recovery from OUD, including reducing stigma. 

12. Support stigma reduction efforts regarding treatment and support for persons with 

OUD, including reducing the stigma on effective treatment. 

13. Create or support culturally appropriate services and programs for persons with 

OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions, including new Americans. 

14. Create and/or support recovery high schools. 

15. Hire or train behavioral health workers to provide or expand any of the services or 

supports listed above. 

C. CONNECT PEOPLE WHO NEED HELP TO THE HELP THEY NEED 

(CONNECTIONS TO CARE)  

Provide connections to care for people who have—or are at risk of developing—OUD 

and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions through evidence-based or evidence-informed 

programs or strategies that may include, but are not limited to, those that:  

132

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-7 

1. Ensure that health care providers are screening for OUD and other risk factors and 

know how to appropriately counsel and treat (or refer if necessary) a patient for 

OUD treatment. 

2. Fund SBIRT programs to reduce the transition from use to disorders, including 

SBIRT services to pregnant women who are uninsured or not eligible for 

Medicaid. 

3. Provide training and long-term implementation of SBIRT in key systems (health, 

schools, colleges, criminal justice, and probation), with a focus on youth and 

young adults when transition from misuse to opioid disorder is common. 

4. Purchase automated versions of SBIRT and support ongoing costs of the 

technology. 

5. Expand services such as navigators and on-call teams to begin MAT in hospital 

emergency departments. 

6. Provide training for emergency room personnel treating opioid overdose patients 

on post-discharge planning, including community referrals for MAT, recovery 

case management or support services. 

7. Support hospital programs that transition persons with OUD and any co-occurring 

SUD/MH conditions, or persons who have experienced an opioid overdose, into 

clinically appropriate follow-up care through a bridge clinic or similar approach. 

8. Support crisis stabilization centers that serve as an alternative to hospital 

emergency departments for persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH 

conditions or persons that have experienced an opioid overdose. 

9. Support the work of Emergency Medical Systems, including peer support 

specialists, to connect individuals to treatment or other appropriate services 

following an opioid overdose or other opioid-related adverse event. 

10. Provide funding for peer support specialists or recovery coaches in emergency 

departments, detox facilities, recovery centers, recovery housing, or similar 

settings; offer services, supports, or connections to care to persons with OUD and 

any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions or to persons who have experienced an 

opioid overdose. 

11. Expand warm hand-off services to transition to recovery services. 

12. Create or support school-based contacts that parents can engage with to seek 

immediate treatment services for their child; and support prevention, intervention, 

treatment, and recovery programs focused on young people. 

13. Develop and support best practices on addressing OUD in the workplace. 

133

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-8 

14. Support assistance programs for health care providers with OUD. 

15. Engage non-profits and the faith community as a system to support outreach for 

treatment. 

16. Support centralized call centers that provide information and connections to 

appropriate services and supports for persons with OUD and any co-occurring 

SUD/MH conditions. 

D. ADDRESS THE NEEDS OF CRIMINAL JUSTICE-INVOLVED PERSONS  

Address the needs of persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions who 

are involved in, are at risk of becoming involved in, or are transitioning out of the 

criminal justice system through evidence-based or evidence-informed programs or 

strategies that may include, but are not limited to, those that:  

1. Support pre-arrest or pre-arraignment diversion and deflection strategies for 

persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions, including 

established strategies such as:  

1. Self-referral strategies such as the Angel Programs or the Police Assisted 

Addiction Recovery Initiative (“PAARI”);  

2. Active outreach strategies such as the Drug Abuse Response Team 

(“DART”) model;  

3. “Naloxone Plus” strategies, which work to ensure that individuals who 

have received naloxone to reverse the effects of an overdose are then 

linked to treatment programs or other appropriate services;  

4. Officer prevention strategies, such as the Law Enforcement Assisted 

Diversion (“LEAD”) model;  

5. Officer intervention strategies such as the Leon County, Florida Adult 

Civil Citation Network or the Chicago Westside Narcotics Diversion to 

Treatment Initiative; or 

6. Co-responder and/or alternative responder models to address OUD-related 

911 calls with greater SUD expertise. 

2. Support pre-trial services that connect individuals with OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions to evidence-informed treatment, including MAT, 

and related services. 

3. Support treatment and recovery courts that provide evidence-based options for 

persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

134

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-9 

4. Provide evidence-informed treatment, including MAT, recovery support, harm 

reduction, or other appropriate services to individuals with OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions who are incarcerated in jail or prison. 

5. Provide evidence-informed treatment, including MAT, recovery support, harm 

reduction, or other appropriate services to individuals with OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions who are leaving jail or prison or have recently left 

jail or prison, are on probation or parole, are under community corrections 

supervision, or are in re-entry programs or facilities. 

6. Support critical time interventions (“CTI”), particularly for individuals living with 

dual-diagnosis OUD/serious mental illness, and services for individuals who face 

immediate risks and service needs and risks upon release from correctional 

settings. 

7. Provide training on best practices for addressing the needs of criminal justice-

involved persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions to law 

enforcement, correctional, or judicial personnel or to providers of treatment, 

recovery, harm reduction, case management, or other services offered in 

connection with any of the strategies described in this section. 

E. ADDRESS THE NEEDS OF PREGNANT OR PARENTING WOMEN AND 

THEIR FAMILIES, INCLUDING BABIES WITH NEONATAL ABSTINENCE 

SYNDROME  

Address the needs of pregnant or parenting women with OUD and any co-occurring 

SUD/MH conditions, and the needs of their families, including babies with neonatal 

abstinence syndrome (“NAS”), through evidence-based or evidence-informed programs 

or strategies that may include, but are not limited to, those that:  

1. Support evidence-based or evidence-informed treatment, including MAT, 

recovery services and supports, and prevention services for pregnant women—or 

women who could become pregnant—who have OUD and any co-occurring 

SUD/MH conditions, and other measures to educate and provide support to 

families affected by Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome. 

2. Expand comprehensive evidence-based treatment and recovery services, including 

MAT, for uninsured women with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH 

conditions for up to 12 months postpartum. 

3. Provide training for obstetricians or other healthcare personnel who work with 

pregnant women and their families regarding treatment of OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

4. Expand comprehensive evidence-based treatment and recovery support for NAS 

babies; expand services for better continuum of care with infant-need dyad; and 

expand long-term treatment and services for medical monitoring of NAS babies 

and their families. 

135

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-10 

5. Provide training to health care providers who work with pregnant or parenting 

women on best practices for compliance with federal requirements that children 

born with NAS get referred to appropriate services and receive a plan of safe care. 

6. Provide child and family supports for parenting women with OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

7. Provide enhanced family support and child care services for parents with OUD 

and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

8. Provide enhanced support for children and family members suffering trauma as a 

result of addiction in the family; and offer trauma-informed behavioral health 

treatment for adverse childhood events. 

9. Offer home-based wrap-around services to persons with OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions, including, but not limited to, parent skills 

training. 

10. Provide support for Children’s Services—Fund additional positions and services, 

including supportive housing and other residential services, relating to children 

being removed from the home and/or placed in foster care due to custodial opioid 

use. 

PART TWO:  PREVENTION  

F. PREVENT OVER-PRESCRIBING AND ENSURE APPROPRIATE 

PRESCRIBING AND DISPENSING OF OPIOIDS  

Support efforts to prevent over-prescribing and ensure appropriate prescribing and 

dispensing of opioids through evidence-based or evidence-informed programs or 

strategies that may include, but are not limited to, the following:  

1. Funding medical provider education and outreach regarding best prescribing 

practices for opioids consistent with the Guidelines for Prescribing Opioids for 

Chronic Pain from the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, including 

providers at hospitals (academic detailing). 

2. Training for health care providers regarding safe and responsible opioid 

prescribing, dosing, and tapering patients off opioids. 

3. Continuing Medical Education (CME) on appropriate prescribing of opioids. 

4. Providing Support for non-opioid pain treatment alternatives, including training 

providers to offer or refer to multi-modal, evidence-informed treatment of pain. 

5. Supporting enhancements or improvements to Prescription Drug Monitoring 

Programs (“PDMPs”), including, but not limited to, improvements that:  

136

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-11 

1. Increase the number of prescribers using PDMPs; 

2. Improve point-of-care decision-making by increasing the quantity, quality, 

or format of data available to prescribers using PDMPs, by improving the 

interface that prescribers use to access PDMP data, or both; or  

3. Enable states to use PDMP data in support of surveillance or intervention 

strategies, including MAT referrals and follow-up for individuals 

identified within PDMP data as likely to experience OUD in a manner that 

complies with all relevant privacy and security laws and rules. 

6. Ensuring PDMPs incorporate available overdose/naloxone deployment data, 

including the United States Department of Transportation’s Emergency Medical 

Technician overdose database in a manner that complies with all relevant privacy 

and security laws and rules. 

7. Increasing electronic prescribing to prevent diversion or forgery. 

8. Educating dispensers on appropriate opioid dispensing. 

G. PREVENT MISUSE OF OPIOIDS  

Support efforts to discourage or prevent misuse of opioids through evidence-based or 

evidence-informed programs or strategies that may include, but are not limited to, the 

following:  

1. Funding media campaigns to prevent opioid misuse. 

2. Corrective advertising or affirmative public education campaigns based on 

evidence. 

3. Public education relating to drug disposal. 

4. Drug take-back disposal or destruction programs. 

5. Funding community anti-drug coalitions that engage in drug prevention efforts. 

6. Supporting community coalitions in implementing evidence-informed prevention, 

such as reduced social access and physical access, stigma reduction—including 

staffing, educational campaigns, support for people in treatment or recovery, or 

training of coalitions in evidence-informed implementation, including the 

Strategic Prevention Framework developed by the U.S. Substance Abuse and 

Mental Health Services Administration (“SAMHSA”). 

7. Engaging non-profits and faith-based communities as systems to support 

prevention. 

137

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-12 

8. Funding evidence-based prevention programs in schools or evidence-informed 

school and community education programs and campaigns for students, families, 

school employees, school athletic programs, parent-teacher and student 

associations, and others. 

9. School-based or youth-focused programs or strategies that have demonstrated 

effectiveness in preventing drug misuse and seem likely to be effective in 

preventing the uptake and use of opioids. 

10. Create or support community-based education or intervention services for 

families, youth, and adolescents at risk for OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH 

conditions. 

11. Support evidence-informed programs or curricula to address mental health needs 

of young people who may be at risk of misusing opioids or other drugs, including 

emotional modulation and resilience skills. 

12. Support greater access to mental health services and supports for young people, 

including services and supports provided by school nurses, behavioral health 

workers or other school staff, to address mental health needs in young people that 

(when not properly addressed) increase the risk of opioid or another drug misuse. 

H. PREVENT OVERDOSE DEATHS AND OTHER HARMS (HARM REDUCTION)  

Support efforts to prevent or reduce overdose deaths or other opioid-related harms 

through evidence-based or evidence-informed programs or strategies that may include, 

but are not limited to, the following:  

1. Increased availability and distribution of naloxone and other drugs that treat 

overdoses for first responders, overdose patients, individuals with OUD and their 

friends and family members, schools, community navigators and outreach 

workers, persons being released from jail or prison, or other members of the 

general public. 

2. Public health entities providing free naloxone to anyone in the community. 

3. Training and education regarding naloxone and other drugs that treat overdoses 

for first responders, overdose patients, patients taking opioids, families, schools, 

community support groups, and other members of the general public. 

4. Enabling school nurses and other school staff to respond to opioid overdoses, and 

provide them with naloxone, training, and support. 

5. Expanding, improving, or developing data tracking software and applications for 

overdoses/naloxone revivals. 

6. Public education relating to emergency responses to overdoses. 

138

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-13 

7. Public education relating to immunity and Good Samaritan laws. 

8. Educating first responders regarding the existence and operation of immunity and 

Good Samaritan laws. 

9. Syringe service programs and other evidence-informed programs to reduce harms 

associated with intravenous drug use, including supplies, staffing, space, peer 

support services, referrals to treatment, fentanyl checking, connections to care, 

and the full range of harm reduction and treatment services provided by these 

programs. 

10. Expanding access to testing and treatment for infectious diseases such as HIV and 

Hepatitis C resulting from intravenous opioid use. 

11. Supporting mobile units that offer or provide referrals to harm reduction services, 

treatment, recovery supports, health care, or other appropriate services to persons 

that use opioids or persons with OUD and any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

12. Providing training in harm reduction strategies to health care providers, students, 

peer recovery coaches, recovery outreach specialists, or other professionals that 

provide care to persons who use opioids or persons with OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions. 

13. Supporting screening for fentanyl in routine clinical toxicology testing. 

PART THREE:  OTHER STRATEGIES  

 

I. FIRST RESPONDERS  

In addition to items in section C, D and H relating to first responders, support the 

following:  

1. Education of law enforcement or other first responders regarding appropriate 

practices and precautions when dealing with fentanyl or other drugs. 

2. Provision of wellness and support services for first responders and others who 

experience secondary trauma associated with opioid-related emergency events. 

J. LEADERSHIP, PLANNING AND COORDINATION  

Support efforts to provide leadership, planning, coordination, facilitations, training and 

technical assistance to abate the opioid epidemic through activities, programs, or 

strategies that may include, but are not limited to, the following:  

1. Statewide, regional, local or community regional planning to identify root causes 

of addiction and overdose, goals for reducing harms related to the opioid 

epidemic, and areas and populations with the greatest needs for treatment 

139

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-14 

intervention services, and to support training and technical assistance and other 

strategies to abate the opioid epidemic described in this opioid abatement strategy 

list. 

2. A dashboard to (a) share reports, recommendations, or plans to spend opioid 

settlement funds; (b) to show how opioid settlement funds have been spent; (c) to 

report program or strategy outcomes; or (d) to track, share or visualize key opioid- 

or health-related indicators and supports as identified through collaborative 

statewide, regional, local or community processes. 

3. Invest in infrastructure or staffing at government or not-for-profit agencies to 

support collaborative, cross-system coordination with the purpose of preventing 

overprescribing, opioid misuse, or opioid overdoses, treating those with OUD and 

any co-occurring SUD/MH conditions, supporting them in treatment or recovery, 

connecting them to care, or implementing other strategies to abate the opioid 

epidemic described in this opioid abatement strategy list. 

4. Provide resources to staff government oversight and management of opioid 

abatement programs. 

K. TRAINING  

In addition to the training referred to throughout this document, support training to abate 

the opioid epidemic through activities, programs, or strategies that may include, but are 

not limited to, those that:  

1. Provide funding for staff training or networking programs and services to improve 

the capability of government, community, and not-for-profit entities to abate the 

opioid crisis. 

2. Support infrastructure and staffing for collaborative cross-system coordination to 

prevent opioid misuse, prevent overdoses, and treat those with OUD and any co-

occurring SUD/MH conditions, or implement other strategies to abate the opioid 

epidemic described in this opioid abatement strategy list (e.g., health care, 

primary care, pharmacies, PDMPs, etc.). 

L. RESEARCH  

Support opioid abatement research that may include, but is not limited to, the following:  

1. Monitoring, surveillance, data collection and evaluation of programs and 

strategies described in this opioid abatement strategy list. 

2. Research non-opioid treatment of chronic pain. 

3. Research on improved service delivery for modalities such as SBIRT that 

demonstrate promising but mixed results in populations vulnerable to 

opioid use disorders. 

140

Item 10.



DISTRIBUTORS’ 9.18.21  

EXHIBIT UPDATES 

 

 

E-15 

4. Research on novel harm reduction and prevention efforts such as the 

provision of fentanyl test strips. 

5. Research on innovative supply-side enforcement efforts such as improved 

detection of mail-based delivery of synthetic opioids. 

6. Expanded research on swift/certain/fair models to reduce and deter opioid 

misuse within criminal justice populations that build upon promising 

approaches used to address other substances (e.g., Hawaii HOPE and 

Dakota 24/7). 

7. Epidemiological surveillance of OUD-related behaviors in critical 

populations, including individuals entering the criminal justice system, 

including, but not limited to approaches modeled on the Arrestee Drug 

Abuse Monitoring (“ADAM”) system. 

8. Qualitative and quantitative research regarding public health risks and 

harm reduction opportunities within illicit drug markets, including surveys 

of market participants who sell or distribute illicit opioids. 

9. Geospatial analysis of access barriers to MAT and their association with 

treatment engagement and treatment outcomes. 

141

Item 10.



Exhibit 2 - Direct Distribution Percentages 
 

 99 66 100% 

 

Local Government 

 

County 

 

Litigating 

Entity 

 
% of LG 

bucket 

Adair County Adair Yes 0.256% 

Adams County Adams Yes 0.112% 

Allamakee County Allamakee Yes 0.446% 

Appanoose County Appanoose Yes 0.532% 

Audubon County Audubon Yes 0.121% 

Benton County Benton Yes 0.519% 

Black Hawk County Black Hawk Yes 3.342% 

Boone County Boone 
 

0.823% 

Bremer County Bremer Yes 0.731% 

Buchanan County Buchanan Yes 0.377% 

Buena Vista County Buena Vista Yes 0.327% 

Butler County Butler 
 

0.271% 

Calhoun County Calhoun Yes 0.189% 

Carroll County Carroll Yes 0.603% 

Cass County Cass  0.336% 

Cedar County Cedar Yes 0.366% 

Cerro Gordo County Cerro Gordo Yes 1.630% 

Cherokee County Cherokee Yes 0.238% 

Chickasaw County Chickasaw Yes 0.243% 

Clarke County Clarke  0.305% 

Clay County Clay Yes 0.296% 

Clayton County Clayton Yes 0.457% 

Clinton County Clinton Yes 1.459% 

Crawford County Crawford  0.331% 

Dallas County Dallas Yes 1.478% 

Davis County Davis 
 

0.154% 

142

Item 10.



Decatur County Decatur  0.253% 

Delaware County Delaware Yes 0.302% 

Des Moines County Des Moines Yes 1.568% 

Dickinson County Dickinson  0.332% 

Dubuque County Dubuque  2.745% 

Emmet County Emmet Yes 0.175% 

Fayette County Fayette Yes 0.528% 

Floyd County Floyd  0.329% 

Franklin County Franklin  0.211% 

Fremont County Fremont Yes 0.205% 

Greene County Greene  0.358% 

Grundy County Grundy 
 

0.323% 

Guthrie County Guthrie  0.231% 

Hamilton County Hamilton Yes 0.350% 

Hancock County Hancock Yes 0.190% 

Hardin County Hardin Yes 0.449% 

Harrison County Harrison Yes 0.618% 

Henry County Henry Yes 0.445% 

Howard County Howard Yes 0.171% 

Humboldt County Humboldt Yes 0.193% 

Ida County Ida Yes 0.168% 

Iowa County Iowa 
 

0.266% 

Jackson County Jackson  0.549% 

Jasper County Jasper Yes 1.678% 

Jefferson County Jefferson  0.573% 

Johnson County Johnson Yes 3.822% 

Jones County Jones Yes 0.388% 

Keokuk County Keokuk Yes 0.198% 

Kossuth County Kossuth 
 

0.348% 

Lee County Lee Yes 1.459% 

Linn County Linn 
 

7.329% 

Louisa County Louisa 
 

0.336% 

143

Item 10.



Lucas County Lucas  0.330% 

Lyon County Lyon Yes 0.162% 

Madison County Madison Yes 0.403% 

Mahaska County Mahaska Yes 0.716% 

Marion County Marion Yes 1.179% 

Marshall County Marshall 
 

1.036% 

Mills County Mills Yes 0.495% 

Mitchell County Mitchell Yes 0.190% 

Monona County Monona  0.446% 

Monroe County Monroe Yes 0.216% 

Montgomery County Montgomery Yes 0.531% 

Muscatine County Muscatine Yes 1.061% 

O Brien County O Brien Yes 0.235% 

Osceola County Osceola Yes 0.145% 

Page County Page  0.582% 

Palo Alto County Palo Alto 
 

0.167% 

Plymouth County Plymouth Yes 0.445% 

Pocahontas County Pocahontas Yes 0.117% 

Polk County Polk Yes 22.811% 

Pottawattamie County Pottawattamie Yes 3.615% 

Poweshiek County Poweshiek Yes 0.475% 

Ringgold County Ringgold 
 

0.120% 

Sac County Sac Yes 0.220% 

Scott County Scott Yes 8.861% 

Shelby County Shelby Yes 0.286% 

Sioux County Sioux Yes 0.410% 

Story County Story  2.166% 

Tama County Tama Yes 0.345% 

Taylor County Taylor Yes 0.178% 

Union County Union Yes 0.463% 

Van Buren County Van Buren 
 

0.153% 

Wapello County Wapello 
 

1.003% 

144

Item 10.



Warren County Warren  1.332% 

Washington County Washington 
 

0.554% 

Wayne County Wayne  0.244% 

Webster County Webster Yes 1.596% 

Winnebago County Winnebago Yes 0.234% 

Winneshiek County Winneshiek Yes 0.367% 

Woodbury County Woodbury  2.566% 

Worth County Worth Yes 0.235% 

Wright County Wright Yes 0.281% 

 
 

 
 

 

145

Item 10.



Exhibit 3 

146

Item 10.



Subdivision  Population 

Percentage of Litigating Subdivision 

Population 

Adair 7,152                           0.329%

Adams  3,602                           0.166%

Allamakee 13,687                         0.630%

Appanoose 12,426                         0.572%

Audubon  5,496                           0.253%

Benton 25,645                         1.181%

Black Hawk 131,228                       6.041%

Bremer 25,062                         1.154%

Buchanan 21,175                         0.975%

Buena Vista 19,620                         0.903%

Calhoun 9,668                           0.445%

Carroll 20,165                         0.928%

Cedar 18,627                         0.857%

Cerro Gordo 42,450                         1.954%

Cherokee 11,235                         0.517%

Chickasaw 11,933                         0.549%

Clay 16,016                         0.737%

Clayton 17,549                         0.808%

Clinton 46,429                         2.137%

Dallas 93,453                         4.302%

Delaware 17,011                         0.783%

Des Moines 38,967                         1.794%

Emmett 9,208                           0.424%

Fayette 19,650                         0.905%

Fremont 6,960                           0.320%

Hamilton 14,773                         0.680%

Hancock 10,630                         0.489%

Hardin 16,846                         0.775%

Harrison 14,049                         0.647%

Henry 19,954                         0.919%

Howard 9,158                           0.422%

Humboldt 9,558                           0.440%

Ida 6,860                           0.316%

Jasper 37,185                         1.712%

Johnson 151,140                       6.957%

Jones 20,681                         0.952%

Keokuk 10,246                         0.472%

Lee 33,657                         1.549%

Lyon 11,755                         0.541%

Madison 16,338                         0.752%

Mahaska 22,095                         1.017%

Marion 33,253                         1.531%

Litigating Subdivisions 

147

Item 10.



Mills 15,109                         0.696%

Mitchell 10,586                         0.487%

Monroe 7,707                           0.355%

Montgomery 9,917                           0.457%

Muscatine 42,664                         1.964%

O'Brien 13,753                         0.633%

Osceola 5,958                           0.274%

Plymouth 25,177                         1.159%

Pocahontas 6,619                           0.305%

Polk 490,161                       22.564%

Pottawattamie 93,206                         4.291%

Powesheik 18,504                         0.852%

Sac 9,721                           0.447%

Scott 172,943                       7.961%

Shelby 11,454                         0.527%

Sioux 34,855                         1.604%

Tama 16,854                         0.776%

Taylor 6,121                           0.282%

Union 12,241                         0.563%

Webster 35,904                         1.653%

Winnebago 10,354                         0.477%

Winneshiek 19,991                         0.920%

Worth 7,381                           0.340%

Wright 12,562                         0.578%

TOTAL 2,172,334                   100%

95% of Total 2,063,717.30              95%

Subdivision  Population 

Percentage of Primary Subdivision 

Over 30,000 Population 

Ames City 66,258                         2.02%

Ankeny City 67,355                         2.05%

Bettendorf City 36,543                         1.11%

Black Hawk 131,228                       3.99%

Cedar Falls City 40,536                         1.23%

Cedar Rapids City 133,562                       4.07%

Cerro Gordo 42,450                         1.29%

Clinton 46,429                         1.41%

Council Bluffs City 62,166                         1.89%

Dallas 93,453                         2.84%

Davenport City 101,590                       3.09%

Des Moines 214,237                       6.52%

Des Moines City 38,967                         1.19%

Dubuque City 57,882                         1.76%

Dubuque County 97,311                         2.96%

Iowa City 75,130                         2.29%

Primary Subdivisions Over 30,000 Population

148

Item 10.



Jasper 37,185                         1.13%

Johnson 151,140                       4.60%

Lee 33,657                         1.02%

Linn County 226,706                       6.90%

Marion 40,359                         1.23%

Marion City 33,253                         1.01%

Marshall County 39,369                         1.20%

Muscatine 42,664                         1.30%

Polk 490,161                       14.92%

Pottawattamie 93,206                         2.84%

Scott 172,943                       5.26%

Sioux 82,651                         2.52%

Sioux City 34,855                         1.06%

Story County 97,117                         2.96%

Urbandale City 44,379                         1.35%

Wapello County 34,969                         1.06%

Warren County 51,466                         1.57%

Waterloo City 67,328                         2.05%

Webster 35,904                         1.09%

West Des Moines City 67,899                         2.07%

Woodbury County 103,107                       3.14%

TOTAL 3,285,415                   100%

80% of Total  2,628,332                   80%

149

Item 10.



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 
SUBDIVISION DISTRIBUTOR SETTLEMENT PARTICIPATION FORM, A 

SUBDIVISION JANSSEN SETTLEMENT PARTICIPATION FORM, AND AN 
IOWA OPIOID ALLOCATION MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING, ALL 

RELATED TO SETTLEMENT OF OPIOID LITIGATION 
 

 
 WHEREAS, there currently exists a nationwide health crisis involving the misuse of 
opioids, including in Cedar Falls; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the public cost of the opioid epidemic in Cedar Falls and elsewhere is very 
significant; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the State of Iowa and many Iowa counties as well as states and local 
subdivisions all over the country have brought lawsuits against manufacturers and distributors of 
prescription opioids; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a settlement of said litigation has been proposed by the three largest 
distributors and one manufacturer of prescription opioids with settlement proceeds being made 
available to abate the costs of the epidemic; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls has been requested to participate in said settlement; 
and  
 
            WHEREAS, it is determined that it is in the best interest of Cedar Falls as well as the 
Cedar Valley for Cedar Falls to participate in said settlement; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is a condition of participation in said settlement that the Subdivision 
Distributor Settlement Participation Form, the Subdivision Janssen Settlement Participation 
Form and the IOWA OPIOID ALLOCATION MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING, all 
attached, be approved. 
 
            NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 1.  That the attached Subdivision Distributor Settlement Participation Form, incorporated 
herein by this reference, is hereby approved and confirmed in all respects.   The Mayor and City 
Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute said Form on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
            2.  That the attached Subdivision Janssen Settlement Participation Form, incorporated 
herein by this reference, is hereby approved and confirmed in all respects.   The Mayor and City 
Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute said Form on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
            3. That the attached IOWA OPIOID ALLOCATION MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING, incorporated herein by this reference, including all Exhibits, is hereby 
approved and confirmed in all respects.   The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized, 

150

Item 10.



 2 

empowered and directed to execute said Memorandum of Understanding on behalf of the City 
of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this 20th day of December, 2021. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      Robert M, Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
                                                       

151

Item 10.



152

Item 11.



153

Item 11.



154

Item 11.



155

Item 11.



156

Item 11.



157

Item 11.



158

Item 11.



159

Item 11.



160

Item 11.



161

Item 11.



162

Item 11.



163

Item 11.



164

Item 11.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: December 13, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Lease approvals on flood buyout properties 

 
 
The City has leased vacant parcels of land to nearby neighbors for a number of years.  
The leases are for three years and then must be renewed, if interest continues.  There 
may also be new leases in-between that time, as any new interest is expressed.  At 
each three-year term, we update any leases, to streamline administration by keeping 
them on the same timeframe. 
 
Attached to this cover memo are leases requested starting January 1, 2022 – 
December 31, 2024.  The individuals who signed the leases provided the City with the 
necessary liability insurance coverage in order to utilize the property.  
 
Public Works staff believes the leasing program is very beneficial not only for the 
neighbors, but the City as well.  The parcels are mowed and maintained by the lessees 
during the growing season, which saves maintenance dollars and allows park staff to 
spend time maintaining higher priority properties.   
 
The Departments of Public Works and Community Development recommend that the 
City Council approve these leases.  Let me know if you have any questions or 
comments. 
 
 
xc: Brian Heath, Operation & Maintenance Division Manager 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 JJ Lillibridge, Recreation & Community Programs Manager 
 

 
 
 

165

Item 12.



166

Item 12.



167

Item 12.



168

Item 12.



169

Item 12.



170

Item 12.



171

Item 12.



172

Item 12.



173

Item 12.



174

Item 12.



175

Item 12.



176

Item 12.



177

Item 12.



178

Item 12.



179

Item 12.



180

Item 12.



181

Item 12.



182

Item 12.



183

Item 12.



184

Item 12.



185

Item 12.



186

Item 12.



187

Item 12.



188

Item 12.



189

Item 12.



190

Item 12.



191

Item 12.



192

Item 12.



193

Item 12.



194

Item 12.



195

Item 12.



196

Item 12.



197

Item 12.



198

Item 12.



199

Item 12.



200

Item 12.



201

Item 12.



202

Item 12.



203

Item 12.



204

Item 12.



205

Item 12.



206

Item 12.



207

Item 12.



208

Item 12.



209

Item 12.



210

Item 12.



211

Item 12.



212

Item 12.



213

Item 12.



214

Item 12.



215

Item 12.



216

Item 12.



217

Item 12.



218

Item 12.



219

Item 12.



220

Item 12.



221

Item 12.



222

Item 12.



223

Item 12.



224

Item 12.



225

Item 12.



226

Item 12.



227

Item 12.



228

Item 12.



229

Item 12.



230

Item 12.



231

Item 12.



232

Item 12.



233

Item 12.



234

Item 12.



235

Item 12.



236

Item 12.



237

Item 12.



238

Item 12.



239

Item 12.



240

Item 12.



241

Item 12.



242

Item 12.



243

Item 12.



244

Item 12.



245

Item 12.



246

Item 12.



247

Item 12.



248

Item 12.



249

Item 12.



250

Item 12.



251

Item 12.



252

Item 12.



253

Item 12.



254

Item 12.



255

Item 12.



256

Item 12.



257

Item 12.



258

Item 12.



259

Item 12.



260

Item 12.



261

Item 12.



262

Item 12.



263

Item 12.



264

Item 12.



265

Item 12.



266

Item 12.



267

Item 12.



268

Item 12.



269

Item 12.



270

Item 12.



271

Item 12.



272

Item 12.



273

Item 12.



274

Item 12.



275

Item 12.



276

Item 12.



277

Item 12.



278

Item 12.



279

Item 12.



280

Item 12.



281

Item 12.



282

Item 12.



283

Item 12.



284

Item 12.



285

Item 12.



286

Item 12.



287

Item 12.



288

Item 12.



289

Item 12.



290

Item 12.



291

Item 12.



292

Item 12.



293

Item 12.



294

Item 12.



295

Item 12.



296

Item 12.



297

Item 12.



298

Item 12.



299

Item 12.



300

Item 12.



301

Item 12.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

 DATE: December 13, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Façade and signage updates in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Request to approve College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District design review 
application for exterior remodel work at 2019 College Street (#DR21-009) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Owner: Kwik Trip 

LOCATION: 2019 College Street 
 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
This request involves a proposal for site redevelopment /exterior remodels at 2019 College 
Street. The applicant is proposing to update exterior façade elements, including updating the 
gas canopy, and signage. The property is located in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
Zoning District and a review by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council is 
required for making substantial improvements on the property in the district. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
District was established for the 
preservation of neighborhood character 
and the stabilization of its neighborhoods 
after a long history of changes and 
updates to properties that typically 
increased occupancies and detracted from 
the original intent of those properties and 
neighborhoods. This trend and the 
establishment of the Overlay called for 
more scrutiny when reviewing changes 
that may affect the character of the 
neighborhood. See the location map on 
the side for reference, the highlighted 
property in yellow boundary is the project 
site in discussion. 

302

Item 13.



The subject property is located within the C-3, Commercial Zoning and the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District (Section 26-181). The Overlay Zoning District intends to 
develop business district and residential districts in an orderly manner and one that 
complements the University of Northern Iowa campus, promotes community vitality and safety. 
As per code, modification of the exterior appearance of the structure, façade improvements, 
changes, routine repair and replacement of existing siding, new signage, etc. are termed as a 
substantial improvement. A substantial improvement requires review and approval by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council. The criterion listed in the Overlay 
requires that the following be considered in this design review: neighborhood character, building 
materials, façade details, renderings, signage and other provisions as applicable in the code. 
 
The subject property has been a gas station since 1994 and will continue being operational as a 
gas station, which is an allowed use as per zoning district, no new use is being proposed. The 
petitioner/owner of the property at 2019 College Street is proposing to upgrade exterior finishes 
at this location including updating the building façade, replacing fascia, gutters, soffits, updating 
gas canopy with new signage, updating fuel dispensers color, etc. to align the store’s looks with 
older legacy store’s looks and the goal of the franchise.  
 
The city staff notes that the focus for this case is to review the proposed building design updates 
including façade changes, canopy signage and preservation of neighborhood character aspect 
of design review. A façade renovation or substantial improvements that substantially alter the 
exterior appearance or character of the structure shall require review and approval by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
With the submitted design review application, the applicant is planning to make the following 
updates on the property: 

 Remove the White Vinyl Siding and Red Brick Wainscot and replace it with a brick 
product on the front, visible sides and corners of the store. And the non-visible/backside 
of the building will be turned into a burgundy vinyl siding. 

 Visible gables will be replaced with stucco in a tan finish. 

 Replace the fascia, gutters, and soffit on the store. 

 Upgrade soffit lighting with LED fixtures. 

 Gas canopy is proposed to have new tan metal fascia panels and red LED stripe installed 
on it. 

 New gas canopy sign and lighting. 

 Fuel dispensers will also get new a look with a new red wrap on it. 
 
Above listed changes are proposed as it is desired with upper management of “Kwik Trip” to 
align older legacy stores look with that of new/remodeled stores. The illustrations below would 
be useful to analyze existing and proposed scenarios for the project. With the nature of the 
proposed project, the following areas of design review sections were analyzed: 
 
 

303

Item 13.



Architectural Character: 
The architectural character of the building or materials and textures on the buildings are 
compatible with those of primary design elements on site. Brick façade is proposed on three 
sides of the building and the backside of the building will have burgundy vinyl siding. Visible 
gables on the building will be replaced with stucco in a tan finish to complement the overall look 
of the building. As per the proposal, the roof is not being altered or refinished but the fascia, 
gutters and soffits will be replaced with new ones. Overall, the proposed ideas will enhance the 
look of the overall site and also enhance the character of the building and will be an 
improvement in quality of existing materials. 
 
Building entrances: 
As per the proposal, no new building entries or site entries are being proposed; the idea is to 
use the existing building and site entries as is. However, the main entrance of the building is 
being enhanced with visible gables which will be replaced with stucco in a tan finish. Staff finds 
that the proposed design will enhance the building entry on-site. 
 
Building Scale: 
Building scale is not changing as the proposal is about updating the existing façade elements of 
the building with a newer material pallet and not altering the building footprint. The proposed 
design does have variations in architectural details, materials and texture, which will be an 
update to the existing vinyl siding building. Staff finds that the proposed variation will align with 
the character of buildings in immediate surroundings and will improve the character of the 
neighborhood.  
 
Building Materials: 
For commercial and mixed-use buildings, street-facing facades shall be comprised of at least 30 
percent brick, stone or terra cotta. On street-facing facades, a minimum of 70 percent of the 
ground floor between two and ten feet in height above the ground level shall consist of clear and 
transparent storefront windows.  
 
The proposed design does have a majority brick finish on the street-facing façade and the side 
facades to enhance the overall look of the building. With proposed changes in building 
materials, the applicant will be bringing building closer to compliance, as the applicant is not 
proposing to add storefront windows which still remain non-compliant with code. Staff finds that 

Existing  

304

Item 13.



the proposal does not include any building alteration but more of updating façade materials, 
therefore finds the proposal to be more reasonable. The applicant has managed to update the 
existing façade with a brick finish on three visible sides of the building, wherein a brick finish 
does wrap around the corners to the alternate material side of the building as stated in the code. 
Overall, staff finds that proposed building material finishes will enhance the overall look of the 
building, bring building closer to compliance and improve the character of the area. 
 
Gas Canopy and Canopy Sign: 
Part of proposal includes updating existing canopy siding with red and blue vinyl stripes with 
new tan metal fascia panels and red LED stripe for branding purposes. The new 8 inches LED 
strip and channel letters will be lighted. City staff finds that the proposed red LED strip in the 
periphery of the gas canopy would be a nuisance for surrounding residents, as most of the 
adjacent areas are residential in nature and the area east of the site along College Street has 
residential units above commercial storefronts on the main level that would be directly affected 
by the LED lighting. City staff finds that the proposed look is more appropriate for highway or 
peripheral areas of the city and is not appropriate within a neighborhood context. Staff suggests 
finding alternatives such as adding a red band with no illumination which would respect the new 
branding and character of the College Hill Neighborhood without the nuisance effect. The 
proposal also includes updating new red wrap on fuel dispensers that would match the new 
theme of the store/franchise, which would be a good way to enhance the site. 
 

 
Image to left shows the impression of 
the gas canopy in the nighttime. The 
picture depicts that the Red LED strip 
on the gas canopy might create 
nuisance if the site is surrounded by 
residential uses like College Hill 
Neighborhood. Generally, gas 
canopies tend to be overly lit, as the 
intent is to get a customer from a 
distant. With addition of LED strip on 
gas canopy will further lead to more 
lighting on site creating nuisance.  

 

305

Item 13.



Also sign code states that the sign should be located in a manner that it is downcast on site and 
is not illuminating towards neighboring properties. 
 
Overall, staff finds that the improvements proposed would enhance the overall look of the site 
but the LED strip on the gas canopy needs to be replaced with a red vinyl band or red color 
band without any illumination to preserve the character of the College Hill Neighborhood and 
more importantly to prevent nuisance light. City staff notes that separate sign permits will be 
required to review and approve gas canopy signage.  
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
Notification of this case was sent to adjacent property owners on 12/01/2021. Staff suggests 
finding non-illuminating alternatives to Red LED strip on the gas canopy to preserve the 
character of the neighborhood. Staff notes that the applicant will have to apply for required 
building permit and sign permit to make necessary changes as per the proposal on site. Permits 
will be approved and released, once we get approval from both Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted design review 
application as per staff’s recommendation at their regular meeting on 8th December 2021 with a 
vote of 7 ayes and 0 nays. The staff also recommends approval of the submitted College Hill 
Neighborhood application for updating façade materials, gas canopy and signage for Kwik trip at 
2019 College Street provided that the LED light strip is removed from the design of the canopy. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
12/8/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that it is proposed to update the exterior appearance, 
replace fascia, gutters and soffit on the store, upgrade the lighting, updating the 
canopy and changing the fuel dispenser color. Staff finds that that the upgrades with 
enhance the look of the site and enhance the character of the neighborhood, but 
have some concerns with the gas canopy lighting. Staff recommends finding non-
illuminating alternatives that is downcast on the site and not illuminate toward 
neighborhood properties. Staff recommends approval of the project with the 
stipulation that the LED light strip is removed from the design of the canopy. Mr. 
Atodaria noted that a letter was received from the College Hill Partnership that has 
been passed on to the Commission. The applicant was available via Zoom to 
answer any questions. 

Mr. Larson moved to approve the item as submitted without a change to the lighting 
on the canopy. Mr. Hartley seconded the motion. Mr. Larson stated that the picture 
that was referenced with the red light was from the Kwik Star near Greenhill Road. 
He feels that the neighborhoods are similar and the lighting at that location does not 
appear to be an issue. Ms. Howard explained that the homes on College Hill are 
much closer to the residential buildings than at the Greenhill Road location. She 
explained that leaving the lighting would create nuisance issues down the road. 

The motion was denied with 2 ayes (Hartley and Larson), and 5 nays (Crisman, 
Grybovych, Leeper, Lynch and Moser). 

Ms. Lynch moved to approve the item as submitted with no canopy lighting. Ms. 
Crisman seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 7 ayes 
(Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, Larson, Leeper, Lynch and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 

306

Item 13.



Attachments: 
Existing Building design elements 
Proposed building design elements 
Letter of Intent 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

307

Item 13.



Dry

Run Creek (Univ )

University of
Northern Iowa

Floral Ct

W 22nd St

W 21st St

Oli
ve 

St

Me
rne

r A
ve

W 20th St

W 23rd St

Co
lleg

e S
t

R-3

C-3

R-4

R-4
R-2R-2

P

R-3

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
December 8, 2021

College Hill Design Review for
Kwik Trip
2019 College St (DR21-009)

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

308

Item 13.



309

Item 13.



310

Item 13.



311

Item 13.



312

Item 13.



313

Item 13.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: December 13, 2021 

 SUBJECT: EDA Grant Application–Cedar River Recreation Project 

 
 
A Riverfront Master Plan was developed in 2017 for the area between Center Street 
and 1St Street. The Cedar River Recreation Project is the first step in the realization of 
the Master Plan.  During 2021, the City has secured several grants to support the cost 
of the project.  Construction costs are higher than originally anticipated; therefore, 
Council indicated support for staff to prepare a grant application to the Economic 
Development Administration (EDA) under a new program: American Rescue Plan Act 
Travel, Tourism, and Outdoor Recreation Grant. 
 
The grant request includes in-stream and on-bank improvements to the river beginning 
at the Main Street Bridge and continuing downstream south of the 1St Street Bridge. A 
significant in-stream safety improvement is the removal of broken concrete and steel 
rebar, remnants of a low-head dam, at the Clay Hole near Gateway Park. The 
remaining concrete portion of the dam will be repurposed into a jetty/deflector to divide 
the stream flow into three “channels” to allow recreation areas for people of different 
skill levels to float through and to park and play.  Other in-stream improvements include 
six jetties on each side of the river which will create waves for recreation and pools for 
play. There will be “put ins” on both sides of the river south of the Main Street Bridge 
and corresponding “take outs” south of the 1st Street Bridge.    
 
On-bank improvements will include terraces constructed with boulders to stabilize the 
riverbanks and provide path and trail connections from Peter Melendy and Gateway 
Parks.  On the Gateway Park side of the River is a River Art Plaza designed to be a 
place to watch activities and offer an educational experience by showing how the 
stream channel was formed and the connection Cedar Falls has to communities up and 
down the river. In addition, this area will explain the river ecology and its role in the 
history of human, plant and animal development.   

314

Item 14.



 
The total project funding is anticipated to be $5,250,000.  This includes the design and 
construction observation fees as well as funding for recommended maintenance after 
the project has been completed for one year.  The construction portion of the budget 
would be $4,831,450, increasing the original construction budget by $1,131,450.  The 
sources of funding for this project are outlined below and proposed in the FY22-FY27 
Capital Improvements Plan:   

Gen. Obligation Bond     $525,000 
Emergency Reserve  $1,000,000 
Federal/State Grants  $1,725,000 
Private         $500,000 
Black Hawk County Gaming $1,500,000 

 
In order to submit the grant, several approvals are needed to submit with the grant.  The 
EDA staff has encouraged we submit by December 31st.  We would anticipate a 
notification of intent to award by February 2022.  Staff recommends submitting a 
request for $1,500,000 in grant funding through the American Rescue Plan Act Travel, 
Tourism, and Outdoor Recreation Grant Program.  If awarded, the City intends to utilize 
INRCOG to help meet all federal requirements during construction.  Staff recommends 
approval of resolutions for the following items related to the grant application: 

1. Support of submitting the application for the EDA grant. 
2. Financial assurances for the project. 
3. Support for a memorandum of understanding that Cedar Falls plans to work with 

Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration of 
the grant, if received. 

 
 
 
Exhibits:  Plan Overview 
 River Art Plaza Elevation 
 River Art Plaza Birds Eye View 
   

  
xc: Thomas Weintraut, Planner III 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

315

Item 14.



316

Item 14.



317

Item 14.



318

Item 14.



RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING AN APPLICATION TO THE U.S. 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION 

(EDA) FOR A FY2021 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION 
AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT TRAVEL, TOURISM AND OUTDOOR RECREATION 

FUNDING OPPORTUNITY RELATIVE TO THE CEDAR RIVER RECREATIONAL RIVER 
AREA AND RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT; AND DESIGNATING THE 

MAYOR AS THE OFFICIAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY AND AUTHORIZING THE 
MAYOR TO SIGN SAID APPLICATION AND CERTAIN ASSURANCES IN 

CONJUNCTION WITH SAME 
 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, to avail itself of financial assistance through the U.S. Department of Commerce, 
Economic Development Administration (EDA), specific to assist communities in recovery 
from the coronavirus pandemic’s negative impact on the travel, tourism, and outdoor 
recreation sectors, under the FY2021 EDA American Rescue Plan Act Travel, Tourism, and 
Outdoor Recreation Notice of Funding Opportunity; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is seeking assistance for a Cedar River 
Recreational River Area and Riverbank Improvements Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the FY2021 EDA American Rescue Plan Act Travel, Tourism, and 
Outdoor Recreation Notice of Funding Opportunity addresses the needs of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, and said Project. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, as follows: 
 

1. That the U.S. Department of Commerce, Economic Development 
Administration (EDA) application is hereby approved. 

 
2. That the Mayor is hereby designated as the official representative of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and is further hereby directed and authorized to sign 
said Application and certain assurances in conjunction with same. 

 
 ADOPTED this 20th day of December, 2021. 
 
 
       ___________________________  
                  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
               
________________________________               
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

319

Item 14.



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING COMMITMENT OF LOCAL FUNDING, IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH A U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION (EDA) DISASTER RECOVERY GRANT 

 RELATIVE TO INSTREAM AND UPLAND IMPROVEMENTS OF PHASE 1 OF THE 
CEDAR RIVER RECREATIONAL RIVER AREA AND 

RIVERBANK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the total estimated cost of the construction project is $4,831,450 to 
complete instream and upland improvements for Phase 1 of the Cedar River 
Recreational River Area and Riverbank Improvements Project; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is applying for $1,500,000 in Economic 
Development Administration funding assistance for this particular disaster project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and its partners, will match the EDA 
request with $3,331,450 in local funds; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said disaster recovery funds are part of a specific disaster grant to 
assist communities in recovery from the coronavirus pandemic’s negative impact on the 
travel, tourism, and outdoor recreation sectors, under the FY 2021 EDA American 
Rescue Plan Act Travel, Tourism, and Outdoor Recreation Notice of Funding 
Opportunity. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, that $3,331,450 of local funding is hereby approved and committed toward 
this project. 
 
 ADOPTED this 20th day of December, 2021. 
 
 
       ___________________________  
                  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
               
_______________________________               
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

320

Item 15.



RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH THE IOWA NORTHLAND REGIONAL 
COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (INRCOG) FOR THE ADMINISTRATION OF A U.S. 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION 

(EDA) DISASTER RECOVERY GRANT 
 

 
 WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls City Council, desires to make an application to the 
U.S. Department of Commerce, Economic Development Administration (EDA), under the 
FY 2021 EDA American Rescue Plan Act Travel, Tourism, and Outdoor Recreation 
Notice of Funding Opportunity to assist communities in recovery from the coronavirus 
pandemic’s negative impact on the travel, tourism, and outdoor recreation sectors, and  
 
 WHEREAS, one of the provisions of the Grant calls for proven ability to deal with 
the administration of the rules and regulations, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) has 
the personnel and experience working with the EDA grant programs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls City Council deems it in the best interest of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the Iowa 
Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration of the U.S. 
Department of Commerce, Economic Development (EDA) Disaster Recovery Grant, 
subject to being awarded said grant. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Cedar Falls City Council, Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, that said Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the Iowa Northland 
Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) is hereby approved and the Mayor and City 
Clerk are hereby authorized to execute said Memorandum of Understanding on behalf of 
the City of Cedar Falls.  
 
 ADOPTED this 20th day of December, 2021. 
 
 
       ___________________________  
                  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
               
_______________________________               
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

321

Item 16.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: December 10, 2021 

 SUBJECT: FEMA Grant Application-Building Resilient Infrastructure and   
  Communities 
 
 
FEMA recently announced the availability of grants through the Building Resilient 
Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC) grant program.  The program seeks to fund 
research-supported, proactive investment in community resilience.  They offer two types 
of grants: scoping (studies and planning) and mitigation projects (infrastructure).   
 
The City added drainage studies to the Capital Improvements Plan in 2018.  The 
description is as follows: “This project analyzes drainage patterns and issues in 
subwatersheds within Cedar Falls.  The study would identify improvements needed that 
can then be done in conjunction with the Annual Pavement Management Program or as 
separate projects, as appropriate.”  Our current CIP identifies $75,000 every other year 
for this activity.  Such studies fit with the BRIC “scoping” funding.  Therefore, staff 
wishes to submit a request for $340,000 in BRIC grant funds to support a stormwater 
master plan for a portion of the city.  The total project cost would be $400,000, utilizing 
$60,000 of City funds.  Obtaining this grant would allow us to study a larger area than 
what we would have available on our own, through the CIP.  A consultant would be 
hired to complete this subwatershed stormwater master plan.  The master plan would 
use a Rain-on-Grid Analysis combined with storm sewer modeling software to identify 
and prioritize drainage problems. It will show a proposed storm sewer network that will 
be used to determine where new storm sewer is needed and proper upsizing of existing 
storm sewer. The master plan will also identify other solutions such as detention areas, 
channel improvements, regrading, etc. These improvements will be broken down into a 
chronological (downstream to upstream) list of projects that can be incorporated into 
street reconstruction projects or be stand-alone projects themselves, as conditions 
warrant. Each project will have a construction cost estimate. This stormwater master 
plan will then be used to identify storm water projects for the Capital Improvements Plan 
each year. 

322

Item 17.



 
City staff and INRCOG are working on details for the application.  The study area 
anticipated is 1st Street  to Dry Run Creek University Branch (north to south) and Cedar 
River/Dry Run Creek to Hudson Road (east to west), approximately 1.7 square miles.  
This is an area of high need, having limited storm sewer and susceptibility to flash 
flooding.  The deadline to submit to FEMA is the end of January, but Iowa Homeland 
Security & Emergency Management recommends submitting a few weeks prior to that. 
 
In order to submit the grant, several approvals are needed.  Staff recommends approval 
of resolutions for the following items: 

1. Council designation of authorized representative. 
2. Support of submitting the application for the BRIC grant. 
3. Support on the required local match (15% of the total project). 
4. Support for a memorandum of understanding that Cedar Falls plans to work with 

Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration of 
the grant, if received. 

 

 
Attachments:  Map of Stormwater Master Plan Area 
 
Xc:   Luke Andreason, PE, Principal Engineer 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

323

Item 17.



Source: Esri, Maxar, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN,
and the GIS User Community

Priority Area for Stormwater Master Plan Storm Sewer Modeling

Dry Run Creek
(University Branch)

Hudson Road

1st Street

324

Item 17.

AndreasenL
Text Box
18th Street

AndreasenL
Text Box
Waterloo Road

AndreasenL
Text Box
Main Street

AndreasenL
Text Box
Cedar River

AndreasenL
Text Box
University of Northern Iowa



this mitigation project and to file it with 

20 , 20____.

 

Attested:

STATE OF IOWA
DESIGNATION OF APPLICANT'S AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Stephanie Houk Sheetz is hereby authorized to execute on behalf of

(Name of Representative)

City of Cedar Falls

(Applicant Entity)

Iowa Homeland Security and Emergency Management (HSEMD) for the purpose of obtaining 

financial assistance under the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act 

(PL 93-288, as amended) and the Code of Iowa, Chapter 29c.

Signed this Day Of December

 

Chief Executive Officer
(Print Name and Title)

 
(Signature)

Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community 

Development

Applicant's Authorized Representative

(Print Name and Title)

 
(Signature)

 Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk

 (Print Name and Title)

  

 (Signature)

  

General Project ApplicationDesignation of Applicant's Authorized Representative (10-11-10) Tab F, Page 1
325

Item 17.



RESOLUTION NUMBER ____ 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA APPROVING A 
IOWA HOMELAND SECURITY & EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT (HSEMD), UNDER 
THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANANGEMENT AGENCY (FEMA), BRIC PROJECT 

SCOPING APPLICATION; DESIGNATING THE MAYOR AS THE OFFICIAL 
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO AFFIX HIS 

SIGNATURE TO SAID APPLICATION AND CERTAIN ASSURANCES IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH SAME. 

 
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
to avail itself of financial assistance through the US Department of Federal Emergency 
Management Agency, specific to assisting in activities creating resilient communities 
and improving hazard mitigation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City is seeking assistance for a study on stormwater improvements; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the FEMA BRIC Scoping Grant application addresses the needs of the 
City; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, as follows: 
 

1. The Iowa Homeland Security & Emergency, through the US Department 
of Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) BRIC scoping 
application is hereby approved. 

 
2. The Mayor is hereby designated as the official representative of the City 

and is further hereby directed and authorized to affix his signature to said 
application and certain assurances in conjunction with same. 

 
Passed and adopted this 20th day of December, 2021. 
 
 
 
       ________________________                         
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________                                                        
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

326

Item 17.



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING COMMITMENT OF LOCAL FUNDING, IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH A U.S. FEDERAL EMERGENCEY MANAGEMENT AGENCY 
(FEMA) BUILDING RESILIENT INFRASTRUCTURE AND COMMUNITIES (BRIC) 

SCOPING PROJECT RELATIVE TO A STORMWATER MASTER PLAN 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the total cost of the project is $400,000 for a stormwater 
improvement study; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is applying for $340,000 in Building 
Resilient Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC) Scoping Project funding assistance for 
this project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, will match the request with $60,000 in 
local funds; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said program funds are part of the Building Resilient Infrastructure 
and Communities (BRIC) funds provided to the State of Iowa by the U.S. Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA); and 
 
 WHEREAS, this project was identified as part of a local needs assessment. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, that $60,000 of local funding is hereby approved and committed toward this 
project. 
 
 ADOPTED this 20th day of December, 2021 
 
 
 
       ________________________                                     
       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________                                                            
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
    
 
 

327

Item 18.



RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH THE IOWA NORTHLAND REGIONAL 

COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (INRCOG) FOR ADMINISTRATION OF AN 
IOWA HOMELAND SECURITY & EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT (HSEMD), 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY (FEMA), 
BUILDING RESILIENT INFRASTRUCTURE AND COMMUNITIES (BRIC) SCOPING 

PROJECT GRANT 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls City Council, desires to make an application to the 
U.S. Department of Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), through Iowa 
Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management (HSEMD), specific to 
assisting in activities creating resilient communities and improving hazard mitigation, 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, one of the provisions of the Grant calls for proven ability to deal with 
the administration of the rules and regulations, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) has 
the personnel and experience working with FEMA grant programs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls City Council deems it in the best interest of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the Iowa 
Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration of an Iowa 
Homeland Security & Emergency Management (HSEMD), U.S. Department of Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), Building Resilient Infrastructure and 
Communities (BRIC) Scoping Project, subject to being awarded said grant. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Cedar Falls City Council, Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, that said Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the Iowa Northland 
Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) is hereby approved and the Mayor and City 
Clerk are hereby authorized to execute said Memorandum of Understanding on behalf of 
the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
 ADOPTED this 20th day of December, 2021. 
 
 
       ___________________________  
                  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
               
_________________________________               
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

328

Item 19.



329

Item 20.



330

Item 20.



331

Item 20.



332

Item 20.



333

Item 20.



334

Item 20.



335

Item 20.



336

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: December 14, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2020 Seal Coat Project 
   City Project Number: SC-000-3234 
   Project Final Out 
 
The 2020 Seal Coat Project is completed and ready for final acceptance. This project 
involved seal coating 10 street sections and 1 alley, covering 61,481.8 S.Y.; and 
29,460.4 S.Y. at multiple single lane drives within 3 cemeteries and 8 parking lots.  
Work included proper surface preparation and proper placement and compaction of the 
surface. This project was under contract with ASTECH Corp. of St. Cloud, Minnesota. 
Attached please find the following final documents: 
  -  Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
   -  Maintenance Bond, ASTECH Corp. 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Street Construction Fund (SCF) $120,064.54 

Street Repair Fund (LOST) $100,000.00 

Total Project Cost $220,064.54 

 
With Council approval, a transfer of funds from the following funding source to the 
Street Repair Fund will be made per Iowa Code 545-2.5.  
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Street Construction Fund (SCF) $120,064.54 

 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2020 Seal Coat Project were completed in 
reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
            Matthew Tolan   Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  

12/14/21 

337

Item 21.



PAY ESTIMATE NO. 2 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

DATE: November 19, 2020 PUBLIC WORKS

CONTRACT AMOUNT:  $219,995.82 ENGINEERING DIVISION

CONTRACTOR: Astech Corp. PAY ESTIMATE

CITY PROJECT NO. SC-000-3234 PROJECT NAME: SEAL COAT - 2020

UNITS

ITEM DESCRIPTION ESTIMATED INSTALLED UNIT EXTENDED         %

NO. QUANTITY UNIT TO DATE PRICE PRICE       COMPLETE

1 SURFACE PREPARATION 90,942.20 S.Y. 88,951.25 0.30 26,685.38 97.81

2 SEAL COAT 90,942.20 S.Y. 90,812.61 1.71 155,289.56 99.86

3 PAVEMENT MARKINGS, PAINTED 34.40 STA. 46.72 55.00 2,569.60 135.81

4 PAVEMENT MARKINGS, HANDICAPPED SYMBOL 2.00 EA. 4.00 30.00 120.00 200.00

5 PAVEMENT MARKINGS, RAILROAD CROSSING

SYMBOLS 1.00 EA. 1.00 250.00 250.00 100.00

6 MOBILIZATION 1.00 L.S. 1.00 20,000.00 20,000.00 100.00

7 TRAFFIC CONTROL 1.00 L.S. 1.00 15,000.00 15,000.00 100.00

TOTAL AMOUNT OF WORK TO DATE: 219,914.54 99.96

PREPAID INVENTORY VALUE:

(SEE ATTACHMENTS) 0.00

TOTAL PROJECT BID COST: 219,995.82$        

DEDUCT: (SEE EXPLANATION) 0.00

LESS RETAINED PERCENTAGE, 0.0%: 0.00

LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS 208,918.81

CHECKED BY: AMOUNT DUE THIS ESTIMATE: $10,995.73

SIGNED: DATE:

FOR: ASTECH CORP.

SIGNED: DATE:

FILE IN: G:\users\eng\projects\3234\03. Pay Estimates, CFU Invoices, Change Orders\PAY ESTIMATE\EST.2(A).xls

No Response by Contractor

11/16/2021

338

Item 21.



339

Item 21.



340

Item 21.



341

Item 21.



342

Item 21.



343

Item 21.



344

Item 21.



345

Item 21.



346

Item 21.



347

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: December 14, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Seal Coat Project 
   City Project Number: SC-000-3272 
   Project Final Out 
 
The 2021 Seal Coat Project is completed and ready for final acceptance. This project 
involved seal coating 13 street sections, covering 29,018 S.Y.; and 24,391 S.Y. at 
multiple single lane drives within 3 cemeteries and 7 parking lots.  Work included proper 
surface preparation and proper placement and compaction of the surface. This project 
was under contract with Blacktop Service Company of Allison, Iowa. Attached please 
find the following final documents: 
  -  Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
   -  Maintenance Bond, Blacktop Service Company 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Street Construction Fund (SCF) $64,682.31 

Street Repair Fund (LOST) $100,000.00 

Total Project Cost $164,682.31 

 
With Council approval, a transfer of funds from the following funding source to the 
Street Repair Fund will be made per Iowa Code 545-2.5.  
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Street Construction Fund (SCF) $64,682.31 

 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2021 Seal Coat Project were completed in 
reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
            Matthew Tolan   Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
 

12/14/21 

348

Item 22.



349

Item 22.



350

Item 22.



351

Item 22.



352

Item 22.



353

Item 22.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: December 13, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Greenhill Road and South Main Street Intersection Improvement Project 
  Project No. RC-173-3228 
  Contract Documents 
 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract, the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds, Certificates of Insurance, and Form of Proposal with Peterson 
Contractors, Inc. for the construction of the Greenhill Road and South Main Street 
Intersection Improvement Project. 
 
This project generally consists of improvements to the S Main St. and Greenhill Road 
intersection in the form of a newly constructed roundabout in place of the existing traffic 
signal. This will include 10555 sy of new pavement, 350 sy of sidewalk/trail, retaining 
wall and fencing, 1156 lf of storm sewer, 1340 lf of water main, landscaping, and 
roadway lighting.  
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $3,347,400.00. The project 
will be funded utilizing General Obligation funds, Local Option Sales Tax, Traffic Safety 
Improvement Funding (State Funds), and Cedar Falls Utilities funding sources.  
 

 
 
 

xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

354

Item 23.



355

Item 23.



356

Item 23.



357

Item 23.



358

Item 23.



359

Item 23.



360

Item 23.



361

Item 23.



362

Item 23.



363

Item 23.



364

Item 23.



365

Item 23.



366

Item 23.



367

Item 23.



368

Item 23.



369

Item 23.



370

Item 23.



371

Item 23.



372

Item 23.



373

Item 23.



374

Item 23.



375

Item 23.



376

Item 23.



377

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: December 13th, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Greenhill Road & South Main Street Intersection Improvements  
  City Project Number RC-173-3228 
  Temporary Easement 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning construct a roundabout at the intersection of 
Greenhill Road & South Main Street including new pavement, sidewalk/trail, retaining 
wall and fencing, storm sewer, watermain, landscaping, and roadway lighting.  The 
project will require the acquisition of temporary and permanent easements from four (4) 
properties to complete construction. The owners of three of the properties have 
accepted our offer and received approval from City council for the easements and 
acquisitions upon their properties, with the fourth property now submitting 
documentation for the temporary easement required on their property. 
 
Parcel # Owner Address/Parcel ID Acquisition Type 

3 Fareway Stores, Inc. 8914-25-202-006 Temporary Easement 

 
Attached is a map that identifies the location of this property.  
 
The City will use General Obligation Funds for the design and right of way portion of this 
project. The City entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Shive-Hattery, 
Inc., of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, on March 16, 2020 for property acquisition and design 
services. Funds for this project are identified in the Cedar Falls Capital Improvements 
Program in FY21, FY22 and FY23 under item number 122. If approved, the City 
Attorney will prepare the necessary closing documents and staff will complete the 
acquisition process for these parcels. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution 
approving the acquisition and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreements for the 
Greenhill Road & South Main Street Intersection Improvements project. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

378

Item 24.



SESMA,LILLIAN JEAN

113 BALBOA AVE

891425126050

MIKLO,ERIC J

119  BALBOA AVE

891425126003

SESMA,LILLIAN JEAN &
KALKWARF,MORGAN J

125 BALBOA AVE

891425126004

SUND,DAVID W &
SUND,PENNY S

201 BALBOA AVE

891425126005

GREEN,JANET W &
OSTBY,RANDY R

207 BALBOA AVE

891425126006

TREMBLY,SCOTT E JR &
TREMBLY,MEGAN R

213 BALBOA AVE

891425126007

FOSTER,RICHARD L

221 BALBOA AVE

891425126008

HETH,GARY L &
HETH,JANICE E

227 BALBOA AVE

891425126009

SCHICK,TROY &
SCHICK,JULIE

303 BALBOA AVE

891425126010

108 A BALBOA AVE

891425127000

108 B BALBOA AVE

891425127000

108 C BALBOA AVE

120 A BALBOA AVE

891425127000

FAREWAY STORES INC

4500 S MAIN ST

891425202006 FAREWAY STORES INC

4500 S MAIN ST

891425202006

4515 CONEFLOWER PKWY

891425202008

WILSON,GARY L &WILSON,JILL S

4319 S MAIN ST

891424376012

TILKES,ANDREW M

891424376017

TILKES,ANDREW M

4309 S MAIN ST

891424376011

KELLY,STEVEN E

223 SPRUCE HILLS DR

891424455027

WAGNER,MICHAEL D TRUST &
WAGNER,COLEEN M TRUST

217 SPRUCE HILLS DR

891424451020

SCHMIDT,KENT J &
SCHMIDT,MELISSA L

211 SPRUCE HILLS DR

891424451019

ANHALT,JOSEPH L &
ANHALT,KRISTI K

205 SPRUCE HILLS DR

891424451018

FAUCHER,ADAM &
ANDERSON,CHELSEA L
201 SPRUCE HILLS DR
891424451017

MC CORMACK,GARY A TRUST &
MC CORMACK,LINDA K TRUST
123 SPRUCE HILLS DR
891424451016

WHEATON,MICHAEL W
119 SPRUCE HILLS DR
891424451021

MC ELHOSE,BRIAN K &
MC ELHOSE,MELANIE J
4309 SPRUCE HILLS DR
891424451014

FERGUSON,STEVEN R &
FERGUSON,SANDRA E
4303 SPRUCE HILLS DR
891424451013

RINEHART,RONALD W &
RINEHART,REBECCA W
4227 SPRUCE HILLS DR
891424451012

SESMA,LILLIAN JEAN

891425126068

106+00 107+00 108+00
109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00

113+00

114+00

115+00

116+00

117+00

118+00

119+00

20
5+

00
20

6+
00

20
7+

00
20

8+
00

20
9+

00
21

0+
00

21
1+

00
21

2+
00

SCALE

EXHIBIT:  

GREENHILL ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
FROM S MAIN STREET TO CONEFLOWER PKWY

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
06/11/2020

RIGHT OF WAY ACQUISITION

S.
 M

AI
N

 S
TR

EE
T

GREENHILL ROAD

BALBOA AVENUE

SPRUCE HILLS DRIVE

09/03/2020

LEGEND

PROPOSED PROPERTY
ACQUISITION (FEE TITLE)

PROPOSED TEMPORARY
CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

379

Item 24.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
60



380

Item 24.



381

Item 24.



382

Item 24.



383

Item 24.



384

Item 24.



385

Item 24.



386

Item 24.

claypoolb
Snapshot

claypoolb
Snapshot



387

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS – Engineering Division 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Luke Andreasen, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: December 7, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Various Intersection Improvements 
  Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
  City Project Number: TS-000-3294 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
which outlines the scope of services and costs for the Various Intersection Improvements 
which include four intersections: 
 

1. Prairie Parkway/Prairie View Road (Landscaping only) 
2. Prairie Parkway/Brandilynn Boulevard (Landscaping only) 
3. Prairie Parkway/Viking Road (Traffic signal or roundabout, median, shared use path 

extension) 
4. Hudson Road/Ridgway Avenue (Traffic signal)  

 
Snyder & Associates, Inc. was selected from the City’s list of qualified engineering 
consultants. The enclosed agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. provides for the 
design of the various intersection improvements. The fees of this agreement are based on 
hourly rates and fixed expenses and shall not to exceed the total amount of $376,800.  
 
This project currently programmed in the CIP for construction in FY 2023. The project is 
currently budgeted at $2,150,000. Programmed funds include Tax Increment Financing 
(Pinnacle Prairie and South Cedar Falls), Local Option Sales Tax, Street Construction 
Fund, and Private Contributions. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration and 
approval of this Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for the 
Various Intersection Improvements project. 
 
If you have any questions or comments, feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer  

388

Item 25.



 
 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

 

 
OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 
 

 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 

FAX 319-268-5197 
  

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 
319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 

 
Various Intersection Improvements 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number: TS-000-3294   

 
 
  
This Agreement is made and entered by and between Snyder & Associates, Inc., 5005 Bowling Street SW 
Suite A., Cedar Rapids, IA 52404, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 
Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no 
cost to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor 
and materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 
contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 

 

389

Item 25.



 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, require 
from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures equipment, 
materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such equipment, materials 
and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT to the full extent of the 
terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such equipment, and materials 
obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be limited to procuring 
guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all reasonable assistance to 
CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that any 
estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. CONSULTANT 
does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary from the opinions 
of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives any and all claims 
that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results 
of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised January 31, 2017 consisting of 11 pages, which 
are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set out word 
for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 
 
 
 
 

390

Item 25.



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
 
 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not 
to exceed a fee of Three hundred seventy-six thousand eight hundred dollars ($376,800). 

  
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may 
be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure 
by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating 
party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary 
default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be 
paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance 
with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of 
service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the Facilities. 
Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or depriving 
CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry out other 
projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or work are similar to 
the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall not be liable for 
any unauthorized reuse of modification of its work product. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than 

those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to 
the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of the potential 
degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between the sealed 
original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 

 
 
 
 

 

391

Item 25.



IX. MEANS AND METHODS 
 

(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures 
and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, in connection 
with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor shall 
CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction contractors, 
subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such contractors; 
or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by 
contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall not have the 
right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the CLIENT. In 
no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the construction 
work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under contracts with 
CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely responsible 
for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility and/or 
transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such 
waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s obligations or 
responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing 
contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required forms relating to 
regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, treatment, 
transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall 
notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to 
resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted 
for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration Association (or 
any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute to mediation can 

392

Item 25.



be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between receipt of notice and 
submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 percent by CONSULTANT 
and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall be a condition required 
before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the negotiations or the mediation 
either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a statute of limitations, and 
CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have to obtain security for the 
payment of its invoices. 

 
 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa and any action at law or other 

judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be instituted in Black Hawk County District Court, 
Waterloo, Iowa. 

 
XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes 

any oral or written representations, understandings, proposals, or communications 
heretofore entered into by or on account of the parties and may not be changed, modified, or 
amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. In the event of any conflict between 
this contract document and any of the exhibits hereto, the terms and conditions of Exhibit C 
shall control. In the event of any conflict among the exhibits, Exhibit C shall control. 

 
 (b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 (c) CONSULTANT may subcontract any portion of the Services to a subcontractor approved by 

CLIENT. In no case shall CLIENT's approval of any subcontract relieve CONSULTANT of 
any of its obligations under this Agreement.  

 
 (d) In the event CLIENT uses a purchase order form to administer this Agreement, the use of 

such form shall be for convenience purposes only, and any typed provision in conflict with 
the terms of this Agreement and all preprinted terms and conditions contained in or on such 
forms shall be deemed stricken and null and void. 

 
 (e) This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than CLIENT and CONSULTANT 

and does not create any third party beneficiaries to the Agreement. 
 

(f) Except as may be explicitly set forth above, nothing contained in this Agreement or its exhibits 
limits the rights and remedies, including remedies related to damages, of either party that are 
available to either party under the law. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 

 
 
By:  By:  
 
 
Printed Name:   Robert M. Green  Printed Name:    Lindsay Beaman              
 
 
Title:     Mayor of Cedar Falls  Title:       Business Unit Leader                        
 
 
Date:  Date:       December 7, 2021  

393

Item 25.

lbeaman
Image



Exhibit A 
 

Scope of Services 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number TS-000-3294 
 

 
Objective:  The CLIENT seeks to improve four different roadway intersections within Cedar Falls.  
 
Background:  The project consists of landscape/hardscape improvements within the currently grassed portion of 
the Prairie Parkway/Prairie View Road (INT-1) and Prairie Parkway/Brandilynn Boulevard (INT-2) roundabouts and 
implementing recommendations from traffic studies to upgrade the Prairie Parkway/Viking Road (INT-3) and 
Hudson Road/Ridgeway Avenue (INT-4) intersections. The general goal is to construct new traffic signals at INT-3 
and INT-4 along. The improvements are to be part of one (1) bid package. 
 
The Scope of Services to be performed by the Consultant shall include the design and/or construction services and 
supplies to complete the following tasks: 

 
1. Topographic Survey 
2. Landscape/hardscape improvements to the center of the existing grassed portion of the existing 

roundabouts at INT-1 and INT-2. INT-1 is to include a public art component for which a pedestal/foundation 
will be needed. INT-1 will require concept design coordination with Pinnacle Prairie Development and the 
Public Art Committee.  

3. Memo and/or Traffic Study for INT-3 and INT-4 
a) Benefit(Life Cycle)-cost analysis for roundabout vs. signal (INT-3) 
b) Memo or updated traffic study for INT-4 with recommended intersection improvements (INT-4) 

4. INT-3 Improvements 
a) Traffic Signals 
b) Lighting & electrical Improvements 
c) Sidewalk/Trail (8-feet wide) 
d) Viking Road median 
e) Westbound to southbound left turn lane 
f) Southbound to eastbound left turn lane 

5. INT-4 Improvements 
g) Traffic Signals 
h) Lighting & electrical Improvements 

6. Utility Coordination 
7. Geotechnical Investigation & Report (limited to INT-1) 
8. Right-of-way acquisition assistance 
9. Letting Assistance 
10. Construction Survey 
11. Limited Construction Services  

 

TASK A – CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 

1.0 Project Administration 
 

1.1 Monitoring Project Schedule 
The Consultant shall prepare and submit monthly email updates (1-page), outlining the following: activities 
during the reporting period, activities planned for the following month, problems encountered and 
recommended solutions, and overall project status.  If design work is not progressing in a manner to comply 

394

Item 25.



with the anticipated completion date, the Consultant shall provide a brief summary of the actions to be taken 
to reduce or eliminate any delays in completing the design in accordance with the agreed upon schedule.  The 
monthly update shall include a list of requested information from the CLIENT with a desired response date 
noted to avoid delay of the Consultant’s services. 
 

1.2 Monitoring Project Scope 
This includes task identification, scheduling, task assignment, relating all tasks to the others, and coordination 
with other members of the project team.  The Consultant shall inform the CLIENT of any services required 
which may not be included in the scope of the design services contract approved by the CLIENT for this Project.  
It will be the responsibility of the Consultant to make the CLIENT aware of any potential amendments to the 
contract before the services are rendered.  This notice must occur prior to any extra services being performed.  
Only those services approved by the CLIENT are eligible for compensation. 
 

1.3 Project Review Meetings 
The Consultant shall meet with the CLIENT or its designated representative to review progress and to discuss 
specific elements of the project design.  The meetings will also serve to establish schedules, develop project 
goals, establish design parameters, promote a dialog between the various entities, improve the decision-
making process, and expedite design development.  The consultant shall keep documentation of all 
communications. 
 
The following meetings are included with the scope of work (four total): 

1. Kickoff - one (1) meeting (virtual) (include Public Art Committee and Pinnacle Prairie Development) 
2. Public Art Meeting – one (1) meeting virtual (include Public Art Committee and Pinnacle Prairie 

Development) 
3. Concept and Traffic Study Phase - one (1) meeting (virtual) (include Public Art Committee and 

Pinnacle Prairie Development) 
4. Preliminary Design (50%) – one (1) meeting (in person) (include Public Art Committee and Pinnacle 

Prairie Development) 
5. Check Design (90%) - one (1) meeting (in person) (include Public Art Committee and Pinnacle Prairie 

Development) 
 
1.4 Quality Control Plan 

Establish review and checking procedures for project deliverables. Designate responsibility for implementation 
of the plan. 

 
1.5 Invoice Processing and Review 

Create, process, and review invoices to ensure they meet CLIENT standards and all necessary information is 
included. Coordinate with CLIENT staff as necessary and answer any questions. Verify percent work complete 
on project is in line with percent billed.  Includes all other general project administration necessary to complete 
the project. 

 

2.0 Communication Plan 
The Consultant will implement a Project Communication Plan. The Communication Plan will include public notices, 
one-on-one meetings and public meetings. 
 
2.1 Property Owner Coordination – Public Notices 

The following Public Notices are anticipated as part of this project: 
 

1. Open House Invitation letter 
2. Post Open House letter 

 
 

395

Item 25.



The Consultant shall prepare draft letters to be provided to the CLIENT for them to review, finalize, place on 
CLIENT letterhead and distribute. Property Owners will be encouraged to respond directly to the CLIENT with 
comments and concerns.  The Consultant shall assist in tracking public comments and incorporate suggestions 
into the project, as appropriate.   

 
2.2 Property Owner Coordination – Public Meeting 

The Consultant will attend two (2) public informational meeting open houses (one for INT-1 & INT-2 and one 
for INT-3 and INT-4).  The purpose of the meetings will be for the surrounding property owners/businesses, 
and stakeholders, to review project strip maps and/or exhibits of the proposed improvements and a discuss 
the planned improvements, as well as gather information on the concerns, priorities and specific issues of the 
adjacent property owners and other affected parties. The Consultant shall provide the following services for 
each of the public meetings: 
 

1. Participation in one (1) pre-planning meeting approximately one week prior to the public meeting. 
2. Preparation of 4-8 strip maps and/or exhibits showing the proposed improvements. 
3. Preparation of a Project Fact Sheet (if directed by the CLIENT). 
4. Attendance at and participation the meetings and discussion. 

 
2.3 One-on-One Meetings 

Consultant recognizes that multiple stakeholders will be involved in this project.  The CLIENT and Consultant 
will reach out to these stakeholders to identify and address their concerns, as well as encourage participation 
in open house events.  Due to the nature of the project, which may include, but is not limited to, impacts to 
trees, shrubs, and landscaping elements, on both private and public land; it is likely there will be a need to 
meet one-on-one with some of the affected parties outside of the public open houses.  On-Site meetings, 
phone/video conference, email, or a combination of the above will be conducted.   
 
The Consultant shall contact and meet with the various businesses, property owners, and stakeholders along 
the corridor that may be affected by the project.  We anticipate this list of stakeholders to include, but not be 
limited to: 
 

1. Deere & Company 
2. Iowa Department of Transportation 
3. Four additional miscellaneous stakeholders 

 
For budgeting purposes, one (1), 1-hr meetings with seven (7) property owners is included.  In the event that 
the CLIENT requests the Consultant to participate in one-on-one meetings that exceed the budget set aside for 
this task, the Consultant will submit a contract amendment authorizing participation in additional meetings. 

 
2.4 Project Website 

Consultant will develop, maintain and host a project website for posting general project information, public 
meeting and input information, frequently asked questions and the project schedule.  

 

TASK B – SURVEY, RIGHT-OF-WAY, GEOTECHNICAL & ENVIORNMENTAL SERVICES 
 

1.0 Design Surveys 
The Consultant shall perform field and office tasks required to collect topographic information deemed necessary to 
complete the project.  The CLIENT shall provide aerial photographic and other available mapping, including utilities, 
of the Project area.  The specific survey tasks to be performed include the following: 
 
1.1 Control Surveys 

The Consultant will establish horizontal and vertical control for the Project area.  Each permanent control point 
or benchmark shall have horizontal coordinates or elevation, and shall provide monument tie notes including 

396

Item 25.



monument descriptions.  Accurate descriptions of the horizontal control points and benchmarks will be created 
and recorded on the plan sheets.  Horizontal control shall be in state-plane coordinates and vertical control 
per USGS datum. Consultant shall provide sufficient control for construction.  If it is determined by the CLIENT 
that control is insufficient, the Consultant shall add control points. 

 
1.2 Topographic Survey 

The Consultant will perform topographic surveys required for the development of the project.  Topographic 
surveys are anticipated to require detailed elevation information for proper construction installation, including, 
those listed below. Note that if one of the listed items does not apply to all four of the project intersection only 
those for which that scope item apply are listed in parenthesis.  
 

1. Inside of the existing center of the roundabout behind the inner curb (INT-1 & INT-2) 
2. Viking Road south back of curb to 20-feet south of the south right-of-way line from INT-3 west to 

existing trail east of Saints Drive  
3. Full width of the Public right-of-way (INT-3 & INT-4) 
4. Private properties as determined by the consultant (INT-3 & INT-4) 
5. Vegetation 4” diameter and larger (INT-3 & INT-4) 
6. Utility appurtenances likely to be impacted by the project (INT-3 & INT-4) 

 
1.3 Utility Surveys 

Public and private utility facilities will be identified through the Iowa One Call process. The Consultant shall 
perform utility surveys required for the development of the project.  Establish coordinates and elevations (if 
possible) for utilities that fall within the limits of the project and are visible. 
 
This task consists of field survey indicating the location of utilities within the existing right-of-way for the 
project.  The Consultant shall field locate visible valves and utility access with in the project limits to accurately 
account for adjustment and/or replacement.  Underground utilities will be incorporated into the project 
through map requests to the utility companies and drawn into the design file. This work will be considered 
survey quality level “C”, per CI/ASCE 38-02.  Utilities include phone, gas, fiber optic, water main, 
overhead/underground electrical, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, and in-pavement traffic control equipment 
(including power poles, pedestals, valves and manholes). 
 
To minimize potholing needs (refer to 1.4), Consultant shall remove existing water main valve covers and 
measure from the surface to the valve stem to estimate water main depth. 

 
1.4 Subsurface Utility Investigation 

The Consultant shall attempt to locate critical utility locations to quality level “A”, per CI/ASCE 38-02, 

depending on utility company cooperation. These may include connection points, crossings, or other critical 

locations. Consultant shall utilize an outside sub-consultant to obtain critical locations using hydro-excavating 

(potholing). Traffic control and survey will be required to facilitate this task. The Scope includes eight (8) 

pothole locations to determine level “A” subsurface utility data. This does not allow for any traffic control 

drawings or dynamic messaging systems during potholing.  

1.5 Right-of-Way Surveys, Plats and Exhibits  

The Consultant shall determine the location of existing Right-of-Way (ROW) and identify property owners 
adjacent to the project.  This task consists of researching record documents at the City and County and locating 
existing monumentation (including, but not limited to, property pins, government corners, and other 
monuments) along the corridor. All found monuments shall be shown on the H sheets in contract drawings. 
The following lists estimated number of acquisition documents. Provide 3 signed copies of each. 
 

1. Right-of-way (fee title; plat signed by an LS) – 7 
2. Temporary easement (exhibit; no signature required) – 6 

397

Item 25.



 
The Consultant shall provide plats and/or exhibits and a Parcel Impact Detail (PID) sheet for each acquisition 
required.   
 
Plats showing individual right of way acquisitions shall comply with requirements of Iowa Code Section 354.4. 
Staking of proposed right-of-way and/or easements shall be provided for all said locations during the 
acquisition phase of the project. 
 
Utilize Iowa DOT-style symbols when preparing ROW and property boundary exhibits for use during design and 
easement acquisitions. 
 

2.0  Right-of-Way Services  
Consultant will provide State of Iowa licensed real estate agents who will negotiate and endeavor to acquire 
for the CLIENT all of the necessary easements and/or real property parcels needed for the Project.  Mary Ann 
Carnock and Brian DePrez are employees of Consultant, and are state of Iowa licensed real estate sales persons 
with SNYDER & ASSOCIATES RIGHT-OF-WAY SERVICES, LLC, Ankeny, Iowa, a State of Iowa licensed real estate 
broker and a wholly owned subsidiary of Consultant.  Mary Ann Carnock and Brian DePrez will be designated 
as “Appointed Agents” and will represent the CLIENT in a “Buyer Exclusive Agency” capacity in all matters 
pertaining to the negotiation and acquisition of easements and/or real property for said public improvement 
project.  CLIENT shall also be a CLIENT of Appointed Agent. 
 

CLIENT and Consultant acknowledge and agree that the Appointed Agents are required to adhere to Federal 
and State of Iowa statutes; the rules of the Supreme Court of Iowa as they may pertain to real estate agents; 
the rules and regulations promulgated by the Iowa Real Estate Commission; and, the Iowa Administrative Rules 
and regulations in regards to real estate agents’ conduct, responsibilities, and duties.  Said statutes, rules and 
regulations will supersede and be paramount to any provision contained herein, anything to the contrary 
notwithstanding. 
 
In regard to acquisitions, Professional will: 
 

1. Attend initial project meetings with the representatives of CLIENT to establish lines of communication 
regarding elements of the scope and schedule and to set property acquisition parameters for the 
Project;  

2. Complete a parcel file for each property involved with the Project in accordance with the needs of 
CLIENT and/or the Project requirements; 

3. Prepare legal descriptions and acquisition plats for each easement and/or fee title acquisition, if 
requested by CLIENT; 

4. Retain and coordinate the services of a licensed, certified appraiser (hereinafter referred to as 
“Appraiser”) who, subject to the approval of the CLIENT, will be a Subconsultant to PROFESSIONAL.  
The Appraiser or Broker will prepare appraisals, project data books and of brokers opinion of value, 
as needed.  The Appraisers’ work will be reviewed by a second party as approved by the CLIENT and 
as required by Local, State and /or Federal Right-of-Way acquisition procedures.  The Appraiser will 
prepare, sign and furnish to the PROFESSIONAL and CLIENT appraisal documentation following 
accepted appraisal principles and techniques in accordance with the Iowa DOT “Appraisal Policy & 
Procedures Manual”.  The CLIENT will review and forward written approval of all findings by the 
Appraiser; 

5. Retain and coordinate the services of an abstractor, who will be a Subconsultant to PROFESSIONAL, 
who will prepare Certificates of Title for parcels where fee title and permanent easements are 
required. 

6. Use acquisition forms and documents provided by CLIENT or prepare acquisition documents under 
the direction, review and approval of the CLIENT’s legal department.  Acquisition documents may 
include, but not be limited to: (1) Offer to Purchase, (2) 10 day-waiver, (3) real estate purchase 

398

Item 25.



agreement, (4) Easements, (5) Warranty Deed, (6) title clearing documents as directed by CLIENT’s 
attorney, and (7) release of tenant interest and leasehold claims; 

7. Make (through the Appointed Agent) personal and private contacts with each property owner and 
tenant (the Parties) or their representative to explain the effect of the acquisition, answer questions, 
present a written offer, and consider counter offers and to make approved offers for administrative 
settlements.  Non-resident property owners will be contacted by certified or registered mail or by 
U.P.S. 

8. Make a good faith effort to acquire the necessary property within 90 days after a written offer has 
been submitted to the owner and tenant.  Negotiations will be considered complete upon occurrence 
of one of the following: (1) the parties accept the offer, (2) the parties accept an administrative 
settlement, (3) the parties fail or refuse to accept the offer or administrative settlement, and/or (4) in 
the judgment of the PROFESSIONAL, negotiations have reached an impasse; 

9. Notify the CLIENT of every parcel on which negotiations have reached an impasse or which cannot be 
acquired by negotiated Agreement at the completion of the negotiations phase of the work.  If the 
CLIENT is to condemn, the PROFESSIONAL will deliver as much of the file to the CLIENT as is necessary 
for the CLIENT’s condemnation attorneys to begin preparation for the condemnation of the parcel.  
The CLIENT will provide written notice to the parties that the parcel is being prepared for 
condemnation.  The PROFESSIONAL, when notified in writing by the CLIENT, will continue in an 
attempt to negotiate an Agreement after notice has been sent that condemnation is being prepared, 
but before notice of condemnation has been served.  Once notice of condemnation has been served, 
negotiations will cease unless requested by CLIENT to continue as additional services. 

10. Deliver all signed acquisition documents and title clearing (as directed by CLIENT’s attorney), to CLIENT 
for payment and closing tasks. 

11. No relocation services are included by the Consultant. 
 

CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES: CLIENT understands and agrees that it will be responsible for and will provide the 
following, in a timely manner: 
 

1. Unless produced by Snyder & Associates, Inc. survey and engineering staff, provide to PROFESSIONAL 
all known and existing plans, specifications and data pertaining to the project that may affect 
PROFESSIONAL’s Services to be provided.  Unless otherwise noted by CLIENT, PROFESSIONAL may rely 
upon the plans, specifications and data provided being accurate and complete; 

2. Provide all licenses, permits, and government or agency approvals that may be necessary to complete 
the Work and/or Project; 

3. Unless produces by Snyder & Associates, Inc. survey and engineering staff, provide to PROFESSIONAL 
legal descriptions and acquisition plats for each parcel to be acquired, unless CLIENT requests 
PROFESSIONAL to provide said legal descriptions and acquisition plats and incorporates this request 
as a part of PROFESSIONAL’s scope of work. 

4. Provide all necessary forms and/or documents to complete each acquisition and/or provide the 
services of CLIENT’s attorney to supervise, review and approve any and all legal documents prepared 
by PROFESSIONAL.   

5. Coordinate the timing and sequence of PROFESSIONAL’s Services with the Services of others to the 
Project;  

6. Make interim and final decisions utilizing information supplied by PROFESSIONAL. 
7. Process Council Roll Calls/Requisitions. 
8. Preform the following task for closings: Provide title opinions; prepare and distribute proceed checks 

to owners and tenants; prepare closing statements; prepare 1099 tax forms; update abstracts; record 
all pertinent documents. 

 

3.0 Environmental Analysis  
The CONSULTANT shall perform field and office tasks required for collecting environmental information necessary 
for permitting of the project. The specific environmental analysis items to be performed include the following: 

399

Item 25.



3.1 Wetland and Stream Delineation 
The CONSULTANT will provide Wetland and Stream Delineation for the above referenced project. The 
Delineation will be performed to determine the upper boundaries of wetland and stream areas at the project 
site. The CONSULTANT will review United States Geological Survey topographic maps, National Wetland 
Inventory maps, Soil Survey, and aerial photographs as part of a preliminary data search. On-site visits will be 
performed during the growing season to gather data pertaining to wetland vegetation, wetland hydrology, and 
hydric soils. The boundary of each wetland and stream located within the project limits will be surveyed. Field 
work will be conducted in accordance with procedures outlined in the 1987 US Army Corps of Engineers 
Wetland Delineation Manual and Midwest Supplement. The CONSULTANT will provide copies of the Wetland 
and Stream Delineation Report summarizing the findings of the data searches and the on-site wetland 
delineation. 
 
The CLIENT will coordinate with the landowners prior to the site visit to ensure access to properties required 
for field investigation. A report summarizing the findings of the field delineation will be prepared. 
 

3.2  Wetland and Stream Permitting  
A permit application will be submitted to the US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). The CONSULTANT will act 
as the Authorized Agent throughout the permitting process. During this process, the CONSULTANT’s staff will 
respond to inquiries from USACE. It is assumed that a Nationwide Permit will be obtained for this project. An 
Individual Permit is beyond the scope of services. The CONSULTANT assumes that wetland and stream credits 
will be purchased as mitigation. Development of a mitigation design plan is beyond the scope of services. 
 

4.0 Outside Services 
 
4.1 Soil Borings 

Consultant’s Subconsultant shall perform soil drilling and provide the Consultant with field data and report.  
This includes performing up to one (1) borings total at INT-1. Consultant’s subconsultant shall perform 
laboratory testing on the samples to evaluate site conditions and develop engineering recommendations for 
the project. 

 
Based on the results of the geotechnical evaluation, the Consultant or Consultant’s subconsultant will prepare 
an engineering report that details the results of the testing performed, provides logs of the borings, and a 
diagram of the site/boring layout.  The report will include the following: 

 
1. Computer generated boring logs with soil stratification based on visual soil classification. 
2. Summarized laboratory data. 
3. Groundwater levels observed during drilling and sampling. 
4. Boring location plan. 
5. Subsurface exploration procedures. 
6. Existing pavement thicknesses, if boring obtained in roadway. 
7. Encountered soils conditions. 
8. Soil subgrade parameters for pavement design. 
9. Subgrade preparation/ earthwork recommendations. 
10. Soil improvements/recommendations for foundation/pedestal for public art within the roundabout 

at INT-1 
 

TASK C – STUDY AND CONCEPT PHASE 
 
1.1 Roundabout Aesthetic Improvements 

The CONSULTANT shall ultimately design aesthetic improvements within the existing and proposed 
roundabouts for INT-1 and INT-2. The concepts to be prepared shall include one design theme for the corridor 
(i.e. the two roundabouts). Provide three design theme options that include: 

400

Item 25.



 
1. Colored plan view and elevation renderings 
2. 3D modeling / rendering 
3. Material board of proposed aesthetics, hardscape materials and proposed vegetation.  
4. Consideration of existing Cedar Falls roundabouts, Pinnacle Prairie Design Guidelines and Public Art 

Committee goals. 
 

1.2  INT-3 
Prepare a traffic study. Utilize traffic analysis data from 2019 traffic impact study including crash and capacity 
results for the traffic signalization and roundabout alternatives. The development planned for the parcel 
northeast of the intersection will be taken into account. Develop a benefit/cost analysis. Complete 20-year life 
cycle cost analysis to compare signalization and roundabout alternatives (i.e. three legged options). Develop 
supporting memo & graphics for life cycle cost analysis.  
 
Develop a roundabout concept (i.e. schematic layout) and cost opinion for a roundabout (i.e. four legged 
option) at INT-3. This concept should consider planning level site grading, public utility improvements, utility 
relocations, acquisition costs and environmental impacts. Develop a concept for pavement improvements 
(including westbound to south bound left turn lane, southbound to eastbound left turn lane, south return and 
median west of the intersection) associated with the signal concept for INT-3. The signal concept for INT-3 
should include ROW extension and associated planning level roadway design for Prairie Street south of the 
intersection with Viking Road and through the two parcels owned by Deere and Company adjacent to the 
intersection.  
 

1.3  INT-4 
Review existing Hudson Road corridor study to determine if assumptions, analysis, and/or recommendations 
need to be updated for the Ridgeway Avenue & Hudson Road intersection. Perform 24-hour turning 
movement intersection count to compare with traffic data used in Hudson Road corridor study. Prepare 
memo to present findings. If it is determined that the previous study needs updated, develop a traffic 
analysis report with updated data, analysis, and recommendations.  
 

1.4 Deliverables 
1. Three (3) roundabout design theme options 
2. A traffic study for INT-3 
3. Memo or updated traffic study for INT-4 with recommended intersection improvements 

 

TASK D – PLAN DESIGN DEVELOPMENT 
 

1.0 Design and Criteria 
The design and plan sheet setup shall generally follow the Iowa Statewide Urban Design and Specification (SUDAS) 
Design Manual and the Client’s Supplemental Specifications to SUDAS. The Supplemental Specifications shall be 
made available by the Client. 
 
The project design shall include those items listed below. These items shall be developed and refined through the 
various stages included with this task. 
 

1. Landscape/hardscape improvements to the center of the existing grassed portion of the existing 
roundabouts at INT-1 and INT-2 - Based on the selected concept from Task C incorporate the aesthetic 
improvement components into the design. The subsequent design should include the following: updated 
roundabout 3D model / rendering, hardscape features, planting design, details, schematic lighting plan 
(lighting and conduit schematic locations only). The design should include  structural design for 
apedestal/foundation for a public art component to be installed in the center of INT-1 after these project 
improvements are complete. 

401

Item 25.



 
2. INT-3 Improvements (It is assumed that the recommendations for this intersection from Task C will include 

a signalized intersection in lieu of a roundabout) 
a) Prepare traffic signal design and plans using topographic base mapping, proposed intersection 

geometric design, and available design standards for the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa Statewide Urban 
Design Manual (SUDAS), and the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices. 

b) Prepare plan sheets to include the following: Signal General Notes and Quantities sheet; Signal 
Layout sheet; Wiring Diagram / Phasing sheet; Signal Details Sheet(s) 

c) Iowa Statewide Urban Standard Specifications (SUDAS) will be used for the project.  Any additional 
requirements or variations from SUDAS specifications will be included in the plans or special 
provisions. 

d) Develop traffic model to determine traffic signal timing parameters.  Field verify and make 
adjustments as necessary. 

e) Lighting & electrical Improvements 
f) ADA compliant sidewalk ramps and crosswalks (i.e. three at the intersection of Prairie Parkway and 

Viking Road) 
g) Sidewalk/Trail extension from east of Saints Dr west to INT-3 (8-feet wide) 
h) Viking Road median from west leg of INT-3  to west of Winterberry Dr (Median construction to 

follow Landscape Median standards from SUDAS Figure 7010.906. Median landscaping 
improvements are to be limited to grass and do not include pavers, PCC, landscaping plants.) 

i) Southbound left turn lane 
 

3. INT-4 Improvements  
a) Develop traffic signalization design criteria memo to confirm intersection operation and 

equipment requirements. Include information regarding equipment capacity for future fiber optic 
interconnection with other signals within the corridor. 

b) Prepare traffic signal design and plans using topographic base mapping, proposed intersection 
geometric design, and available design standards for the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa Statewide Urban 
Design Manual (SUDAS), and the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices. 

c) Prepare plan sheets to include the following: Signal General Notes and Quantities sheet; Signal 
Layout sheet; Wiring Diagram / Phasing sheet; Signal Details Sheet(s) 

d) Iowa Statewide Urban Standard Specifications (SUDAS) will be used for the project.  Any additional 
requirements or variations from SUDAS specifications will be included in the plans or special 
provisions. 

e) Develop traffic model to determine traffic signal timing parameters.  Field verify and make 
adjustments as necessary. 

f) Lighting & electrical Improvements 
 

2.0 Utility Coordination 
The Consultant will develop preliminary plans for the purpose of coordinating with existing utility owners in the 
corridor. Consultant will coordinate with the CLIENT and utility companies to discuss location of facilities and 
potential impacts as a result of the project, review utility relocation plans prepared by the utility company; and 
help facilitate a schedule with the CLIENT and utility companies to perform relocations prior to the project 
construction.  
 
The Consultant shall provide the following services: 
 

1. Submittal of Utility Coordination Plans to all private and public utilities in proximity to the project limits 
following the Preliminary Plan and Final Plan submittals. The first plan submittal will be to introduce the 
project to utility companies. The second will include review and coordination of potential conflicts 
identified by the final design plans to initiate potential utility relocations to be completed prior to letting. 

2. Preparation and distribution of the Joint Utility Cover Sheet. 

402

Item 25.



3. Meetings with individual utility companies. 
4. Staking of the existing/proposed right-of-way, as requested by the utility companies for their relocations.  

 

3.0 Preliminary (50%) 
 
3.1 Preliminary Plan Preparation 

The Consultant shall develop Preliminary Design Plans for the project.  Upon completion, the design plans will 
be approximately 50% complete. Preliminary plans shall include the following sheets (per Table 1D-1.01 of the 
SUDAS Design Standards): A, B, C, D, E, G, H, J, LS (landscape), M (schematic only), N (Traffic Signals & Lighting), 
P (Signing/Striping), Q (Removals) and S (schematic only). 

 
3.2 Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 

The Consultant shall prepare an opinion of probable construction cost for the projects.  The cost estimates 
shall be based on representative major project elements and recent bid information.  The Consultant shall 
budget and review bid items and quantities for one funding division in the plans.  
 

3.3 Quality Control Review 
Involve ongoing quality control input from the Project Team and the design engineer’s senior technical staff 
throughout the development of preliminary plans and documents for each project segment including roadway 
and traffic phasing. The design engineer is responsible for making specific recommendations and ensuring that 
critical issues are discussed and resolved prior to submittal of the preliminary plan set to the Project Team. 
Review the check plan set for technical accuracy, as well as for general constructability and conformance with 
the project design criteria. 

 
3.4 Field Exam 

A Field Exam will be held with the Project Development Team to discuss key issues and design concepts, with 
the main emphasis focused on access control and traffic control/stage construction. The review will determine 
the completion of the plan design, identify needed adjustments to minimize potential property impact and 
confirm the proposed staging plans. Revisions will be noted for preparation of the final design. 
 

3.5 Deliverables 
1. Electronic set of 50% plans  
2. Cover sheet with designer initials and reviewer initials after completion of Quality Control 
3. Cost Opinion 

 

4.0 Check Plans (90%) 
After authorization of approval from the CLIENT of the Intermediate Plans, the Consultant shall proceed with the 
development of Check Plans.  Upon completion, the design plans will be approximately 90% complete.  It is assumed 
that no geometric revisions to the roadway design will occur after the start of the development of the Check Plans. 
Changes to the geometric design of the roadway during Check Plan preparation shall constitute a contract 
amendment. Check plans shall include the following sheets (per Table 1D-1.01 of the SUDAS Design Standards): A, 
B, C, D, E, G, H, J, L, LS (landscape), M, N (Traffic Signals & Lighting), P (Signing/Striping), Q (Removals), R, S, U, W and 
X. 
 
4.1 Incorporate Comments from Preliminary Plan Review 

The Consultant will respond to comments resulting from CLIENT plan review. Recommended modifications will 
be incorporated into the plan set.  

 
4.2 Preparation of Special Provisions 

The Consultant will prepare special provisions for the project resulting from CLIENT review. 
 

403

Item 25.



4.3 Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 
The Consultant shall prepare an opinion of probable construction cost for the projects.  The cost estimates 
shall be based on representative major project elements and recent bid information.  The Consultant shall 
budget and review bid items and quantities for one City project funding source.  

 
4.4 Prepare Project Manual  

The Consultant shall provide the services required for completion of a draft Project Manual for the project.   
 

4.5 Quality Control Review 
Involve ongoing quality control input from the Project Team and the design engineer’s senior technical staff 
throughout the development of preliminary plans and documents for each project segment including roadway 
and traffic phasing. The design engineer is responsible for making specific recommendations and ensuring that 
critical issues are discussed and resolved prior to submittal of the preliminary plan set to the Project Team. 
Review the check plan set for technical accuracy, as well as for general constructability and conformance with 
the project design criteria. 

 
 

4.6 Deliverables 
1. Electronic set of 90% plans 
2. Cover sheet with designer initials and reviewer initials after completion of Quality Control 
3. Electronic copy of CLIENT 50% design comments and how comments were addressed 
4. Cost Opinion 
5. Special Provisions 
6. Draft Project Manual 
7. Notice of Intent and Public Notice for NPDES General Permit Number 2 

 

5.0 Final Print Documents (100%) 
After approval from the CLIENT of the Check Plans, the Consultant shall proceed with the development of Final Print 
Documents for the project.  Upon completion, the construction documents will be ready for Council approval to file 
with the City Clerk. 
 
5.1 Incorporate Comments from Check Plan Review 

The Consultant will respond to comments resulting from the Check Plan Review.  Recommended modifications 
will be incorporated into the final plan set. 

 
5.2 Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 

Prepare opinion of probable construction cost for the project.  Final cost opinion shall include all project 
elements.  Quantity takeoffs will be developed for the final cost estimate. Published cost opinion should be 
rounded to the nearest $1,000 or $5,000. 

 
5.3 Deliverables  

1.  Copies of Print Documents (Signed plans and project manual) 
2.  Cost Opinion 
3.  Permit Applications (NPDES General Permit Number 2) 
4.  Bid item .csv file for use on QuestCDN 

 

TASK E – Local Letting Services 
 

1.0 Letting Services 
The work tasks to be performed or coordinated by the Consultant during the Bid Period Services are based on the 
bid lettings for one project and shall include the following: 

404

Item 25.



 
1.1 Advertising 
 The Consultant will prepare and distribute a notice of project (NOP) to prospective bidders prior to the project 

documents being filed with the City Clerk. It is understood that the Client will be responsible for all advertising 
and notification of Contractors required for a public letting for the project and distribute project documents.  

 
1.2 Plan Clarification and Addenda 
 The Consultant shall assist the Client during the bid period in answering questions regarding the design intent. 

The Consultant shall address questions presented by the Client and/or Contractors and prepare addenda for 
distribution by the Client. The Consultant shall coordinate with Client’s staff during this phase of services. 

 
1.3 Bidding 
 The Client shall be responsible for the bid letting via QuestCDN. The Consultant shall make recommendations 

to the Client Council, in writing, regarding the awarding of the construction contract. 
 

TASK F – Construction Phase 
 
1.1 Pre-Construction Meeting  

The Consultant shall attend a pre-construction meeting scheduled and held by the CLIENT.  
 
1.2 Plan Interpretation during Construction  

The Consultant will be available to discuss the project design with the CLIENT’s project manager and the 
Contractor during the construction phase, at the CLIENT’s request. Inquiries during the construction period 
relating to design Standard of Care items will be addressed by the Consultant under this contract. It is 
understood the CLIENT will provide on-going construction observation and administration services during the 
construction period and will inquire with the Consultant on an as-needed basis. Inquiries concerning items 
outside this scope (i.e. unforeseen underground conditions/facilities, constructability, etc.) will invoke a 
contract amendment for Consultant services. The design Standard of Care items are defined as services 
performed in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the 
same professional discipline currently practicing under similar circumstances at the same time and in the same 
or similar locality. 

 
1.3 Site Visits  

The Consultant shall perform site visits to address contractor questions, and review construction progress and 
general conformance to the plans and specifications.  Site visits shall be initiated by the CLIENT for specific 
construction related items.  The Consultant shall be available for up to five (5) site visits, as requested, during 
the course of construction. 
 

1.4 Construction Staking  
The CONSULTANT shall be responsible for providing construction staking for the project.  It will be stated at 
the preconstruction conference that the CONSULTANT will provide one set of stakes for each construction 
operation of the project.  Any staking that is destroyed will be replaced at the Contractor’s expense. Elements 
of the project to be staked include: Survey Control, Removal Limits, Water Main Fittings, Storm Sewer 
Structures, Subdrain, Cleanouts, Pavement, Sidewalk, and Street Light locations.  

 
1.5 Reestablishment of Monuments 

After completion of construction, the Consultant shall perform field survey as required to verify which 
monuments found during the original survey and identified on the H sheets, if any, were disturbed or removed 
during construction. All disturbed or missing monuments shall be reset at their original location and a 
Monumentation Preservation Certificate in accordance with Iowa Code Section 355.6A shall be prepared and 
filed with the County Recorder. 

  

405

Item 25.



PROJECT SCHEDULE 

 
The Scope of Services shall be completed in general accordance with the following schedule: 
 
Contract Approval – Begin Work .....................................................................................................................12/20/21 
Pre-Design PMT Meeting #1 ............................................................................................................................01/06/22 
PMT Meeting #2 (Public Art Review) ...............................................................................................................01/13/22 
Geotechnical and Environmental ....................................................................................................................02/18/22 
Study & Concept Phase....................................................................................................................................02/25/22 
PMT Meeting #3 ..............................................................................................................................................03/08/22 
Topographic Survey .........................................................................................................................................04/15/22 
Environmental*  ..............................................................................................................................................05/13/22 
Preliminary Plans (50%) ...................................................................................................................................05/24/22 
PMT Meeting #4 ..............................................................................................................................................06/02/22 
Public Information Meeting #1  .......................................................................................................................06/08/22 
Begin Acquisition Services ...............................................................................................................................06/14/22 
Check Plans (90%) ............................................................................................................................................11/18/22 
PMT Meeting #5 ..............................................................................................................................................12/01/22 
Public Information Meeting #2 ........................................................................................................................12/07/22 
Complete Acquisition Services**.....................................................................................................................12/16/22 
Submittal of Printable Documents ..................................................................................................................01/06/23 
File PS&E ..........................................................................................................................................................01/16/23 
Public Hearing ..................................................................................................................................................02/06/23 
Letting ..............................................................................................................................................................02/20/23 
Report & Award ...............................................................................................................................................03/06/23 
Construction*** ..................................................................................................................................................... 2023 
*Environmental scope is weather dependent. Field work may need to be done later in 2023. 
**The schedule assumes acquisitions can be completed within the timeline noted above. It is possible that property 
owners may not be agreeable to the acquisitions and condemnations could be required. If acquisitions are not 
completed within the timeline noted above the letting and construction could be delayed. 
***It is anticipated that lead time for traffic signal equipment could take six months from the approval of shop 
drawings. Depending on the actual lead time the signal installation may be completed later in the 2023 construction 
season. 

 

OTHER SERVICES 
 
The Client may request Other Services from the Consultant not included in the Scope of Services as outlined. Other 
Services may include, but not be limited to, expanding the scope of a project or the work to be completed; 
requesting the development of various documents; extending the time to complete a project through no fault of 
the Consultant; or requesting additional work items that increase the Consultant's Services and corresponding costs. 
Included in potential additional work items are a drainage analysis/memo, analysis of a three legged intersection 
for INT-3, design of south intersection return for INT-3, design of a roundabout for INT-3, additional crosswalks 
and/or ADA ramps beyond those listed above, design of a roundabout and other ancillary improvements to INT-4, 
aesthetic improvements beyond the center of the roundabouts for INT-1 and INT-2, increasing capacity of the 
existing sanitary or storm sewers, looping of water main, additional meetings and/or acquisitions not included 
above, 3D flythrough visualization of the improvements and more than one bid package.  
 
Upon initiation of Other Services, the Consultant will submit, in writing to the Client, the estimated costs. Such costs 
will be based on the current hourly rates and fixed expenses in place at the time the services are to be completed. 
 
 

406

Item 25.



Exhibit B

Various Intersection Improvements
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project Number TS-000-3294

Original12/13/11
Revision 01/31/2017

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR
CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract.

1. All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.  

2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1.

3. Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements:

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1

Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly authorized to transact business at the 
location of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.   

Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract.

4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls.

407

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.  

6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense.

7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1:

 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 
All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City. 

 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 
following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.   

 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 
attached.

 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1.
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees shall be named as an additional insured on General 
Liability Policies for all classes of contractors.

Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04**

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization”

** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Completed Operations” 

408

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000.

9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage.

10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price.

11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend (for all non-professional claims), 
indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, 
including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages 
which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents 
working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not limited to, 
damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or death, 
and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way responsible for the 
injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the Contractor, its officers, 
employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor due to 
accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in person or 
property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the Contractor 

409

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent caused by 
the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.  

The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts.

The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules.

12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the Contractor or 
anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of subrogation or 
otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or any other 
casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s employees. This 
provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss 
or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out of the work 
performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for 
Professional Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that 
such release shall not adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the 
right of the Contractor to recover thereunder.

Completion Checklist

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages)
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement

410

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE

General Liability (Occurrence Form Only):
Commercial General Liability

General Aggregate $2,000,000
Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000
Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000
Each Occurrence Limit $1,000,000
Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000
Medical Payments $       5,000

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000                  
 

If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles.

Standard Workers Compensation 
Statutory for Coverage A
Employers Liability:

Each Accident $  500,000
Each Employee – Disease $  500,000
Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000

Umbrella: $3,000,000
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies).

Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000

411

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees, are included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing 
operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and completed operations CG 2037 07 
04 or equivalent. See Specimens.

This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess.

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured)

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time.

2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time.

3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa.

4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa.

412

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy.

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT

Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium.

413

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

$1,000,000

414

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

415

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

416

Item 25.



Various Intersection Improvements

Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

417

Item 25.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

10/21/2021

DONAGHY-KEMPTON INSURORS
PO BOX 3287
DES MOINES IA 50316-0287

Brian Donaghy
515-288-8545 515-288-2422

brian@dki-ins.com

UNITED FIRE GROUP 13021
SNYDAS1 ICW GROUP INSURANCE CO

Snyder & Associates Inc
2727 SW Snyder Blvd
Ankeny IA 50023-8402

86787534

A X 1,000,000
X 100,000

X Contractual Liab 5,000
X XCU Included 1,000,000

2,000,000
X X

Y Y 60376805 10/1/2021 10/1/2022

2,000,000

Deductible 0
A 1,000,000

X

X X

Y Y 60376805 10/1/2021 10/1/2022

A X X 5,000,00060376805 10/1/2021Y 10/1/2022

5,000,000
X 0

B XY WIA506220500 10/1/2021 10/1/2022

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000
A
A

Property
Inland Marine

60376805
60376805

10/1/2021
10/1/2021

10/1/2022
10/1/2022

BPP
Leased & Rented

$2,288,000
$100,000

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities
and their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing and completed operations on General Liability per
the attached CG7201 07/17. This coverage shall be primary to the additional insureds, and not contributing with any other insurance or similar protection
available to the Additional Insureds, whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. Governmental Immunities endorsement including 30
days notice of cancellation included. Waiver of Subrogation included on Workers Compensation and General Liability.

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY ST
CEDAR FALLS IA 50613

418

Item 25.



419

Item 25.



������������	�
��� �	�������	�����
�������
	�����������
��������	���	�
���
 �
�������
	 ������������������	������������ !"#�$%���!���&&�#�!'�()!%$��*$��'&)!%$��*$�!&�"�)�#�!'�+�!%�&$&, #���$'&!��$�$'#-
!)!%$��*$��+�!%�&$&, #���������̂5:7L_7̀ ]2DC5:2B1456<5:; L?>;>013I6J15:<1]2B51:D1>2GC77@1;120:584:8;120DaP:>@P623D06TOEUUU]2B51:D1>2GC77@1;120:584:8;120Da?6DD6K.:52>2<D06TNUU=6521M@8K65;1365:BQC>51365<:2>b:0>62DL1/01230F1517650>2<51QC>51;12006OcU3:8DRP56:31213d:;13]2DC513RWC06;:0>BW33>0>62:@]2DC513LVM215DE?1DD11D65I6205:B065DLWC06;:0>BG0:0CD\F12Z1QC>513>2I62D05CB0>62W<511;120\>0Fe6Cf]2B@C3>2<_7D051:; 4:50>1DRI6205:B065DP@:2H10W33>0>62:@]2DC513L4563CB0DLI6;7@1013V715:0>62DI6J15:<1f]2B@C3>2<_7D051:; 4:50>1DRWC06;:0>BW33>0>62:@]2DC513LS12365DRWC06;:0>BW33>0>62:@]2DC513L?1DD656K?1:D13.QC>7;120WC06;:0>BG0:0CD\F12Z1QC>513>2?1:D1W<511;120\>0Fe6CRWC06;:0>BW33>0>62:@]2DC513Lg:2:<15D65?1DD656K451;>D1DRW33>0>62:@]2DC513L.2<>2115DEW5BF>01B0D65GC5J1865Dd60.2<:<13A80F1d:;13]2DC513RW33>0>62:@]2DC513LG0:0165Y6J152;120:@W<12B865GCA3>J>D>626546@>0>B:@GCA3>J>D>62L415;>0D65WC0F65>b:0>62DRW33>0>62:@]2DC513LI62D6@>3:013]2DC5:2B1456<5:; \̂5:7L_7̀ VKKL451;>D1DV715:0>62DV2@8LVM215DE?1DD11D65I6205:B065DWC06;:0>BG0:0CD\F12Z1QC>513>2I62D05CB0>62W<511;120\>0Fe6CRW33>0>62:@]2DC513L.;7@6811]2hC5806W260F15.;7@6811RWC06;:0>B:@@8>2B@C313LW<<51<:01?>;>0D6K]2DC5:2B1 7̂15@6B:0>62̀RWC06;:0>B:@@8>2B@C313LW<<51<:01?>;>0D6K]2DC5:2B1 7̂15756h1B0̀Ri26M@13<16K6BBC5512B1Li26M@13<16K:2j6BBC5512B1kEjB@:>; 65DC>0kA886C5:<120ED15J:20651;7@6811DF:@@260>2>0D1@KB62D0>0C01H26M@13<16K0F12:;13>2DC513C2@1DD:26KK>B156K0F12:;13>2DC513F:D51B1>J13DCBF260>B1K56;0F1:<120ED15J:20651;7@6811RRR_2>20120>62:@K:>@C51063>DB@6D1:@@F:b:53Dl]K86CC2>20120>62:@@8K:>@063>DB@6D1:28F:b:53D1/>D0>2<:00F1>2B170>623:016K86C576@>B8EM1M>@@2603128B6J15:<1C23150F>DI6J15:<1=65; A1B:CD16KDCBFK:>@C51l[6M1J15E0F>D756J>D>62361D260:KK1B06C55><F006B6@@1B0:33>0>62:@751;>C; 651/15B>D16C55><F06KB:2B1@@:0>6265262L5121M:@lj]2DC513I6205:B0k5131K>213K65?>;>013Z:>@56:3I6205:B0C:@?>:A>@>08g6A>@11QC>7;12006>2B@C31D26M51;6J:@E56:3;:>2012:2B1:23D05110B@1:2>2<1QC>7;120@1DD0F:2OEUUU@ADYS\P63>@8]2hC58Z131K>213�����	�	m���	���
�������
	 ���n�
� �
������	m����m�o����m�
��������	�
������
����
�����	��	��
���������� ]2B@C31DB6785><F013;:015>:@6K]2DC5:2B1G15J>B1DVKK>B1E]2BlEM>0F>0D715;>DD>62l ��*$�!"�o

RRRRR
RRR

P@:2H10\:>J156KGCA56<:0>62?>A15:@>b:0>62I623>0>62RRR

60376805

420

Item 25.



������������	
����
����� ������
������	�������
����	����������������������� �! "!�!�#$��%���&�%�'���()*+,-./0+,1,-21/.*3*,+*-+405-6,70/8*.,.4-.,02),3/99/:*-;<�������	����������	�=	�	����>���������%�?�!&�!@?&A�� B�%��(),3/99/:*-;6)5-;,+50,15.,52��>������C=�	��	�D�������������������	�=	�	���� �EFGHIGI�JKLGJFMNONPGQ2���ERSTUVKHU,W694+*/-N��ELGRFGIKJ	HFGHIGI	HXTJM*+0,7956,.:*2)2),3/99/:*-;<YZ/.*9[*-\40[]/0Y70/7,02[.515;,],W7,62,./0*-2,-.,.30/12),+25-.7/*-2/32),*-+40,.̂ ()*+,W694+*/-./,+-/25779[2/Y_/.*9[*-\40[]/0Y70/7,02[.515;,]0,+492*-;30/1 2),4+,/30,5+/-5_9,3/06,2/70/2,627,0+/-+/070/7,02[̂�ELNHIGI�VJG�GPNS�VǸVSVFMQ2���ERSTUVKHU2),95+27505;057)*+.,9,2,.5-.0,7956,._[2),3/99/:*-;<aW694+*/-+R�2)0/4;)H�./-/25779[2/.515;,_[3*0,b,W79/+*/-b9*;)2-*-;b+1/c,0,+492*-;30/1 +46)3*0,b,W79/+*/-b/09*;)2-*-;/0+70*-c9,09,5c5;,2/70,1*+,+:)*9,0,-2,.2/[/4/02,17/050*9[/6647*,._[[/4:*2)7,01*++*/-/32),/:-,0̂Q+,75052,9*1*2/3*-+405-6,5779*,+2/2)*+6/8,05;,5+.,+60*_,.*-
���	�� 			C�	�	�
��	�
������^d� �KHC�eHGIfNFGJRJNgFQ2���ERSTUVKHU,W694+*/-P��VJRJNgFh�TFK�JfNFGJRJNgFi�jiNj*+.,9,2,.5-.0,7956,._[2),3/99/:*-;<iNjk,++2)5-lm3,,29/-;no� �JKLGJFMNONPGp=KJJKeGI�qTVLOGHFQ2���ERSTUVKHU2),3/99/:*-;*+5..,.2/7505;057)ioj/3,W694+*/-X�NONPG�K�JKLGJFM<()*+,W694+*/-./,+-/25779[2/Y70/7,02[.515;,]2/_/00/:,.,r4*71,-2:)*9,525\/_+*2,5-.:)*9,-/2_,*-;4+,.2/7,03/01 /7,052*/-+̂ (),1/+2:,:*9975[3/0Y70/7,02[.515;,]2/5-[/-,7*,6,/3_/00/:,.,r4*71,-24-.,02)*+6/8,05;,*+stlbuuu7,0/66400,-6,̂ (),*-+405-6,533/0.,.4-.,02)*+70/8*+*/-*+,W6,++/8,05-[859*.5-.6/99,62*_9,70/7,02[*-+405-6,v*-694.*-;.,.462*_9,w585*95_9,2/2),*-+40,.b:),2),070*150[b,W6,++b6/-2*-;,-2/0/-5-[/2),0_5+*+̂x� �JKLGJFMNONPG�VǸVSVFMp�SGyNFKJUQ2���ERSTUVKHU2),3/99/:*-;*+5..,.2/7505;057)+idjhioj5-.izj/3,W694+*/-X�NONPG�K�JKLGJFM<()*+,W694+*/-./,+-/25779[2/Y70/7,02[.515;,]0,+492*-;30/1 2),4+,/3,9,852/0+̂ {/:,8,0b5-[*-+405-6,70/8*.,. 3/0+46)Y70/7,02[.515;,]*+,W6,++/8,05-[859*.5-.6/99,62*_9, 70/7,02[*-+405-6,v*-694.*-;.,.462*_9,w585*95_9,2/2),*-+40,.b:),2),070*150[b,W6,++b6/-2*-;,-2/0/-5-[/2),0_5+*+̂=�(),3/99/:*-;6/8,05;,+50,5..,.<�� ��>�����C>�����������������������>�����Y|0/7,02[.515;,]2/70/7,02[/3/2),0+654+,._[2),*-+40,.<N� })*9,*-[/407/++,++*/-n/0�̀ Q0*+*-;/42/3Y[/40:/0c]̂~/8,05;,5779*,+522),0,r4,+2/32),*-+40,.b:),2),0/0-/22),*-+40,.*+9,;599[/_9*;52,.2/75[̂�/02),7407/+,+/32)*+>KSTHFNJM�JKLGJFMNONPG�KyGJNPG/-9[<aW694+*/-X�NONPGFK�JKLGJFM*+.,9,2,.5-.0,7956,._[2),3/99/:*-;<���������� �-694.,+6/7[0*;)2,.152,0*59/3�-+405-6,�,08*6,+�33*6,b�-6̂b:*2)*2+7,01*++*/-̂ �NPG�Kg�d

��

X� NONPGFK�JKLGJFMY|0/7,02[.515;,]2/<i�j|0/7,02[),9._[2),*-+40,.3/0+,08*6*-;b0,75*0b+2/05;,/0+59,5270,1*+,+[/4/:-b0,-2b9,5+,b/7,052,/04+,n
421

Item 25.



�������������	
��
���
�����
�����
�������������������������������
�
�����
���
�
����������� �
�
���!�"�	
��
���������
���������

���
��#$ ���������������������������
���������%&�'()*(((+,(-('%).(*%/01*�&.23456783729692:45;9<2=8>4?3@A327634@B?C?D6�2E63?D6F2833;D54?>GG84@42G6:6>G6>G9H56>H65?E67?;G 456,;C;42:,;?I;=;4@ 234561DD36D?46 ,;C;4:236?J5J2E63?D6F?>G H6?36D3?>46GG;9J364;2>;>C?K;>D7?@C6>498>G6345;9J2E63?D6L�L �)<&01�&&+�10&F�/%')BM1*B�)*'0),A0)A&0'MB1-1�&�)<&01�&N�
� ��
������ ���?36F�8942G@?>G�2>432=A327634@B?C?D6�2E63?D6����O?LP���Q���R�������SL�����������#$ ���������������������������
���������%&�'()*(((+,(-('%).(*%/01*�&.23456783729692:45;9�?36F�8942G@?>G�2>432=A327634@B?C?D6�2E63?D6F2833;D54?>GG84@42G6:6>G6>G9H56>H65?E67?;G456,;C;42:,;?I;=;4@234561DD36D?46,;C;4:236?J5J2E63?D6F?>GH6?36D3?>46GG;9J364;2>;>C?K;>D7?@C6>498>G6345;9J2E63?D6L"L �)<&01�&.+&,&�'0)*(� B1'1,(1T(,('M�)<&01�&N�
� ��
������� ��&=6J432>;JB?4?,;?I;=;4@�2E63?D6����O?L UR�������7L���2E63?D61VT2G;=@(>S83@1>GA327634@B?C?D6,;?I;=;4@��%6J4;2>(V�2E63?D69��
�������� ���������O�L&WJ=89;2>9$ ������
����������������O7L&=6J432>;JB?4?X������
����������� ����������������������������

���������������������������
������������������������
���������� ��������
�����
��� ��������Y�
�����������
��
��#Z��[
�� ��R�������������������������������
����������������������Y�
��#IL�	
��
������������O���	 ��������Y�
�����������
��
���������������
������������������ ���
��
��#\����� ��������� �������������
��� ������ � ��������Y�
�� ���������!�
���]�����������������
��
��� �������� ����������Y�
�#\����� ��������� �������������
��� ������ �����

���� ���������!�
�"�]���������������������������

��������������������������
������������
��
���������������
����������
��������
�� � ��������Y�
�����������
��
��#\����� ����������
���������� �������������
��� ������ �����

���� ���������#N�
� ��
������� ��&=6J432>;JB?4?,;?I;=;4@�2E63?D6�����
����������������������
��
��#$ ���������������������������
���������%&�'()*(((+,(-('%).(*%/01*�&QL �)<&01�&�+A0)B/�'0&�1,,&̂ A&*%&?L (>983;>D1D366C6>4���_������� àb ��c�
�����
����R���c�������
���
�������c�
�����
����c������������
���� ��[
���
���#���_�������������
c�
�����
����R���c�
����������c���
�
������c� ��  �[��� ��������
���d��� ����� 
�#$ ���������������������������
���������%&�'()*(((+,(-('%).(*%/01*�&���������� P����������
�� �����
�����P���
���e
[���f�����P��#���� ����
�������# A?D6"2:�"
422

Item 25.



������������	
������������������������������ !��"�����������  �#�����"������$����%&'�()�!%���*�����+�����������������,�����#������������������������%����� ��!���,����!��,����,����%*����� ��������- !��.�%�����������,�� ���.����� ������"�����������  "/'�(0������������*����+���������������%��+������%����+��� ������*�#�����%������-!������������+���%������*����$�*���������$*�����$�*�����������������%"!����������"/'1(���,������,� �%��+� ������������-������������������%����.�*,������%���������������������-�������-���%����/'2()���*���������+��������%��!�%!����+� �!���*����,��������3��, ��$��%��!�%!����%%����������������/'4(5�������.���*+�����$������� ����������%�������!���������������������������-���+���+�$��/'6(78��� !��9��!:��7�������!��+�$�:/'�(;�� ����%7!����������:������+� ���������������������*��� ����$��!-������%,������!�%%������*<�� ��!*�%%����!���%%������!*,������,���������+� ���/'=(>����%����������*�����+��%�����������.� *����!�����������������$��������+��+��3��*����!����������<������ ��+�$��/'?(>�$� %������#������/'��(0�+�$��� ��+��%����! ���*�������#�������������-!!����������%����� ����%����%7!����������:/'��(7@����������  �#�����:������$%��+ ���7�����������  :�%��!�%7!�����������:%��,������.���$����#� ����-!�������+���/'��()�!7�����������  :������������������#���������%�������$�������� % �%��%7!����������:/4� �AB	CD�	EFGDH	CIDJD�	K	�DKKLDMLKLHN���5�����������.���������O�.���$�E'PQ�R���L(��� �����7�������!��+�$�:������$����%,������+�$������+�����������-����������������������-!!��/���>�+�������������.���$����  ���-����������������0�+�$���@��+����S�������T��>�+��/����+����,�,�  ��!�� �+������������-��-� �,��P	�HLAULLLFKLJLHPAVLUPWCDU�	6� �AB	CD�	 LXI	PL�UDH	I AY	CDHLAUP �AB	C	I MND�AUPAKLIDH	I 'GCDYFWY(LUPWCDU�	YCA�CDJ���%�  �,��$�#� ��������������@���$������	
��������%P	�HLAU LX�AB	CD�	P �AB	CD�	 DXMAILKNLUZWCNDUIYCAY	CHNIDJD�	KLDMLKLHN&[� ����������������������� !��7-��� !��9��!:��7�������!��+�$�:������$����%������!�����$���$������������������������� ����,��������7��������\��+� ���� ������������]���:%����!7����� ������_̂���\��̀ ������������$��+:,�������-������.����-!������+�����������a���9���+���$�����,����%������������������9�����,����!�������.� .��/�����#� �������� ���,������������"����� ������ _̂���\��̀ ������������$��+"&b� @��.������.���$��������� ���������.����-!����O�.���$�@���c����d�� �+������<��������.���  � ��+�/�����#� ��������������� !�%�7����� ������ _̂���\��̀ ������������$��+:��.����$!����������������-��������  ��*���\����,�� �������,��� �� ��$����� ���%�������������������#�������� �%�  �.�� �- � �+���*,���������� �+�������.�� �- �������+��!*�#����������!�����-����/T��+�����.������%���������  �����*�������,� �����+�����������������������- �/;�����������%�����#� ����� �7����� ������ ,̂���\��̀ ��������� ���$��+:������$��+ ���.����$�����������.���$� ���  �������%���#���������.� .�� ,����������� �� �̂!����  ! +�9��̀ ���������������9���/���������� 5�� �������!��$����+������ �%5��������e��.����f%%���*5��/*,���������+������/ YbgQ2�h�1
423

Item 25.



�������������	

�������� 
���������������������������������  !"����	

�������� 
�������� �#$%�&'()*+����,������������-!..!/��,�01+!234555-!"6!�+!-7��.7!���"�89�"��7�6�9��!-�66����+�!"+"�--�6.�/:�!.�+�!���"����;!9+!-+<�9��!-��=:�<�6.�+!/<�6<+<�>!��.=*�?9"=@��7�.�+=A!:�"�;��11.���BC��!�!+<�:�+!-9"���<+<���7!���BD� �&))&E�#F'$'G)*+����(������������-!..!/��(�H.."���!��7.��I1�������69""��7=+<����9"���+!9""�89��++!�����+9���+<���:��+�;�+�!�!"��-����!-+<�6.���!"J�9�+K4��6.9���;�6+9�..!��!-��"���;�91+!2L55���=7�6�9��!-+���!---"!�/!"MBN�  <�-!..!/��;.��;9�;��������+!*+����O!/�:�"4/��<�..<�:��!��!-+<��9+�����+-!"+<�7!:�/<��+<�����9"��6��11.���!�.=-!"�&%P'Q#FR
F&STFQR�#U#GT�&VTF#GT���W!"�#FTX�P)Q&(R&F�&'QF&%
F&STFQR�#U#GT�&VTF#GT���/�<�:�1���+<�@���+!-@��7�.�+=!"+<�H;;"�;�+�@���+-!"+<���6!:�"�;��BYZ[\]̂_]]̀ab̂ ]Yc_]_YdeZf�� <�-!..!/��;6<��;���������gQT'(T(�TS&FQ$'G�ThP$FTUT'Q)*+��D�#�����.�+�����"�1.�6��7=+<�-!..!/��;i#� A!:�"�;�9���"+<��1"!:���!����--!"���!�.=9�+�.+<�3j5+<��=�-+�"=!9�689�"�!"-!"� +<�!";���k�+�!�!"+<����!-+<�1!.�6=1�"�!�4/<�6<�:�"����".��"B�� <�-!..!/��;1"!:���!���"�������N� *+����E����������-!..!/��E� H�=.�;�..=��6!"1!"�+����+�+=!-/<�6<=!9!/��!"�+<��L51�"6��+!-+<�:!+��;�+!6M�9"��;+<�1!.�6=1�"�!�!�.=�-+<�"����!!+<�"����.�"���9"��6��:��.�7.�+!+<�+��+�+=BO!/�:�"�l�mA!:�"�;�H�!���!+�11.=+!J7!��.=��?9"=K!"J1"!1�"+=����;�K+<�+!669""��7�-!"�=!9�689�"���!"�+<��L51�"6��+!-+<�:!+��;�+!6Mn���l�mA!:�"�;�>�!���!+�11.=+!J1�"�!��.�����:�"+����; ��?9"=K�"����;!9+!-��!--����6!���++��7�-!"�=!9�689�"���!"�+<��L51�"6��+!-+<�:!+��;�+!6MBo� �(($Q$&'#%p')PFT(��q'TF)X�T))TT)&F�&'QF#rQ&F)��PQ&U#Q$r �Q#QP)stT'�ThP$FT($'�&')QFPrQ$&'&F�TFV$rT�GFTTUT'Qs$Qt�&Pup'r%P($'G	S)QFT#U 
#FQ$T)#� H�=1�"�!� !"!";���k�+�!� -!"/<!� =!9�"�1�"-!"���; !1�"�+�!�� /<��=!9����96<1�"�!�!"!";���k�+�!�<�:��;"�����/"�+��;���6!�+"�6+!"�;"�����++<�+�96<1�"�!�!"!";���k�+�!�7��������������+�!��.���9"��!�=!9"1!.�6=n,�H�=!+<�"1�"�!�!"!";���k�+�!�=!9�"�"�89�"��+!�����������+�!��.���9"��9���"+<�6!�+"�6+!"�;"�����+���6"�7����v�"�;"�1<�B�7!:�Bw96<1�"�!�x�y!"!";���k�+�!�x�y��������+�!��.���9"��!�.=/�+<"��1�6++!.��7�.�+=-!"z7!��.=��?9"=z4z1"!1�"+=����;�z!"z1�"�!��.�����:�"+����;��?9"=z/<�6<��=7���19+��+!+<�+1�"�!�!"!";���k�+�!���"�6+.=�"����;!9+!-��� {!9"�6+�!"!�����!��n!"��  <��6+�!"!�����!��!-+<!���6+��;!�=!9"7�<�.-n��+<�1�"-!"���6�!-=!9"!�;!��;!1�"�+�!��-!"+<�����+�!��.���9"��BO!/�:�"4+<����9"��6��--!"���+!�96<����+�!��.���9"����� |�.=�11.���+!+<��I+��+1�"��++��7=.�/n�����C�..�!+7�7"!���"+<��+<�+/<�6<=!9�"�"�89�"��7=+<�6!�+"�6+!"�;"�����++!1"!:���-!"�96<����+�!��.���9"��B���������� *�6.9���6!1="�;<+����+�"��.!-*��9"��6�w�":�6��|--�6�4*�6B4/�+<�+�1�"�����!�B 
#GTo&E�D

�����}������p��	���

424

Item 25.



������������ 	
�������������
������������������������
�
����
����������������
�����
�
����������
�����������
�
������������������������  !��
��
�"�� � ��������#��� � ������������$��
�
��
�"�� �
�
��������������
�����������
�������������������
�������
�����������
���
�����$��
����$
����
�����
���%� �������
�������$
������
�
��������������$��#�����������
������
�
������������$�����
����������������������
����������
�
���
���&�'�(���$
����
������
������
�����������
���
�����
$
�
��)��
�������
������
���$��
�������
#����
������
���������������
����������������
��
��������$
�
����

����#����#������
�
���#��
��
���������*�����
������
���� �������� ��
����������� *��
��
�"�� � ��������#��� ��������������
����������� ������������$��
�
��
�"�� �
�$��$�� �������
����������
������������������
�������
�����������
���
�� ���$��
����$
���)��  !��
��
�"�� � ��������#��� ����
�������%� +����,�
�����
��#���
����������-�
�#������
����
��������
���
��������,��������"���.����������$
���#�
������������
�/��*�����#��*����*�������������
�
����
�����.�/����������
���������$��������
������*�����#������&�'��������
���� �����, �������
�����
�"�����#����
������*��������
��
����������*��������������
0��
���������������������������*���������������
�����#
�������
�������
��
����������������#���"���)1� 23345467%897:;<=3>?<63;�5:�6@A8=5=3BA=<%5467:�6C=<%D=>97�8;347DEA:5<=%@ ?%<54=:%� +������� �����
0��
�� �����# ���������#
�� �����
��� ������������������������
0��
����$������
��
�
��
��������������#���������������������
0��
��*�������������
�
����
�������������
��&���'�+����������������
0��
��������-�
��������������
�
����
������������������������#�������
*��
�F�������)�*�$�)(��������.�/�����
0��
��.�/
������
�
����
����������
�����������
�*
�
���� *��
��
�"�� � ��������#��� � ������������$��
�
��
�"�� ��
��#��*�
#���������������������
0��
���
������
�
�������G�����,H����
�
��
����G�
�����������H���
�������
���� �������I��#�����������
�����0�� )J���$��K�L���
�����������������������
�
����
��������������
���������������#
����*����&K�LM���$������$
�����������
�
����
�����
��-�
��*��������������#�������
�����������������������
�
����
������
�����*�*��������������
��������-�
��*����������������#�������$
�����������
�
����
�����)KNL(�����$�����
������������*��-����������
�������������������
���4� ������
��
���������
�����
#��-�
��*����G�
�����������H&�44� ������
��
�����������
��*������������
#
���
�������������������
�������������
#��
�
�������G�����,H)�� 	
�������������
�������������� ��������
�
����
�����������
�������#�������������
�����
�
����������
�������������������������
�
���������������������G*��
��
�"��H�G��������#���H�
�
��������������
�����������
�������������������
�������
����������
���
�����$��
����$
����
�����
���K�L�������
�������$
������
�
��������������$��#�����������
������
�
������������$�����
����������������������
����������
�
���
���&�K�L(���$
����
������
������
�����������
���
�����
$
�
��)���������� M�����������
�����#���
����M�������(�$
���O��
���M��)��
��
����#
��
��) ?%D=16P�N
425

Item 25.



������������ �		
�
��������	���	����� ����������� ����!"�#$"%#���� ���&����'%�%(��)!(�)%%(#�"''#%#��"*+�,��"!�"�,��'�� -.)%��*�/#%(�����+%%�0.�'#*�#�1)��0��0������%�'"2"!�0-/(#+(2"�.�#2�)%�'%�%("%�������� ����!"�#$"%#���� "�#�#�!�)%�&3��)����')+%�4�(�/�/#%(%(�5+(�')*�/(#+("��'#�%�#.)%�'����*'#�%(���!)*"�+�)����&%(�,��'��6�.)�#����#�"�#��)��'78�/�,��9:�;<(�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%��)+(,��'����*�"��*#��%�%(��=%��%���2#%%�'.�*"/>"�':�;?&+�,��"!����,#'�'%�%(�,��'��#���@)#��'.�"+��%�"+%��"!���2��%-%(�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%��)+(,��'��/#**��%.�.��"'��%("�%("%/(#+(��)"����@)#��'.�%(�+��%�"+%��"!���2��%%����,#'�&���)+(,��'��7A�B#%(�����+%%�%(�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%�%(���,��'���-%(�&�**�/#�!"''#%#��"*�=+*)�#���"��*�9:�;<(#�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%(�,��'��'�����%"��*�%�9:�;3C�'#*�#�1)��4��3������%�'"2"!�4&��/(#+(%(�,��'��#��.*#!"%�'%��"�'"2"!��.���"����&%(�"��)2�%#���&*#".#*#%�#�"+��%�"+%��"!���2��%7<(#��=+*)�#��'�����%"��*�%�*#".#*#%�&��'"2"!��%("%%(�,��'��/�)*'(",�#�%(�".���+��&%(�+��%�"+%��"!���2��%>:A;����=�����/"��"�%�)�")%(��#$�'.���)>:D;����(��#+"*��+(�2#+"*+("�!�#�%(����')+%2"'�#�%��%#��"**�.�%(�,��'��>:	;E��"+F"!#�!-�=+��%/(��)��"+F�'��*�*�&��%(��)������&#����+%#��-'�2���%�"%#��-%��%#�!-��%(��).�%#%)%#�� �&�"�%�)�'��#��%�)+%#���&��2 %(�2"�)&"+%)���-"�'%(�����"+F"!�' #�%(���#!#�"*+��%"#���7:�;���&"#*)��%�2"F��)+(#����+%#���-"'1)�%2��%�-%��%������,#+#�!"�%(�,��'��("�"!���'%�2"F������2"**�)�'��%"F��%�2"F�#�%(�)�)"*+�)����&.)�#����-#�+����+%#�� /#%(%(�'#�%�#.)%#�����"*��&���')+%�7:G;H�2���%�"%#��-#��%"**"%#��-���,#+#�!�����"#�����"%#���-�=+��%�)+(����"%#������&��2�'"%%(�,��'��6����2#���#�+����+%#��/#%(%(��"*��&%(����')+%7:I;J��')+%�/(#+(-"&%��'#�%�#.)%#�� ���"*�.���)-(",�.���*".�*�'����*".�*�'��)��'"�"+��%"#���-�"�%��#�!��'#��%�&"���%(��%(#�!���).�%"�+�.���&��%(�,��'��7:K;0C�'#*�#�1)��0��0������%�'"2"!�0"�#�#�!�)%�&%(���*���!*#!��+��&%(�,��'��&��#%��/�"+%����2#��#�����%(����&#%��2�*�������"������*��"+%#�!��#%�.�("*&78�/�,��-%(#��=+*)�#��'�����%"��*�%�9
� <(��=+��%#���+��%"#��'#�5).L�"�"!�"�(�'7��&7>��

� 5)+(#����+%#���-"'1)�%2��%�-%��%������,#+#�!"�%(�,��'��("�"!���'%�2"F������2"**�)�'��%"F��%�2"F�#�%(�)�)"*+�)����&.)�#����-#�+����+%#��/#%(%(�'#�%�#.)%#�����"*��&%(����')+%�7:�;<(#�#��)�"�+�'�����%"��*�%�"��#��)��'����������!"�#$"%#��-&��2/(�2��)(",�"+@)#��'�)+(���')+%�-��"��#�!��'#��%-�"�%��+��%"#���-��%��#�!#�%�-"++�2�"��#�!��+��%"#�#�!�)+(���')+%�7M� �		
�
��������	 NO������GO����	 PQ�
RS�� N����S��
D T����� UK� V�Q�
��	 
 O�����I���S��U
�KW���� ����������� ����!"�#$"%#���� &��2 /(�2 ��)*�"�� �@)#�2��%/(����)"�'�)+(�������� ����!"�#$"%#���� (",�"!���'#�/�#%#�!#�"+��%�"+%��"!���2��%%("%�)+(�������� ����!"�#$"%#���� .�"''�'"�"�"''#%#��"*#��)��'����)���*#+�75)+(�������� ����!"�#$"%#���� #�"�#��)��'��*�/#%(�����+%%���)�*#".#*#%�&��0.�'#*�#�1)��0-0������%�'"2"!�0��0������"*"�'"',��%#�#�! #�1)��0'#��+%*�"�#�#�!�)%�&%(�2"#�%��"�+�-����"%#����)���&�@)#�2��%*�"��'%���)-/(#+(2"�.�#2�)%�'%��)+(����������!"�#$"%#��"�%(�*������&�@)#�2��%78�/�,��-%(�#��)�"�+�"&&��'�'%��)+("''#%#��"*#��)��'9���������� ?�+*)'��+����#!(%�'2"%��#"*�&?��)�"�+�5��,#+��X&&#+�-?�+7-/#%(#%����2#��#��7 Y�I���G�Z:�;X�*�"��*#��%�%(��=%��%���2#%%�'.�*"/>"�':�;B#**��%.�.��"'��%("�%("%/(#+(��)"����@)#��'.�%(�+��%�"+%��"!���2��%%����,#'�&���)+("''#%#��"*#��)��'7
426

Item 25.



������������	
�������������
������������������������
�
����
���������
�
������������������������������������
����������������������
����������� �
��!"� #$$%&%'()*+(,-./$01)()2/.,'.3/,,'.,'45./6%,/,)� 7�������8�9��:��
;��
��8�9�<�������
�����������
�<
�
���
�
�:��������������
����
�����������������������������
�������������������<=��������������
�:���
�
����� ����
���>?�
�
���������������������>@�A7��������������
��������������������������<��������
��������
���!@�AB�������������
������� ��������
�� ������
�
�� �����
���������� <����<���������������8�9��:��
;��
��8�9�����
����B�������!C���D�>@�A?��
�����������������������
�
����
�������������
�������� �������
����<����E���@�AF���D��:���D
�����������
�
����
�����
����
��<�����������:����������
�����������������������
�
����
������
�����<�<��������������
����������
��<�������������:����������D
�����������
�
����
�����!���#$$%&%'()*+(,-./$GH(2%(//.,I#.JK%&/J&,'.L-.M/N'.,O'&H(2)2/$�N&K/O)6/$+(,-./$)� 7�����
��������:
�������D��������������:�:��<������
�������<�������
�����������
�<
�
�����<��
��
�=���������������:���P������������D��
�
�:
�=�����
�����<�
���������������
�������:
������D����
�
�:�����>@�AQ���������
��
���E�@�AQ���������
��
�������������
�:�����<�����E
��������������������:�
�:�����
����������<����������<�����!R������
��������
��������:
�������D�������
�������:�:��<����������������������
����<�������������
�
����
�������������
��!C���D�����
�����������������������
�
����
�����>@�AS�������
�������� �������
����<����E���@�A	
�����<�<��������������
����������
��<�������������:����������D
�����������
�
����
�����!��	
�������������
������������������������
�
����
����������������
�:���
�
����� ����
������
��>?�
�
����������������������<��
��
�=���������������:����������������D��
�
�: 
�=����
�
�:������������
�:�����
������������������
������D
����
�����
�:>@�A?������
�:�����D
�:����
�
�:������������D����������
�:����
�
������������D��������:���������
:�������
�
���
���E�@�AB���D
����
������
�����:
���
�:��D
���!?�
�� ����
������
���D��
�������
���:�
������
���������:���:�
:������������:��
�:
��������D
�
����

�:��������������
�
�:����
��
�:�������<�����
������
����������������
�����������P<��
��
�=���������������:����������������
������������������������D��
�
�:
�=����
�D��D���������
�:��������
������������������
������D
���!
���������� F�����������
:��������
����F�������B�D
���S��
���F��!��
��
�����
��
��! 5)2/T'4�U

7�����V���:��
;��
��V��������������
�
����
�����������
����������������������
���������:�������
��������������������
���������!

���#$$%&%'()*+(,-./$GL&)&/'.�'M/.(6/(&)*#2/(JN'.L-�$%M%,%'( '.5'*%&%J)*L-�$%M%,%'( G5/.6%&,'.#-&K'.%W)&%'(,)� ?�
�
�����������
�������
���������������
����������<����������<���������
�����������:�D���������:�������<�
D
�
������
�
�����<�
D
�
�����
���������
�������
;��
��!7��������:�D���������:�������<�
D
�
������
�
�����<�
D
�
��
���
��������<=��������������
�:��D
�
���>
427

Item 25.



������������	
�
������
��������
������
����������������������
����������
�����

��
���
�����
� ���	!������"����
��#
������
�����
���������������
����
$���
� �������������#�

�
��%��
��������
������
����������������������
�	������ 
 ����
���������	���������
�
$���
� ���
�����������#�

�
����������
����������������������
�&'(������������
��
��������������)*����� ��+���)%)����
��� ����#
)��)�
��������� ���
������# ��+���)������# �������
��������
�����
������
�
�
���#��
���
��%����
��������������!�����)*�������+���)��)����
�������#
)������
�	�������
)��������,�����
�
���
���������-���)&��(.//010234563789:/�237250/41:/ 6378943;:<92=94> �?94@AB@�CDDA<9:>07:7C@:9410237C35EACF3:97GH:77::729�23194;12974( I���
���������#���-���������	��� �����
�
�������#��
�������%���	����������

�
��
����

J���
��#
���
��K���������
�"�������
L��#���%	�
������������
��������#���-��������
�#�

���	�����#��������������#�

�
�����������
��������#���-����� 
���
��������������������
����������������������
�&M����
��������#���-������������������������
�����	����
��
����������� �����	������� 
�����
��������
��������#���-��������
����������#�����������#���#��
��������
�����
���������
��������#���-����������
���
����
�����������+
�������������������
��#���
������
�
����
��K���������
�"�������
L��#���&I�
����N�����#���-�����N����������������
����
�����
�����
�
��
���	�
�������
�������������������
���
�����
�
�&'(O����
��
������
��������
������
�����
�
���������������
��%��
�����	��#����������
�������������
�&������������
��
�����������P*�������+���Q%P����
�������#
Q%��P�
������������
������#��+���Q������#�������
�
��
���#��%��������
���
��
�%�������
�������������
������%
�#��

���#������
���#�
����
�%��������#�����
��
�����#%��������#%��������#����
���
��������
%����%�������	��#�%��������%�
�����%����
��%��
�����
��%����#
���
�������	��#������
�����������!������M��
�������%����
������R(.//010234563789:/AS>@52E::63T89E12.321U:9S>@52E::O����
��
��������P
�����

�Q	�����������������	������
���
��������������
L���#�����(4(�����VS�W6CX66Y?ZC6V.X6XVB[S\����
��
����
��4( P*�������+���Q��P�
������������
������#��+���Q��������%�����������
�����
� 
��]�������
������
�������+�����
����
̂%���������
� 
��]�������
������
���� ������������̂!���_��	������
�
������ ��#�����������
����#
�	������
������
��

��
	�������������#
� 
����
����
��+����
���� 
�������#��������4�� ��
!���R�I�����#�����������
���������#��������#��������
����
��������
�������
�
����
�&L���#����R(4(���
�
�
�&_����
������
������"�
��R����%������������

�
��� 
���
��������������
�������
�����
��������������
	��J	�������� ��������������
�
������ ������������
��� �������
���������������������
%���
��%���������
���������#
&
���������� "�����
�������#��
����
������"�������
M
����
� �̀���
%"��&%	�������
��������& <4=:a2D�R
bcdefghfffijfkfebglfhbmnohdc.(WU:D2552F03=61:>749:/:5:1:/43/9:@54;:/'E1U:D2552F03=p�( ��
q
�
���I##�
#��
r��������
����	
	�����������
�����4( s
�����
��
��
����
��2t:94=:�!'(u���#
����
��2t:94=:.%
��
������#
� 
����
��) �������+���)��)����
�������#
)������
�����
)��������,�����
�
���
���������-���)!���

428

Item 25.



������������ 	
�
����������������
����	
�
������������������ �� �!��"#�$%!�&'#� (&�
#)!��*����
#+)�)#)�#��!�#,,)''&
-������������./!��
�
��0"
��!/10!�)'-)�2��-1
��1&�!&�#-�
�
�1)�"'���)�#�1&�!��"#�$"!�&'#� !&�
#)!���
3
��1
������������4� 5�02"##!6�
0!78#�	
�
�#! ��)��9�#�#!:!�+)�)#)�#��!�#,,)''&
-������������./!��
�
��0"
��!/1&�!&�#-�
�
�1#!
�-!�&��)��8,�)'��#�#!-!�8!�)�#�"
�!/�
�
�0-/)�8;&'!�)!�8')��#�)��8��!<���'#)��/�!� ��"�/)�8;&'!�)!�8!�')��#�)��!��&�)�<'�'
<
�,�)'��#�#!-!�!�#�&!�
�)'-!""�&)�0--!�,)#�&��)��)!�!/#�!,��=����/!''!,)��
�
���>?� 5�02"##! 
�
��
&�6�!/@A�BCDE CCCFGCHCB@ DICE@JK.E�A LMN8OOO)�#��!�#,,)''&
-����%!7�
��/!�P�Q��R�S���G���TGU�VUTUQW�X� ���������YZ���[�QK���TTA\]�̂_�*����
#+)�)#LNO8OOO
̀"� �!��"#9"
''+)�)#LMN8OOO�� ��*����
#+)�)#��!,�
0!7)�#��!�#,,)''&
-/!�#���� !/
''1&�!��"#�"
'';&��1-!�)�"��
�
���'#!/
''1&�!��"#�"
''�1-!�)�)#)
#���)��#���!����#&�)!�=V��� 
̀"� �!��"#9"
''+)�)#��!,�
0!7)�#��!�#,,)''&
-8��02"##!#�*����
#
��La8OOO���"#)0'8/!�1&�!��"#�"
'';&��1-!�)�"��/!�
�-!�1&�!��"#�"
''b-!�)�)#)
# ���)�� #���!����#&�)!�=c,)''!�'-&
-/!�#�
�!��#!/1&�!��"#�"
'';&���1,�)"�
�)�;"��!/#����"#)0'
�!��#=�����"#)0'
&&')��&
�
#'-#!
"�1&�!��"#�"
''1=��')�)#�!/)����
�",)''�!#0���"�0-#�
�!��#!/#�)����"#)0'=c�
-8!�,)'')/�d�)��0-'
,8&
-
''!�
�-&
�#!/
�-���"#)0'
�!��#=e&!��!#)"!/!��&
-��#!/
���"#)0'
�!��#8-!���
''&�!�&#'-�)�0�����/!�#�&
�#!/#����"#)0'
�!��#,&
)�=�����f��
'*����
#+)�)#
&&')��&
�
#'-#!
"�!/-!��1'!"
#)!��1!,��0-!���#�#!-!�!�#�&!�
�)'-!""�&)�0--!�,)#�#�&��)��)!�!/#�!,��=1+!"
#)!�1�
��&��)��)�7!'7)��#��
�!�"!��"#)��'!#�8!�&��)��,�!�"!��"#)!�)�)�#���&#�!�'-0-
�#�#8�!
�,
-8,
#�,
-!��)��#$!/$,
-!/
�
)'�!
�=���.������Q�GUSUQ_�gĈ_[��̂��hZ��Z��i��Qj��f��
'*����
#+)�)#
&&')��&
�
#'-#!
"�!/-!��&�!2"#�
,
-/�!� &��)��!,��0-!���#�#!-!�=
���������� k�"'���"!&-�)��#��
#�)
'!/k����
�"5�7)"�(//)"8k�"=8,)#�)#�&��)��)!�= Z������g��

.������Q�GUSUQ_�gĈ_[��̂��hZ��G���QU�̂j
���c)#���&"#�#!#�)����
�"
//!���#!
��)#)!�
')������
//!���"!7�
�0-)#��6#��!�����!/@A�BCDECCFP�DC@.ECE@JKAR
0!78#�/!''!,)��)�
���>���!�#,,)''&
-!�0�
'/!/#�
��)#)!�
')�����)�#�
�!��#!/)����
�">�� 9d�)��0-#�"!�#�
"#!�
����#lV�*7
)'
0'����#�
&&')"
0'+)�)#�!/k����
�"��!,�)�#�	"'
�
#)!��lc�)"�7�)�'��=��)���!����#��
''�!#)�"�
�#�
&&')"
0'+)�)#�!/k����
�"��!,�)�#�	"'
�
#)!��=���5�02"##!6�!/@A�BCDE CCCFGCHCB@DICE@JK.E�A8
LN8OOO1!""����"1')�)#
��
LaO8OOO1
����
#1')�)#)�#��!�#,,)''&
-������������./!��
�
��0"
��!/1&�!&�#-�
�
�1"!7��������������RYm�T[̂Q��WZ��]��QWR�S�����������=I��Qn�][�]�_�_�gQnU_m�T[̂Q��WZ��]��QWR�S�����������o�[��U�nQ�̂��[QWQ���g�̂��̂�_pn�̂p�n���]�U� Qn�GUSUQ�gGU�VUTUQW ��Qn�.������Q� GUSUQg�����n��������o�̂� p�������̂Q���U_���QU�̂ Û S�qÛ�]�WS�̂Q_[̂���QnU_���������

429

Item 25.



�������������	
����������������� ���������� ����������� !"#$ %%% &���
''(�&)*+*�!(,!"-%% %%%&!..'.!�&)*+*�*/�0+�/�11*))2!3
(,'�4567896�:�876;�<=>4?@8A?�4A>74B�4567896'.!',)//���0(
+�'��C8� D(/
',/EF�G)!*+/+!,�'&/
*�/&�'�
.0�E�'H� I'/�(/�'�'.!(*J!�*�(/+!K*(.�)!*+/�'�'*(.*(.&/
*�/&LM,
��*�)NO
'��)*.!�*�(��2!3,!+!./�(3�
'�0!)�!22)*/�()3���0!+�
(���,!+!./*(P�//��"$%%LQ0*/,,
��*�)!22)*/��!)),!+!./��!
/��&2'�2'�3,!+!.&!/�0'/
)���!(3�(&���
''(�&'.!',)//���0(
+�'��2'/�(/�'�'.!(*J!�*�(/10�/
/�!*(,!+!./��!
/���0!�&���
''(�&LR+!32!3!(32!'��'!))���0,,
��*�)!+�
(�������/��)+(���!(3�)!*+ �'&/
*�&!(,
2�((��*�*�!�*�(���0!��*�(�!K( 3�
/0!))2'�+2�)3'*+�
'/
/��'/
�02!'����0,,
��*�)!+�
(�!/0!/�(2!*,�3
/LS/'/2��/�0*/��T'!.&S..'.!�&*/�0+!P*+
+ !+�
(�11*))2!3��'!))��T',&���
''(�/&,
'*(.�(2�)*�32'*�,L�47>U6V<7V4=6=4W>UX=�876;�<=>4?@8A?�4A>74BY74V67>@Z8[896�4567896;4<77X9U>8A??<>@>4?6W6A?6A?=\U6A\6U856V8X?>U6�X[X>4W�X8FXBX>@47>U6�997698>6�X[X>W4768HUH4567896;8A?\6876978A>6??X=H76>X4AXA[8]XA9V8@[6A>=<A?67>UX=H4567896����	
����������������� ���������� ����������� �0+�/�11*))2!3��'2̂'�2'�3,!+!._
(,'�4567896�:�B6H>74AXHZ8>8�X8FXBX>@�4567896��')�//��̂)��'�(*�,!�!_*/"$% %%%1*�0�
�'.!',���0(
+�'��̂���
''(�/_Làbcdefdghbeiiajbdklmafajklldkndldcobefpdcdef̀��Q0��))�1*(.��(,*�*�(/!'!+(,,C�� qA4\B6?964W�HH<776AH68� G�(,*�*�(��;D�+/8�!(,FL!',)�,!(,'2)!�,�3�0��))�1*(.Cr�sZ<>X6=�A�U6�56A>�W�HH<776AH6;�WW6A=6;�B8X[ �7�<X>r8st�
+
/�/��*��0!�1!'(��*�*,!//��(!/2'!��*�!�)��!(&���
''(�&�'!(���(/10*�0+!3'/
)�*(!�)!*+Lu(�1),.��!(&���
''(�&�33�
'!.(� /'T!(��'+2)�3/0!))(��*(*�/)���(/�*�
�K(�1),.���0(!+,*(/
',
()//!(���*�'���0(!+,*(/
',0!/'�*T,/
�0(��*��'�+�0!.(� /'T!(��'+2)�3LQ��0P�(�2�//*�) (��*�/0�
),*(�)
,CX� v�1 10(!(,10'�0&���
''(�&���K2)!�EXX� Q0(!+/!(,!,,'///��!(3*(�
',2'/�(/!(,1*�(/// !(,XXX�Q0(!�
'!(,)��!�*�(��!(3*(�
'3�',!+!.!'*/*(.�
����0&���
''(�&�'���(/L
���������� D(�)
,/��23'*.0�,+!�'*!)��D(/
'!(�	'T*�/O��*� D(�L 1*�0*�/2'+*//*�(L Y896��4W�w

rFsD�!�)!*+*/+!,�'&/
*�&*/�'�
.0�!.!*(/�!(3*(/
', 3�
+
/�CX� D++,*!�)3'��',�0/2�*�*�/���0�)!*+�'&/
*�&!(,�0,!�'�*T,E!(,XX� x��*�3
/!//��(!/2'!��*�!�)Lt�
+
/�/��*��0!�1'�*T1'*��((��*����0�)!*+ �'&/
*�&!//��(!/2'!��*�!�)Lu(�1),.��!�)!*+ �'&/
*�&�33�
'!.(� /'T!(��'+2)�3/0!))(��*(*�/)���(/�*�
�K(�1),.���0(!+,*(/
',
()//!(���*�'���0(!+,*(/
',0!/'�*T,/
�0(��*��'�+ �0!.(� /'T!(��'+2)�3L�� R0'y748?�47[ �8[6?�A=<76?*/!,,,*(������� ���z{� ����������Z ���0*/(,�'/+(� G�(,*�*�(���>U67�A=<78AH6F��|H6==�A=<78AH6r�s�r8s*/'2)!�,�3�0��))�1*(.Cr8sS(3���0��0'*(/
'!(� 10�0'2'*+!'3 P�// ��(�*(.(��'�(!(3��0'�!/*/ �0!�*/!T!*)!�)��!(*(/
',/�))3�3'!/�(���1('/0*2�33�
��+�'�0!($%2'�(����0T��*(. /���K !(,(��1*�0/�!(,*(.!(3��0')!(.
!.*(!(3��0'2�)*�3LQ0*/2'�T*/*�(,�/(��!22)3��!2�)*�31'*��(��!22)3/2�*�*�!))3*(P�//���0*/2�)*�3L
430

Item 25.



������������	
������������������������������������ !"#$"%!&##'#%!()) **#%)#+(��#%$#+�,-". �*/ "!�)�01���2�
����3�3����41���514�����67�1���81�4�9��7��:����7����
�7�7���2:3����1����;�, %!-*<=*�>#*!<�-.-?#��'#*-?#��21��:�1��:4�9�@:�1����7�����3��
���A����,-%B#!C-"'#*(�/ D*�?-!"�%E����3���2���
����:3��2��5�2
�3������4���27��4�������F����G�:�14��7�25���4��5�H�����I1�2���5������4���1���7��5�4�4�����::17��� G2��������������219�����7������47����5��G221��21�G�
���9���1�����:����:����
�
��7��4�������F����9J21���HK9�J21�7��1:�4KAE����3��
�4���
��
���21
�3���������4�47������������:����:�9�@�:1���G221G�����
�JG���2��I1�2K�J7�7���2��5���K::1�4��
�J7��4��������3����4�����I1�2K����4��4:55�����A���L"D#*-,"M-!"�%N����3�4����
�4�3�����O���9�
�:
�1��7�3���5��:3��������
����������7��5�15 G�:5�4����:��3��1�����
�7��:27�������
�4������4����������
����4�P�5��N�41���4
�����
�Q�:�������4921�7��:2�����1�5���:���27�3����
�4���������:3�������
�����:��3�������
���3�4��A�R�S%"%!#%!"�%-,T-", *#!��"$),�$#U,,V-M-*W$X�4���1�������:��21���7��4�������4�4��@�4����
�F���49��211������������24
1���������4:�4����41:

�F���4���
���:�7��������21�7��:29�����������2:3�����1�����
�4�3�����O���G�:�14��41:
����1��AY��3��9�
�47�3�4�� ��4������:�1����
��:���:����������7��5�15 ��@��:�4�1����
��:��:����������Z�������A�[�	
��������:������4�������������������'#*-?#�\=*�W )!]#)-,,̂ _>#%$#N��3����� 7̀��1:���:���̀921514�-� a������
���������������44��47��:��:�G���� 7̀��1:���:���̀A	�
��@����744�G��9���:�4
1����:�1��
�9�
������
����
� 7̀��1:���:���̀�H7��:�����4��5���� 7̀��1:���:����@7��4�̀AD�	�H�������4��G��4��74�5���5�F� 7̀��1:���:����@7��4�̀A	
�4��������:���4��
���5��4���41���:�A)� N���81�4���97��5��14�81�4���211������
��41:
��5�4�45�2G����4��G�2��81�����G1���25���������������
�4��41���:��21�:���59��:�1����21�GH4�����:��4A01���4���4514�G�4�����AW�O��5��14���47�:����G�����
������5���� 7�3����
��44A01514�4���14�4�����94���4����5�����44:���������
�����5��������81�4����3�4�������
�:���5A01514���
�4���
��bc��24�����1���81�4�A#� �7��������
14���
���3�4��������4�����5������2:���5A�� d44�4�1417�1���81�4�9���
�����:�5������2���
�4�����4���27��4�������F�����
�:
5�2G����G���21G�:�14���44��
�:
�
�4��41���:��77���4A
���������� N�:�1��4:72���
���5��������N�41���:�a��3�:�4e���:�9N�:A9���
��47��5�44��A =-?#�����R
���L"."!#W]-",*�-W��%!*-)! -,L"-D","!<-� f������O���:��3�g��G����2:3�����7�3����G2]-",*�-W=*�!#)!"'#L"-D","!<��'#*-?#T�*. ��� ��R�����
5���515 ��5��4�hi9ccc9ccc7��::1����:�����hb9ccc9ccc������������������5��514�G���7��:����
��������1��������27�I�:�AD�)� j��
�71�74�4��
�(!&#*k%$ *-%)#:�������]-",*�-W=*�!#)!"'#L"-D","!<��'#*-?#T�*. �����R��219�
���5����41���9����G����5���G��
���4�������:����:��A
	
��������:������4����77��:�G����2�:3������������G2���4���
��������������J��41���:����:�̀���
��̂ Tklkmk(l/ 4�:�����
�4����4�5����d�2�5���5�����
�e�
��N�41���:�:�������]-",*�-W=*�!#)!"'#L"-D","!<��'#*-?#T�*. �����R�������4�
�7��5�:2��
�:3�������
�:
�57���41����
��:����G1���������4:�����2:3������������G2�
����������J��41���:����:�K����1���A

431

Item 25.



������������	
���������
������������������������� ��!�"�#�$�%&�!'(�)�*�+�,&�����&(!&%� �(-�&�.�#�/����$�!'0)�*�+1��� ��!�&�,�'!�& %��(%��./�%0*2+3!�$%���4(�5*6+7�(&�(�!��!(!-�8���!��-�!,�%�-���!�%%�,�%/(-�!'5�%*9+3�%���-��(!�!'5�:-� �/�%,�-#4�#�-��,�#(�#(4�('%�,,4�#�-��$��'#���,,�#(!;8<<<��,$#�-#(%�!��&�,�'!�&/�%#�'#$(.�,�=>�?���@�AB�&��.�!C�%.D�,&�����&(!&%� �(-�&$��#�#�/����$�!'0@� AB�&��.�!C�%.D��(!, #.,�-(��!C�%.8,�-E!�,,�%&�,�(,�,�,�(�!�&�.( �%,�!=F#�,�!-��&�,��!�(�(!'��,#8��!�(��!C�%.8,#�-E8/%�'#��%&�(�#�#(�%�,���,/%��,�-# #.,�-(��!C�%.8,�-E!�,,�%&�,�(,�=��?���G�A?!,�%�&-�!�%(-�D9��,&�����&(!&%� �(-�&$��#�#�/����$�!'09� �!.�(,���!��%��-�!,�('%����!�5H�?���G�A?!,�%�&I�!�%(-�D)�*�+�,&�����&J�F#�/����$�!'&�/�!����!,(%�(&&�&/�%�#�,�!&�%,���!��!�.0�@�A1��-�%�!�-&(�("��(!,�!/�%�(���!8/(-�,�% %�'%(�,,��%�&(,�%�!8-%�(��&�%�,�&�!8�%�%(!,�����&���%/%�� -�� ���%,�/�$(%�8�!-��&�!',.,���,(!&(  ��-(���!,,�/�$(%�8#(%&�%/��  .&�,E,8IKL7M�38�( �&%�4�,8-���,8&(�(  %�-�,,�!' &�4�-�, �%(!.��#�%��&�( $#�-# (%��,�& $��# ���-�%�!�-(��. -�!�%����&���� ��!�=�N�"O%�&�-�%�-(��"��(!,($��#&%($(��%%���4(�/%�� �#��(%E���/".��% %�&�-�"�(,�&�!�#�&���%��!(���!�..���%(!.%�'��(��%.�%'�4�%!��!�(�('�!-.�#(�02� F#��,��%-�!,�� ���! �/".��% %�&�-�"#(,-(�,�&�%$���-(�,�(-��(��%(���'�&"��&��.�!C�%."�%" %� �%�.&(�('�"5(!&6�3�-#&���%��!(���! %����%�,.����%�-�4�% �,,�,,��!�%-�!�%���/".��% %�&�-�"/%�� (!.&�,�%�����%8 �%-#(,�%�%�,�%8��%� (�%�%%� �(-� ".��% %�&�-�"8����!�.�/".��% %�&�-�"�,�!/��/�%�,��%-�!,�� ���!8�%�,#(P(%&��,(,(%�,����/0*�+�!�%%�%�%���,,��! �.(!�!,�%�&�!�#�&�,�'!8�(!�/(-��%�!'8 %�-�,,�!'8�(����!'8,��%('�8�%�%(!, �%�(���!�/".��% %�&�-�"5�%*�+�-��(��%(���'�&�!��!���!(�8�(��-���,�%$%�!'/��(���%(���! �%-�!�(��!(���! �/".��% %�&�-�"�.,����!���#�%�#(!.��=�Q�"O%�&�-�%�-(���: �!,�"��(!,%�(,�!(���(!&!�-�,,(%.�: �!,�,/�%02� F��� #�!�8%(&��(!&����4�,��!-����!�-(���!(!& %�!��&(&4�%��,���!�,8�!-��&�!',�(���!�%.8�!4��� �,(!& �,�('�=6�F%(!, �%��!'%�-(���& %�&�-�,/%��(!. �%-#(,�%8&�,�%�����%�%�,�%8����-(���!,&�,�'!(��&�..��=9� 7���!�%(���! (�&��.��%�� ��.��,/�%�4�%����8(,$���(,%���!�%(���! (�&��(&&����!(��� ��.��,�%�!&� �!&�!�-�!�%(-��%,.��#�%�=
���������� ?!-��&�,-� .%�'#��&�(��%�(��/?!,�%(!-�3�%4�-�,M//�-�8?!-=8$��#��, �%��,,��!= R2ST�@U)�@

V�F%(!, �%�(���!(!&(--����&(���!�: �!,��!-�%%�&�..��%�� ��.��,=T� 7�!�(��: �!,��!-�%%�&/�%��� �%(%.��-(���!,�,�&��,��%�%�-(���& %�&�-�,=)� 1: �!,��!-�%%�&�� %� �%�.&�, �,��/%�-(���& %�&�-�,8�!-��&�!' (-E('�!'�#(�-(!!����%��,�&=S�F%(!, �%�(���!�: �!,�,�!-�%%�&��%� �(-�%�-(���& %�&�-�,=W�7� (�%�!'8%�&�,�%�����!' �%%� �(-�!'-�4�%�& %�-(���&  %�&�-�,$��#��E� %�&�-�,�%,��,������,8!�����:-��&.��%�%�'�!(�-�,��/�(!�/(-��%�!'8 %�-�,,�!'8(-���,����!(!&X�%&�,�%������!=F#�,��: �!,�,��,����!-�%%�&(,(%�,����/(" %�&�-�%�-(��"=�Y�AZ%����! I�!�%(-�D��(!,($%����!-�!�%(-��%$%����! ('%����!��#(�%����%�,.�����(E� ( �%,�!�%�%'(!�P(���!(!(&&����!(��!,�%�&�!�#�,I�4�%('�O(%�8 %�4�&�&�#�-�!�%(-��%('%����!�02� ?,-�%%�!��.�!�//�-��%��-���!'�//�-��4�&�%�!'�#���%��/�#�, ���-.5(!&6�Z(,�:�-���& %��%��0*�+F#�A��&��.�!C�%.D�%A %� �%�.&(�('�D5�%*�+F#��//�!,��#(�-(�,�&�#�A �%,�!(�(!&(&4�%��,�!'�!C�%.D8/�%$#�-#�#�(&&����!(��!,�%�&,��E,-�4�%('��!&�%�#�,-�4�%('� (%�=
432

Item 25.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

37885

09/24/21DPR9983538

201 First Street SE, Suite 700

Leslie Babcock

USA

Snyder project number 121.1031.08
City of Cedar Falls project # TS-000-3294

800-527-9049

09/24/22

220 Clay Street

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

1-800-300-0325

Ankeny, IA 50023
P.O. Box 1159
2727 Southwest Snyder Blvd

Snyder & Associates, Inc.

Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Claims Made

Professional Liability

Aggregate

Per Claim

Holmes Murphy & Assoc - CR

XL SPECIALTY INS CO

lbomaritocr

4,000,000

2,000,000

63574017

63574017

10/21/2021

City of Cedar Falls

A

433

Item 25.



Consultant Various Intersection Improvements 
Project No. 121.1031.08 Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

Exhibit C

Various Intersection Improvements
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project Number TS-000-3294

2/9/12

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS

This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors).

1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor.

2. Time is of the essence of this Contract.

3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City.

4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations.

5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity.

6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein.

7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City.

8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract.

434

Item 25.



Consultant Various Intersection Improvements 
Project No. 121.1031.08 Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties.

10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a 
default under this Contract.

11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation.

12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly.

13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records.

14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages.

15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment 
A.

16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, 
Attachment A.

17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract.

18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City.

435

Item 25.



Consultant Various Intersection Improvements 
Project No. 121.1031.08 Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. TS-000-3294

19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law.

20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure.

436

Item 25.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

  FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: December 13, 2021 

 SUBJECT: FY2022-2027 Capital Improvements Program (CIP) 

 

Attached is the required notice for the proposed FY2022-2027 Capital Improvements 
Program (CIP) hearing.   The CIP will be presented at committee on December 20th.    
 
The Code of Iowa requires that the City have a public hearing and I would request 
that the hearing be set for January 3, 2022. 
 
If you have any questions about the CIP or the process, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 
 

437

Item 26.



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR THE  

FY2022-2027 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM (CIP) 

 

Notice is hereby given that the Cedar Falls City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa will conduct a public hearing on the proposed FY2022-2027 Capital 

Improvements Program (CIP) at 7:00 p.m. on the 3rd day of January 2022, said meeting 

to be held in the Council Chamber in City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Copies of the foregoing described document are on file in the office of the City 

Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa and may be inspected by any persons 

interested.  Written comments to said proposed Capital Improvements Program may be 

filed with the City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa on or before the date of hearing, 

and all objections will be heard at the time of said hearing. 

 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

By: Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk 

438

Item 26.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Luke Andreasen, PE, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: December 13, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Main Street Reconstruction Project (6th Street to University Avenue)   
  Public Hearing 
  City Project Number: RC-000-3283 
     
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct Main Street from 6th Street to 
University Avenue. The intersections at Seerley Boulevard, 18th Street, 12th Street, and 
possibly 6th Street will be replaced with single-lane roundabouts to improve the overall 
traffic safety and flow in all directions of travel. The project will also include 
improvements to the water main, sanitary sewer, and storm sewer and other 
miscellaneous roadway items. Right-of-way acquired for the project will be used for 
roadway alignment and utility relocations. Plans for the project show the need for fee 
title and/or easement acquisitions from approximately nine (9) properties.  
 
The nine (9) property acquisitions include at least two (2) total takes. One at the 
northwest corner of the Main/12th intersection and one at either the northeast or 
southwest corner of the Main/12th intersection. In addition, temporary construction 
easements will be necessary for almost every property on both sides of Main Street 
from 6th Street to University Avenue.  
 
Iowa law requires that the City Council hold a public hearing to authorize proceeding 
with the project, including the purchase of right-of-way. The public hearing offers an 
opportunity for the public, especially those from whom the fee title and easement 
acquisition will be purchased, to comment on the project. 
 
Iowa law also requires affected landowners to be notified by mail 30 days in advance of 
the public hearing. Therefore, the Engineering Division recommends resetting Tuesday, 
January 18, 2022 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public hearing on the Main 
Street Reconstruction Project.  
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

439

Item 27.



p
w

:/
/f

o
th

-p
w

.b
e
n

tl
e
y

.c
o

m
:f

o
th

-p
w

-0
1

/D
o

c
u

m
e
n

ts
/C

li
e
n

ts
/C

e
d

a
r 

F
a
ll

s
 I

A
 C

/M
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t 

R
e
c
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

/C
A

D
/D

is
p

la
y

s
/A

lt
e
rn

a
ti

v
e
s
/S

tr
ip

M
a
p

_
U

lt
im

a
te

_
P

U
B

FEET

0 100

 WASHINGTON ST

Main Street Reconstruction
Cedar Falls, Iowa

Conceptual Layout - ROW Impacts

STATE ST

W
 2

0
T

H
 S

T

 W
 2

1
S

T
 S

T

W
 2

2
N

D
 S

T

 S
E
E

R
L
E

Y
 B

L
V

D

 E
 2

0
T

H
 S

T

E
 2

1
S

T
 S

T

 W
 1

7
T

H
 S

T

W
 1

8
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

5
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

6
T

H
 S

T

 WASHINGTON ST

 E
 1

6
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

5
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

4
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

3
T

H
 S

T

W
 7

T
H
 S

T
 E

 7
T

H
 S

T

 W
 9

T
H
 S

T

W
 1

0
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

1
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

1
T

H
 S

T

STATE ST

 W
 6

T
H
 S

T

 WASHINGTON ST

 E
 6

T
H

 S
T

W
 8

T
H
 S

T

E
 8

T
H

 S
T

E
 9

T
H

 S
T

E
 1

0
T

H
 S

T

STATE ST

 W
 1

2
T

H
 S

T

 E
 1

2
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

3
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

4
T

H
 S

T

Permanent Acquisition 
Parcels Impacted 13 (28,314 Sq ft)

Temporary Easement 
Parcels Impacted 144 (153,416 Sq ft)

City Property
Parcels Impacted 10 (3,993 Sq ft)

December 7, 2021

440

Item 27.



441

Item 28.



442

Item 28.



443

Item 28.



444

Item 28.



445

Item 28.



446

Item 28.



447

Item 28.



448

Item 28.



449

Item 28.



450

Item 28.



451

Item 28.



452

Item 28.



453

Item 28.



454

Item 28.



455

Item 28.



456

Item 28.



457

Item 28.



458

Item 28.



459

Item 28.



460

Item 28.



461

Item 28.



462

Item 28.



463

Item 28.



464

Item 28.



465

Item 28.



466

Item 28.



467

Item 28.



468

Item 28.



469

Item 28.



470

Item 28.



471

Item 28.



472

Item 28.



473

Item 28.



474

Item 28.



475

Item 28.



476

Item 28.



477

Item 28.



478

Item 28.



479

Item 28.



480

Item 28.



481

Item 28.



482

Item 28.



483

Item 28.



484

Item 28.



485

Item 28.



486

Item 28.



487

Item 28.



488

Item 28.



489

Item 28.



490

Item 28.



491

Item 28.



492

Item 28.



493

Item 28.



494

Item 28.



495

Item 28.



496

Item 28.



497

Item 28.



498

Item 28.



499

Item 28.



500

Item 28.



501

Item 28.



502

Item 28.



503

Item 28.



504

Item 28.



505

Item 28.



506

Item 28.



507

Item 28.



508

Item 28.



509

Item 28.



510

Item 28.



511

Item 28.



512

Item 28.



513

Item 28.



514

Item 28.



515

Item 28.



516

Item 28.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular Meeting of December 6, 2021
	211206MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-Wards & Precincts
	1-Memo to Council on Ward and Precinct Changes 12-20-21
	ProposedWardPctOptA
	Ord-Ward_Pct-Option A
	ProposedWardPctOptB
	Ord-Ward_Pct-Option B
	ProposedWardPctOptC
	Ord-Ward_Pct-Option C

	Item 3.	Joint City-County Precinct
	1-Memo to Council Joint Precinct
	JointPrecinctExA
	Letter of Agreement

	Item 4.	3000-The Vault, LLC
	1_Council Memo for Tax Exemption 11-15-21
	2_The Vault, LLC Site Map
	3_PPTE Ordinance - The Vault, LLC

	Item 5.	3001-Sewer Rate Increase
	1-council sewer increases.mem
	2-Article II Sewer Ordinance Nov. 2021 redlined (6)
	3-Ord-Sewer Increase

	Item 6.	3002-DT SSMID 2022
	1 - Council Memo for 2022 Downtown SSMID renewal 11-15-21
	2- CMS Submission-SSMID Packet for City
	3 - CF DT SSMID EVALUATION
	4 - SSMID Map
	5-Harting Communication-516 Bluff St
	3002-DT SSMID-2022

	Item 7.	Committee of the Whole Minutes - 12/06/21
	12-06-21 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes

	Item 8.	Abstract of Votes
	Abstract of Votes-11.02.21
	Abstract of Votes-11.30.21

	Item 9.	Liquor Beer 12-13-21
	Liquor Beer 12-13-21

	Item 10.	Opioid Settlements
	1-Memo to Mayor Council Opioid Settlement
	2-Participation Agreement Distributors (FINAL) (3)
	3-Participation Agreement Janssen (FINAL)
	4-Iowa State - Local Allocation MOU and Exhibits - Sign and Return
	5-Res-Opioid Settlement

	Item 11.	Office Express/Office Products: Amend #1
	Office Express_Amend1_OfficeSupply_CopyPaper_Agreement

	Item 12.	Lease approvals on flood buyout properties
	1. Council Memo 12-13-21
	3. Ohrt, Dean
	4. Vanderwerf, Rodney
	5. Block, Brad
	6. Kraus, Alan
	7. NCNA
	8. Kellum, Michael
	9. Rieger, Steven
	10. Showalter, Randy
	11.  Carlo, Dennis
	12. DeVries, Kevin
	13. Arends, Ron
	14. Renner, Patrick
	15. Wetlaufer, Doug
	1564_001

	Item 13.	Site Plan-Kwik Trip at 2019 College St.
	1_CC Staff report for Kwik Trip
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. LOI 2
	4. Existing 1
	5. Existing 2
	6. Proposed 1
	7. Proposed 2

	Item 14.	EDA Grant Application–Cedar River Recreation Project
	1. Council memo grant submittal 12-20-21
	5 Plan,6 River Art and 7 River Art Birds Eye
	2. Res-EDA Application-Mayor sign-EDA Grant

	Item 15.	EDA-Commit Funding
	3. Res-Commit Funding-EDA Grant

	Item 16.	EDA-MOU INRCOG
	4. Res-MOU-INRCOG-EDA Grant

	Item 17.	FEMA Grant Application-Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities
	1. Council memo 12-20-21
	1a. Stormwater Master Plan area
	2. Designation of Applicants Authorized Representative (AAR)
	3. Resolution Approving Application

	Item 18.	FEMA-Funding Match
	Res-FEMA-Funding Match

	Item 19.	FEMA-MOU-INRCOG
	Res-FEMA-MOU-INRCOG

	Item 20.	Compost Facility Management Contract Extension
	Compost contract extension for 2022

	Item 21.	Final Acceptance - 2020 Seal Coat Project
	1. Final Out - Seal Coat 2020
	2. Pay Estimate No. 2 Final Unsigned by Contractor
	3. Performance Payment Maintenance Bond - ASTECH Corp

	Item 22.	Final Acceptance - 2021 Seal Coat
	1. Final Out - Seal Coat 2021
	2. Pay Estimate No. 2 - Final
	3. Performance Payment &amp; Maintenance Bond - Blacktop Service

	Item 23.	Contract-Greenhill Road and South Main Street Intersection Improvements
	1. Memo Contracts - Greenhill &amp; S. Main Intersection
	2. Form of Contract
	3. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond
	4. Certificates of Insurance
	5. Form of Proposal

	Item 24.	Temporary Easement - Greenhill Rd/S Main-Intersection Improvement
	1. Memo - Greenhill Road &amp; South Main Street Intersection Improvements Temporary Easement
	2. ROW Acquisition Map
	3. Fareway Agreement

	Item 25.	PSA - Various Intersection Improvements Project
	1. PSA Memo - Various Intersection Improvements
	2. PSA - Various Intersection Improvements 2021.12.07

	Item 26.	Set PH-CIP
	1-CIP hearing notice council.mem
	2-PHNOTICE-CIP 2022

	Item 27.	Set PH-Main Street Reconstruction Project
	1. Memo - ROW Acquisition Setting of Public Hearing
	2. Main Street Recon - Conceptual Layout-ROW Impacts 2021.12.07

	Item 28.	Bills & Claims 12/20/21
	1 Daily Invoices 122021
	2 Council Invoices 122021

	Bottom

